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CAUTIONARY NOTE CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMEN TS  

 
Various statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including those that express a belief, expectation or intention, as well as those that are not statements of historical fact, are forward-looking 

statements. These forward-looking statements may include projections and estimates concerning the timing and success of specific projects and our future production, revenues, income and capital spending. Our forward- 
looking statements are generally accompanied by words such as “estimate,” “project,” “predict,” “believe,” “expect,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “potential,” “plan,” “goal” or other words that convey the uncertainty of future 
events or outcomes. The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K; we disclaim any obligation to update these statements unless 
required by law, and we caution you not to rely on them unduly. We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and assumptions about future events. While our management considers these 
expectations and assumptions to be reasonable, they are inherently subject to significant business, economic, competitive, regulatory and other risks, contingencies and uncertainties, most of which are difficult to predict 
and many of which are beyond our control. These and other important factors, including those discussed under “Risk Factors” may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from any future 
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks, contingencies and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the following:  
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•  our ability to compete successfully in the highly competitive mortgage loan origination, mortgage loan servicing and mortgage loan financing industries; 

•  experiencing financial difficulties like some originators and mortgage servicers have experienced; 

•  adverse changes in the residential mortgage market; 

•  our ability to obtain sufficient capital to meet our operating requirements; 

•  our ability to sustain profitable loan origination volumes; 

•  the possible geographic concentration of our servicing portfolio may result in a higher rate of delinquencies and/or defaults; 

•  our mortgage financing business is subject to risks, including the risk of default and competitive risks; 

•  our estimates may prove to be imprecise and result in significant changes in financial performance, including fair value measurements; 

•  the impact on our business of federal, state and local laws and regulations concerning loan servicing, loan origination, loan modification or the licensing of individuals and entities that engage in these activities; 

•  changes in existing U.S. government-sponsored mortgage programs; 

•  changes in laws and regulations affecting the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the U.S. federal government, along with the conservatorship of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and related 
efforts;  

•  substantial compliance costs arising from state licensing and state and federal operational requirements, including the Truth In Lending Act ("TILA") and Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act ("RESPA") 
Integrated Disclosure rule;  

•  loss of our licenses; 

•  our ability to originate and/or acquire mortgage servicing rights; 

•  our ability to recover our significant investments in personnel and our technology platform; 

•  the accuracy and completeness of information we receive about borrowers and counterparties; 

•  increases in delinquencies and defaults may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations; 

•  our ability to recapture mortgage loans from borrowers who refinance; 

•  changes in prevailing interest rates and any corresponding effects on origination volumes or the value of our assets; 

•  our growth may be difficult to sustain and manage and may place significant demands on our administrative, operational and financial resources; 

•  our ability to realize all of the anticipated benefits of our acquisitions; 



 

   

 
References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the terms "we," "our," "us," "Stonegate" or the "Company" refer to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries, as the context requires.  
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•  the change of control rules under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), may limit our ability to use net operating loss carryforwards to reduce future taxable income; 

•  failure to establish and maintain an effective system of internal controls; 

•  errors in our financial models or changes in assumptions; 

•  our ability to adapt to and implement technological changes; 

•  the impact of the ongoing implementation of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Act of 2010 (the "Dodd-Frank Act") on our business activities and practices, costs of operations and overall results 
of operations;  

•  state or federal governmental examinations, legal proceedings or enforcement actions and related costs; 

•  increased costs and related losses if a borrower challenges the validity of a foreclosure action, if a court overturns a foreclosure or if a foreclosure subjects us to environmental liabilities; 

•  the impact of the termination of our servicing rights by counterparties; 

•  federal and state legislative and agency initiatives in mortgage-backed securities and securitization; 

•  we may be required to indemnify purchasers of the loans we originate or of the MBS backed by such loans or repurchase the related loans, if the loans fail to meet certain criteria or characteristics or under other 
circumstances;  

•  our inability to negotiate our fees with Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae or other investors for the purchase of our loans; 

•  delays in our ability to collect or be reimbursed for servicing advances; 

•  our ability to successfully mitigate our risks through hedging strategies; 

•  our ability to obtain servicer ratings in a timely manner, or at all; 

•  failure of our internal security measures or breach of our privacy protections; 

•  losses due to fraudulent and negligent acts on the part of loan applicants, brokers, other vendors, existing customers, our employees and other third parties; 

•  failure of our vendors to comply with servicing criteria; 

•  the loss of the services of one or more of the members of our executive management team; 

•  failure to attract and retain a highly skilled work force; 

•  an active trading market for our stock may not be sustained; 

•  future sales of our common stock or other securities convertible into our common stock could cause the market value of our common stock to decline and could result in dilution; and 

•  future offerings of debt securities or preferred stock and future offerings of equity securities that may be senior to our common stock for the purposes of dividend and liquidating distributions, may adversely affect 
the market price of our common stock.  



 
 
  PART I  
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS  
 
Overview  

      
We are a specialty finance company that operates as an intermediary. We are focused on providing investment yield opportunities in the residential mortgage market to investors through originating, financing, 

and servicing U.S. residential mortgage loans. We were initially incorporated in the State of Indiana in January 2005. As a result of an acquisition and subsequent merger with Swain Mortgage Company in 2009, we are 
now an Ohio corporation. Our integrated and scalable residential mortgage banking platform includes a diversified origination business which includes a retail branch network, a direct to consumer call center and a 
network of third party originators consisting of mortgage brokers, mortgage bankers and financial institutions (banks and credit unions). Our proprietary technology platform, Stonegate Connect, allows us to connect 
borrowers directly with investors, utilizing advanced decision technology and algorithms. We are actively building out the platform to create a marketplace for non-agency investors to invest passively in residential real 
estate assets.  
 

We predominantly transfer mortgage loans into pools of Government National Mortgage Association ("Ginnie Mae" or "GNMA") mortgage backed securities ("MBS") and sell mortgage loans to the Federal 
National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae" or "FNMA") and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac" or "FHLMC"). Both FNMA and FHLMC are considered government-sponsored enterprises 
("GSEs"). We also sell mortgage loans to over a dozen other third-party investors in the secondary market and provide short-term financing through our NattyMac, LLC ("NattyMac") subsidiary to third party 
correspondent lenders. As of December 31, 2014 , we were licensed to originate and service residential mortgage loans in 47 states and the District of Columbia, and we are an approved Seller/Servicer of FNMA, FHLMC 
and GNMA.  
 

We operate three identifiable business segments: Originations, Servicing and Financing. This determination is based on our current organizational structure, which reflects how our chief operating decision maker 
evaluates the performance of our business. Our mortgage origination business generates income primarily through origination fees and gains upon the sale of mortgage loans sourced through our correspondent, wholesale 
and retail channels. We also provide financing to our correspondent customers and others while they are accumulating loans prior to selling them to aggregators, including ourselves, through our mortgage financing 
business and we earn interest and fee income for these services. We also have the ability to retain the mortgage servicing rights ("MSRs") on the loans we sell and to create a recurring servicing income stream in our 
mortgage servicing business. We believe our three segments are complementary and provide us with the ability to effectively and efficiently source, finance, sell and service mortgage loans.  

Mortgage Originations  

Our mortgage origination business primarily originates and sells residential mortgage loans, which conform to the underwriting guidelines of the GSEs and government agencies. We also originate and sell 
jumbo loans, i.e., loans that conform to the underwriting guidelines of the GSEs, except that they exceed the maximum loan size allowed for single unit properties.  
 

Over the past two years we have invested heavily in this business from a technology and business perspective. We completed three acquisitions in late 2013 and early 2014 that expanded our retail and wholesale 
businesses. More importantly, our acquisition of Crossline Capital, Inc. ("Crossline") in December of 2013 allowed us to enter the direct to consumer originations business, which, along with the formation of Stonegate 
Direct discussed below, will allow us to continue to generate increased revenues while not requiring the continued increased investment.  

We offer the following mortgage loan products:  
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◦  Government Mortgage Loans : First-lien mortgage loans secured by single-family residences that are insured by the Federal Housing Administration ("FHA") or guaranteed by the Veterans 
Administration ("VA") and securitized into Ginnie Mae securities.  

◦  Prime 1 Conforming Mortgage Loans : Prime credit quality first-lien mortgage loans (i.e., mortgage loans that, in the event of default, have priority over all other liens or claims) secured by single-family 
residences that meet or “conform” to the underwriting standards established by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac for inclusion in their guaranteed mortgage securities programs.  

◦  Prime 1 Non-Conforming Mortgage Loans : Prime credit quality first-lien mortgage loans secured by single-family residences that either (i) do not conform to the underwriting standards established by 
Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, because they have original principal amounts exceeding Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac limits,  



 

which are commonly referred to as jumbo mortgage loans, or (ii) have alternative documentation requirements and property or credit-related features (e.g., higher loan-to-value ("LTV") or debt-to-
income ratios (“DTI”)) but are otherwise considered prime credit quality due to other compensating factors.  

1 We generally consider prime mortgage loans to be those with FICO scores greater than 620. 
 

 
We provide a variety of agency, government insured and non-agency mortgage loan products to our brokers to allow them to better service their borrowers. Before approving a mortgage broker for business, we 

focus on several attributes including origination volume, quality of originations and tangible net worth. We also conduct financial and background checks on the principals and their mortgage loan officers through various 
third-party sources and in some cases we require personal guarantees. Once we begin acquiring loans from our mortgage brokers, we track the performance of the loans on an on-going basis and terminate business 
relationships if the loans consistently do not perform or if there is evidence of misrepresentation. During the year ended December 31, 2014 , we did not terminate any significant relationships due to our continued focus 
on underwriting loans and ensuring compliance with policies. We expect to see a continued increase in our non-agency mortgage loan originations, which provide innovative products that meet borrowers' demands and 
investors' return thresholds. Accordingly, we expect we will expand our settlements of non-agency loans through sales to the whole loan market or private label securitizations to third party investors at a future date.  

 
We originate residential mortgage loans through three channels: correspondent, wholesale and retail. We have continued to diversify our origination business in order to be successful in multiple market 

scenarios. While the channels are diverse, we constantly focus on quality control and maintaining high underwriting standards. We perform diligence on and underwrite loans through our proprietary technology platform, 
Stonegate Connect, an integrated, automated risk-based due diligence engine that automates the review process by applying business rules specific to the loan and the seller. We analyze credit, collateral and compliance 
risk on every loan on a pre-funding or a pre-purchase basis in order to ensure that each loan meets our investors’ standards and any applicable regulatory rules. We also capture loan data and documents associated with the 
loan from application through sale/securitization and servicing, giving us the ability to run additional business rules that provide indication of loan performance. We believe that the ability to offer greater transparency and 
data to institutional investors that purchase our loans or securities backed by our loans will provide us with a substantial advantage over our competitors in our sales executions as the mortgage market continues to evolve 
and we begin to securitize our own non-agency mortgage loans or grow our whole loan sales to non-agency investors.  

 
Our three mortgage loan originations channels are discussed in more detail below.  
 
Correspondent Channel  
 
We acquire newly originated loans conforming to the underwriting standards of the GSEs or government agencies as well as non-agency mortgage loans conforming to the standards of our investors from our 

network of correspondents across 47 states plus the District of Columbia. We identify our correspondent customers through a team of relationship managers who are responsible for building and maintaining customer 
relationships and ensuring that we receive an adequate share of their origination volume. We offer our correspondents access to a state-of-the-art technology platform (Stonegate Connect), funding through our financing 
platform NattyMac including access to innovative financing programs, as well as a timely and transparent process of acquiring their loans. In return, our correspondents provide us with high quality products that meet our 
underwriting standards. We track the performance of our correspondents on a score-card and terminate relationships where quality and other requirements are not met. We believe that our programs offer correspondents an 
attractive value proposition, including greater access to capital and liquidity, as they seek to maintain and grow their businesses. As a testament to our relationship management and product offering, our correspondent 
origination volume has increased from $6.4 billion during the year ended December 31, 2013 to $ 7.9 billion during the year ended December 31, 2014 , or by 23% .  

 
Our growth has been driven by adding new correspondents as well as deepening relationships with existing correspondents. Our correspondent channel represented 63% , 74% and 59% of our mortgage 

originations for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively. We conduct financial, operational and risk reviews of each correspondent  
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◦  Non-prime Mortgage Loans : First-lien and certain junior lien mortgage loans secured by single-family residences, made to individuals with credit profiles that do not qualify for a prime loan, have 
credit-related features that fall outside the parameters of traditional prime mortgage loans or have performance characteristics that otherwise expose us to comparatively higher risk of loss.  

◦  Prime 1 Second-Lien Mortgage Loans : Open- and closed-end mortgage loans (i.e., mortgage loans that do, in the case of an open-end loan, or do not, in the case of a closed-end loan, allow the borrower 
to increase the amount of the mortgage at a later time) secured by a second or more junior lien on single-family residences, which include home equity mortgage loans.  



 
prior to initially approving them as a customer and on an annual basis to ensure compliance with our guidelines and those of the various regulators who govern our business. In addition, we conduct background and 
financial reviews of the principals and their mortgage loan officers, and in some cases require personal guarantees. We believe that as we continue to increase our coverage of correspondents, we will continue to increase 
our market share.  
   

 
Wholesale Channel  
 
Through our wholesale channel, we originate loans through a network of approximately 1,818 non-exclusive relationships with various approved mortgage companies and mortgage brokers. This channel 

accounted for 22% , 19% and 26% of our originations for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively. Originations for this channel increased 74% to $2.8 billion in 2014 from $1.6 billion in 2013. 
Mortgage brokers identify applicants, help them complete a loan application, gather required information and documents and act as our liaison with the borrower during the lending process. We review and underwrite an 
application submitted by a broker, accept or reject the application, determine the range of interest rates and other loan terms, and fund the loan upon acceptance by the borrower and satisfaction of all conditions to the loan 
in much the same manner as our retail channel. By relying on brokers to market our products and assist the borrower throughout the loan application process, we can increase loan volume through our wholesale channel 
with proportionately lower investment in overhead costs compared with the costs of increasing loan volume through loan originations in our distributed retail channels.  

 
Retail Channel  
 
In this channel, mortgage advisors, as employees of Stonegate, originate loans through their relationships with local real estate agents, builders, telemarketing and other local contacts. We believe the retail 

channel offers us a lower cost basis of generating MSRs, driving our strategic focus on growing this channel's origination volume. As of December 31, 2014 , our retail channel primarily operated through 99 retail offices 
across 28 states. This channel accounted for 15% , 7% and 15% of our originations for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively. Originations for this channel increased 197% to $1.9 billion in 
2014 from $0.6 billion in 2013. We believe we are at scale in terms of physical branch locations and do not expect to continue to open additional new retail branches. Instead, we will focus on increasing our direct to 
consumer retail origination volume to grow this channel. On October 1, 2014, we announced the formation of a new division called Stonegate Direct, which provides consumers across the United States with direct access 
to mortgage advisors to facilitate 24 hour, seven days a week, access to our mortgage products and services. The creation of this new division greatly enhances and simplifies the customer experience and home loan 
application process for qualified customers by providing quick, secure, online access for homebuyers and those looking to refinance. Stonegate Direct was formed through the integration of the call center operations of 
Crossline, which was acquired in December 2013. The creation of this new division is part of our initiative to deliver a superior mortgage product and exceptional customer service that are our points of distinction from 
competitors in the marketplace.  

 
Mortgage Servicing  

 
Our mortgage servicing business is organized to maintain a high quality servicing portfolio and keep delinquency rates below the industry average. We perform loan administration, collection and default 

activities, including the collection and remittance of loan payments, responding to customer inquiries, accounting for principal and interest, holding custodial (impound) funds for the payment of property taxes and 
insurance premiums, counseling delinquent mortgagors, modifying loans and supervising foreclosures and our property dispositions.  

 
Our servicing model, along with the newly created Stonegate Direct, is very focused on “recapture,” which involves actively working with existing borrowers to refinance their mortgage loans with Stonegate. 

When a loan is paid off or refinanced with a different lender, we lose the servicing fees on the loan, so our ability to recapture loans successfully is important to the longevity of our servicing cash flows. Because the 
refinanced loans typically have lower interest rates or lower monthly payments, and, in general, subsequently refinance more slowly and default less frequently, these refinancings also typically improve the overall quality 
of our servicing portfolio.  

 
Our servicing business produces strong recurring, contractual fee-based revenue with minimal credit risk. Servicing fees are primarily based on the aggregate unpaid principal balance ("UPB") of the loans 

serviced and the payment structure varies by loan source and type. These include differences in rate of servicing fees as a percentage of UPB and in the structure of advances. We believe our origination business gives us a 
distinct advantage in building a high-quality portfolio of MSRs over those who rely heavily on purchasing MSRs from others to build their portfolios as originated portfolios generally perform better given the extensive 
diligence and underwriting procedures that we apply to each loan. In addition, there is a tax benefit associated with originated MSRs in that no MSRs asset is created and tax income is derived from the servicing revenue 
as opposed to an asset being created and amortized over a set period of time for purchased MSRs.  
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We service loans using a model designed to improve loan performance and reduce loan defaults and foreclosures. Our servicing portfolio consists of MSRs we retain from loans that we originate and MSRs we 

acquire from third party originators, including in transactions facilitated by GSEs. The loans we service are typically securitized by us, i.e., the loans have been pooled together with multiple other loans and interests have 
been sold to third party investors that are secured by loans in the securitization pool. As an asset manager, we are prepared to act as either a buyer or a seller, and/or subservicer, of MSRs, depending on existing market 
conditions.  

 
The table below contains information related to the mortgage loans in our servicing portfolio as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 :  

1 Represents the rate at which a pool of mortgage loans' remaining balance is prepaid each month. The rate is calculated on an annualized basis and expressed as a percentage of the outstanding principal balance. 
 

Mortgage Financing  

We acquired our financing platform, known as NattyMac, in August 2012, and fully integrated the platform into our mortgage banking operations in December of 2012. Founded in 1994, NattyMac earlier 
operated as an independent mortgage warehouse lender focused on financing prime mortgage collateral, such as agency-eligible, government insured and government guaranteed loans that were committed for purchase by 
GSEs. In June 2013, we consolidated our NattyMac financing platform into a wholly-owned subsidiary to focus on providing warehouse financing to our correspondent customers and others. NattyMac allows us to 
leverage our proprietary technology and our existing due diligence and underwriting processes to efficiently underwrite the warehouse lines of credit it provides for its customers, who are our correspondents and others. 
We believe that NattyMac is highly scalable with little additional fixed cost investment needed to grow our customer base. This also creates an additional source of funding for our correspondents to originate mortgage 
loans that meet our underwriting requirements and are eligible for us and other investors to purchase. We are currently financing NattyMac’s warehouse lending operations through the use of cash on hand and our existing 
financing facilities and continue to explore additional financing opportunities.  

Our financing platform features a centralized custodian and disbursement agent allowing us to enter into participation arrangements with financial institutions, such as regional banks, for an interest in our newly 
originated loans during the time these loans would otherwise be funded by a warehouse line or traditional repurchase facility. Additionally, by offering regional banks an opportunity to invest in a liquid high-quality asset, 
we are able to earn net interest income. By partnering with regional banks and other investors, we believe it allows us to compete with other bank-owned warehouse lenders who have traditionally dominated this market. 
We are also able to share in the interest income with the regional banks and other investors to increase revenue. To grow these participation agreements, on April 15, 2014, we entered into an agreement whereby we agreed 
to invest in the subordinate debt of Merchants Bancorp, which, in turn, agreed to form NattyMac Funding, Inc. (“NMF”) to invest in participation interests in residential mortgage loans originated by us, as discussed 
below. In addition to growing the number of these participation arrangements, we will focus on increasing business with existing financial institution customers to maximize this revenue.  
 
Significant Transactions and Recent Developments  
(Dollar Amounts In Thousands or As Otherwise Stated Herein)  
 
Acquisition of Medallion Mortgage Company  
 

In line with our strategy of growth by geographic expansion, on February 4, 2014, we completed our acquisition of Medallion Mortgage Company ("Medallion"), a residential mortgage originator based in 
southern California. Medallion services customers with an extensive portfolio of residential real estate loan programs and has 10 offices along the southern and central coast of California, Utah and a new operations center 
in Ventura, California. In the acquisition of Medallion, we purchased certain assets, assumed certain liabilities and offered employment to certain employees. Total consideration of $861  
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      December 31,  

      2014     2013  

Servicing portfolio ($UPB in thousands)     $ 18,336,745     $ 11,923,510  
Weighted average coupon     4.10 %    3.84 % 

Weighted average age (in months)     12.0     10.0  
90+ day delinquency rate     0.47 %    0.36 % 

Weighted average FICO score     720     739  
Gross constant prepayment rate 1     9.45 %    6.48 % 



 
was funded with working capital and existing cash resources and included cash consideration of $258 and contingent consideration based primarily on future origination volume estimated to be $603 at the acquisition date. 
The Company estimated the fair value of the earnout liability as of December 31, 2014 and determined that a decrease to the original estimate of $153 was appropriate as of December 31, 2014 . For additional information 
regarding this transaction, refer to Note 4 "Business Combinations," to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Subordinated Debt Agreement       

On April 15, 2014, we entered into an agreement with Merchants Bancorp (an Indiana-based bank holding company and the parent company of Merchants Bank of Indiana), whereby we agreed to invest up to 
$25,000 in the subordinate debt of Merchants Bancorp. Merchants Bancorp in turn, agreed to form and fund NMF, a wholly-owned subsidiary, that will invest in participation interests in warehouse lines of credit 
("WLOCs") originated by our wholly-owned subsidiary, NattyMac, and in participation interests in residential mortgage loans originated by us. The amount of the subordinated debt funded by us is designed to be greater 
than or equal to 10% of the assets of NMF. The subordinate debt provided to Merchants Bancorp will earn a return equal to one-month LIBOR, plus 350 basis points, plus additional interest that will be equal to 49% of the 
earnings of NMF. On September 25, 2014, we expanded the maximum amount of our investment in the subordinate debt of Merchants Bancorp to $30,000. The subordinated debt investment in Merchants Bancorp, 
subsequent funding of NMF by Merchants Bank, and resulting purchase of WLOCs and residential mortgage participations by NMF is designed to provide liquidity to the Company for its WLOCs originated by NattyMac 
and additional liquidity for our residential mortgage originations.  

 
MSR Sales  
 

Our MSRs are primarily created through our originations channels. As an asset manager, we are prepared to act as either a buyer or a seller of MSRs, depending on market conditions. We successfully executed on 
this strategy by selling nearly $4 billion of MSRs during the 3rd and 4th quarters of 2014, freeing up capital to reinvest back into originations, which has a higher return potential. The nearly $4 billion of UPB in FNMA 
MSRs were sold to an unrelated party in two separate transactions. These two pools contained no GNMA or FHLMC MSRs, had average mortgage interest rates that were less than current mortgage interest rates, and had 
a different geographic make up than our overall portfolio. We sub-serviced the loans in both pools temporarily for a fee, during which time we were also entitled to certain other ancillary income amounts. We have begun 
to re-deploy the proceeds from these sales back into our originations platform to create newly originated MSRs with the intent of improving our returns. We expect that our MSRs payoff and principal amortization and fair 
market value adjustments on the MSRs asset would have been more negative had we not executed these sales.  

Formation of Stonegate Direct  
 

To increase our direct to consumer retail origination volume, on October 1, 2014, we announced the formation of a new division called Stonegate Direct, which provides consumers across the United States with 
direct access to mortgage advisors and technology to facilitate 24 hour, seven days a week, access to our mortgage products and services. The creation of this new division greatly enhances and simplifies the customer 
experience and home loan application process for qualified customers by providing quick, secure online access for homebuyers and those looking to refinance. Stonegate Direct was formed through the integration of the 
call center operations of Crossline Capital, which was acquired in December 2013. The creation of this new division is part of our initiative to deliver a superior mortgage product and exceptional customer service that are 
our points of distinction from competitors in the marketplace.  

Shelf Registration  

Subsequent to year end, on January 14, 2015, we filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") under the shelf registration rules that allows us to sell, from time to time, 
in one or more offerings, on a continuous or delayed basis, certain securities, such as common stock, debt securities, preferred stock, depository shares, and/or warrants, for an aggregate initial offering price of up to 
$200,000. In addition, the registration statement registered shares of certain existing shareholders to provide them the opportunity to sell the shares to the public.  
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Employees  

As of December 31, 2014 , we had 1,294 employees, all of whom are based in the United States. We are not aware that any of our employees is a member of any labor union, we are not subject to any collective 
bargaining agreement, and we have never experienced any business interruption as a result of any labor dispute.  

Regulation  

Our business is subject to extensive federal, state and local regulation. Our loan originations, loan servicing and debt collection operations are primarily regulated at the state level by state licensing authorities 
and administrative agencies. Because we do business in 47 states and the District of Columbia, we, along with certain of our employees who engage in regulated activities, must apply for licensing as a mortgage banker or 
lender, loan servicer, mortgage loan originator and/or debt default specialist, pursuant to applicable state law. These laws typically require that we file applications and pay certain processing fees to be approved to operate 
in a particular state, and that our principals and loan originators be subject to background checks, administrative review and continuing education requirements. Our mortgage servicing business is licensed (or maintains an 
appropriate statutory exemption) to service mortgage loans in 47 states and the District of Columbia. Our retail loan origination channel is licensed to originate loans in the states in which it operates, and our direct 
origination channel is licensed to originate loans in 47 states and the District of Columbia. From time to time, we receive requests from states and other agencies for records, documents and information regarding our 
policies, procedures and practices regarding our loan originations, loan servicing and debt collection business activities, and we are subject to periodic examinations by state regulatory agencies. We incur ongoing costs to 
comply with these licensing requirements.  

The federal Secure and Fair Enforcement for Mortgage Licensing Act of 2008 also requires all states to enact laws requiring each individual who takes mortgage loan applications, or who offers or negotiates 
terms of a residential mortgage loan, to be individually licensed or registered as a mortgage loan originator. These laws require each mortgage loan originator to enroll in the Nationwide Mortgage Licensing System, apply 
for individual licenses with the state where they operate, complete a minimum of 20 hours of pre-licensing education and an annual minimum of eight hours of continuing education, and to successfully complete both 
national and state exams.  

In addition to licensing requirements, we must comply with a number of federal consumer protection laws, including, among others:  
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◦  the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, which requires us to maintain privacy with respect to certain consumer data in our possession and to periodically communicate with consumers on privacy matters; 

◦  the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, which regulates the timing and content of debt collection communications; 

◦  the Truth in Lending Act ("TILA") and Regulation Z thereunder, which require certain disclosures to mortgagors regarding the terms of their mortgage loans; 

◦  the Fair Credit Reporting Act, which regulates the use and reporting of information related to the credit history of consumers; 

◦  the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and Regulation B thereunder, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of age, race and certain other characteristics, in the extension of credit; 

◦  the Homeowners Equity Protection Act, which requires, among other things, the cancellation of mortgage insurance once certain equity levels are reached; 

◦  the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act and Regulation C thereunder, which require mortgage lenders to report certain public loan data; 

◦  the Fair Housing Act, which prohibits discrimination in housing on the basis of race, sex, national origin, and certain other characteristics; 

◦  the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act ("RESPA") and Regulation X, which governs certain mortgage loan origination activities and practices and the actions of servicers related to escrow accounts, 
transfers, lender-placed insurance, loss mitigation, error resolution and other customer communications; and  

◦  certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act, including the Consumer Financial Protection Act, which among other things, created the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB") and prohibits unfair, 
deceptive or abusive acts or practices, as further described below.  



 
Dodd-Frank Act  
 

On July 21, 2010, President Obama signed into law the Dodd-Frank Act which regulates the financial services industry, including securitizations, mortgage originations and mortgage sales. The Dodd-Frank Act 
also established the CFPB to enforce laws involving consumer financial products and services, including mortgage finance. The CFPB directly influences the regulation of residential mortgage loan originations and 
servicing in a number of ways. First, the CFPB has rulemaking authority with respect to many of the federal consumer protection laws applicable to mortgage servicers, including TILA, RESPA and the FDCPA. Second, 
the CFPB has supervision, examination and enforcement authority over consumer financial products and services offered by certain non-depository institutions and large insured depository institutions. The CFPB’s 
jurisdiction includes those persons originating, brokering or servicing residential mortgage loans and those persons performing loan modification or foreclosure relief services in connection with such loans.  

 
The Dodd-Frank Act also directs the federal banking agencies and the Securities and Exchange Commission to adopt rules requiring an issuer or other entity creating an asset-backed security (including a 

mortgage-backed security) to retain an economic interest in a portion of the credit risk for the assets underlying the security. In 2014, the agencies approved a credit risk retention rule that requires sponsors of 
securitizations retain not less than 5% of the credit risk of the assets. The approved rule provides sponsors with various options for meeting this requirement, including retaining risk equal to at least 5% of each class of 
asset-backed security, 5% of par value of all asset-backed security interests issued, 5% of a representative pool of assets, or a combination of these options. Under this rule, asset-backed securities that are collateralized 
exclusively by qualified residential mortgages would not be subject to these requirements. The rule defines qualified residential mortgages to have the same meaning as the term “qualified mortgage” as defined by TILA. 
The rule also recognizes that the sponsor of a FNMA or FHLMC securitization will satisfy the rule’s risk-retention provisions, at least while those agencies remain in conservatorship or receivership with capital support 
from the U.S. government, because of their 100% guarantee of principal and interest payable on the sponsored securities. Because substantially all of our loans are sold to, or pursuant to programs sponsored by, FNMA, 
FHLMC, or GNMA, the approved rule would exempt us from the risk-retention requirements with regard to securities backed by such loans.  

   
In addition, on August 1, 2014 the CFPB promulgated the TILA-RESPA Integrated Disclosure rule that integrates the mortgage loan disclosures required under TILA and sections 4 and 5 of RESPA. The TILA-

RESPA rule contains new requirements and two disclosure forms that borrowers will receive in the process of applying for and consummating a mortgage loan. The first new disclosure form, the Loan Estimate, combines 
two existing forms, the good faith estimate and the initial truth-in lending disclosure, into one form. The loan estimate must be provided to consumers no later than the third business day after they submit a loan 
application. The rule defines a loan application as having six of the seven elements that RESPA required: consumer’s name, consumer’s income, consumer’s social security number to obtain a credit report, property 
address, estimate of the value of the property and mortgage loan amount sought. The second new disclosure form, the Closing Disclosure, also combines two existing forms, the settlement statement or HUD-1 and the 
final truth-in-lending disclosures, into one form. The Closing Disclosure must be provided to consumers at least three business days before consummation of the loan. There are also new tolerance levels for disclosed 
estimates and restrictions on fees and actions taken before the consumer has received the loan estimate and indicated an intent to proceed with the mortgage loan origination. These forms are designed to use clear language 
to make it easier for consumers to locate key information, such as interest rate, monthly payments, and costs to close the loan. They also provide more information to assist consumers in deciding whether they can afford 
the loan and to facilitate comparison of the cost of different loan offers. The implementation of these new forms and related requirements will necessitate significant operational and technological changes for the entire 
mortgage origination industry, and for our mortgage origination business in particular. The amendments are effective for any mortgage for which the creditor receives an application on or after August 1, 2015.  

 
We continue to evaluate all aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act and the regulations issued thereunder. The burden associated with monitoring and complying with these regulations has increased our compliance costs 

and may restrict our origination and servicing operations, all of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.  
   

Mortgage Origination  

On January 10, 2014, the CFPB implemented final rules for the “ability to repay” requirement in the Dodd-Frank Act. The rules, among other things, requires lenders to consider a consumer’s ability to repay a 
mortgage loan before extending credit to the consumer, and limits prepayment penalties. The rule also establishes certain protections from liability for mortgage lenders with regard to the “qualified mortgages” they 
originate. For this purpose, the rule defines a “qualified mortgage” to include a loan with a borrower debt-to-income ratio of less than or equal to 43% or, alternatively, a loan eligible for purchase by Fannie Mae or Freddie 
Mac while they operate under Federal conservatorship or receivership, and loans eligible for insurance or guarantee by the FHA, VA or USDA. Additionally, a qualified mortgage may not: (i) contain excess upfront points 
and fees;  
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(ii) have a term greater than 30 years; or (iii) include interest-only or negative amortization payments. This rule has not significantly impacted our mortgage production operations since most of the loans we currently 
originate are “qualified mortgages” under the rule, and we have made and continue to make assessments of each consumer’s ability to repay a mortgage loan before extending credit to that consumer. Nonetheless, to the 
extent we originate non-“qualified mortgages”, either inadvertently or purposefully, and we are found to have failed to make a reasonable and good faith determination of a borrower’s ability to repay any such loan, we 
could be subject to additional civil or criminal penalties including substantial fines, imprisonment for individual responsible parties, and statutory penalties payable to the borrower equal to the sum the borrower’s actual 
damages, twice the amount of the related finance charges up to $4,000, the actual amount of finance charges or fees paid by the borrower (unless we show our failure to comply is not material), and the borrower’s 
attorney’s fees and other costs in connection with the related litigation.  

Mortgage Servicing  
 

Title XIV of the Dodd-Frank Act imposes a number of additional requirements on servicers of residential mortgage loans by amending certain existing provisions and adding new sections to TILA and RESPA. 
The penalties for noncompliance with TILA and RESPA are also significantly increased by the Dodd-Frank Act and could lead to an increase in lawsuits against mortgage servicers. To that end, on January 10, 2014, the 
CFPB implemented final rules creating uniform standards for the mortgage servicing industry. The rules increase requirements for communications with borrowers, address requirements around the maintenance of 
customer account records, govern procedural requirements for responding to written borrower requests and complaints of errors, and provide guidance around servicing of delinquent loans, foreclosure proceedings and 
loss mitigation efforts, among other measures. Since becoming effective, these rules have increased costs to service loans across the mortgage industry.   

Several state agencies overseeing the mortgage industry have entered into settlements and enforcement consent orders with mortgage servicers regarding certain foreclosure practices. These settlements and 
orders generally require servicers, among other things, to: (i) modify their servicing and foreclosure practices, for example, by improving communications with borrowers and prohibiting dual-tracking, which occurs when 
servicers continue to pursue foreclosure during the loan modification process; (ii) establish a single point of contact for borrowers throughout the loan modification and foreclosure processes; and (iii) establish robust 
oversight and controls of third party vendors, including outside legal counsel, that provide default management or foreclosure services on their behalf. Many of these practices are considered by regulators, investors and 
consumer advocates as industry "best practices." As such, we will be challenged to review and adapt many of these practices as well.  

Competition  

In our originations, servicing and financing businesses, we compete with large financial institutions and with other independent residential mortgage loan producers and servicers. These originators and servicers, 
however, are experiencing higher operating costs and increased capital requirements, thus allowing an opportunity for us to successfully compete and take advantage of growth opportunities in the mortgage sector.  

Our mortgage loan origination business faces competition in mortgage loan offerings, rates, fees and level of customer service. Our ability to differentiate the value of our financial products primarily through 
our mortgage loan offerings, technology platforms, rates, fees and customer service determines our competitive position within the mortgage loan originations industry.  

Our servicing business faces competition in areas such as fees and service. Our ability to differentiate ourselves from other loan servicers through our innovative technology platforms largely determines our 
competitive position within the mortgage loan servicing industry.  

In our financing business, we primarily compete with depository institutions that use deposit funds to finance loans. These institutions, however, typically only focus on larger mortgage originations leaving the 
small- and mid-sized originators to sell mortgage loans to aggregators (a depository institution or non-bank originator), such as ourself. Thus, our financing platform allows us to compete with bank-owned mortgage 
lenders, who have access to cheaper deposit funding.  

Reportable Segments  

We operate three reportable business segments: Originations, Servicing and Financing. These reportable segments are based on our organizational structure, and reflect how the chief operating decision maker 
manages and evaluates the performance of the business, with a focus on the services performed. Our chief operating decision maker evaluates the performance of each segment based on their individual measurements of 
income before income taxes. Refer to Note 20, "Segment Information" included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for details related to the asset  
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components, operating revenues, income before income taxes, depreciation and amortization by segment for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .  

We do not have any foreign operations.  

Seasonality  

Our Originations segment is subject to seasonal fluctuations, and activity tends to diminish somewhat in the months of December, January and February, when home sales volume and loan origination volumes 
are at their lowest. This typically causes seasonal fluctuations in our origination business revenue, as well as our financing business revenue in our Financing segment, as such revenue is mostly interest income and directly 
correlates to originations. Levels of delinquency are also subject to seasonal fluctuations, with higher levels occurring December through March, which can negatively affect the profitability of our Servicing segment due 
to larger amounts of servicing advances and increased expenses from operational efforts dedicated to servicing delinquent loans.  

Intellectual Property  

We hold registered trademarks with respect to the name Stonegate Mortgage Corporation, our logos and various additional designs and word marks relating to the Stonegate Mortgage Corporation name. 
Additionally, we own registered trademarks with respect to the name of NattyMac, its logo and various additional designs and word marks relating to NattyMac that we acquired. We use a variety of methods, such as 
trademarks, patents, copyrights and trade secrets, to protect our intellectual property. We also place appropriate restrictions on our proprietary information to control access and prevent unauthorized disclosures.  

Available Information  
We are an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("Exchange Act")), and are required, pursuant to Item 101 of Regulation S-K, to provide certain 

information regarding our website and the availability of certain documents filed with or furnished to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Our Internet website is www.stonegatemtg.com . We have 
included our Internet website address throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K as textual reference only. The information contained on our Internet website is not incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
We make available, free of charge, through our Internet website, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished 
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with or furnish it to the SEC. Our Internet website also provides access to reports filed by 
our directors, executive officers and certain significant stockholders pursuant to Section 16 of the Exchange Act. We also include on our Internet website our Corporate Governance Guidelines, our Standards of Ethical 
Business Conduct and the charter of each standing committee of our Board of Directors. In addition, we intend to disclose on our Internet website any amendments to, or waivers from, our Standards of Ethical Business 
Conduct that are required to be publicly disclosed pursuant to rules of the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"). The SEC also maintains a website, www.sec.gov , that contains reports, proxy and information 
statements and other information that we file electronically with the SEC.  
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS  
 

The following factors, among others, could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and presented elsewhere by 
management from time to time. Such factors, among others, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations and you should carefully consider them. It is not possible to 
predict or identify all such factors. Consequently, you should not consider such list to be a complete statement of all potential risks or uncertainties. Because of these and other factors, past performance should not be 
considered an indication of future performance.  

The industry in which we operate is highly competitive and our inability to compete successfully could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We operate in a highly competitive industry that could become even more competitive as a result of economic, technological and regulatory changes. Our mortgage loan origination business faces competition in 
mortgage loan offerings, rates, fees and levels of customer service. Competition to originate mortgage loans comes primarily from large commercial banks and savings institutions, but we also compete with a growing 
number of national and regional mortgage companies. Financial institutions generally have significantly greater resources and access to capital than we do, which gives them the benefit of a lower cost of funds and the 
ability to originate more mortgage loans. Our servicing business faces competition in areas such as fees and service. Competition to service mortgage loans comes from large commercial banks, large savings institutions 
and large independent servicers. Additionally, our servicing competitors may decide to modify their servicing model  
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to compete more directly with our servicing model, or our servicing model may generate lower margins as a result of competition or as overall economic conditions improve.  

In addition, technological advances and heightened e-commerce activities have increased consumers’ accessibility to products and services. This has intensified competition among banks and non-banks in 
offering mortgage loans and servicing them. We may be unable to compete successfully in our origination and servicing businesses, and this could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.  

We may experience financial difficulties as some originators and mortgage servicers have experienced, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Since 2006, a number of originators and servicers of residential mortgage loans experienced serious financial difficulties and, in some cases, ceased operations. These difficulties have resulted, in part, from 
declining markets for mortgage loans as well as from claims for repurchases of mortgage loans previously sold under provisions requiring repurchase in the event of early payment defaults or breaches of representations 
and warranties regarding loan quality, compliance and certain other loan characteristics. Overall, origination volumes are down significantly in the current economic environment. Higher delinquencies and defaults may 
contribute to these difficulties by reducing the value of mortgage loans and requiring originators to sell their portfolios at greater discounts to par. In addition, servicing an increasingly delinquent mortgage loan portfolio 
increases servicing costs without a corresponding increase in servicing compensation. The value of many residual interests retained by sellers of mortgage loans in the securitization market has also been declining. Any of 
the foregoing adverse developments could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Adverse changes in the residential mortgage market would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Since 2007, adverse economic conditions, including high unemployment, stagnant or declining incomes and higher taxes, have impacted the residential mortgage market, resulting in unprecedented delinquency, 
default and foreclosure rates, all of which have led to increased losses on all types of residential mortgage loans due to sharp declines in residential real estate values. Falling home prices have resulted in higher LTVs, 
lower recoveries in foreclosure and an increase in losses above those that would have been realized had property values remained the same or continued to increase. As LTVs increase, borrowers sometimes have 
insufficient equity in their homes, which prohibits them from refinancing their existing loans. This may also provide borrowers an incentive to default on their mortgage loans even if they have the ability to make principal 
and interest payments, which we refer to as strategic defaults. Increased mortgage defaults negatively impact our servicing business because they increase the costs to service the underlying loans and may ultimately 
reduce the number of mortgages we service.  

Adverse economic conditions also adversely impact our originations business. Declining home prices and increasing LTVs may preclude many potential borrowers, including borrowers whose existing loans we 
service, from refinancing their existing loans.  

Adverse changes in the residential mortgage market may reduce the number of mortgages we service or new mortgages we originate, reduce the profitability of mortgages currently serviced by us, adversely 
affect our ability to sell mortgage loans originated by us or increase delinquency rates. Any of the foregoing adverse developments could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.  

We may be unable to obtain sufficient capital to meet the financing requirements of our business.  

Our financing strategy consists primarily of using repurchase facilities, participation agreements and warehouse lines of credit with major financial institutions and regional and community banks. As we 
continue to grow, we will likely need to borrow additional money. Our ability to renew or replace our existing facilities or warehouse lines of credit as they expire and borrow the additional funds we will need to 
accomplish our growth strategy is affected by a variety of factors including:  

 

We cannot assure you we will be able to renew, replace or refinance our existing financing arrangements or enter into additional financing arrangements on terms that are commercially reasonable or at all.  
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•  the level of liquidity in the mortgage related credit markets; 
•  prevailing interest rates; 
•  the strength of the lenders that provide us financing; 
•  limitations on borrowings on repurchase facilities, participation agreements and warehouse lines of credit imposed by the amount of eligible collateral pledged; 
•  limitations imposed on us under financing agreements that contain restrictive covenants and borrowing conditions that may limit our ability to raise or borrow additional funds; and 
•  accounting changes that may impact calculations of covenants in our financing agreements. 



 

In the ordinary course of our business, we periodically borrow money or sell newly-originated loans to fund our mortgage loan origination and servicing operations. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Liquidity and Capital Resources.” Our ability to fund current operations and make advances required under our mortgage loan servicing agreements depends on our ability 
to secure these types of financings on acceptable terms and to renew or replace existing financings as they expire. Such financings may not be available on acceptable terms or at all.  

An event of default, a negative ratings action by a rating agency, an adverse action by a regulatory authority or a general deterioration in the economy that constricts the availability of credit-similar to the market 
conditions that we have experienced during the last five years-may increase our cost of funds and make it difficult for us to renew existing facilities or obtain new financing facilities. We intend to seek opportunities to 
acquire mortgage loan servicing portfolios and/or businesses that engage in mortgage loan servicing and/or mortgage loan originations. Our liquidity and capital resources may be diminished by any such transactions. 
Additionally, we believe that a significant acquisition may require us to raise additional capital to facilitate such a transaction, which may not be available on acceptable terms or at all.  

 
In January 2014, the final capital requirements of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision of the Bank of International Settlements, known as Basel III, became effective for U.S. banking organizations. 

These requirements should increase the cost of funding on financial institutions that we rely on for financing. Such Basel III requirements could reduce our sources of funding and increase the costs of originating and 
servicing mortgage loans. If we are unable to obtain sufficient capital on acceptable terms for any of the foregoing reasons, this could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.  

We may not be able to continue to grow our loan origination volume, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Our mortgage loan origination business consists of providing purchase money loans to homebuyers and refinancing existing loans. The origination of purchase money mortgage loans is greatly influenced by 
traditional business clients in the home buying process such as realtors and builders. As a result, our ability to secure relationships with such traditional business clients will influence our ability to grow our purchase 
money mortgage loan volume and, thus, our loan origination business.  

Our loan origination business operates largely through third party mortgage brokers who do business with us on a best efforts basis, i.e ., they are not obligated to do business with us. Further, our competitors 
also have relationships with these brokers and actively compete with us in our efforts to expand our broker networks. Accordingly, we may not be successful in maintaining our existing relationships or expanding our 
broker networks. If we are unable to continue to grow our loan origination business, this could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

As of December 31, 2014 , we were licensed in 47 states and the District of Columbia, and expect to become licensed in New York, which makes up approximately 3-4% of the total U.S. residential mortgage 
market, in the near future, which we expect will have a positive impact on our origination growth. However, there are no assurances that we will obtain a license in New York. If we are unable to obtain the license in New 
York, we will not be able to grow our business in accordance with our current plans, and our business, financial condition and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.  

The geographic concentration of our servicing portfolio may result in a higher rate of delinquencies and/or defaults, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

The following is a summary of the loans we serviced as of December 31, 2014 by geographic concentration as measured by the total unpaid principal balance as of December 31, 2014 :  
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(dollars in millions)     $ UPB     % of Total $UPB  

California     $ 2,512     14%  

Texas     2,261     12%  

Illinois     1,133     6%  

Indiana     1,064     6%  

Missouri     1,010     6%  

Ohio     958     5%  

New Jersey     943     5%  

Florida     935     5%  

All other states     7,521     41%  

Total     $ 18,337     100%  



 
To the extent the states where we have a higher concentration of loans experience weaker economic conditions, greater rates of decline in single-family residential real estate values or reduced demand within the 

residential mortgage sector relative to the United States generally, the concentration of loans we service in those regions may increase the effect of the risks described in this “Risk Factors” section. Additionally, if states in 
which we have greater concentrations of mortgage loans were to change their licensing or other regulatory requirements to make our business cost-prohibitive, we may be required to stop doing business in those states or 
may be subject to higher costs of doing business in those states, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

At December 31, 2014 , there was one state in which we were not licensed but had a license pending. As our origination volume increases in the states where we have only recently become licensed and have not 
yet expanded our operations and in the additional states where we become licensed, we expect our geographic concentration to change and our origination and servicing of loans could be impacted by geographic 
concentrations in different states. To the extent those states experience weaker economic conditions or greater rates of decline in single-family residential real estate values, the concentration of loans we originate and 
service in those regions may increase the effect of the risks to our business.  

We use financial models and estimates in determining the fair value of certain assets, such as MSRs, commitments to originate loans, mortgage loans held for sale and related hedging instruments. If our estimates or 
assumptions prove to be incorrect, we may be required to record negative fair value adjustments, which would adversely affect our earnings.  

We use internal financial models that utilize, wherever possible, market participant data to value certain of our assets, including our MSRs when they are initially acquired and newly originated loans held for 
sale for purposes of financial reporting. These models are complex and use asset-specific collateral data and market inputs for interest and discount rates. In addition, the modeling requirements of MSRs are complex 
because of the high number of variables that drive cash flows associated with MSRs. Even if the general accuracy of our valuation models is validated, valuations are highly dependent upon the reasonableness of our 
assumptions and the predictability of the relationships that drive the results of the models. In determining the value for MSRs, we make certain assumptions, many of which are beyond our control, including, among other 
things:  

Although we have processes and procedures in place to review our internal valuation models and their testing and calibration, such assumptions are complex as we must make judgments about the effect of 
matters that are inherently uncertain. Different assumptions could result in significant changes in financial performance, including valuation, which in turn could affect earnings or result in significant changes in the dollar 
amount of assets reported on the balance sheet. Additionally, if loan loss levels are higher than anticipated due to an increase in delinquencies, prepayment speeds are higher than we predict, or financial market illiquidity 
continues beyond our estimate, the value of certain of our assets may decrease and we may be required to record negative fair value adjustments, which could adversely affect our earnings. In addition, there can be no 
assurance that, even if our models are correct, these assets could be sold for our carrying value should we choose or be forced to sell them in the open market.  
   

We may incur losses due to changes in prepayment rates.  
 

Our MSRs carry interest rate risk because the total amount of servicing fees earned, as well as changes in fair-market value, fluctuate based on expected loan prepayments (affecting the expected average life of a 
portfolio of residential MSRs). The rate of prepayment of residential mortgage loans may be influenced by a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, changing national and regional economic trends (such as 
recessions or depressed real estate markets), the difference between interest rates on existing residential mortgage loans relative to prevailing residential mortgage rates, or other terms that can affect the amount of 
payments borrowers make on mortgage loans, such as the rates or fees applicable to private or government-provided mortgage insurance. Changes in prepayment rates are therefore difficult for us to predict. An increase in 
the general level of interest rates may adversely affect the ability of some borrowers to pay the interest and principal of their obligations. During periods of declining interest rates, many residential borrowers refinance 
their mortgage loans. The loan administration fee income (related to the residential mortgage loan servicing rights corresponding to a mortgage loan) decreases as mortgage loans are prepaid. Consequently, the fair value 
of portfolios of residential mortgage loan servicing rights tend to decrease during periods of declining interest rates, because greater prepayments can be expected and, as a result, the amount of loan administration income 
received also decreases.  
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•  the rates of prepayment and repayment; 
•  projected rates of delinquencies, defaults and liquidations; 
•  future interest rates; 
•  our cost to service the loans; 
•  ancillary fee income; and 
•  amounts of future servicing advances. 



 
Our investments in mortgage loans and MSRs may become illiquid, and we may not be able to vary our portfolio in response to changes in economic and other conditions.  
 

Our investments in mortgage loans and MSRs may become illiquid. If that were to occur, it may be difficult or impossible to obtain or validate third party pricing on the investments we purchase. Illiquid 
investments also typically experience greater price volatility, as a ready market does not exist, and can be more difficult to value. We cannot predict if our mortgage loans or MSRs may become illiquid, or when such event 
may occur, though some factors that have contributed to periods of illiquidity for these assets generally in the past have been weak economic conditions, rates of decline in single-family residential real estate values and 
volatile interest rates. Any illiquidity of our investments may make it difficult for us to sell such investments if the need or desire arises. In addition, if we are required to liquidate all or a portion of our portfolio quickly, 
we may realize significantly less than the recorded value.  
 
Federal, state and local laws and regulations could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Due to the highly regulated nature of the residential mortgage industry, we are required to comply with a wide array of federal, state and local laws and regulations that regulate, among other things, the manner 
in which we conduct our origination and servicing businesses, the fees we may charge, and the services we provide. These regulations directly impact our business and require constant compliance, monitoring and internal 
and external audits. In particular, the CFPB and applicable state agencies have the power to levy fines or file suits against us or compel settlements with monetary penalties and operation requirements, and a material 
failure to comply with any state laws or regulations could result in the loss or suspension of our licenses in the applicable jurisdictions where such violations occur. Any of these outcomes could materially and adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

In addition, there continue to be changes in legislation and licensing requirements that are intended to improve the consumer mortgage loan experience, which require technological changes and additional 
implementation costs for mortgage loan originators and servicers, such as the implementation of the TILA-RESPA Integrated Disclosure rule, which becomes effective on August 1, 2015. We expect legislative and 
licensing changes will continue in the foreseeable future, which will likely increase our operating expenses. Furthermore, there continue to be changes in state and federal laws and regulations that are adverse to mortgage 
originators and servicers that increase costs and operational complexity of our business and impose significant penalties for violation. Any of these changes in the law could materially and adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.  

Federal, state and local governments have recently proposed or enacted numerous laws, regulations and rules related to mortgage loans generally and foreclosure actions in particular. These laws, regulations and 
rules may result in significant delays in the foreclosure process, reduced payments by borrowers, modification of the original terms of mortgage loans, permanent forgiveness of debt and increased servicing advances. In 
some cases, local governments have ordered moratoriums on foreclosure activity, which prevent a servicer or trustee, as applicable, from exercising any remedies they might have in respect of liquidating a severely 
delinquent mortgage loan. Several courts also have taken unprecedented steps to slow the foreclosure process or prevent foreclosure altogether. See "Regulation" in Item 1 of this Form 10-K.  

Certain proposed federal and state legislation would permit borrowers in bankruptcy to restructure mortgage loans secured by primary residences. Bankruptcy courts could, if this legislation is enacted, reduce 
the principal balance of a mortgage loan that is secured by a lien on mortgaged property, reduce the mortgage interest rate, extend the term to maturity or otherwise modify the terms of a bankrupt borrower’s mortgage 
loan.  

We originate and sell FHA, VA and USDA loans. The origination of FHA, VA and USDA loans represented approximately 43% , 40% and 29% of the dollar value of loans originated during the years ended 
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively. The housing finance reform contemplated by the Obama administration may impact the lending qualification and limits of these programs, which may adversely impact 
our volume of FHA, VA and USDA loan originations in the future and may increase the price of our mortgage insurance premiums or otherwise adversely affect our business, financial conditions and results of operations. 
 

On January 30, 2015, the FHFA proposed new minimum financial eligibility requirements that apply to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac seller/servicers, including non-bank seller/servicers. As proposed, these 
new requirements include a minimum net worth of $2.5 million plus 25 basis points of the UPB of the total mortgage loans serviced, a capital ratio of tangible net worth to total assets of greater than 6%, and a minimum 
liquidity amount of 3.5 basis points of total agency servicing (Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and Ginnie Mae) plus an incremental 200 basis of total non-performing agency servicing in excess of the 6% of total agency 
servicing UPB, with restrictions on the types of assets that will be eligible to be counted as liquidity. While we currently meet these requirements as proposed, the FHFA could ultimately enact more stringent financial 
eligibility  
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requirements, or other federal or state agencies may enact additional requirements that are more stringent. Failure to comply with any of these requirements could adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.  

We may be subject to liability for potential violations of predatory lending laws, which could adversely impact our results of operations, financial condition and business.  

Various U.S. federal, state and local laws have been enacted that are designed to discourage predatory lending practices. The U.S. federal Home Ownership and Equity Protection Act of 1994 ("HOEPA") 
prohibits inclusion of certain provisions in residential mortgage loans that have mortgage rates or origination costs in excess of prescribed levels and requires that borrowers be given certain disclosures prior to origination. 
Some states have enacted, or may enact, similar laws or regulations, which in some cases impose restrictions and requirements greater than those in HOEPA. In addition, under the anti-predatory lending laws of some 
states, the origination of certain residential mortgage loans, including loans that are not classified as “high-cost” loans under applicable law, must satisfy a net tangible benefits test with respect to the related borrower. This 
test may be highly subjective and open to interpretation. As a result, a court may determine that a residential mortgage loan, for example, does not meet the test even if the related originator reasonably believed that the test 
was satisfied. If any of our production loans are found to have been originated in violation of predatory or abusive lending laws, we could incur losses, which could adversely impact our results of operations, financial 
condition and business.  

We are highly dependent upon programs administered by GSEs, such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, and by Ginnie Mae, to generate revenues through mortgage loan sales to institutional investors. Any changes 
in existing U.S. government-sponsored mortgage programs could materially and adversely affect our business, financial position and results of operations.  

On February 2011, the Obama administration presented Congress with a report titled "Reforming America's Housing Finance Market, A Report to Congress," outlining its proposals for reforming the housing 
finance markets in the United States. The report, among other things, outlined various potential proposals to wind down the GSEs and reduce or eliminate over time the role of the GSEs in guaranteeing mortgages and 
providing funding for mortgage loans, as well as proposals to implement reforms relating to borrowers, lenders and investors in the mortgage market, including reducing the maximum size of loans that the GSEs can 
guarantee, phasing in a minimum down payment requirement for borrowers, improving underwriting standards and increasing accountability and transparency in the securitization process. There are also proposals to 
reduce the maximum size of loans insured by FHA (which comprise the majority of loans in the Ginnie Mae program) or otherwise reform FHA lending. In addition, various bills have been proposed by members of 
Congress to eliminate the GSEs and replace them with private but federally-subsidized guaranties for qualifying loans, to combine them into a single entity that will provide guaranties to a smaller number of qualified 
loans, or to continue their operations but in a more limited form and with greater capital requirements. Thus, the long-term future of the GSEs is still unclear.  

Our ability to generate revenues through mortgage loan sales to institutional investors depends, to a significant degree, on programs administered by the GSEs, such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and by 
Ginnie Mae. These GSEs and Ginnie Mae play a critical role in the residential mortgage industry, and we have significant business relationships with many of them. Most of the conforming loans we originate qualify 
under existing standards for inclusion in mortgage securities guaranteed by GSEs and Ginnie Mae. We also derive other material financial benefits from these relationships, including the assumption of credit risk by these 
GSEs and Ginnie Mae on loans included in such mortgage securities in exchange for our payment of guarantee fees and the ability to avoid certain loan inventory finance costs through streamlined loan funding and sale 
procedures.  

Any discontinuation of, or significant reduction in, the operation of these GSEs and Ginnie Mae or any significant adverse change in the level of activity in the secondary mortgage market or the underwriting 
criteria of these GSEs or Ginnie Mae could materially and adversely affect our business, financial position and results of operations.  

The conservatorship of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and related efforts, along with any changes in laws and regulations affecting the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the U.S. federal 
government, could adversely affect our business and prospects.  

Due to increased market concerns about the ability of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to withstand future credit losses associated with securities held in their investment portfolios, in July 2008, the U.S. 
government passed the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008. In September 2008, the Federal Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”) placed Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac into conservatorship and, together with the 
U.S. Treasury, established a program designed to boost investor confidence in their respective debt and MBS. As the conservator of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, the FHFA controls and directs the operations of Fannie 
Mae and Freddie Mac and may (i) take over the assets and operations of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac with all the powers of the shareholders, the directors and the officers of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and conduct all 
business of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac; (ii) collect all obligations and money due to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac; (iii) perform all functions of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac that are consistent with the conservator’s 
appointment; (iv) preserve  
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and conserve the assets and property of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac; and (v) contract for assistance in fulfilling any function, activity, action or duty of the conservator. In addition, a number of GSE reform proposals 
have been advanced by the FHFA and other governmental authorities and industry groups, some of which advocate material changes to the business of the GSEs or the elimination of the GSEs altogether. The future of the 
GSEs, therefore, is uncertain. Certain changes to the mortgage financing programs of the GSEs could have a material adverse effect on the operations of the residential mortgage markets and our business, financial 
position and results of operations.  

Although the U.S. Treasury has committed capital to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, these actions may not be adequate for their needs. If these actions are inadequate, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could continue 
to suffer losses and could fail to honor their guarantees and other obligations. The future roles of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could be significantly reduced and the nature of their guarantees could be considerably 
limited relative to historical measurements. Any changes to the nature of the guarantees provided by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could redefine what constitute agency and government conforming MBS and could have 
broad adverse market implications. Such market implications could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

If we are unable to sell or securitize our non-agency mortgage loans, our business will be adversely affected and even if we are successful in securitizing our non-agency mortgage loans, we may bear a portion of the 
risk of loss associated with these loans.  

We originate and acquire mortgage loans that are not eligible for sale to or securitization with the GSEs or Ginnie Mae. Because we do not want to hold these non-agency mortgage loans to maturity, we either 
must sell them to third parties or securitize them in non-agency securitizations. The non-agency securitization market has been stalled in the last few years because of a number of factors, including regulatory uncertainty. 
If we originate non-agency mortgage loans and cannot sell or securitize them, we may be forced to hold them in portfolio with little access to financing on favorable terms. This would adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.  

In addition, if we sponsor the securitization of non-agency mortgage loans, we may be required to retain an interest in the securitized loans and would thus bear some of the risk of loss associated with the loans, 
such as default risk.  

Unlike banks and similar financial institutions with which we compete, we are subject to state licensing and operational requirements that result in substantial compliance costs.  

Because we are not a depository institution, we do not benefit from an exemption to state mortgage banking, loan servicing or debt collection licensing and regulatory requirements that is generally given to a 
depository institution under state law. We must comply with state licensing requirements and varying compliance requirements in each of the 47 states and the District of Columbia, in which we do business. Future 
regulatory changes may increase our costs through stricter licensing laws, disclosure laws or increased fees, or may impose conditions to licensing that we are unable to meet. In addition, we are subject to periodic 
examinations by state regulators, which can result in refunds to borrowers of certain fees earned by us, and we may be required to pay substantial penalties imposed by state regulators due to compliance errors. In 
particular, Benjamin Lawsky, superintendent of New York's Department of Financial Services, indicated that the agency had "significant concerns" that the growth of non-bank mortgage servicers may "create capacity 
issues that put homeowners at risk." Future state legislation and changes in existing regulation may significantly increase our compliance costs or reduce the amount of ancillary fees, including late fees, that we may 
charge to borrowers. This could make our business cost-prohibitive in the affected state or states and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Our business would be adversely affected if we lose our licenses or if we are unable to obtain licenses in new markets.  

Our operations are subject to regulation, supervision and licensing under various federal, state and local statutes, ordinances and regulations. In most states in which we operate, a regulatory agency regulates and 
enforces laws relating to mortgage loan servicing companies and mortgage loan origination companies such as us. These rules and regulations generally provide for licensing as a mortgage servicing company, mortgage 
origination company or third party debt default specialist, requirements as to the form and content of contracts and other documentation, licensing of our employees and employee hiring background checks, licensing of 
independent contractors with which we contract, restrictions on collection practices, disclosure and record-keeping requirements and enforcement of borrowers’ rights. In certain states, we are subject to periodic 
examination by state regulatory authorities. Some states in which we operate require special licensing or provide extensive regulation of our business.  

We believe that we maintain all material licenses and permits required for our current operations and are in substantial compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws. But we may not be able to 
maintain all requisite licenses and permits, and the failure to satisfy those and other regulatory requirements could result in a default under our servicing agreements and have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition or results of operations. The states that currently do not provide extensive regulation of our business may later choose to do so, and if such states so act, we may not be  
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able to obtain or maintain all requisite licenses and permits. The failure to satisfy those and other regulatory requirements could result in a default under our servicing agreements and have a material and adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition or results of operations. Furthermore, the adoption of additional, or the revision of existing, rules and regulations could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.  

Challenges to the MERS ® System could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 
 

MERSCORP, Inc. is a privately held company that maintains an electronic registry, referred to as the MERS System, that tracks servicing rights and ownership of loans in the United States. Mortgage Electronic 
Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of MERSCORP, Inc., can serve as a nominee for the owner of a mortgage loan and in that role initiate foreclosures or become the mortgagee of record for 
the loan in local land records. We may choose to use MERS as a nominee. The MERS System is widely used by participants in the mortgage finance industry.  
   

Several legal challenges in the courts and by governmental authorities have been made disputing MERS’s legal standing to initiate foreclosures or act as nominee for lenders in mortgages and deeds of trust 
recorded in local land records. These challenges have focused public attention on MERS and on how loans are recorded in local land records. Although most legal decisions have accepted MERS as mortgagee, these 
challenges could result in delays and additional costs in commencing, prosecuting and completing foreclosure proceedings, conducting foreclosure sales of mortgaged properties and submitting proofs of claim in borrower 
bankruptcy cases.  

 
We may not be able to maintain or grow our business if we cannot originate and/or acquire MSRs.  
 

Our servicing portfolio is subject to “run off,” meaning that mortgage loans we service may be prepaid prior to maturity, refinanced with a mortgage not serviced by us or liquidated through foreclosure, deed-in-
lieu of foreclosure or other liquidation process or repaid through standard amortization of principal. As a result, our ability to maintain and grow the size of our servicing portfolio depends on our ability to originate 
additional mortgages, to recapture the servicing rights on loans that are refinanced, and to acquire the right to service additional residential mortgage loans. We may not be able to originate a sufficient volume of mortgage 
loans, recapture a sufficient volume of refinanced loans or acquire MSRs on additional pools of mortgage loans with sufficient volume or on terms that are favorable to us or at all, which could materially and adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We may not be able to recapture loans from borrowers who refinance.  

One of the focuses of our origination efforts is “recapture,” which involves actively working with existing borrowers to refinance their mortgage loans with us instead of another originator of mortgage loans. 
Borrowers who refinance have no obligation to refinance their loans with us and may choose to refinance with a different originator. If borrowers refinance with a different originator, this decreases the profitability of our 
primary servicing portfolio because the original loan will be repaid, and we will not have an opportunity to earn further servicing fees after the original loan is repaid. Moreover, recapture allows us to generate additional 
loan servicing more cost-effectively than MSRs acquired on the open market. If we are not successful in recapturing our existing loans that are refinanced, our servicing portfolio will become increasingly subject to run-
off, and we may need to purchase additional MSRs on the open market to add to our servicing portfolio, which would increase ours costs and risks and decrease the profitability of our servicing business.  

We may not be able to recover our significant investments in personnel and our technology platform if we cannot originate and acquire MSRs on favorable terms, which could adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

We have made, and expect to continue to make, significant investments in personnel and our technology platform to allow us to service additional loans. In particular, we invest significant resources in 
recruiting, training, technology and systems. We may not realize the expected benefits of these investments to the extent we are unable to increase the pool of residential mortgage loans we service, we are delayed in 
obtaining the right to service such loans or we do not appropriately value the MSRs that we do purchase. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   

We depend on the accuracy and completeness of information about borrowers and counterparties and any misrepresented information could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.  

In deciding whether to extend credit or to enter into other transactions with borrowers and counterparties, we may rely on information furnished to us by or on behalf of borrowers and counterparties, including 
financial statements and other financial information. We also may rely on representations of borrowers and counterparties as to the accuracy and completeness of that information and, with respect to financial statements, 
on reports of independent auditors. We additionally rely on  
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representations from public officials concerning the licensing and good standing of the third party mortgage brokers through which we do business. While we have a practice of independently verifying the borrower 
information that we use in deciding whether to extend credit or to agree to a loan modification, including employment, assets, income and credit score, if any of this information is intentionally or negligently 
misrepresented and such misrepresentation is not detected prior to loan funding, the value of the loan may be significantly lower than expected. Whether a misrepresentation is made by the loan applicant, the mortgage 
broker, another third party or one of our employees, we generally bear the risk of loss associated with the misrepresentation. We have controls and processes designed to help us identify misrepresented information in our 
loan originations operations; however, we may not have detected or may not detect all misrepresented information in our loan originations or from our business clients. Any such misrepresented information could 
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

In addition, when we originate loans, we rely heavily upon information supplied by third parties, including the information contained in the loan application, appraisal, title information and employment and 
income documentation. If any of this information is intentionally or negligently misrepresented and such misrepresentation is not detected prior to the loan funding, the value of the loan may be significantly lower than 
expected, and we may be subject to repurchase or indemnification obligations under loan sales agreements. Whether a misrepresentation is made by the loan applicant, the broker, another third party or one of our own 
employees, we generally bear the risk of loss associated with the misrepresentation. A loan subject to a material misrepresentation is not typically saleable or is subject to repurchase if it is sold prior to detection of the 
misrepresentation. Even though we may have rights against persons and entities who made or knew about the misrepresentation, such persons and entities are often difficult to locate and it is often difficult to collect any 
monetary losses that we have suffered as a result of their actions.  
 
Increases in delinquencies and defaults may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Falling home prices across the United States have resulted in higher LTVs, lower recoveries in foreclosure and an increase in loss severities above those that would have been realized had property values 
remained the same or continued to increase. Though housing values have stabilized in some markets, many borrowers do not have sufficient equity in their homes to permit them to refinance their existing loans, which 
may reduce the volume or growth of our loan production business. This may also provide borrowers with an incentive to default on their mortgage loans even if they have the ability to make principal and interest 
payments. Further, interest rates have remained at historical lows for an extended period of time. Borrowers with adjustable rate mortgage loans must make larger monthly payments when the interest rates on those 
mortgage loans adjust upward from their initial fixed rates or low introductory rates to the rates computed in accordance with the applicable index and margin. Increases in monthly payments may increase the 
delinquencies, defaults and foreclosures on a significant number of the loans that we service.  

Increased mortgage delinquencies, defaults and foreclosures may result in lower revenue for loans that we service for the GSEs, including Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, because we only collect servicing fees 
from GSEs for performing loans. Additionally, while increased delinquencies generate higher ancillary fees, including late fees, these fees are not likely to be recoverable in the event that the related loan is liquidated. In 
addition, an increase in delinquencies lowers the interest income that we receive on cash held in collection and other accounts because there is less cash in those accounts. Also, increased mortgage defaults may ultimately 
reduce the number of mortgages that we service.  

Increased mortgage delinquencies, defaults and foreclosures will also result in a higher cost to service those loans due to the increased time and effort required to collect payments from delinquent borrowers and 
to liquidate properties or otherwise resolve loan defaults if payment collection is unsuccessful, and only a portion of these increased costs are recoverable under our servicing agreements. Increased mortgage delinquencies, 
defaults and foreclosures may also result in an increase in our interest expense and affect our liquidity as a result of borrowing under our credit facilities to fund an increase in our advancing obligations.  

In addition, we are subject to risks of borrower defaults and bankruptcies in cases where we might be required to repurchase loans sold with recourse or under representations and warranties. A borrower filing 
for bankruptcy during foreclosure would have the effect of staying the foreclosure and thereby delaying the foreclosure process, which may potentially result in a reduction or discharge of a borrower’s mortgage debt. 
Even if we are successful in foreclosing on a loan, the liquidation proceeds upon sale of the underlying real estate may not be sufficient to recover our cost basis in the loan, resulting in a loss to us. For example, 
foreclosure may create a negative public perception of the related mortgaged property, resulting in a diminution of its value. Furthermore, any costs or delays involved in the foreclosure of the loan or a liquidation of the 
underlying property will further reduce the net proceeds and, thus, increase the loss. If these risks materialize, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

GSE actions may negatively impact our MSRs and business.  
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On January 18, 2011, the FHFA announced that it has instructed the GSEs to study possible alternatives to the current residential mortgage servicing and compensation system used for single-family mortgage 
loans. There can be no certainty regarding what the GSEs may propose as alternatives to current servicing compensation practices, or when any such alternatives would become effective. Although MSRs that have already 
been created may not be subject to any changes implemented by the GSEs, it is possible that, because of the significant role of GSEs in the secondary mortgage market, any changes they implement could become 
prevalent in the mortgage servicing industry generally. Other industry stakeholders or regulators may also implement or require changes in response to the perception that the current mortgage servicing practices and 
compensation do not appropriately serve broader housing policy objectives. Changes to the residential mortgage servicing and compensation system would have a significant negative impact on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  
 

The FHFA has released progress reports on the implementation of these efforts and outlined (i) the development of a new Contractual and Disclosure Framework that will align the contracts and data disclosures 
that support the mortgage-backed securities and set uniform contracts and standards for MBS that carry no or only a partial federal guarantee; (ii) the development of a common securitization platform that will perform 
major elements of the securitization process and eventually act as the agent of an issuer; and (iii) the initiation of a Uniform Mortgage Data Program to implement uniform data standards for single-family mortgages.  

Our earnings may decrease because of changes in prevailing interest rates and any corresponding effects on origination volumes or the value of our assets.  

Our profitability is directly affected by changes in prevailing interest rates. The following are the material risks we face related to changes in prevailing interest rates:  
   

 
We have experienced rapid growth, which may be difficult to sustain and which may place significant demands on our administrative, operational and financial resources. Our servicing portfolio, measured in 

unpaid principal balance, has grown from approximately $1.3 billion at December 31, 2011 to approximately $18.3 billion at December 31, 2014 . Our rapid growth has caused, and if it continues will continue to cause, 
significant demands on our legal, accounting and operational infrastructure, and increased expenses. In addition, we are required to continuously develop our systems and infrastructure in response to the increasing 
sophistication of the mortgage lending market and legal, accounting and regulatory developments relating to all of our business activities. Our future growth will depend, among other things, on our ability to maintain an 
operating platform and management system sufficient to address our growth and will require us to incur significant additional expenses and to commit additional senior management and operational resources. As a result, 
we face significant challenges in:  
 

   
There can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our expanding operations effectively or that we will be able to continue to grow, and any failure to do so could materially and adversely affect our 

business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We have acquired and may acquire additional loan origination platforms or businesses, servicing assets and businesses and other businesses that we believe complement our existing business and will contribute to 
our growth, and the failure to do so on attractive terms or at all or to integrate acquisitions into our operations or otherwise manage our planned growth may adversely affect us.  

In 2013 , we acquired Crossline, certain assets of Nationstar and an MSRs portfolio from an independent third party, and, in February 2014, we acquired certain assets of Medallion. We can provide no 
assurances that the acquired businesses or MSRs portfolio may achieve anticipated revenues, earnings or cash flow, business opportunities, synergies, growth prospects or  
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•  an increase in prevailing interest rates could adversely affect our loan originations volume because refinancing an existing loan would be less attractive for homeowners and qualifying for a loan may be 
more difficult for prospective borrowers;  

•  an increase in prevailing interest rates would increase the cost of financing servicing advances and loan originations; 
•  a decrease in prevailing interest rates may require us to record a decrease in the value of our MSRs; and 
•  because certain of the mortgage loans we service have adjustable rates, an increase in prevailing interest rates could cause an increase in delinquency, default and foreclosure rates resulting in increases in 

both operating expenses and interest expense and could cause a reduction in the value of our assets.  

•  maintaining adequate financial and business controls; 
•  implementing new or updated information and financial systems and procedures; and 
•  training, managing and appropriately sizing our work force and other components of our business on a timely and cost-effective basis. 



 

other anticipated benefits. In addition, goodwill or other intangible assets established as a result of our business combinations may be incorrectly valued or become non-recoverable, which could result in impairment 
charges that would adversely affect our earnings.  

Further, we can provide no assurances that we will be successful in identifying future origination platforms or businesses, servicing assets and businesses or other businesses that meet our acquisition criteria or 
that, once identified, we will be successful in completing an acquisition. We face significant competition for attractive acquisition opportunities from other well-capitalized investors, some of which have greater financial 
resources and a greater access to debt and equity capital to secure and complete acquisitions than we do. As a result of such competition, we may be unable to acquire certain assets or businesses that we deem attractive or 
the purchase price may be significantly elevated or other terms may be substantially more onerous. In addition, we may seek to finance future acquisitions through a combination of borrowings, the use of retained cash 
flows, and offerings of equity and debt securities, which may not be available on advantageous terms, or at all. Any delay or failure on our part to identify, negotiate, finance on favorable terms, consummate and integrate 
such acquisitions could impede our growth.  

We may not realize all of the anticipated benefits of our acquisitions, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We have expanded our business through acquisitions. Our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions and businesses and acquisitions of servicing portfolios, as well as future acquisitions of 
businesses, servicing portfolios and origination platforms will depend, in part, on our ability to integrate those portfolios, platforms and businesses with our business. The process of acquiring assets or companies may 
disrupt our business and may not result in the full benefits expected. The risks associated with acquisitions include, among others:  

   
Moreover, the acquired portfolios, platforms or businesses may not contribute to our revenues or earnings to any material extent, and cost savings and synergies we expect at the time of an acquisition may not be 

realized once the acquisition has been completed. If we inappropriately value the assets or businesses we acquire or the value of the assets or businesses we acquire declines after we acquire them, the resulting charges may 
negatively affect the carrying value of the assets on our balance sheet and our earnings. See the risk factor titled, “We use financial models and estimates in determining the fair value of certain assets, such as MSRs, 
commitments to originate loans, mortgage loans held for sale and related hedging instruments. If our estimates or assumptions prove to be incorrect, we may be required to record impairment charges, which could 
adversely affect our earnings.” Furthermore, if we incur additional indebtedness to finance an acquisition, the acquired business may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow to service that additional indebtedness. 
Unsuitable or unsuccessful acquisitions could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   

Our mortgage financing business is subject to risks, including the risk of default and competitive risks, which could adversely affect our results of operations.  

Through NattyMac, we provide financing to correspondents and other third party residential mortgage originators with respect to the loans they originate, and these customers may default on their obligations to 
us, including their obligations to pay the line of credit or transfer the relevant loan under such financing arrangements. If our financing customers default on their obligations to us, we could incur losses. In addition, 
competition in warehouse lending has increased on a national level as new lenders, including national, community and regional banks that use deposit funds to finance loans, have begun entering the mortgage warehouse 
business. If increased competition negatively affects our mortgage financing business, our earnings could decrease.  

The change of control rules under Section 382 of the Code may limit our ability to use net operating loss carryforwards to reduce future taxable income.  

We have net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes. Generally, NOL carryforwards can be used to reduce future taxable income. Our use of our NOL carryforwards will 
be limited, however, under Section 382 of the Code, if we undergo a change in ownership of more than 50% of our capital stock over a three-year period as measured under Section 382 of the Code. These complex change 
of ownership rules generally focus on ownership changes involving shareholders owning directly or indirectly 5% or more of our stock, including certain public “groups” of shareholders as set forth under Section 382 of 
the Code, including those arising from new stock issuances and other equity transactions. We believe we experienced an ownership change for these purposes in October 2013 as a result of our initial public offering and in 
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•  unanticipated issues in integrating information, communications and other systems; 
•  unanticipated incompatibility of purchasing, logistics, marketing and administration methods; 
•  direct and indirect costs and liabilities; 
•  not retaining key employees; and 
•  the diversion of management’s attention from ongoing business concerns. 



 

March 2012 as a result of a significant investment in preferred stock. In connection with any future public or private offerings, it is likely that we will experience another ownership change within the meaning of 
Section 382 of the Code, measured for this purpose by including transfers and issuances of stock that took place after the ownership change that we believe occurred in March 2012 and October 2013. If we experience 
another ownership change, the resulting annual limit on the use of our NOL carryforwards (which would generally equal the product of the applicable federal long-term tax-exempt rate, multiplied by the value of our 
capital stock immediately before the ownership change, and potentially increased by certain existing gains, if any, recognized within five years after the ownership change if we have a net built-in gain in our assets at the 
time of the ownership change) could result in a meaningful increase in our federal and state income tax liability in future years. Whether an ownership change occurs by reason of trading in our stock is not within our 
control and the determination of whether an ownership change has occurred is complex. No assurance can be given that we will not in the future undergo another ownership change that would have a significant adverse 
effect on the use of our NOL carryforwards. In addition, the possibility of causing an ownership change may reduce our willingness to issue new common stock to raise capital.  

As a public reporting company, we are subject to rules and regulations established from time to time by the SEC and the NYSE regarding our internal control over financial reporting. We may not complete needed 
improvements to our internal control over financial reporting in a timely manner, or these internal controls may not be determined to be effective, which may adversely affect investor confidence in our company and, 
as a result, the market price of our common stock and your investment.  

Upon completion of our IPO, we became a public reporting company subject to the rules and regulations established from time to time by the SEC and the NYSE. These rules and regulations require, among 
other things, that we establish and periodically evaluate procedures with respect to our internal controls over financial reporting. Reporting obligations as a public company are likely to place a considerable strain on our 
financial and management systems, processes and controls, as well as on our personnel. In addition, as a public company we are required to document and test our internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to 
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) so that our management can certify as to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014. Likewise, our 
independent registered public accounting firm will be required to provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting when we cease to be an “emerging growth company,” as 
defined in the JOBS Act, although we could potentially qualify as an “emerging growth company” until December 31, 2018. As a result, we are in the process of improving our financial and managerial controls, reporting 
systems and procedures, incurring substantial expenses in making such improvements and testing our systems and hiring additional personnel. However, if we are unable to remediate any material weaknesses that may be 
identified in the future, if our management is unable to certify the effectiveness of our internal controls (at the time they are required to do so), if our independent registered public accounting firm cannot deliver (at such 
time as it is requested to do so by us) a report attesting to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting or if we in the future identify and fail to remediate material weaknesses in our internal controls 
identified in the future, we could be subject to regulatory scrutiny and a loss of public confidence, which could harm our reputation and the market price of our common stock. In addition, if we do not maintain adequate 
financial and management personnel, processes and controls, we may not be able to manage our business effectively or accurately report our financial performance on a timely basis, which could cause a decline in our 
common stock price and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.  

The success and growth of our business will depend upon our ability to adapt to and implement technological changes.  

Our mortgage loan origination business is dependent upon our ability to effectively interface with our brokers, borrowers and other third parties and to efficiently process loan applications and closings. The 
origination process is becoming more dependent upon technological advancement. We are in the process of enhancing our proprietary, automated, risk-based due diligence platform (known as Stonegate Connect), which 
we expect to provide a highly scalable, transparent, and consistent diligence platform from loan origination to securitization. We believe Stonegate Connect is a significant competitive advantage, but the technology in this 
platform is new and is still being refined and implemented. If we are unsuccessful in implementing this platform as quickly as we intend, or if we experience technical difficulties with the platform, our business and 
operations could be adversely affected. Our due diligence platform and other technologies may not meet our expectations or maintain our needs for technological advancement. Further, the development of such 
technologies and maintaining and improving new technologies will require significant capital expenditures and maintaining the technological proficiency of our personnel will require significant expense.  

As technological requirements increase in the future, we will have to fully develop these capabilities to remain competitive, and any failure to do so could adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.  

The ongoing implementation of the Dodd-Frank Act will increase our regulatory compliance burden and associated costs and place restrictions on certain originations and servicing operations, all of which could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
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The Dodd-Frank Act represents a comprehensive overhaul of the financial services industry in the United States. The Dodd-Frank Act includes, among other things: (i) the creation of a Financial Stability 
Oversight Council to identify emerging systemic risks posed by financial firms, activities and practices, and to improve cooperation among federal agencies; (ii) the creation of CFPB authorized to promulgate and enforce 
consumer protection regulations relating to financial products; (iii) the establishment of strengthened capital and prudential standards for banks and bank holding companies; (iv) enhanced regulation of financial markets, 
including the derivatives and securitization markets; and (v) amendments to the Truth in Lending Act aimed at improving consumer protections with respect to mortgage originations, including originator compensation, 
minimum repayment standards and prepayment considerations.  

On January 10, 2014, the CFPB implemented certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act relating to mortgage originations. Under the new originations rule, before originating a mortgage loan, lenders must 
determine on the basis of certain information and according to specified criteria that the prospective borrower has the ability to repay the loan. Lenders that issue loans meeting certain requirements will be presumed to 
comply with the new rule with respect to these loans. On January 10, 2014, the CFPB also implemented final rules for certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act relating to mortgage servicing. The new servicing rules 
require servicers to meet certain benchmarks for customer service. Servicers must provide periodic billing statements and certain required notices and acknowledgments, promptly credit borrowers’ accounts for payments 
received and promptly investigate complaints by borrowers and are required to take additional steps before purchasing insurance to protect the lender’s interest in the property. The new servicing rules also call for 
additional notice, review and timing requirements with respect to delinquent borrowers, including early intervention, ongoing access to servicer personnel and specific loss mitigation and foreclosure procedures. On 
August 1, 2014, the CFPB announced the TILA-RESPA Integrated Disclosure rule that integrates the mortgage loan disclosures required under TILA and sections 4 and 5 of RESPA. The TILA-RESPA rule contains new 
requirements and two disclosure forms that borrowers will receive in the process of applying for and consummating a mortgage loan, and it will take effect on August 1, 2015. The CFPB also issued guidelines on 
October 13, 2011 and January 11, 2012 indicating that it would send examiners to banks and other institutions that service and/or originate mortgage loans to assess whether consumers’ interests are protected.  

The ongoing implementation of the Dodd-Frank Act, including the implementation of the new origination and servicing rules by the CFPB and the CFPB’s continuing examination of our industry, will increase 
our regulatory compliance burden and associated costs and place restrictions on our originations, servicing and financing operations, which could in turn adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. See "Regulation" in Item 1 of this Form 10-K.  

State or federal governmental examinations, legal proceedings or enforcement actions and related costs could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial position and results of operations.  

We are routinely involved in regulatory reviews and legal proceedings concerning matters that arise in the ordinary course of our business. An adverse result in regulatory actions or examinations or private 
lawsuits may adversely affect our financial results. In addition, a number of participants in our industry have been the subject of purported class action lawsuits and regulatory actions by state regulators and other industry 
participants have been the subject of actions by state Attorneys General. Regulatory investigations, both state and federal, can be either formal or informal. The costs of responding to the investigations can be substantial. 
In addition, government-mandated changes to servicing practices could lead to higher costs and additional administrative burdens, in particular regarding record retention and informational obligations.  

The enforcement consent orders by, agreements with, and settlements of, certain federal and state agencies against other mortgage servicers related to foreclosure practices could impose additional compliance costs 
on our servicing business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

The federal and state agencies overseeing certain aspects of the mortgage market have entered into settlements and enforcement consent orders with other mortgage servicers regarding foreclosure practices that 
primarily relate to mortgage loans originated during the credit crisis. The enforcement consent orders require the servicers, among other things, to: (i) make significant modifications in practices for residential mortgage 
loan servicing and foreclosure processing, including communications with borrowers and limitations on dual-tracking, which occurs when servicers continue to pursue foreclosure during the loan modification process; 
(ii) establish a single point of contact for borrowers throughout the loan modification and foreclosure processes; and (iii) establish robust oversight and controls pertaining to their third party vendors, including outside 
legal counsel, that provide default management or foreclosure services.  

Although we are not a party to any of these settlements and enforcement consent orders and lack the legacy loans that gave rise to these settlements and enforcement consent orders, the practices set forth in 
those settlements and consent orders are being adopted by the industry as a whole, forcing us to comply with them in order to follow standard industry practices. We may also become required to comply with these 
practices by our servicing agreements. While we have made and continue to make changes to our operating policies and procedures in light of these settlements and consent orders, further changes could be required, and 
changes to our servicing practices will increase compliance costs for our servicing business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
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Our foreclosure proceedings in certain states may be delayed due to inquiries by certain state Attorneys General, court administrators and state and federal government agencies, the outcome of which could have an 
adverse effect on business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Allegations of irregularities in foreclosure processes, including so-called “robo-signing” by mortgage loan servicers, have gained the attention of the Department of Justice, regulatory agencies, state Attorneys 
General and the media, among other parties. Certain state Attorneys General, court administrators and government agencies, as well as representatives of the federal government, have issued letters of inquiry to mortgage 
servicers requesting written responses to questions regarding policies and procedures, especially with respect to notarization and affidavit procedures. Even though we have not received any letters of inquiry and we do not 
have the legacy loans that have been examined for irregularities in the foreclosure process, our operations may be affected by regulatory actions or court decisions that are taken in connection with these inquiries. In 
addition to these inquiries, several state Attorneys General have requested that certain mortgage servicers suspend foreclosure proceedings pending internal review to ensure compliance with applicable law.  

The current legislative and regulatory climate could lead borrowers to contest foreclosures that they would not otherwise have contested under ordinary circumstances, and we may incur increased litigation costs 
if the validity of a foreclosure action is challenged by a borrower. Delays in foreclosure proceedings could also require us to make additional servicing advances by drawing on our financing facilities, delay the recovery of 
advances, or result in compensatory fees being imposed against us by a GSE or the FHFA for delaying the foreclosure process, all or any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.  

 
Court cases in Oregon and Washington have challenged whether MERS meets the statutory definition of deed of trust beneficiary under applicable state laws. Based on decisions handed down by courts in 

Oregon, we and other servicers of MERS-related loans have elected to foreclose through judicial procedures in Oregon, resulting in increased foreclosure costs, longer foreclosure timelines and additional delays. If the 
Oregon case law is upheld on appeal, and/or if the Washington or other state courts where we do significant business issue a similar decision in the cases pending before them, our foreclosure costs and foreclosure 
timelines may continue to increase, which in turn, could increase our single family loan delinquencies, servicing costs, and adversely affect our cost of doing business and results of operations.  

We may incur increased costs and related losses if a borrower challenges the validity of a foreclosure action, if a court overturns a foreclosure or if a foreclosure subjects us to environmental liabilities, which could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We may incur costs if we are required to, or if we elect to, execute or re-file documents or take other action in our capacity as a servicer in connection with pending or completed foreclosures. We may incur 
litigation costs if the validity of a foreclosure action is challenged by a borrower. If a court overturns a foreclosure because of errors or deficiencies in the foreclosure process, we may have liability to a title insurer or the 
purchaser of the property sold in foreclosure. These costs and liabilities may not be legally or otherwise reimbursable to us, particularly to the extent they relate to securitized mortgage loans. In addition, if certain 
documents required for a foreclosure action are missing or defective, we could be obligated to cure the defect or repurchase the loan. A significant increase in litigation costs could adversely affect our liquidity, and our 
inability to be reimbursed for an advance could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

In addition, in the course of our business, it is necessary to foreclose and take title to real estate, which could subject us to environmental liabilities with respect to these properties. Hazardous substances or 
waste, contaminants, pollutants or sources thereof may be discovered on properties during our ownership or after a sale to a third party. We could be held liable to a governmental entity or to third parties for property 
damage, personal injury, investigation and clean-up costs incurred by these parties in connection with environmental contamination, or may be required to investigate or clean up hazardous or toxic substances or chemical 
releases at such properties. The costs associated with investigation or remediation activities could be substantial and could substantially exceed the value of the real property. In addition, as the owner or former owner of a 
contaminated site, we may be subject to common law claims by third parties based on damages and costs resulting from environmental contamination emanating from the property. We may be unable to recover costs from 
any third party. These occurrences may materially reduce the value of the affected property, and we may find it difficult or impossible to use or sell the property prior to or following any environmental remediation. If we 
ever become subject to significant environmental liabilities, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.  
   

Insurance on real estate securing mortgage loans and real estate securities collateral may not cover all losses.  
 

There are certain types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature, that result from such events as earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, acts of war or terrorism, and that may be uninsurable or not economically 
insurable. Inflation, changes in building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations and other factors, including terrorism or acts of war, also might  
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make the insurance proceeds insufficient to repair or replace a property if it is damaged or destroyed. Under these circumstances, the insurance proceeds received might not be adequate to restore our economic position 
with respect to the affected real property. Any uninsured loss could result in the loss of cash flow from, and the asset value of, the affected property.  
 
Borrowers with adjustable rate mortgage loans are especially exposed to increases in monthly payments and they may not be able to refinance their loans, which could cause delinquency, default and foreclosure and 
therefore adversely affect our business.  

At December 31, 2014 , we serviced adjustable rate mortgage loans that represented 1.58% of our total servicing portfolio. Borrowers with adjustable rate mortgage loans are exposed to increased monthly 
payments when the related mortgage loan’s interest rate adjusts upward from an initial fixed rate or a low introductory rate, as applicable, to the rate computed in accordance with the applicable index and margin. 
Borrowers with adjustable rate mortgage loans seeking to refinance their mortgage loans to avoid increased monthly payments as a result of an upwards adjustment of the mortgage loan’s interest rate may no longer be 
able to find available replacement loans at comparably low interest rates. This increase in borrowers’ monthly payments, together with any increase in prevailing market interest rates, may result in significantly increased 
monthly payments for borrowers with adjustable rate mortgage loans, which may cause delinquency, default and foreclosure. Increased mortgage defaults and foreclosures may adversely affect our business as they 
increase the cost of servicing the mortgage loans we service and reduce the number of mortgage loans we service.  

Our counterparties may terminate our MSRs, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

The owners of the loans we service may, under certain circumstances, terminate our MSRs. Ginnie Mae may terminate our status as an issuer if we fail to comply with servicing standards or otherwise breach our 
agreement with Ginnie Mae. If this were to happen, Ginnie Mae would seize our MSRs and not compensate us for our MSRs. As is standard in the industry, under the terms of our master servicing agreement with GSEs, 
GSEs have the right to terminate us as servicer of the loans we service on their behalf at any time and the GSEs also have the right to cause us to sell the MSRs to a third party. In addition, failure to comply with servicing 
standards could result in termination of our agreements with GSEs. See the risk factor titled, “Because we are required to follow the guidelines of the GSEs with which we do business and are not able to negotiate our fees 
with these entities for the purchase of our loans, our competitors may be able to sell their loans to GSEs on more favorable terms.” Some GSEs may also have the right to require us to assign the MSRs to a subsidiary and 
sell our equity interest in the subsidiary to a third party. If we were to have our servicing rights terminated on a material portion of our servicing portfolio, this could materially and adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

Federal and state legislative and agency initiatives in mortgage-backed securities and securitization may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.  

There are federal and state legislative and agency initiatives that could, once fully implemented, adversely affect our business. For instance, the risk retention requirement under the Dodd-Frank Act requires 
securitizers to retain a minimum beneficial interest in MBS they sell through a securitization, absent certain qualified residential mortgage (“QRM”) exemptions. Once implemented, the risk retention requirement may 
result in higher costs of certain origination operations and impose on us additional compliance requirements to meet servicing and origination criteria for QRMs. Additionally, the amendments to Regulation AB relating to 
the registration statement required to be filed by asset-backed securities (“ABS”) issuers adopted in March 2011 by the SEC pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act would increase compliance costs for ABS issuers, which could 
in turn increase our cost of funding and operations. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We may be required to indemnify purchasers of the mortgage loans we originate or of the MBS backed by such loans or to repurchase the related loans if the loans fail to meet certain criteria or characteristics.  

The indentures governing our securitized pools of mortgage loans and our contracts with purchasers of our whole loans contain provisions that require us to indemnify purchasers of the loans we originate or of 
the MBS backed by such loans or to repurchase the related loans under certain circumstances. While our contracts vary, they contain provisions that require us to repurchase loans if:  
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•  our representations and warranties concerning loan quality and loan circumstances are inaccurate; 
•  we fail to secure adequate mortgage insurance within a certain period after closing; 
•  a mortgage insurance provider denies coverage; or 
•  we fail to comply, at the individual loan level or otherwise, with regulatory requirements in the current dynamic regulatory environment. 



 

We believe that, as a result of the current market environment, many purchasers of residential mortgage loans are particularly aware of the conditions under which originators must indemnify them or repurchase 
loans they have purchased and would benefit from enforcing any repurchase remedies they may have. We believe that our exposure to repurchases under our representations and warranties includes the current unpaid 
balance of all loans we have sold. If we are required to indemnify or repurchase loans that we originate and sell or securitize that result in losses that exceed our reserve, this could adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

Because we are required to follow the guidelines of Ginnie Mae and the GSEs and are not able to negotiate our fees with these entities for the purchase of our loans, our competitors may be able to sell their loans to 
Ginnie Mae or the GSEs on more favorable terms.  

In our transactions with Ginnie Mae and the GSEs, we are required to follow specific guidelines that impact the way we service and originate mortgage loans including:  

In particular, the FHFA has directed GSEs to align their guidelines for servicing delinquent mortgages they own or guarantee, which can result in monetary incentives for servicers that perform well and 
penalties for those that do not. In addition, FHFA has directed Fannie Mae to assess compensatory fees against servicers in connection with delinquent loans, foreclosure delays, and other breaches of servicing obligations. 

We cannot negotiate these terms with the GSEs, and they are subject to change at any time. A significant change in these guidelines that has the effect of decreasing our fees or requires us to expend additional 
resources in providing mortgage services could decrease our revenues or increase our costs, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
 
We are required to make servicing advances that can be subject to delays in recovery or may not be recoverable in certain circumstances, which could adversely affect our cash flows, liquidity, business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

During any period in which a borrower is not making payments, we are required under most of our servicing agreements to advance our own funds to meet contractual principal and interest remittance 
requirements for investors, pay property taxes and insurance premiums, pay legal expenses and fund other protective advances. We also advance funds to maintain, repair and market real estate properties that we service. 
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac currently permit us to stop advancing delinquent principal and interest when a loan is 120 days delinquent, but this policy could change at any time. As home values change, we may have to 
reconsider certain of the assumptions underlying our decisions to make advances and, in certain situations, our contractual obligations may require us to make certain advances for which we may not be reimbursed. In 
addition, in the event a mortgage loan serviced by us defaults or becomes delinquent, the repayment to us of the advance may be delayed until the mortgage loan is repaid or refinanced or a liquidation occurs. With respect 
to loans in Ginnie Mae pools, advances are not recovered until the loan becomes current or we make a claim with the FHA or other insurer, and our right to reimbursement is capped. They are typically recovered upon 
weekly or monthly reimbursement or from sale in the market. In the event we receive requests for advances in excess of amounts we are able to fund, we may not be able to fund these advance requests, which could 
materially and adversely affect our cash flows and liquidity. An increase in delinquency and default rates on the loans that we service will increase the need for us to make advances. If delinquencies were to increase at the 
same time that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were to change their policies about reimbursing advances at 120 days delinquent, this combination would adversely affect our liquidity. These actions could take place in a 
distressed economic environment, and thus, we may find it difficult to retain our warehouse financing, which finances our business. If so, then we could find it extremely difficult to continue operations. Even if this 
combination of risks does not occur at the same time, any increase in delinquency or delay in our ability to collect an advance may adversely affect our cash flows and liquidity, and our inability to be reimbursed for an 
advance could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, as we continue to grow our originations to increase our loan servicing portfolio, the negative operating cash flows 
we have experienced will likely continue in the future. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Liquidity and Capital Resources” in Part II, Item 7 of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.  

Our hedging strategies may not be successful in mitigating our risks associated with interest rates.  

From time to time, we have used various derivative financial instruments to provide a level of protection against interest rate risks, including the commitments we make to prospective borrowers, but no hedging 
strategy can protect us completely. The derivative financial instruments that we select may not have the effect of reducing our interest rate risks. In addition, the nature and timing of hedging transactions may influence the 
effectiveness of these strategies. Poorly designed  
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•  our staffing levels and other servicing practices; 
•  the servicing and ancillary fees that we may charge; 
•  our modification standards and procedures; and 
•  the amount of non-reimbursable advances. 



 

strategies, improperly executed and documented transactions or inaccurate assumptions could actually increase our risks and losses. In addition, hedging strategies involve transaction and other costs. Our hedging 
strategies and the derivatives that we use may not be able to adequately offset the risks of interest rate volatility, and our hedging transactions may result in or magnify losses. Furthermore, interest rate derivatives may not 
be available on favorable terms or at all, particularly during economic downturns. Any of the foregoing risks could adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

A delay in obtaining or failure to obtain servicer ratings could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

In connection with our business of servicing non-agency mortgage loans, we are pursuing obtaining servicer ratings from Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, Moody’s Investors Service and Fitch Ratings as a 
residential mortgage loan servicer. We expect to receive those ratings, but there can be no assurances that we will receive servicer ratings from each rating agency in a timely manner, or at all. A delay in obtaining or 
failure to obtain servicer ratings will delay our ability to increase our non-agency mortgage loan servicing business, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In 
addition, any ratings that we receive may be downgraded in the future. Any such downgrade could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Technology failures or terrorist attacks could damage our business operations and increase our costs, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

The financial services industry as a whole is characterized by rapidly changing technologies, and system disruptions and failures caused by fire, power loss, telecommunications failures, unauthorized intrusion, 
computer viruses and disabling devices, natural disasters and other similar events may interrupt or delay our ability to provide services to our borrowers and other business partners. Security breaches, acts of vandalism 
and developments in computer capabilities could result in a compromise or breach of the technology that we use to protect our borrowers’ personal information and transaction data. Despite our efforts to ensure the 
integrity of our systems, it is possible that we may not be able to anticipate or implement effective preventive measures against all security breaches, especially because the techniques used change frequently or are not 
recognized until launched, and because security attacks can originate from a wide variety of sources, including third parties such as persons involved with organized crime or associated with external service providers. 
Those parties may also attempt to fraudulently induce employees, customers or other users of our systems to disclose sensitive information in order to gain access to our data or that of our customers or clients. These risks 
may increase in the future as we continue to increase our reliance on the internet and use of web-based product offerings and on the use of cybersecurity.  

A successful penetration or circumvention of the security of our systems or a defect in the integrity of our systems or cybersecurity could cause serious negative consequences for our business, including 
significant disruption of our operations, misappropriation of our confidential information or that of our customers, or damage to our computers or operating systems and to those of our customers and counterparties. Any 
of the foregoing events could result in violations of applicable privacy and other laws, financial loss to us or to our customers, loss of confidence in our security measures, customer dissatisfaction, significant litigation 
exposure and harm to our reputation, all of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

In addition, the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001 disrupted the U.S. financial markets, including the real estate capital markets, and negatively impacted the U.S. economy in general. Any future terrorist 
attacks, the anticipation of any such attacks, the consequences of any military or other response by the United States and its allies, and other armed conflicts could cause consumer confidence and spending to decrease or 
result in increased volatility in the United States and worldwide financial markets and economy. The economic impact of these events could also adversely affect the credit quality of some of our loans and investments and 
the properties underlying our interests.  

We may suffer losses as a result of the adverse impact of any future attacks and these losses may adversely impact our performance and may cause the market value of our shares of common stock to decline or 
be more volatile. A prolonged economic slowdown, recession or declining real estate values could impair the performance of our investments and harm our financial condition and results of operations, increase our 
funding costs, limit our access to the capital markets or result in a decision by lenders not to extend credit to us. We cannot predict the severity of the effect that potential future armed conflicts and terrorist attacks would 
have on us. Losses resulting from these types of events may not be fully insurable.  

We have purchased certain refinancing loans where the correspondent originating the refinancing loan failed to obtain a satisfaction and release of the prior mortgage loan.  

During 2013, we became aware that we purchased certain refinancing loans with original principal amounts totaling approximately $5.2 million in cases where the prior mortgage on the property securing the 
mortgage loan that we purchased from the correspondent was not satisfied and released by the correspondent’s title company at the time the loan from the  
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correspondent was made. As part of our process in purchasing a mortgage loan from a correspondent, we generally require that a closing protection letter be issued by the title insurer in favor of the borrower. A closing 
protection letter was obtained with respect to each of these loans. As a result, the borrower should be insured against any liens prior to ours that were not identified in connection with the issuance of that closing protection 
letter. We believe that our procedures, including conducting a post-purchase audit, were effective in identifying the failure by the correspondent to obtain a release of the prior mortgage and that our practice of obtaining 
closing protection letters is appropriate to protect us in these situations. We have notified the affected borrowers and the relevant insurance carriers, and we expect that the title insurance obtained in connection with the 
refinancings will result in our loan having a first priority status. However, there can be no assurances that the prior mortgages will be fully satisfied from the title insurance claims or that instances like this will not occur in 
the future.  

Any failure of our internal security measures or breach of our privacy protections could cause harm to our reputation and subject us to liability, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.  

In the ordinary course of our business, we receive and store certain confidential information concerning borrowers. Additionally, we enter into third party relationships to assist with various aspects of our 
business, some of which require the exchange of confidential borrower information. If a third party were to compromise or breach our security measures or those of the vendors, through electronic, physical or other means, 
and misappropriate such information, it could cause interruptions in our operations and expose us to significant liabilities, reporting obligations, remediation costs and damage to our reputation. Any of the foregoing risks 
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, some of our third party service providers may be subject to enhanced regulatory scrutiny due to regulatory findings during 
examinations of such service provider(s) conducted by federal regulators. While we intend to subject such vendor(s) to higher scrutiny and monitor any corrective measures that the vendor(s) are or would undertake if 
applicable, we are not able to fully mitigate any risk which could result from a breach or other operational failure caused by this, or any other vendor’s breach. See also risk factor titled, “Technology failures or terrorist 
attacks could damage our business operations and increase our costs, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.”  
   

Our vendor relationships subject us to a variety of risks.  

We have significant vendors that, among other things, provide us with financial, technology and other services to support our mortgage loan servicing and origination businesses. With respect to vendors 
engaged to perform activities required by servicing criteria, we have elected to take responsibility for assessing compliance with the applicable servicing criteria for the applicable vendor and are required to have 
procedures in place to provide reasonable assurance that the vendor’s activities comply in all material respects with servicing criteria applicable to the vendor, including but not limited to, monitoring compliance with our 
predetermined policies and procedures and monitoring the status of payment processing operations. In the event that a vendor’s activities do not comply with the servicing criteria, it could negatively impact our servicing 
agreements. In addition, if our current vendors were to stop providing services to us on acceptable terms, including as a result of one or more vendor bankruptcies due to poor economic conditions, we may be unable to 
procure alternatives from other vendors in a timely and efficient manner and on acceptable terms, or at all. Further, we may incur significant costs to resolve any such disruptions in service and this could adversely affect 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, in April 2012 the CFPB issued CFPB Bulletin 2012-03 which states that supervised banks and non-banks could be held liable for actions of their 
service providers.  As a result, we could be exposed to liability, CFPB enforcement actions or other administrative penalties if the vendors with whom we do business violate consumer protection laws.  

The loss of the services of our senior executives could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

The experience of our senior executives is a valuable asset to us. Our management team has significant experience in the residential mortgage origination and servicing industry. We have obtained a key life 
insurance policy on Mr. Cutillo but do not maintain and do not currently plan to obtain key life insurance policies on any of our other senior managers.  

Our business could suffer if we fail to attract and retain a highly skilled workforce.  

Our future success will depend on our ability to identify, hire, develop, motivate and retain highly qualified personnel for all areas of our organization, in particular skilled managers, loan servicers, debt default 
specialists, loan officers and underwriters. Trained and experienced personnel are in high demand and may be in short supply in some areas. Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced employees 
have greater resources than we have and may be able to offer more attractive terms of employment. In addition, we invest significant time and expense in training our employees, which increases their value to competitors 
who may seek to recruit them. We may not be able to attract, develop and maintain an adequate skilled workforce necessary to operate our businesses, and labor expenses may increase as a result of a shortage in the supply 
of qualified personnel. If we are unable to attract and retain such personnel, we may not be able to take advantage of acquisitions and other growth opportunities that may be presented to us, and this could materially affect 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
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Negative public opinion could damage our reputation and adversely affect our earnings.  

Reputation risk, or the risk to our business, earnings and capital from negative public opinion, is inherent in our business. Negative public opinion can result from our actual or alleged conduct in any number of 
activities, including lending and debt collection practices, corporate governance, and actions taken by government regulators and community organizations in response to those activities. Negative public opinion can also 
result from media coverage, whether accurate or not. Negative public opinion can adversely affect our ability to attract and retain customers and employees and can expose us to litigation and regulatory action. Although 
we take steps to minimize reputation risk in dealing with our customers, business partners and communities, this risk will always be present in our organization.  
 
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED SEC STAFF COMMENTS  
 

None.  

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES  

The following table sets forth information related to our primary operating facilities at December 31, 2014 . In addition to the facilities listed in the table below, we also lease small offices (retail branches and 
executive suites) throughout the United States.  
 

 
Of the above locations, Mansfield, Ohio and Dallas, Texas house our Servicing business, while our Financing business is based in Clearwater, Florida which also includes some of our Originations business. All 

other locations, with the exception of our Indianapolis, Indiana locations which are devoted to corporate operations and risk compliance, support our Originations business.  
 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

For information regarding legal proceedings at December 31, 2014 , see the "Litigation" section of Note 16, "Commitments and Contingencies" to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, 
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES  

Not applicable.  
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Location     Owned/Leased     Square Footage  

Principal executive office:              

Indianapolis, Indiana -- Corporate Headquarters     Leased     77,421  
Business operations and support offices:              

Lake Forest, California     Leased     39,870  
Clearwater, Florida     Leased     32,533  
Dallas, Texas     Leased     22,470  
Indianapolis, Indiana     Leased     21,000  
Overland Park, Kansas     Leased     16,019  
Creve Coeur, Missouri     Leased     14,364  
Scottsdale, Arizona     Leased     12,717  
Oak Brook, Illinois     Leased     9,192  
Mansfield, Ohio     Leased     6,300  



 
 
  PART II  
 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  
 
Market Prices  
 

Our common stock, par value $0.01 per share, has been listed on the NYSE under the symbol "SGM" since October 10, 2013. Our initial public offering was priced at $16.00 on October 9, 2013. The following 
table presents the high and low sales prices for our common stock on the NYSE for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 :  

 
As of February 24, 2015, there were 25,780,973 shares outstanding and 1,310 stockholders of record of our common stock. A substantially greater number of holders of our common stock are “street name” or 

beneficial holders, whose shares are held by banks, brokers and other financial institutions.  
 
Dividends  
 

We have never declared or paid dividends on our common stock and we currently do not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Instead, we anticipate that all of our earnings in the 
foreseeable future will be used for the operation and growth of our business.  
 

Any future determination to pay dividends on our common stock will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon many factors, including our financial position, results of operations, 
liquidity, legal requirements, restrictions that may be imposed by the terms in current and future financing instruments to which we are a party, and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors.  
 
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans  
 

The information required by this Item concerning securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans is set forth in or incorporated by reference into Part III, Item 12 "Security Ownership of 
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 

Performance Graph  

The following graph shows a comparison of the cumulative total stockholder return for our common stock, the Russell 2000 Market Index and the S&P Diversified Financials Market Index from October 10, 2013 
(the date our common stock began trading on the NYSE) through December 31, 2014 . This graph assumes an initial investment of $100 on October 10, 2013 in each of our common stock, the Russell 2000 Market Index 
and the S&P Diversified Financials Market Index (and the reinvestment of all dividends).  

The comparisons shown in the graph below are based on historical data and we caution that the stock price performance shown in the graph is not indicative of, and is not intended to forecast, the potential future 
performance of our commons stock. The following graph and related information shall not be deemed "soliciting materials" or to be "filed" with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any 
future filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.  
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      High     Low  

2014              

First Quarter     $ 17.00     $ 14.15  
Second Quarter     $ 15.37     $ 11.99  
Third Quarter     $ 15.26     $ 12.55  
Fourth Quarter     $ 14.46     $ 11.55  
2013              

Fourth Quarter     $ 18.94     $ 15.73  
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  

The following table presents selected financial information of Stonegate. The selected historical consolidated financial data as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , and for each of the years ended December 31, 
2014 , 2013 , and 2012 , has been derived from, and should be read together with, our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected 
historical consolidated financial data as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 and for the year ended December 31, 2011 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements for those years, which are not 
included in this Form 10-K. Amounts presented for basic and diluted earnings per share reflect the impact of our stock dividend of 12.861519 additional shares of our common stock for each share of our common stock 
that was outstanding on May 14, 2013.  

You should read this selected financial data along with Part II, Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and Part II, Item 8 "Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data" included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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(In thousands, except per share data)     As of and for the Years ended December 31,  

      2014     2013     2012     2011  

Income Statement Data                          

Revenues:                          

Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net     $  156,925     $  83,327     $  71,420     $  16,735  
Gains on sales of mortgage servicing rights     $  1,082     $  —    $  —    $  — 
Change in MSRs valuation     $  (56,924 )     $  22,967     $  —    $  — 
Payoff and principal amortization of MSRs portfolio     $  (23,735 )     $  (8,545 )     $  —    $  — 
Loan origination and other loan fees     $  26,817     $  21,227     $  9,871     $  4,288  
Loan servicing fees     $  44,407     $  22,204     $  5,908     $  2,628  
Interest income     $  37,045     $  16,767     $  5,257     $  2,371  

Expenses:                          

Salaries, commissions and benefits     $  142,625     $  72,475     $  32,737     $  13,085  
General and administrative expense     $  36,663     $  23,085     $  7,706     $  3,163  
Interest expense     $  27,225     $  14,426     $  6,239     $  2,728  
Impairment of MSRs     $  —    $  —    $  11,698     $  2  
Amortization of MSRs     $  —    $  —    $  3,679     $  960  

Net (loss) income     $  (30,679 )     $  22,598     $  17,085     $  2,335  
Basic (loss) earnings per share     $  (1.19 )     $  1.61     $  5.31     $  0.70  
Diluted (loss) earnings per share     $  (1.19 )     $  1.32     $  2.26     $  0.59  
Balance Sheet Data                          

Cash and cash equivalents     $  45,382     $  43,104     $  15,056     $  403  
Mortgage loans held for sale, at fair value     $  1,048,347     $  683,080     $  218,624     $  61,729  
MSRs, at fair value     $  204,216     $  170,294     $  —    $  — 
MSRs, at lower of amortized cost or fair value     $  —    $  —    $  42,202     $  17,679  
Total assets     $  1,596,551     $  989,889     $  309,606     $  89,108  
Secured borrowings - mortgage loans     $  592,798     $  342,393     $  102,675     $  57,894  
Secured borrowings - MSRs     $  75,970     $  —    $  —    $  — 
Mortgage repurchase borrowings     $  472,045     $  223,113     $  100,301     $  — 
Warehouse lines of credit     $  1,374     $  7,056     $  —    $  — 
Total liabilities     $  1,316,476     $  682,388     $  254,357     $  78,692  
Total stockholders' equity     $  280,075     $  307,501     $  55,249     $  10,416  
Other Data                          

Origination volume     $  12,634,787     $  8,706,887     $  3,449,407     $  1,050,434  
Servicing portfolio ($UPB)     $  18,336,745     $  11,923,510     $  4,145,340     $  1,315,888  



 

 
 
 ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FI NANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS  

OF OPERATIONS  
(Dollars In Thousands, Except Per Share Data or As Otherwise Stated Herein)  

 
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes as 
of and for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This MD&A contains forward-looking statements that involve risk, uncertainties and 
assumptions. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including those discussed in “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K. As used in this discussion and analysis, unless the context otherwise requires or indicates, references to “the Company,” “our company,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to Stonegate Mortgage 
Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries.  
 
Overview  

We are a specialty finance company that operates as an intermediary. We are focused on providing investment yield opportunities in the residential mortgage market to investors through originating, financing, 
and servicing U.S. residential mortgage loans. We predominantly transfer mortgage loans into pools of Government National Mortgage Association ("Ginnie Mae" or "GNMA") mortgage backed securities ("MBS") and 
sell mortgage loans to the Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae" or "FNMA") and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac" or "FHLMC"). Both FNMA and FHLMC are considered 
government-sponsored enterprises ("GSEs"). We also sell mortgage loans to other third-party investors in the secondary market and provide short-term financing to other residential mortgage loan originators. Our 
principal sources of revenue include (i) gain on sale of mortgage loans from loan securitizations and whole loan sales, and fee income from originations, (ii) fee income from loan servicing and (iii) fee and net interest 
income from its financing facilities. We operate in three segments: Originations, Servicing and Financing. This determination is based on our current organizational structure, which reflects how our chief operating 
decision maker evaluates the performance of our business.  

Market Considerations  

Mortgage Originations and Financing  

Today’s U.S. residential mortgage loan origination sector primarily offers conventional agency and government conforming mortgage loans. Non-prime and alternative lending programs and products represent 
only a small fraction of total mortgage loan originations. This dynamic, along with increased capital requirements, increased regulatory and compliance burdens and increased risks associated with repurchase 
requirements, has led to a consolidation among mortgage lenders in both the retail and wholesale channels. In addition to such consolidation, many mortgage loan originators have exited the market entirely.  

Origination volume is impacted by changes in interest rates and the housing market. Overall originations volumes are down significantly in the current economic environment. According to Inside Mortgage 
Finance, total U.S. residential mortgage originations volume decreased from $3.0 trillion in 2006 to $1.9 trillion in 2013 and decreased further to $1.24 trillion during 2014, a 34.4% decrease in production levels from 
2013. An increase in prevailing interest rates could also decrease origination volume. A more robust housing purchase market would help to alleviate the volatility of the mortgage market associated with refinance 
volume.  As of the beginning of 2015, the housing recovery has been delayed from most economists’ expectations.  At the end of 2014, homeownership was 64% compared to a high of 69% in 2005.  

In addition, there continue to be changes in legislation and licensing in an effort to simplify the consumer mortgage loan experience, which require technological changes and additional implementation costs for 
mortgage loan originators. We expect legislative changes will continue in the foreseeable future, which may increase related expenses for originators in the industry. For additional information, see “Regulation” within 
Part I, Item 1 "Business" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Mortgage Servicing  

The mortgage servicing industry is impacted by borrower delinquencies and foreclosure activity, and servicers require a high level of expertise to comply with ongoing mortgage servicing reform and 
standardization of servicing and foreclosure practices within the industry. The modification of processes to adopt any new servicing or foreclosure standards may cause an increase in servicing costs for servicers in the 
industry. For additional information, see “Regulation” within Part I, Item 1 "Business" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 
Recent Industry Trends and Our Outlook  
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The U.S. residential mortgage industry experienced mixed trends in loan applications during the second half of 2014, with purchase-mortgage demand declining since May 2014. Industry-wide mortgage loan 
originations have also declined since 2013 as higher interest rates have made the refinancing of mortgage loans less attractive for borrowers. Increasing interest rates can have a direct impact on the operating results of 
companies in the mortgage industry, including on our operating results.  On the other hand, refinance applications remained relatively stable during the second half of 2014. An increase in interest rates generally could lead 
to the following, which may in the aggregate have an adverse effect on our results:  
 

 
Subsequent to December 31, 2014, longer-term interest rates declined over 50 basis points ("bps") during January 2015 due to various macroeconomic factors. Mortgage applications have increased during early 

2015, driven primarily by refinance activity.  The prevailing 30-year fixed mortgage rates have been in the 3.9% - 4.0% range, which is an attractive level for refinance activity for many mortgage applicants.  Purchase 
applications, on the other hand, have continued to decline in the first months of 2015 due primarily to seasonality.  

 
Performance Summary and Outlook  

 

 
We have grown our origination platform by expanding geographically and gaining market share in existing markets. Currently we are licensed in 47 states and the District of Columbia, and expect to be licensed 

in New York, which makes up approximately 3-4% of the total U.S. residential mortgage market, in the near future, which we expect will have a positive impact on our origination growth. As of December 31, 2013 , we 
were licensed in 45 states and the District of Columbia. We expect to continue to expand our origination volume by focusing efforts on the growth of direct to consumer originations within our retail branch channel, 
through our new Stonegate Direct division, and from third party originator customers. We created Stonegate Direct in October 2014, which allows us to reach customers directly through the Internet and call centers. Due 
to increased retail originations, we expect to generate higher revenues as retail originations produce higher revenue contribution than third party originators. We also expect to see a continued increase in our Government 
insured and non-agency mortgage loan originations, which we believe will align with our Originations strategy as this segment of the marketplace continues to develop. Accordingly, we expect we will expand our 
origination of non-agency loans and expect that we will sell these loans into the whole loan market or securitize these loans as private label securitizations at a future date.  
 

Our servicing revenues have continued to grow as the number of loans in our servicing portfolio has increased and our mortgage servicing rights ("MSRs") assets have been generated through our origination 
platform. As an asset manager, we are prepared to act as either a buyer or a seller of MSRs, depending on market conditions. As we monitor these market conditions, we may choose to sell a portion of our servicing rights 
to third parties, continue our involvement as a subservicer to certain sold servicing rights, or sell a portion of our servicing rights on a flow basis or retain other beneficial interests (such as interest-only strips) as we 
determine to create the best economic value in the current market. Subservicing fee revenue is earned over the life of the associated loan and is generally lower than the servicing fee received by the owner of the MSRs; 
however, there are lower risks in subservicing loans as opposed to owning the MSRs, such as prepayment risk, and subservicing is less capital intensive than owning MSRs as there is no asset recorded on the balance sheet 
for subservicing of mortgage loans. Also, selling MSRs on a flow basis results in additional liquidity, allowing us to deploy capital resources into potential higher return assets and generate higher levels of profitability. As 
we sell MSRs, we lessen the negative impact that high prepayment speeds and  
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•  a reduction in origination and loan lock volumes; 
•  a shift from loan refinancing volume to purchase loan volume; 
•  a reduction of gains from mortgage loan sales; 
•  short-term contraction of the gain on sale margin of mortgage loans including negative fair market value adjustments on locked loans and loans held for sale; 
•  an increase in net interest income from financing (assuming a steeper forward yield curve); 
•  an increase in the value of mortgage servicing rights due to a decline in prepayment expectations; and 
•  an increase in income earned on float. 

•  Mortgage loan originations of $12.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2014 , an increase of 45% compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 . 
•  Mortgage servicing portfolio ("UPB") of $18.3 billion as of December 31, 2014 , an increase of 54% compared to the December 31, 2013 mortgage servicing portfolio of $11.9 billion. 
•  Gain on sale revenue of $156.9 million, or 124 bps of origination volume for the year ended December 31, 2014 , an increase of 28 bps, or 29% , compared to 96 bps for the year ended December 31, 2013 . 
•  Total expenses related to our Originations segment were 150 bps of origination volume for the year ended December 31, 2014 , an increase of 47 bps or 46% compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 . 
•  Total expenses related to our Servicing segment were 9 bps of our average servicing portfolio for the year ended December 31, 2014 , an increase of 1 bp or 13% compared to the year ended December 31, 

2013 .  



 
lower interest rates have on our Servicing segment results, as the segment would no longer be subject to the fair value adjustments for the sold MSRs.  
 

We continue to grow our financing segment as we focus on providing warehouse financing to our correspondent customers and others. Our financing subsidiary, which we refer to as NattyMac, became a 
wholly-owned subsidiary in June 2013 and allows us to leverage our proprietary technology and our existing due diligence and underwriting processes to efficiently underwrite the warehouse lines of credit it provides for 
both our origination segment correspondent originators and customers who may not sell loans to our origination segments. We believe that NattyMac is highly scalable with little additional fixed cost investment needed to 
grow our customer base. We believe our focus on growth in NattyMac creates an additional source of capital for our correspondents to originate mortgage loans that meet our underwriting requirements and are eligible for 
us and other investors to purchase.  
 

We have experienced increased expenses associated with geographical expansion, including our acquisitions of Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc. ("Nationstar") and Crossline Capital, Inc. ("Crossline") late in 
2013 and of Medallion Mortgage Company ("Medallion") in early 2014, investments in technology and the growth of headcount necessary to support such expansion. We have also experienced growth within our 
platforms and increased industry regulatory compliance. With the expected growth in our originations, we expect to see an increase in total expenses, but a decrease in total expenses when calculated as a percentage of 
origination volume. We also expect expenses to increase as we expand our retail channel, but expect higher revenues from higher and more profitable retail originations offsetting this increase. We plan to maximize our 
potential return by focusing on lowering expenses through creating system automation efficiencies through information technology investments and process enhancements. As we continue to grow, we will invest in 
additional information technology infrastructure to manage our growth and to increase automation within our systems surrounding critical areas. We believe these investments will eventually lead to a decrease in expenses 
over the long-term.  
 

Our expectations may be impacted by state regulations, market conditions or macro-economic events that could materially impact our actual results as discussed in Part I, Item 1A "Risk Factors" of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.  

Non-GAAP Financial Measures  

Our results of operations discussed throughout this MD&A are determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). We also calculate adjusted net income and adjusted 
diluted EPS as performance measures, which are considered non-GAAP financial measures under Regulation G and Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K, to further aid our investors in understanding and analyzing our core 
operating results and comparing them among periods. Adjusted net income and adjusted diluted EPS exclude certain items that we do not consider part of our core operating results, including changes in valuation inputs 
and assumptions on MSRs, stock-based compensation expenses, other non-routine costs and acquisition related costs. Other non-routine costs consists primarily of guarantees and other compensation expense prior to the 
period of meaningful origination production during the first quarter of 2014. Other non-routine costs from the 2013 periods related to our equity offerings in the second and fourth quarters of that year. These non-GAAP 
financial measures are not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for (loss) income before income taxes, net (loss) income or diluted (LPS) EPS prepared in accordance with GAAP.  

 
In addition, adjusted net income has limitations as an analytical tool, including but not limited to the following:  
 

Because of these and other limitations, adjusted net income should not be considered solely as a measure of discretionary cash available to us to invest in the growth of our business. Adjusted net income is a 
performance measure and is presented to provide additional information about our core operations.  

The table below reconciles net (loss) income to adjusted net income and diluted (LPS) EPS to adjusted diluted EPS (which are the most directly comparable GAAP measures) for the years ended December 31, 
2014 , 2013 and 2012 .  
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•  adjusted net income does not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments; 
•  adjusted net income does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs; 
•  adjusted net income does not reflect the cash requirements necessary to service principal payments related to the financing of the business; 
•  peer companies in our industry may calculate adjusted net income differently, thereby limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure. 

   Years Ended December 31,     2014 vs 2013 Change     2013 vs 2012 Change  

   2014     2013     2012     $     %     $     %  



 

1 For the year ended December 31, 2014 , amount consists primarily of guarantees and other compensation expense prior to the period of meaningful origination production. For the year ended December 31, 2013 , amount consists primarily of 
costs related to our equity offerings that occurred in the second and fourth quarters of 2013.  

Adjusted net income during the year ended December 31, 2014 was consistent compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 . The slight increase was primarily attributable to increased revenues from increased 
origination volume, a change in originations mix to channels with higher revenue margins and higher average servicing portfolio. This increase was partially offset by higher operating expenses associated with increased 
volume and headcount, in line with our strategy of expanding our geographic retail-lending footprint. Adjusted diluted EPS decreased $0.30 , or 33% , during the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to the year 
ended December 31, 2013 due primarily to the dilution associated with higher weighted average shares outstanding as a result of our equity offerings that occurred during the second and fourth quarters of 2013 and the 
previously discussed decrease in adjusted net income.  

Recent Developments and Significant Transactions  
      
A component of our overall strategy for 2014 continued to be growth through geographic expansion. We continued to unlock remaining markets through licensing in those states and maturation within in the new 

markets consistent with our historical experience. During 2014, we added Vermont and Nevada to our geographic footprint and as of December 31, 2014, were licensed in 47 states plus the District of Columbia.  
 

As part of our strategy of growth by geographic expansion, on February 4, 2014, we completed our acquisition of Medallion Mortgage Company ("Medallion"), a residential mortgage originator based in southern 
California. Medallion services customers with an extensive portfolio of residential real estate loan programs and has 10 offices along the southern and central coast of California, Utah and a new operations center in 
Ventura, California. In the acquisition of Medallion, we purchased certain assets, assumed certain liabilities and offered employment to certain employees. Total consideration of $861 was funded with working capital and 
existing cash resources and included cash consideration of $258 and contingent consideration based primarily on future origination volume estimated to be $603 at the acquisition date. The Company estimated the fair 
value of the earnout liability as of December 31, 2014 and determined that a decrease to the original estimate of $153 was appropriate as of December 31, 2014 . For additional information regarding this transaction, refer 
to Note 4 "Business Combinations," to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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Net (loss) income  $  (30,679 )     $  22,598     $  17,085     $  (53,277 )     (236 )%    $  5,513     32  % 

Adjustments:                                         

Interest expense associated with term loan  —    1,587     —    (1,587 )     (100 )%    1,587     N/A  
Changes in valuation inputs and assumptions on MSRs  56,924     (22,967 )     —    79,891     (348 )%    (22,967 )     N/A  
Impairment of MSRs  —    —    11,698     —    N/A     (11,698 )     (100 )% 

Stock-based compensation expense  3,254     2,579     13     675     26  %    2,566     19,738  % 

Ramp-up and other non-routine expenses 1  10,883     7,386     —    3,497     47  %    7,386     N/A  
Bargain purchase gain  —    —    (1,172 )     —    N/A     1,172     (100 )% 

Acquisition related expenses  49     146     406     (97 )     (66 )%    (260 )     (64 )% 

Tax effect of adjustments  (24,804 )     4,238     (4,225 )     (29,042 )     (685 )%    8,463     (200 )% 

Adjusted net income  $  15,627     $  15,567     $  23,805     $  60     — %    $  (8,238 )     (35 )% 

                            

Diluted (LPS) EPS  $  (1.19 )     $  1.32     $  2.26     $  (2.51 )     (190 )%    $  (0.94 )     (42 )% 

Adjustments:                                         

Interest expense associated with term loan  —    0.09     —    (0.09 )     (100 )%    0.09     N/A  
Changes in valuation inputs and assumptions on MSRs  2.21     (1.34 )     —    3.55     (265 )%    (1.34 )     N/A  
Impairment of MSRs  —    —    1.56     —    N/A     (1.56 )     (100 )% 

Stock-based compensation expense  0.13     0.15     —    (0.02 )     (13 )%    0.15     N/A  
Ramp-up and other non-routine expenses  0.42     0.43     —    (0.01 )     (2 )%    0.43     N/A  
Bargain purchase gain  —    —    (0.15 )     —    N/A     0.15     (100 )% 

Acquisition related expenses  —    0.01     0.05     (0.01 )     (100 )%    (0.04 )     (80 )% 

Tax effect of adjustments  (0.96 )     0.25     (0.56 )     (1.21 )     (484 )%    0.81     (145 )% 

Adjusted diluted EPS  $  0.61     $  0.91     $  3.16     $  (0.30 )     (33 )%    $  (2.25 )     (71 )% 



 
We operate a diversified origination business, consisting of retail, wholesale and correspondent channels.  These channels each offer varying risk and return characteristics.  We believe the retail channel offers us 

a lower cost basis of generating MSRs due to the higher cash gain on sale and fee income, driving our strategic focus on growing that channel's origination volume.   
 

In an effort to increase our direct to consumer retail origination volume, on October 1, 2014, we announced the formation of a new division called Stonegate Direct, which provides consumers across the United 
States direct access to mortgage advisors to facilitate 24 hour, seven days a week, access to our mortgage products and services. This new division greatly enhances and simplifies the customer experience and home loan 
application process for qualified customers by providing quick, secure online access for homebuyers and those looking to refinance. Stonegate Direct was formed through the integration of the call center operations of 
Crossline Capital, which was acquired in December 2013. The creation of this new division is part of our initiative to deliver a superior mortgage product and exceptional customer service that are our points of distinction 
from competitors in the marketplace.  
 

We also expect to see a continued increase in our non-agency mortgage loan originations, which provide innovative products that meet borrowers' demands and investors' return thresholds. Accordingly, we 
expect to expand our originations of non-agency loans through sales to the whole loan market. During 2014, we obtained ratings from Standard & Poor's ("S&P"), Fitch Ratings and Dominion Bond Rating Service 
("DBRS") for our originations segment of Average, Average and Acceptable, respectively. These ratings were obtained both to facilitate current sales of non-agency loans to third party investors and in preparation for 
potential private label securitizations at a future date. Additionally, our warehouse financing platform provides access to efficient sources of capital which strengthens relationships with small to mid-size correspondents 
and results in additional origination volume.  
 

On April 15, 2014, we entered into an agreement with Merchants Bancorp (an Indiana-based bank holding company and the parent company of Merchants Bank of Indiana), whereby we agreed to invest up to 
$25,000 in the subordinate debt of Merchants Bancorp. Merchants Bancorp in turn, agreed to form and fund a wholly-owned subsidiary named NattyMac Funding Inc. (“NMF”) that would invest in participation interests 
in warehouse lines of credit ("WLOCs") originated by our warehouse financing platform, NattyMac, and in participation interests in residential mortgage loans originated by us. The amount of the subordinated debt 
funded by us is designed to be greater than or equal to 10% of the assets of NMF, based on the average assets of NMF over the quarter period. The subordinate debt provided to Merchants Bancorp will earn a return equal 
to one-month LIBOR , plus 350 basis points, plus additional interest that will be equal to 49% of the earnings of NMF. On September 25, 2014, we expanded the maximum amount of its investment in the subordinate debt 
of Merchants Bancorp to $30,000 . We have effectively utilized this NMF line to produce increased fee based income and interest rate spread in a declining note rate environment.  
 

Our MSRs are created through our originations channels. As an asset manager, we are prepared to act as either a buyer or a seller of MSRs, depending on market conditions. We successfully executed on this 
strategy by selling nearly $4 billion of MSRs during the 3rd and 4th quarters of 2014, freeing up capital to reinvest in originations, which we believe has higher return potential over the course of an interest rate cycle. The 
nearly $4 billion of UPB in FNMA MSRs were sold to an unrelated party in two separate transactions. These two pools contained no GNMA or FHLMC MSRs, had average mortgage interest rates that were less than 
current mortgage interest rates, and had a different geographic make up than our overall portfolio. We sub-serviced the loans in both pools temporarily for a fee, during which time we were also entitled to certain other 
ancillary income amounts. We have begun to re-deploy the proceeds from these sales back into our originations platform to create newly originated MSRs with the intent of improving our returns.  
 

Additionally, we have entered into MSRs financing facilities which allow us to leverage the MSRs we hold as assets, freeing up equity previously held against these assets. We continue to enter into strategic 
financing arrangements and actively amend our existing arrangements to execute our liquidity and financing strategies. The following financing-related transactions occurred throughout 2014:  
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•  Through a series of amendments during 2014, our current master repurchase and master participation agreements with Bank of America, N.A. ("Bank of America") have an aggregate maximum borrowing 
capacity of $400,000 and $200,000, respectively, and a maturity date of May 11, 2015. We also revised the profitability covenant for the Bank of America financing, to be hereafter calculated as pre-tax income 
for the trailing six months, excluding the change in mortgage servicing rights valuation and payoffs and principal amortization.  

•  Through a series of amendments during 2014, our current master participation agreement with Merchants has an aggregate maximum borrowing capacity of $600,000 and a maturity date of July 31, 2015. 



 

 

 

      
Other Factors Influencing Our Results  
 

Prepayment Speeds. A significant driver of our servicing business is prepayment speed, which is the measurement of how quickly unpaid principal balance on mortgage loans is reduced by borrower payments. 
Prepayment speeds, as reflected by the constant prepayment rate, vary according to interest rates, the type of loan, conditions in the housing and financial markets, competition and other factors, none of which can be 
predicted with any certainty. Prepayment spread impacts future servicing fees, value of MSRs, float income, interest expense on advances and interest expense. In general, when interest rates rise, it is relatively less 
attractive for borrowers to refinance their mortgage loans and, as a result, prepayment speeds tend to decrease. This can extend the period over which we earn servicing income but reduce the demand for new mortgage 
loans. When interest rates fall, prepayment speeds tend to increase, thereby decreasing the value of MSRs and shortening the period over which we earn servicing income but increasing the demand for new mortgage 
loans.  

 
Changing Interest Rate Environment. Generally, when interest rates rise, the value of mortgage loans and interest rate lock commitments decrease while the value of hedging instruments related to such loans 

and commitments increases. When interest rates fall, the value of mortgage loans and interest rate lock commitments increases and the value of hedging instruments related to such loans and commitments decrease. 
Decreasing interest rates also precipitate increased loan refinancing activity by borrowers seeking to benefit from lower mortgage interest rates.  

 
Risk Management Effectiveness-Credit Risk. We are subject to the risk of potential credit losses on all of the residential mortgage loans that we hold for sale or investment as well as for losses incurred by 

investors in mortgage loans that we sell to them as a result of breaches of representations and warranties we make as part of the loan sales. The representations and warranties require adherence to investor or guarantor 
origination and underwriting guidelines, including but not limited to the validity of the lien securing the loan, property eligibility, borrower credit, income and asset requirements, and compliance with applicable federal, 
state and local law. The level of mortgage loan repurchase losses is dependent on economic factors, investor repurchase demand strategies, and other external conditions that may change over the lives of the underlying 
loans.  

 
Risk Management Effectiveness-Interest Rate Risk. Because changes in interest rates may significantly affect our activities, our operating results will depend, in large part, upon our ability to effectively 

manage interest rate risks and prepayment risks, including risk arising from the change in value of our inventory of mortgage loans held for sale and commitments to fund mortgage loans and related hedging derivative 
instruments, as well the effects of changes in interest rates on the value of our investment in MSRs. See “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” included in this MD&A for a discussion on the effects 
of changes in interest rates on the recorded value of our MSRs.  

 
Liquidity. Our ability to operate profitably is dependent on both our access to capital to finance our assets and our ability to profitably sell and service mortgage loans. An important source of capital for the 

residential mortgage industry is  
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•  In addition to the master participation agreement with Merchants, we also have an operating line of credit and a warehouse line of credit with Merchants. The operating line of credit is unsecured and the 
warehouse line of credit is secured by residential mortgages owned by us. The available borrowing amounts under both the operating line of credit and the warehouse line of credit went through a series of 
increases and reductions via amendments from March 31, 2014 to September 9, 2014, such that as of December 31, 2014 , both the operating and warehouse lines of credit were $2,000 borrowing facilities with 
maturity dates of July 31, 2015.  

•  On May 22, 2014, we amended our master repurchase agreement with Barclays Bank PLC ("Barclays") to allow us to pledge MSRs to Barclays, in addition to the original mortgage loans allowed in an amount for 
MSRs up to $100,000 , under the existing aggregate overall borrowing capacity of $300,000 . On July 7, 2014, we amended our master repurchase agreement with Barclays to increase the aggregate maximum 
borrowing capacity from $300,000 to $400,000 . On December 16, 2014, the maturity date of the master repurchase agreement, we amended and renewed our master repurchase, mortgage loan participation 
purchase and sale and the MSRs loan and security agreements to mature on December 16, 2015.  

•  On August 29, 2014, we entered into a secured borrowing with a syndicate of banks led by Merchants Bank, secured by our GNMA mortgage servicing rights. The maximum borrowing capacity at the time of 
initiation was $22,000 , which could be expanded upon with the addition of additional banks to the syndicate. The borrowing matures on June 30, 2017 and carries an interest rate of one-month LIBOR plus 450 
basis points. The amount of the borrowing is measured on a quarterly basis to ensure that it does not exceed 50% of the value of the GNMA mortgage servicing rights backing the borrowing. For the purpose of 
this test, the value of the GNMA mortgage servicing rights is equal to the value of the related MSRs established by us on a quarterly basis. Through a series of further amendments, we amended the financing 
agreement to increase the amount of the borrowing to $30,000 as of December 31, 2014 . Subsequent to year end, we amended the agreement to increase the maximum borrowing capacity to $35,000.  



 
warehouse financing facilities. These facilities provide funding to mortgage loan producers until the loans are sold to investors or securitized in the secondary mortgage loan market. Our ability to hold loans pending sale 
or securitization depends, in part, on the availability to us of adequate financing lines of credit at suitable interest rates. During any period in which a borrower is not making payments, if we own the MSRs then we may be 
required to advance our own funds to meet contractual principal and interest remittance requirements for investors and advance costs of protecting the property securing the investors’ loan and the investors’ interest in the 
property. The ability to obtain capital to finance our servicing advances influences our ability to profitably service delinquent loans. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for additional information.  

 
Servicing Effectiveness. Our servicing fee rates for loans serviced for non-affiliates are generally at specified servicing rates that do not change with a loan’s performance status. As a mortgage loan becomes 

delinquent and moves through the delinquency process to settlement through acquisition of the property or partial payoff, the loan requires greater effort on our part to service. Increased mortgage delinquencies, defaults 
and foreclosures will therefore result in a higher cost to service those loans due to the increased time and effort required to collect payments from delinquent borrowers. Therefore, how efficiently we are able to maintain 
the credit quality of our portfolio of serviced mortgage loans and service the mortgage loans where the borrower has defaulted influences the level of expenses that we incur in the mortgage loan servicing process.  
 
Results of Operations  
 
Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2013  
 

Our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows: 

 
Revenues  

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , total revenues increased $27,670 , or 18% , as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 . The increase in revenues resulted from increases in gains on mortgage 
loans held for sale, net, loan servicing fees, interest income, loan origination and other loan fees and gain on sale of mortgage servicing rights, partially offset by a decrease in the fair value of our MSRs and an increase in 
amortization of MSRs due to higher loan payoffs.  

Our gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net during the year ended December 31, 2014 were 124 basis points of loan originations compared to 96 basis points for the comparable period in 2013 . The increase in 
basis point gain on sale was due primarily to an increase in our government insured loan production and in our retail originations, as presented in the Segment Results section. Government insured loans and loans 
originated in our retail channel generate higher revenue margins than our other loan products or loans originated through our other channels.  
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   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     $ Change     % Change  

Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net  $  156,925     $  83,327     $  73,598     88%  

Gains on sales of mortgage servicing rights  1,082     —    1,082     100%  

Changes in mortgage servicing rights valuation  (56,924 )     22,967     (79,891 )     (348)%  

Payoffs and principal amortization of mortgage servicing rights  (23,735 )     (8,545 )     (15,190 )     178%  

Loan origination and other loan fees  26,817     21,227     5,590     26%  

Loan servicing fees  44,407     22,204     22,203     100%  

Interest income  37,045     16,767     20,278     121%  

Total revenues  185,617     157,947     27,670     18%  

                

Salaries, commissions and benefits  142,625     72,475     70,150     97%  

General and administrative expense  36,663     23,085     13,578     59%  

Interest expense  27,225     14,426     12,799     89%  

Occupancy, equipment and communications  18,666     9,843     8,823     90%  

Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications - change in estimate  822     (417 )     1,239     (297)%  

Depreciation and amortization expense  5,201     2,209     2,992     135%  

Loss on disposal and impairment of long lived assets  1,527     105     1,422     1,354%  

Total expenses  232,729     121,726     111,003     91%  

                

(Loss) income before income tax (benefit) expense  (47,112 )     36,221     (83,333 )     (230)%  

Income tax (benefit) expense  (16,433 )     13,623     (30,056 )     (221)%  

Net (loss) income  $  (30,679 )     $  22,598     $  (53,277 )     (236)%  

                

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding (in thousands)  25,770     17,113     8,657     51%  

                

Diluted (LPS) EPS  $ (1.19 )     $ 1.32     $  (2.51 )     (190)%  



 

The increase in our loan servicing fees was a direct result of our higher average servicing portfolio of $15.8 billion during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to an average servicing portfolio of $7.8 
billion during the year ended December 31, 2013 . Our average loan servicing fees, as a percentage of our average servicing portfolio, was 28 bps for the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to 27 bps for the year 
ended December 31, 2013 .  

The increase in interest income was primarily a result of the 45% increase in mortgage loan originations during the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to December 31, 2013 , as there is a direct 
correlation between interest income and mortgage loan origination activity, as well as higher average coupon rates during the year ended December 31, 2014.  

Loan origination and other loan fees increased primarily as a result of the increase in the amount of loans originated during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , 
offset by decreased allowable fees resulting from qualified mortgage rules effective January 2014.  

The decrease in the fair value of our MSRs was driven primarily by the decrease in market interest rates and flattening of the yield curve during the latter part of 2014. Decreasing interest rates generally result in 
decreased MSRs values as the assumption for prepayment speeds of the underlying mortgage loans tends to increase (mortgage loans prepay faster) and a flattening yield curve decreases the expected value of interest 
income from the escrow balances held by us.  
 
Expenses  
 

Total expenses increased $111,003 , or 91% , for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the same period ended December 31, 2013 . Total expenses have increased due to 1) a 45% increase in total 
originations and the related costs associated with higher originations; 2) a 54% increase in our servicing portfolio from December 31, 2013 to December 31, 2014 ; 3) a strategic change in mix of originations to retail and 
wholesale, which are higher cost origination channels with higher revenue as compared to our correspondent channel; 4) the transition from a privately-held company to a publicly-traded company; 5) expenses associated 
with a full year of results from, and the integration of, our 2013 and early 2014 acquisitions and 6) higher regulatory compliance costs.  
 

Salaries, commissions and benefits expense increased $70,150 , or 97% , during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily as a result of increased headcount in 
revenue producing positions and in segment and corporate support areas related to the growth in both the originations and servicing segments.  
 

General and administrative expenses increased $13,578 , or 59% , during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 due to our growth and expansion, as well as an 
increased need for expense related to corporate governance, such as legal and audit fees, insurance and other outside consulting fees which reflect our full transition to a publicly-traded company. This transition also 
resulted in higher expenses related to regulatory compliance. These costs included development of policies and procedures, enhancement of internal controls and testing procedures related to these controls. We also 
experienced an increase in travel-related expenses due to the acquisition and integration of retail operations and the management of the expansion of our origination platform throughout the United States. We expect 
expenses will continue to grow, as we invest in additional infrastructure to manage our growth and to increase automation within our systems.  
 

Interest expense increased $12,799 , or 89% , during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily due to increased borrowings as a result of the increase in the 
volume of mortgage loans originated and funded in the current period and interest associated with increased borrowings in the current period. The increase in interest expense was offset by the increase in interest income 
during the same period due to favorable interest spreads. We expect that interest expense will generally move in direct correlation to changes in our origination trends in future periods.  
 

Occupancy, equipment and communication expenses increased $8,823 , or 90% , during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 . Our retail expansion increased the 
number of mortgage lending branches from 47 at December 31, 2013 to 99 at December 31, 2014 . In addition, our total square footage under lease increased from 278,064 at December 31, 2013 to 441,372 at 
December 31, 2014 . We do not expect the same level of growth in occupancy expenses in future periods. However, we expect to see continued increases in information technology costs to support our strategic growth. 
We expect expenses will continue to grow, as we invest in additional infrastructure to manage our growth and to increase automation within our systems.  
 

Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnification increased $1,239 during the year ended December 31, 2014 . This reserve is based on the estimated losses to be incurred with respect to representations, 
warranties and indemnifications made in connection with our loan sales. We have seen an increase in repurchase request activity during 2014 due to the increase in our sold loan production, which has directly impacted 
FNMA, FHLMC and GNMA audit and repurchase efforts. In an effort to create a faster and more predictable audit to demand timeline, FNMA, FHLMC and GNMA continue their intensive upfront review of loan data in 
order to identify possible loan quality issues. These efforts have led to an increase in audits,  
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repurchase demands and, ultimately, actual loan repurchases by the Company. We expect that the provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications may increase in relation to the expected growth in our 
originations; however, changing market conditions will also influence any trends in our provision.  
 

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $2,992 during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily due to increased property and equipment 
expenditures resulting from our overall growth and expansion, including acquisitions, and the amortization expense related to our mortgage banking technology platform and the other Crossline intangible assets acquired 
in December 2013.  
   

Loss on disposal and impairment of long lived assets increased $1,422 during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily due to an impairment charge 
recognized for the Crossline trade name resulting from the anticipated significant change in future use of the asset given the formation of Stonegate Direct.  
 

We reported an income tax benefit of $16,433 for the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to income tax expense of $13,623 for the year ended December 31, 2013 , with an effective tax rate of 34.9% and 
37.6% , respectively. The decrease in income tax expense is due to a net operating loss before taxes for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to net operating income for the year ended December 31, 2013 . The 
decrease in effective tax rate was due primarily to business shifts between states with varying tax rates as well as discrete tax provision to tax return entries in the year ended December 31, 2014 .  
 

With the expected growth in our originations, we expect to see an increase in total expenses, though a decrease when calculated as a percentage of origination volume. We also expect expenses to increase as we 
expand our retail channel, but expect this increase will be offset by a higher gain on sale revenues. We plan to maximize our potential return by focusing on lowering expenses through continued investments in information 
technology and enhancing process efficiencies. As we continue to grow, we will invest in additional infrastructure to manage our growth and to increase automation within our systems surrounding critical areas. We 
believe these increases in investments will eventually lead to a decrease in expenses in relation to our origination volume over the long-term.  

      
Segment Results  

 
1 Includes intersegment eliminations and certain corporate income and expenses not allocated to the three reportable segments, such as those related to our accounting, executive administration, finance, internal audit, investor relations and legal 
departments.  
 

43  

   Year Ended December 31, 2014  

   Originations     Servicing     Financing     Other/Eliminations 1     Consolidated  

Revenues                             

Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net  $ 156,940     $ —    $ —    $ (15 )     $ 156,925  
Gains on sales of mortgage servicing rights  —    1,082     —    —    1,082  
Changes in mortgage servicing rights valuation  —    (56,924 )     —    —    (56,924 )  

Payoffs and principal amortization of mortgage servicing rights  —    (23,735 )     —    —    (23,735 )  

Loan origination and other loan fees  26,429     —    455     (67 )     26,817  
Loan servicing fees  —    44,407     —    —    44,407  
Interest income  34,080     —    3,280     (315 )     37,045  
Total revenues  217,449     (35,170 )     3,735     (397 )     185,617  
                    

Expenses                             

Salaries, commissions and benefits  111,147     5,972     1,726     23,780     142,625  
General and administrative expense  14,238     1,378     596     20,451     36,663  
Interest expense  23,122     1,227     1,050     1,826     27,225  
Occupancy, equipment and communication  10,858     1,794     231     5,783     18,666  
Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications  822     —    —    —    822  
Depreciation and amortization  1,607     84     119     3,391     5,201  
Loss on disposal and impairment of long lived assets  1,290     —    —    237     1,527  
Corporate allocations  26,619     3,279     160     (30,058 )     — 
Total expenses  189,703     13,734     3,882     25,410     232,729  
Income (loss) before taxes  $ 27,746     $ (48,904 )     $ (147 )     $ (25,807 )     $ (47,112 )  



 
 

 
 
1 Includes intersegment eliminations and certain corporate income and expenses not allocated to the three reportable segments, such as those related to our accounting, executive administration, finance, internal audit, investor relations and legal 
departments.  
 
 

Originations  

The Originations segment reported income before taxes of $27,746 during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to $31,325 for the year ended December 31, 2013 . This decrease was the result of costs 
associated with higher originations volume - increased operational capacity, geographic expansion of our retail network from 47 branches at December 31, 2013 to 99 branches at December 31, 2014, and other costs 
associated with managing our loan portfolio growth. In addition, we received decreased fees resulting from qualified mortgage rules effective January 2014. This decrease was offset by mortgage loan originations 
increasing 45% period over period and higher revenue margins from a strategic change in mix of originations to retail and wholesale.  

Gains on Mortgage Loans Held for Sale, Net  
 
Our gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net during the year ended December 31, 2014 were 124 bps of loan originations compared to 96 bps for the comparable period in 2013 . The increased gain on sale in 

basis points was due primarily to an increase in our government insured loans and in our retail originations as seen in the tables below. Government insured loans and loans originated in our retail channel generate higher 
revenue margins than our other loan products or loans originated in other channels. Net gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 :  
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   Year Ended December 31, 2013  

   Originations     Servicing     Financing     Other/Eliminations 1     Consolidated  

Revenues                             

Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net  $ 83,312     $ —    $ —    $ 15     $ 83,327  
Changes in mortgage servicing rights valuation  —    22,967     —    —    22,967  
Payoffs and principal amortization of mortgage servicing rights  —    (8,545 )     —    —    (8,545 )  

Loan origination and other loan fees  21,196     —    31     —    21,227  
Loan servicing fees  —    22,204     —    —    22,204  
Interest income  16,612     —    125     30     16,767  
Total revenues  121,120     36,626     156     45     157,947  
                    

Expenses                             

Salaries, commissions and benefits  50,242     2,562     —    19,671     72,475  
General and administrative expense  8,749     942     19     13,375     23,085  
Interest expense  12,449     260     —    1,717     14,426  
Occupancy, equipment and communication  3,999     723     —    5,121     9,843  
Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications  (417 )     —    —    —    (417 )  

Depreciation and amortization  360     —    —    1,849     2,209  
Loss on disposal and impairment of long lived assets  12     —    —    93     105  
Corporate allocations  14,401     1,689     —    (16,090 )     — 
Total expenses  89,795     6,176     19     25,736     121,726  
Income (loss) before taxes  $ 31,325     $ 30,450     $ 137     $ (25,691 )     $ 36,221  



 

 
1 Includes costs directly related to specified activities performed for a particular loan to facilitate the sale of such loan and the creation of the capitalized servicing right.  
2 Shown as a percentage of originations.  
 
Material components presented in gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net are listed below.  
 

Realized gains on sales of loans - Realized gains on sales of loans represent the difference between the actual sales proceeds received upon sale of the loans and Stonegate’s cost basis in acquiring/producing those 
loans, including loan discount fees, lender credits, yield spread premiums and servicing release premiums paid to correspondents. These items represent the components that factor into the pricing of the loans to borrowers 
and represent the core “margin” elements of the loan sales.  

Capitalized servicing rights - An originated mortgage loan inherently includes both the value of the coupon to the borrower as well as the servicing fee component to compensate the servicer for its activities. A 
key element of Stonegate’s strategy is to retain the servicing of its loans upon sale to investors in order to take advantage of the value of the servicing component. When Stonegate sells its loans “servicing retained”, a 
contractual separation of the servicing component occurs from the underlying mortgage loan. This results in the creation of an MSRs asset. As such, a component of the gain on mortgage loans held for sale is attributable 
to the creation of this MSRs asset and is based on the fair value of such MSRs asset at the time of its creation (i.e. upon separation from the underlying loan during the loan sale). The Company utilizes a third-party 
analytic tool to derive/estimate this initial MSRs fair value at the time of sale.  

Economic hedge results - Unrealized gains/losses on loans not yet sold and accounted for under the fair value option are included as a component of Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net. This includes the 
impact of recording such loans at fair value and the change from period to period based on market conditions. In addition, the change in value of Stonegate’s interest rate lock commitments ("IRLCs") and other loan-
related derivatives are recorded in this financial statement line item.  
 

Gain/losses on MBS purchase commitments - The Company enters into forward sales of MBS securities linked to security issuances of GSEs (FNMA, FHLMC, GNMA) for economic hedging purposes, as these 
instruments have similar characteristics to the loans held for sale by Stonegate. The gains/losses on these transactions are included in Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net on the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations.  
 

Provision for repurchase/indemnification obligation - Certain representations and warranties are made by Stonegate to investors and insurers on loans sold. In the event of a breach of these reps and warranties, 
the Company may incur losses and/or be required to repurchase loans from the investor. A provision is made at the time of sale for an estimate of such expected losses, the amount of which is offset against this gain line 
item.  
 

Direct loan origination costs - Stonegate offsets its gains/losses on mortgage loans held for sale, as described by the various categories above, with certain direct loan origination costs. These direct costs primarily 
relate to the following two circumstances:  
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   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014    2013    Variance  

   $    bps 2    $    bps 2       

Realized gains (losses) on sales of loans  $ 15,917    14    $ (6,167 )   (7 )   $ 22,084  
Capitalized servicing rights  156,982    124    111,554    128    45,428  
Economic hedge results  12,861    10    (4,838 )   (6 )   17,699  
(Losses) gains on MBS purchase commitments  (4,708 )   (4 )   2,425    3    (7,133 ) 

Provision for repurchases  (2,553 )   (2 )   (2,899 )   (3 )   346  
Direct loan origination costs 1  

(21,574 )   (17 )   (16,748 )   (19 )   (4,826 )  

Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net  $ 156,925    124    $ 83,327    96    $ 73,598  

i)  Costs directly associated with the origination of the mortgage loans that are paid to/incurred with a third party and are largely mandated by the investors as requirements for the loans to be sold. Such 
costs include net appraisal fees, credit report fees, document preparation and imaging, risk management and loan file review and certain FNMA/FHLMC/GNMA specific fees.  

ii)  Costs directly associated with the contractual creation of the separate servicing component of the loans upon sale to the investors on a “servicing retained” basis. Such costs include the one-time upfront 
setup fees for life of loan tax services (including tracking and paying of tax payments to jurisdictions), fees paid to an outsource provider for valuation of initial MSRs created upon sale of the loan, and 
upfront recording fees at initial servicing setup.  



 
Loan Origination and Other Loan Fees  

Our loan origination and other loan fees during the year ended December 31, 2014 increased $5,233 , or 25% , compared to the comparable period in 2013 , due to higher origination volume and a higher mix of 
government insured loans, which have higher margins than conventional mortgages, and an increase in retail originations, which also have higher margins than correspondent originations. However, our loan origination 
and other loan fees have decreased as a percentage of total originations to 21 bps from 24 bps for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 , respectively, due to the qualified mortgage rules effective January 2014, 
which limit the total fees allowed to be charged per transaction, but were offset by improved pricing margins. The following table illustrates mortgage loan originations by type for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 
2013 :  

 

The following is a summary of mortgage loan origination volume by channel for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 :  

The increased volume in the retail channel during the year ended December 31, 2014 is reflective of our strategy to acquire retail lending business and expand our geographic footprint. It includes originations 
from our Crossline subsidiary, and from the retail and wholesale operations that we acquired from Nationstar, both of which we acquired at the end of 2013 , and for which there were no comparable amounts for the first 
three quarters of 2013.  

We seek to manage asset quality and control credit risk by diversifying our loan portfolio and by applying policies designed to promote sound underwriting and loan monitoring practices. We perform various 
levels of analysis in order to monitor the overall risk profile of our mortgage originations and servicing portfolio. This analysis includes review of the LTV, FICO scores, delinquencies, defaults and historical loan losses. 
Monthly risk meetings are conducted where portfolio risk analysis, such as FICO and LTV combination migration, is studied to ensure that the population distributions are in accordance with acceptable risk parameters. In 
addition, default activity is evaluated in the context of credit spectrum to identify any emerging credit quality trends.  

 A summary of the mortgage loan origination volume by FICO score and LTV for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:  
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   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013  

   $     % Total     $     % Total  

Conventional  $ 6,762,523     54 %    $ 5,219,463     60 %  

Government insured  5,506,396     43 %    3,480,037     40 % 

Non-agency/Other  365,868     3 %    7,387     — % 

Total mortgage loan originations  $ 12,634,787     100 %    $ 8,706,887     100 %  

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013  

   # of Loans     $     % Total     # of Loans     $     % Total  

Retail  8,201     $ 1,868,979     15 %    3,839     $ 628,934     7 %  

Wholesale  11,510     2,841,700     22 %    8,183     1,636,449     19 % 

Correspondent  39,530     7,924,108     63 %    33,774     6,441,504     74 % 

Total mortgage loan originations  59,241     $ 12,634,787     100 %    45,796     $ 8,706,887     100 %  

   Year Ended December 31, 2014  

   LTV Range  

   <70%     70%-80%     81%-90%     91%-100%     >100%     Total     % Total  

FICO Score  
                                       

<620  $  8,200     $  11,781     $  7,761     $  38,208     $  1,859     $  67,809     1 %  

620-680  285,076     547,694     375,580     2,018,187     33,024     3,259,561     26 % 

681-719  356,361     628,029     347,740     1,422,462     27,291     2,781,883     22 % 

>719  1,320,533     2,152,210     807,143     2,204,348     41,300     6,525,534     51 % 

Total mortgage loan originations  $  1,970,170     $  3,339,714     $  1,538,224     $  5,683,205     $  103,474     $  12,634,787     100 %  

% Total  16 %    26 %    12 %    45 %    1 %    100 %       



 
   

Interest Income  
      
Interest income related to our Originations segment increased $17,468 , or 105% , during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 . The increase in interest income was 

primarily a result of an increase in mortgage loan originations and higher average coupon rates during the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , as there is a direct correlation 
between interest income and mortgage loan origination. The average coupon rate was 4.10% during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to 3.84% during the year ended December 31, 2013 .  
 
Salaries, Commissions and Benefits Expense  

 
Salaries, commissions and benefits expense related to our Originations segment increased $60,905 , or 121% , during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , 

primarily as a result of increased headcount due to our strategic decision to expand our geographic footprint across the United States, through our acquisitions in late 2013 and early 2014, and additional mortgage loan 
advisors and account executives in both our retail and third party originations channels. In addition to the increase in revenue-producing positions, we also increased headcount in support areas related to the growth in 
originations. Headcount related to our originations segment increased from 962 employees at December 31, 2013 to 988 employees at December 31, 2014 . Of the 962 employees at December 31, 2013, 292 employees 
were the result of our acquisitions of Crossline in December 2013 and Nationstar in November 2013, and did not result in a full year of compensation-related expenses during the year ended December 31, 2013. All related 
employee benefit costs have increased with the related increase in headcount. We expect the salaries, commissions and benefits expense related to our Originations segment to remain consistent as we do not expect to 
continue opening additional new retail branches, but rather plan on focusing on increasing our direct to consumer retail origination volume.  
 
General and Administrative Expenses  
 

General and administrative expenses related to our Originations segment increased $5,489 , or 63% , during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily as a 
result of increased expenses attributable to our growth and continued expansion. We have experienced an increase in travel related expenses, marketing expenses, custodial fees, professional services, licensing related 
expenses and sales support, as we integrated the acquired retail operations and managed the expanded origination platform throughout the United States, through our acquisitions in late 2013 and early 2014. To the extent 
that we continue to see our originations through our expansion strategies, we expect that general and administrative costs will continue to grow in future quarters but at a slower pace than our origination growth as we are 
able to leverage many of the fixed costs that are included in this category of expenses.  

 
Interest Expense  
 

Interest expense related to our Originations segment increased $10,673 , or 86% during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily due to increased 
borrowings as a result of the increase in the volume of mortgage loans originated and funded in the current period. The increase in interest expense was offset by the increase in interest income during the same period due 
to favorable interest spreads. We expect that interest expense will move in direct correlation to changes in our origination trends and borrowings in future periods.  

 
Occupancy, Equipment and Communication Expenses  
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   Year Ended December 31, 2013  

   LTV Range    

   <70%       70%-80%     81%-90%     91%-100%     >100%       Total     % Total  

FICO Score  
                                       

<620  $ —    $ 281     $ 658     $  5,555     $ 236     $ 6,730     —%  

620-680  101,853     229,008     255,545     1,351,489     31,125     1,969,020     23 % 

681-719  150,520     357,350     272,853     956,398     37,470     1,774,591     20 % 

>719  873,714     1,637,813     687,301     1,675,806     81,912     4,956,546     57 % 

Total mortgage loan originations  $ 1,126,087     $ 2,224,452     $ 1,216,357     $  3,989,248     $ 150,743     $ 8,706,887     100 %  

% Total  13 %    25 %    14 %    46 %    2 %    100 %       



 
Occupancy, equipment and communication expenses increased $6,859 during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 . Our retail expansion increased the number of 

mortgage loan branches from 47 at December 31, 2013 to 99 at December 31, 2014 . In addition, we increased our total square footage under lease during 2014. We do not expect the same level of growth in occupancy 
levels in future periods. However, we expect to see continued increases in information technology costs to support our strategic growth.  
 
Provision for Mortgage Repurchases and Indemnification  
 

Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnification increased $1,239 during the year ended December 31, 2014 . This reserve is based on the estimated losses to be incurred with respect to representations, 
warranties and indemnifications made in connection with our loan sales. We have seen an increase in repurchase request activity during 2014 due to the increase in our sold loan production, which has directly impacted 
FNMA, FHLMC and GNMA audit and repurchase efforts. In an effort to create a faster and more predictable audit to demand timeline, FNMA, FHLMC and GNMA continue their intensive upfront review of loan data in 
order to identify possible loan quality issues. These efforts have led to an increase in audits, repurchase demands and, ultimately, actual loan repurchases by the Company. We expect that the provision for mortgage 
repurchases and indemnifications may increase in relation to the expected growth in our originations; however, changing market conditions will also influence any trends in our provision.  
 
Depreciation and Amortization Expense  
 

Depreciation and amortization expense related to our Originations segment increased $1,247 during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily due to 
increased property and equipment expenditures resulting from our overall growth and expansion, including acquisitions, and the amortization expense related to our mortgage banking technology platform and the other 
Crossline intangible assets acquired in December 2013.  

 
Loss on Disposal and Impairment of Long Lived Assets  
 

Loss on disposal and impairment of long lived assets increased $1,278 during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily due to an impairment charge 
recognized for the Crossline trade name resulting from the anticipated significant change in future use of the asset given the formation of Stonegate Direct.  

 
Servicing  
 

The Servicing segment incurred a loss before taxes of $48,904 during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to income before taxes of $30,450 during the year ended December 31, 2013 . The variance in 
the Servicing segment's results was due primarily to the change in our MSRs valuation as discussed below. Excluding the impact of the change in MSRs valuation, the Servicing segment earned $8,020 before income taxes 
during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to $7,483 during the year ended December 31, 2013 . This was the result of our mortgage servicing portfolio growth and gain on sale of MSRs, offset by increased 
expenses related to our servicing portfolio growth, such as increased headcount and quality control, increased interest expense associated with increased borrowings and increased amortization of MSRs expense related to 
payoffs and principal reductions.  
 
Gain on Sale of Mortgage Servicing Rights  
 

The gain on sale of mortgage servicing rights relates to our sales of the two pools of FNMA MSRs of nearly $4 billion in UPB during the third and fourth quarters of 2014. The characteristics of these loan pools 
did not represent the characteristics of our MSRs portfolio as a whole. These pools had no GNMA or FHLMC MSRs, had average mortgage interest rates that were less than the current mortgage interest rates, and had a 
different geographic make up than our overall portfolio. We performed temporary sub-servicing activities with respect to the underlying loans through the established transfer dates, each in the fourth quarter of 2014, for a 
fee. We used the proceeds to reinvest back into newly originated MSRs through our origination platform. We will continue to purchase or sell our MSRs to take advantage of opportunistic market conditions as they 
become available to us.  
 
Changes in Mortgage Servicing Rights Valuation  
 

The decrease in the fair value of our MSRs was driven primarily by the decrease in market interest rates and flattening of the yield curve during the latter part of 2014. Decreasing interest rates generally result in 
decreased MSRs values as the assumption for prepayment speeds of the underlying mortgage loans tends to increase (mortgage loans prepay faster) and a flattening yield curve decreases the expected value of interest 
income from the escrow balances held by us.  
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Payoffs and Principal Amortization of Mortgage Servicing Rights Portfolio  
 

Payoffs and principal amortization of our MSRs portfolio related to our Servicing segment represents the value of our portfolio run-off, including paid off loans. During the year ended December 31, 2014 , this 
amount decreased the value of our MSRs by $23,735 , compared to $8,545 during the year ended December 31, 2013 , a difference of 178% . The increase in run-off and paid off loans correlates with a 266% increase in 
prepayment speeds from December 31, 2013 to December 31, 2014 as well as a 54% increase in our servicing portfolio.  

Loan Servicing Fees  

The following is a summary of loan servicing fee income by component for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 :  

Our loan servicing fees increased to $44,407 during the year ended December 31, 2014 from $22,204 during the year ended December 31, 2013 . The 100% increase in our loan servicing fees was primarily the 
result of our higher average servicing portfolio of $15,752,085 during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to an average servicing portfolio of $7,776,691 during the year ended December 31, 2013 .  

The following table illustrates our mortgage servicing portfolio by type as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 :  

The following is a summary of mortgage loan servicing portfolio characteristics by loan type as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 :  
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   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013  

Contractual servicing fees  
$ 42,429     $ 21,656  

Late fees  
1,978     548  

Loan servicing fees  $ 44,407     $ 22,204  

        

Servicing fees as a percentage of average portfolio  0.28 %    0.27 % 

   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

   $ UPB     % Total     $ UPB     % Total  

FNMA  $ 5,797,883     32 %    $ 7,254,178     61 % 

GNMA:  
             

    FHA  5,365,627     29 %    3,333,593     28 % 

    VA  2,652,678     14 %    796,708     7 % 

    USDA  974,501     5 %    377,142     3 % 

FHLMC  3,500,321     20 %    161,889     1 % 

Other Investors  45,735     —%    —    —% 

Total servicing portfolio  $ 18,336,745     100 %    $ 11,923,510     100 % 

   December 31, 2014  

   Weighted Average Coupon     
Average Age  
(in months)     

Average Loan  
Amount     

Weighted Average Servicing 
Fee  

FNMA  4.19 %     15     $ 183,966     25 bps  

GNMA:                       

    FHA  3.94 %     15     $ 157,878     32 bps  

    VA  3.90 %     8     $ 225,625     31 bps  

    USDA  4.02 %     11     $ 134,007     32 bps  

FHLMC  4.35 %     6     $ 234,590     25 bps  

Other Investors  4.42 %     5     $ 176,582     23 bps  

Total  4.10 %    12     $ 183,899     28 bps  
        

   December 31, 2013  

   
Weighted Average  

Coupon     Average Age (in months)       
Average Loan  

Amount     
Weighted Average Servicing 

Fee  

FNMA  3.85 %     10     $ 195,959     25 bps  

GNMA:                       



 

The weighted average coupon, average age and average loan amount of the portfolio increased during the year ended December 31, 2014 . The increase in the weighted average coupon and average age was due 
primarily to the general increase in interest rates and the age of the existing portfolio and also due to the sale of nearly $4 billion of servicing in the second half of 2014. The increased average loan amounts represent 
expansion into certain higher-priced residential geographic areas as our expanded footprint.  
 
Salaries, Commissions and Benefits Expense  

 
Salaries, commissions and benefits expense related to our Servicing segment increased $3,410 , or 133% , during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily as 

a result of increased headcount due to the growth in our servicing portfolio and the increased age of the portfolio, which increases delinquencies and defaults on the portfolio. Headcount related to our Servicing segment 
increased from 52 employees at December 31, 2013 to 84 employees at December 31, 2014 , as we continued to add support staff in the quality control and default management areas.  

 
General and Administrative Expenses  
 

General and administrative expenses related to our Servicing segment increased $436 , or 46% , during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily as a result 
of increased expenses attributable to our servicing portfolio growth, such as those related to the increased printing of statements and outside services required to service the loans, such as tax services.  
 
Interest Expense  
 

Interest expense related to our Servicing segment increased $967 during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily due to principal and interest payment 
advances for loans paid off during the period.  

 
Occupancy, Equipment and Communication Expenses  
 

Occupancy, equipment and communication expenses increased $1,071 during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily as a result of increased expenses 
attributable to our servicing portfolio growth and the related increase in staffing. We anticipate continued increases in information technology costs to support our strategic growth of the servicing segment.  

Financing  

The Financing segment provides warehouse lending activities to correspondent customers through our NattyMac subsidiary. We commenced fully utilizing this financing platform in July 2013. The Financing 
segment incurred a loss before income taxes of $147 and income before income taxes of $137 during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The loss in the current period is primarily due to the 
increased expenses during the year ended December 31, 2014 associated with growing the business, including indirect costs allocated to the segment in 2014 as a result of increased headcount to support the fulfillment 
services needed to generate revenues. As operations continue to grow, we expect revenues and the related expenses to increase in line with originations that are funded by NattyMac.  

Loan Origination and Other Loan Fees  

Our loan origination and other loan fees during the year ended December 31, 2014 increased $424 , compared to the comparable period in 2013 , due to higher origination volume. Originations funded by our 
NattyMac subsidiary grew to $1,722,733 during the year ended December 31, 2014 from $100,008 during the year ended December 31, 2013 .  

Interest Income  
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    FHA  3.78 %     11     $ 156,404     31 bps  

    VA  3.79 %     7     $ 195,080     30 bps  

    USDA  3.88 %     8     $ 130,998     31 bps  

FHLMC  4.35 %     0     $ 249,829     25 bps  

Other Investors  N/A     N/A     N/A     N/A  

Total  3.84 %    10     $ 180,809     27 bps  



 

The increase in interest income was primarily a result of the increase in warehouse loan originations funded during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to December 31, 2013 , as there is a direct 
correlation between interest income and warehouse loan origination activity.  
 
Salaries, Commissions and Benefits Expense  
 

Salaries, commissions and benefits expense related to our Financing segment was $1,726 during the year ended December 31, 2014 , associated with directly allocating headcount to support the growth of the 
business. Headcount related to our Financing segment was 14 employees at December 31, 2014 . There were no such expenses directly attributable to the Financing segment during the year ended December 31, 2013 .  
 
General and Administrative Expenses  
 

General and administrative expenses related to our Financing segment increased $577 during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily as a result of 
increased expenses attributable to our lending activity growth, such as expenses related to the training and development of our growing headcount and increased bank service charges.  
 
Interest Expense  
 

The interest expense attributable to our Financing segment is related to the utilization of our NMF line with Merchants Bancorp, entered into on April 15, 2014. There was no interest expense attributable to our 
Financing segment for the year ended December 31, 2013.  
 
Occupancy, Equipment and Communication Expenses  

 
Occupancy, equipment and communication expenses increased $231 during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , as we incurred more information technology 

costs and moved to a larger space in 2014 to support our growth.  
 
Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2012  
 

Our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 are as follows: 
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   Years Ended December 31,  

   2013     2012     $ Change     % Change  

Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net  $  83,327     $  71,420     $ 11,907     17%  

Changes in mortgage servicing rights valuation  22,967     —    22,967     100%  

Payoffs and principal amortization of mortgage servicing rights  (8,545 )     —    (8,545 )     100%  

Loan origination and other loan fees  21,227     9,871     11,356     115%  

Loan servicing fees  22,204     5,908     16,296     276%  

Interest income  16,767     5,257     11,510     219%  

Other revenue  —    1,172     (1,172 )     (100)%  

Total revenues  157,947     93,628     64,319     69%  

                      

Salaries, commissions and benefits  72,475     32,737     39,738     121%  

General and administrative expense  23,085     7,706     15,379     200%  

Interest expense  14,426     6,239     8,187     131%  

Occupancy, equipment and communications  9,843     2,999     6,844     228%  

Impairment of mortgage servicing rights  —    11,698     (11,698 )     (100)%  

Amortization of mortgage servicing rights  —    3,679     (3,679 )     (100)%  

Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications - change in estimate  (417 )     —    (417 )     100%  

Depreciation and amortization expense  2,209     750     1,459     195%  

Loss on disposal and impairment of long lived assets  105     11     94     855%  

Total expenses  121,726     65,819     55,907     85%  

                      

(Loss) income before income taxes  36,221     27,809     8,412     30%  

Income tax (benefit) expense  13,623     10,724     2,899     27%  

Net (loss) income  $ 22,598     $ 17,085     $ 5,513     32%  

                      

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding (in thousands)  17,113     7,517     9,596     128%  



 

 
Revenues  

During the year ended December 31, 2013 , total revenues increased $64,319 , or 69% , as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 . The increase in revenues resulted from increases in our loan servicing 
fees, gains on mortgage loans held for sale, interest income, loan origination and other loan fees and changes in MSRs valuation, partially offset by decreases in payoffs and principal amortization of mortgage servicing 
rights and other revenues.  

 
The increase in our loan servicing fees was primarily the result of our higher average servicing portfolio of $8,082,350 during the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to an average servicing portfolio of 

$2,450,156 during the year ended December 31, 2012.  
 
The increase in interest income was primarily a result of an increase in mortgage loan originations as well as higher interest rates during the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to December 31, 2012.  
 
Loan origination and other loan fees increased primarily as a result of the increase in the amount of loans originated during the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to December 31, 2012.  
 
The increase in the net change in MSRs valuation resulted from our change in accounting for our MSRs during 2013, as previously described.  
 
The increase in our gains on mortgage loans held for sale during the year ended December 31, 2013 was primarily a result of the increase in the amount of loans originated during the twelve months ended 

December 31, 2013 as compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, which was partially offset by unfavorable fair market value adjustments related to our derivative assets and liabilities (IRLCs and related 
MBS forward trades) resulting from increasing interest rates, as well as margin compression from an increase in originations from the correspondent channel which typically has lower profit margins.  

   
The decrease in other revenue was due to the bargain purchase gain related to the acquisition of NattyMac assets during the year ended December 31, 2012, for which there was no comparable gain during the 

year ended December 31, 2013.  
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Diluted (LPS) EPS  $  1.32     $  2.26     $  (0.94 )     (42)%  



 
Expenses  
 

Salaries, commissions and benefits expense increased $39,738 , or 121% , during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily as a result of the increase in our 
headcount from 443 employees at December 31, 2012 to 1,219 employees at December 31, 2013. We have increased our sales force and support staff to facilitate the growth in our loan originations, mortgage servicing 
and mortgage financing operations. Since origination volumes have increased, the variable commissions paid to employees were also higher during the year ended December 31, 2013. The Company also increased its 
contribution to and the quality of the employee benefit packages, including health and welfare plans, incentive compensation and stock-based compensation, to continue to attract and retain talent in the markets we serve, 
which contributed to the increase in 2013.  
 

General and administrative expenses increased $15,379 , or 200% , during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily as a result of the increase in loan 
origination (including costs associated with the launch of our non-agency jumbo loan program) and loan servicing activities, integration and ramp-up costs associated with our Nationstar and Crossline acquisitions, our 
company-wide rebranding campaign, as well as certain non-deferrable legal and accounting expenses incurred related to the preparation for our initial public offering. We also saw an increase in travel and administrative 
expenses as we expanded our operations into additional states.  
 

Interest expense increased $8,187 , or 131% , during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily as a result of the increase in the volume of mortgage loans 
originated in the current period. In addition, we experienced an increase in interest expense due to the payoff of debt with detachable warrants issued to a stockholder in March 2013 (for additional information related to 
the warrants, refer to Note 17, "Capital Stock" to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K).  
 

Occupancy, equipment and communication expenses increased $6,844 , or 228% , during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily as a result of increased 
facility, system and computer equipment requirements to accommodate increased staffing levels, new operation centers and new retail branches.  
 

Impairment of MSRs and amortization of MSRs decreased $11,698 and $3,679 , respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 as a result of the 
previously discussed change in our accounting treatment of MSRs.  

 
The provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications decreased $417 during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily as a result of a change in our 

assumptions for reserving for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications during the year in light of improvements in the availability of loan quality data used to determine the reserve.  
 

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $1,459 , or 195% , during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily due to increased property and equipment 
balances resulting from our overall growth and expansion, as well as the amortization expense related to the NattyMac intangible assets acquired on August 30, 2012.  

      
Income tax expenses were $13,623 and $10,724 for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, which represented an increase of 27% during the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase was 

primarily due to the 30% increase in income before income tax expense during the year ended December 31, 2013, partially offset by a decrease in the effective tax rate during the year ended December 31, 2013 resulting 
from changes in the Company's state apportionment factors due to its geographic expansion and resulting changes in loan origination volume mix in the various states it conducts business.  

 
We anticipate our aggregate servicing operating costs will increase as our portfolio increases in size. Our servicing portfolio is generally of recent vintages and consists of agency loans which tend to be of higher 

quality. These characteristics tend to allow our servicing platform to direct most of its efforts on creating processing efficiencies and a solid customer experience rather than addressing legacy delinquencies and resultant 
high servicing costs. We expect the average cost to service a loan to decrease due to economies of scale, future technology improvements and outsourcing opportunities where deemed appropriate. On a per-loan basis, we 
also expect that our servicing costs will improve as we spread our fixed capital investments over a larger loan servicing portfolio.  

      
Segment Results  
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   Year Ended December 31, 2013  



 

 
1 Includes intersegment eliminations and certain corporate income and expenses not allocated to the three reportable segments, such as those related to our accounting, executive administration, finance, internal audit, investor relations and legal 
departments.  

 

 
1 Includes intersegment eliminations and certain corporate income and expenses not allocated to the three reportable segments, such as those related to our accounting, executive administration, finance, internal audit, investor relations and legal 
departments.  
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   Originations     Servicing     Financing     Other/Eliminations 1     Consolidated  

Revenues                             

Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net  $ 83,312     $ —    $ —    $ 15     $ 83,327  
Changes in mortgage servicing rights valuation  —    22,967     —    —    22,967  
Payoffs and principal amortization of mortgage servicing rights  —    (8,545 )     —    —    (8,545 )  

Loan origination and other loan fees  21,196     —    31     —    21,227  
Loan servicing fees  —    22,204     —    —    22,204  
Interest income  16,612     —    125     30     16,767  
Total revenues  121,120     36,626     156     45     157,947  
                    

Expenses                             

Salaries, commissions and benefits  50,242     2,562     —    19,671     72,475  
General and administrative expense  8,749     942     19     13,375     23,085  
Interest expense  12,449     260     —    1,717     14,426  
Occupancy, equipment and communication  3,999     723     —    5,121     9,843  
Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications  (417 )     —    —    —    (417 )  

Depreciation and amortization  360     —    —    1,849     2,209  
Loss on disposal or impairment of long lived assets  12     —    —    93     105  
Corporate allocations  14,401     1,689     —    (16,090 )     — 
Total expenses  89,795     6,176     19     25,736     121,726  
Income (loss) before taxes  $ 31,325     $ 30,450     $ 137     $ (25,691 )     $ 36,221  

   Year Ended December 31, 2012  

   Originations     Servicing     Financing     Other/Eliminations 1     Consolidated  

Revenues                             

Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net  $ 71,420     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 71,420  
Loan origination and other loan fees  9,871     —    —    —    9,871  
Loan servicing fees  —    5,908     —    —    5,908  
Interest income  5,199     —    —    58     5,257  
Other revenue  1,172     —    —    —    1,172  
Total revenues  87,662     5,908     —    58     93,628  
                    

Expenses                             

Salaries, commissions and benefits  22,851     985     —    8,901     32,737  
General and administrative expense  3,065     334     —    4,307     7,706  
Interest expense  5,667     361     —    211     6,239  
Occupancy, equipment and communication  1,635     240     —    1,124     2,999  
Impairment of mortgage service rights  —    11,698     —    —    11,698  
Amortization of mortgage service rights  —    3,679     —    —    3,679  
Depreciation and amortization  —    —    —    750     750  
Loss on disposal or impairment of long lived assets  —    —    —    11     11  
Corporate allocations  2,559     284     —    (2,843 )     — 
Total expenses  35,777     17,581     —    12,461     65,819  
Income (loss) before taxes  $ 51,885     $ (11,673 )     $ —    $ (12,403 )     $ 27,809  



 
 
Originations  

The Originations segment reported income before taxes of $31,325 and $51,885 during the year ended December 31, 2013 and year ended December 31, 2012, respectively. This decrease was the result of 
increased costs to facilitate our growth in loan originations, including increased staffing levels, new operation centers, new retail branches and other additional expenses as we expanded our operations into different states.  

Gains on Mortgage Loans Held for Sale, Net  
 
Our gains on mortgage loans held for sale during the year ended December 31, 2013 increased $13,530, or 19%, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase in our gains on mortgage loans 

held for sale during the year ended December 31, 2013 was primarily a result of the increase in the amount of loans originated during the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2012, which was partially offset by unfavorable fair market value adjustments related to our derivative assets and liabilities (IRLCs and related MBS forward trades) resulting from increasing interest rates. 
In addition, our margins were compressed due to an increase in originations from the correspondent channel, which typically has lower profit margins.  
 
Loan Origination and Other Loan Fees  
 

Our loan origination and other loan fees increased $11,325, or 115%, during the year ended December 31, 2013 , as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012, primarily as a result of the increase in the 
amount of loans originated during the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to December 31, 2012. The following table illustrates mortgage loan originations by type for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 
2012:  

 

 
1 Conventional includes FNMA and FHLMC mortgage loans.  
 
2 Government insured includes GNMA mortgage loans (including Federal Housing Administration, Department of Veterans Affairs and United States Department of Agricultural mortgage loans).  
 

The following is a summary of mortgage loan origination volume by channel for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 :  

 
The increased volume in the correspondent channel is consistent with our strategic direction of building a diversified and scalable origination business and retaining MSRs on residential mortgage loans.  
 
We seek to manage asset quality and control credit risk by diversifying our loan portfolio and by applying policies designed to promote sound underwriting and loan monitoring practices. We perform various 

levels of analysis in order to monitor the overall risk profile of our mortgage originations and servicing portfolio. This analysis includes review of the LTV, FICO scores, delinquencies, defaults and historical loan losses. 
Monthly risk meetings are conducted where portfolio risk analysis, such as FICO and LTV combination migration, is studied to ensure that the population distributions are in accordance  
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   Years Ended December 31,  

   2013     2012  

   $     % Total     $     % Total  

Conventional 1  
$ 5,219,463     60 %    $ 2,381,385     69 %  

Government insured 2  
3,480,037     40 %    1,068,022     31 % 

Non-agency/Other  7,387     — %    —    — % 

Total mortgage loan originations  $ 8,706,887     100 %    $ 3,449,407     100 % 

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2013     2012  

   # of Loans     $     % Total     # of Loans     $     % Total  

Retail  3,839     $ 628,934     7 %    3,039     $ 508,885     15 %  

Wholesale  8,183     1,636,449     19 %    4,554     893,756     26 % 

Correspondent  33,774     6,441,504     74 %    10,536     2,046,766     59 % 

Total mortgage loan originations  45,796     $ 8,706,887     100 %    18,129     $ 3,449,407     100 %  



 
with risk parameters. In addition, default activity is evaluated in the context of credit spectrum to identify any emerging credit quality trends.  

 A summary of the mortgage loan origination volume by FICO score and LTV for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 is as follows:  

   

 

Interest Income  
 

Interest income related to our Originations segment increased $11,413, or 220%, during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase in interest income was 
primarily a result of an increase in mortgage loan originations as well as higher interest rates during the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to December 31, 2012, as there is a direct correlation between interest 
income and mortgage loan origination levels.  
 
Other Revenue  
 

Other revenue consists of the bargain purchase gain related to the acquisition of NattyMac assets during the year ended December 31, 2012, for which there was no comparable gain during the year ended 
December 31, 2013 .  
 
Salaries, Commissions and Benefits Expense  
 

Salaries, commissions and benefits expense related to our Originations segment increased $27,391, or 120%, during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily 
as a result of the increase in our headcount from 335 employees at December 31, 2012 to 962 employees at December 31, 2013. We have increased our sales force and support staff to facilitate the growth in our loan 
originations, mortgage servicing and mortgage financing operations. Since origination volumes have increased, the variable commissions paid to employees were also higher during the year ended December 31, 2013. The 
Company also increased its contribution to and the quality of the employee benefit packages, including health and welfare plans and incentive compensation, to continue to attract and retain talent in the markets we serve, 
which contributed to the increase in 2013.  
 
General and Administrative Expenses  
 

General and administrative expenses related to our Originations segment increased $5,684, or 185%, during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily as a 
result of the increase in loan origination (including costs associated with the launch of our non-agency jumbo loan program), integration and ramp-up costs associated with our Nationstar and Crossline acquisitions and our 
company-wide rebranding campaign. We also saw an increase in travel and administrative expenses as we expanded our operations into additional states.  
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   Year Ended December 31, 2013  

   LTV Range  

   <70%     70%-80%     81%-90%     91%-100%     >100%     Total     % Total  

FICO Score  
                                       

<620  $  —    $  281     $  658     $  5,555     $  236     $  6,730     —%  

620-680  101,853     229,008     255,545     1,351,489     31,125     1,969,020     23 % 

681-719  150,520     357,350     272,853     956,398     37,470     1,774,591     20 % 

>719  873,714     1,637,813     687,301     1,675,806     81,912     4,956,546     57 % 

Total mortgage loan originations  $  1,126,087     $  2,224,452     $  1,216,357     $  3,989,248     $  150,743     $  8,706,887     100 %  

% Total  13 %    25 %    14 %    46 %    2 %    100 %       

   Year Ended December 31, 2012  

   LTV Range    

   <70%       70%-80%     81%-90%     91%-100%     >100%       Total     % Total  

FICO Score  
                                       

<620  $  120     $  251     $  765     $  2,140     $  —    $  3,276     —%  

620-680  25,480     63,734     76,985     388,774     12,081     567,054     17 % 

681-719  50,571     110,742     82,885     254,186     23,496     521,880     15 % 

>719  477,146     871,140     299,447     623,353     86,111     2,357,197     68 % 

Total mortgage loan originations  $  553,317     $  1,045,867     $  460,082     $  1,268,453     $  121,688     $  3,449,407     100 %  

% Total  16 %    30 %    13 %    37 %    4 %    100 %       



 
 
Interest Expense  
 

Interest expense increased $6,782, or 120%, during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily due to increased borrowings as a result of the increase in the 
volume of mortgage loans originated and funded in the current period and interest associated with our increased borrowings during the current period.  

 
Occupancy, Equipment and Communication Expenses  
 

Occupancy, equipment and communication expenses increased $2,364, or 145%, during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012, primarily as a result of increased 
facility, system and computer equipment requirements to accommodate increased staffing levels, new operation centers and new retail branches.  
 
Provision for Mortgage Repurchases and Indemnification  
 

Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnification was a credit of $417 during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily as a result of a change in our 
assumptions for reserving for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications during the year in light of improvements in the availability of loan quality data used to determine the reserve.  
 
Depreciation and Amortization Expense  
 

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $1,459, or 195%, during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily due to increased property and equipment 
expenditures resulting from our overall growth and expansion.  
 
 
Servicing  
 

The Servicing segment reported income before taxes of $30,450 during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to a loss before taxes of $11,673 during the year ended December 31, 2012. This was the 
result of our mortgage servicing portfolio growth and a change in accounting for the value of our MSRs, as previously discussed. Excluding the impact of this change in accounting treatment for the value of MSRs, 
Servicing income before taxes increased $12,324 during the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to the year ended December 31, 2012.  
 
Loan Servicing Fees  
 

The increase in our loan servicing fees was primarily the result of our higher average servicing portfolio of $8,082,350 during the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to an average servicing portfolio of 
$2,450,156 during the year ended December 31, 2012. The following is a summary of loan servicing fee income by component for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 :  

 
Our loan servicing fees increased to $22,204 during the year ended December 31, 2013 from $5,908 during the year ended December 31, 2012. The 276% increase in loan servicing fees was primarily the result 

of a 230% increase in the average UPB of mortgage loans serviced during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012. In addition, we experienced a higher concentration of GNMA 
loans in our servicing portfolio, which have a higher servicing fee.  

 
    The following table illustrates our mortgage servicing portfolio by type as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 :  
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   Years Ended December 31,  

   2013     2012     $ Change     % Change  

Contractual servicing fees  
$ 21,656     $ 5,676     $ 15,980     282 % 

Late fees  
548     232     316     136 % 

Loan servicing fees  $ 22,204     $ 5,908     $ 16,296     276 % 



 

 
The following is a summary of mortgage loan servicing portfolio characteristics by loan type as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 :  

 

 
 

Our servicing portfolio characteristics reflect the influence of overall lower interest rates in 2013 loan production. The weighted average coupon of the portfolio dropped slightly during 2013, while the average 
balance and average age increased. Lower rates tend to prepay more slowly and newer loans generally have longer remaining lives. The increased average loan amounts represent expansion into certain higher-priced 
residential geographic areas as we expanded our footprint.  
 
 
Salaries, Commissions and Benefits Expense  

 
Salaries, commissions and benefits expense related to our Servicing segment increased $1,577, or 160%, during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily as a 

result of increased headcount due to growing our servicing portfolio. Headcount related to our Servicing segment increased from 24 employees at December 31, 2012 to 52 employees at December 31, 2013.  
 
General and Administrative Expenses  
 

General and administrative expenses related to our Servicing segment increased $608, or 182%, during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily as a result 
of increased expenses attributable to our servicing portfolio growth, such as those related to increased document retention, outside services required to service the loans and quality control.  
 
Interest Expense  
 

Interest expense related to our Servicing segment decreased $101, or 28%, during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012. Interest expense related to our Servicing 
segment consists of costs we incur  
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   December 31,  

   2013     2012  

   $ UPB     % Total     $ UPB     % Total  

FNMA  $ 7,254,178     61 %    $ 2,781,389     67 % 

GNMA  4,507,443     38 %    1,363,951     33 % 

FHLMC  161,889     1 %    —    —% 

Total servicing portfolio  $ 11,923,510     100 %    $ 4,145,340     100 % 

   December 31, 2013  

   Weighted Average Coupon     
Average Age (in 

months)     
Average Loan Amount 

(whole dollars)     
Weighted Average Servicing 

Fee  

FNMA  3.85%     10.4     $195,959     25 bps  

GNMA  3.79%     9.8     $159,403     31 bps  

FHLMC  4.35%     0.3     $249,829     25 bps  

Total  3.84%     10.0     $180,809     27 bps  
                

   December 31, 2012  

   Weighted Average Coupon     
Average Age (in 

months)     
Average Loan Amount 

(whole dollars)     
Weighted Average Servicing 

Fee  

FNMA  3.84%     8.5     $188,942     25 bps  

GNMA  3.92%     10.3     $145,877     31 bps  

FHLMC  N/A     N/A     N/A     N/A  

Total  3.86%     9.0     $172,213     27 bps  



 
due to the timing of loan payoffs. As interest rates trended higher in 2013, compared to 2012, there was a decrease in the volume of loan payoffs, resulting in a lower expense.  

 
Occupancy, Equipment and Communication Expenses  
 

Occupancy, equipment and communication expenses related to our Servicing segment increased $483, or 201%, during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 
primarily as a result of increased expenses associated with our servicing portfolio growth and the related increase in staffing.  
 
Financing  

The Financing segment includes warehouse lending activities to correspondent customers through our NattyMac subsidiary, which we commenced fully utilizing in July of 2013. As such, the income before taxes 
of $137 for the year ended December 31, 2013 for this segment reflects a partial year of operations. We expect that NattyMac will be able to leverage our proprietary technology and our existing due diligence and 
underwriting processes to efficiently underwrite the warehouse lines of credit it provides for our correspondents who are its customers and others. We are currently financing NattyMac’s warehouse lending operations 
through the use of cash on hand and our existing financing facilities and continue to explore alternative financing opportunities. We intend for this to create an additional source of funding for our correspondents to 
originate mortgage loans that meet our underwriting requirements and are eligible for us and other investors to purchase.  
 
Critical Accounting Policies  
 

Our financial accounting and reporting policies are in accordance with GAAP. Some of these accounting policies require us to make estimates and judgments about matters that are uncertain. The application of 
assumptions could have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations. Critical accounting policies and related assumptions, estimates and disclosures are determined by management and reviewed 
periodically with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. We believe that the judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are appropriate given the factual 
circumstances at the time. We consider some of our most important accounting policies that require estimates and management judgment to be those policies with respect to reserves for loan repurchases and 
indemnifications; fair value of MSRs, derivative financial instruments, and mortgage loans held for sale; business combinations (including accounting for goodwill and intangible assets); and income taxes. For additional 
information regarding these significant accounting policies, refer to Note 2, “Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies,” to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

 
Reserve for Mortgage Repurchases and Indemnifications  
 

Loans sold to investors by us which met investor and agency underwriting guidelines at the time of sale may be subject to repurchase or indemnification in the event of specific default by the borrower or 
subsequent discovery that underwriting standards were not met. In limited circumstances, the full risk of loss on loans sold is retained to the extent the liquidation of the underlying collateral is insufficient.  
 

We establish a reserve for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications related to various representations and warranties that reflect management’s estimate of losses for loans for which we could have a repurchase 
or indemnification obligation, whether or not we currently service those loans, based on a combination of factors. Such factors include the type of loan, the channel from which it came and other loan-related specifics. The 
process for determining the measurement of the liability involves certain unobservable inputs such as estimated repurchase demands and repurchases, success rates on resolving disputes and loss severity and is generally 
subjective and involves a high degree of management judgment and assumptions. These judgments and assumptions may have a significant effect on our measurements of the liability, and the use of different judgments 
and assumptions, as well as changes in market conditions, could have a material effect on our statements of operations as well as our balance sheets.  
 

For additional information regarding our reserve for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications, refer to Note 13, "Reserve for Mortgage Repurchases and Indemnifications," to our audited consolidated financial 
statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 
Fair Value Measurements  
 

We use fair value measurements in fair value disclosures and to record certain assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis (such as derivative assets and liabilities and mortgage loans held for sale) or on 
a non-recurring basis, such as measuring impairment on assets carried at amortized cost or the lower of amortized cost or fair value (for periods prior to  
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January 1, 2013) or measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired through business combinations. We have elected fair value accounting for mortgage loans held for sale, as permitted under current accounting 
guidance, to more closely align our accounting with our interest rate risk management strategies.  
 

When observable market prices do not exist for our assets and liabilities, we estimate fair value primarily by using cash flow and other valuation models. Our valuation models may include adjustments, such as 
market liquidity and credit quality, where appropriate. Valuations of products using models or other techniques are sensitive to assumptions used for the significant inputs. The process for determining fair value using 
unobservable inputs, such as discount rates, prepayment speeds, default rates and cost of servicing is generally more subjective and involves a higher degree of management judgment and assumptions than the 
measurement of fair value using observable inputs. These judgments and assumptions may have a significant effect on our measurements of fair value, and the use of different judgments and assumptions, as well as 
changes in market conditions, could have a material effect on our statements of operations as well as our balance sheets.  
 

For additional information regarding the fair values of our assets and liabilities, refer to Note 8, "Fair Value Measurements," to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 
Mortgage Servicing Rights  
 

MSRs are non-financial assets that are created when a mortgage loan is sold and we retain the right to service the loan. The servicing of these loans includes payment processing, remittance of funds to investors, 
payment of taxes and insurance, collection of delinquent payments, and disposition of foreclosed properties. In return for these services, we receive servicing fee income and ancillary fee income. The MSRs are initially 
recorded at fair value, which is estimated using a valuation model that calculates the present value of estimated future net servicing cash flows. The valuation model incorporates assumptions that market participants would 
use in estimating future net servicing income, including estimates of the cost of servicing, the discount rate, the float value, the inflation rate, estimated prepayment speeds, and default rates. We use a dynamic model to 
estimate the fair value of our MSRs. The model is validated internally and senior management reviews all significant assumptions quarterly. In addition, we benchmark the performance of our internal model against the 
results obtained from a third party valuation specialist firm and other market participant information such as surveys, broker quotes, trades in the marketplace, and other observable data.  

      
Effective January 1, 2013, we elected to irrevocably account for the subsequent measurement of our existing  

originated mortgage loans class of MSRs using the fair value method, whereby the MSRs are initially recorded on our balance sheet at fair value with subsequent changes in fair value recorded in earnings during the 
period in which the changes in fair value occur. We believe that accounting for the MSRs at fair value best reflects the impact of current market conditions on our MSRs, and our investors and other users of our financial 
statements will have greater insight into management’s views as to the value of our MSRs at each reporting date. The fair value of the MSRs is assessed at each reporting date using the methods described above. In 
accordance with the applicable GAAP guidance, this change in accounting principle was accounted for on a prospective basis (financial statement periods prior to 2013 have not been restated). We did not record a 
cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of January 1, 2013, as the net amortized carrying value of the MSRs as of January 1, 2013 equaled the fair value due to MSRs impairment charges recorded during 
2012.  

      
Prior to January 1, 2013, the subsequent measurement of our MSRs was recorded using the amortization method. Under the amortization method, capitalized MSRs were initially recorded at fair value and 

amortized over the estimated economic life of the related loans in proportion to the estimated future net servicing revenue. The net capitalized cost of MSRs was periodically evaluated to determine whether capitalized 
amounts were in excess of their estimated fair value. For this fair value assessment, we stratified our MSRs based on interest rates: (1) those with note rates below 4.00%; (2) those with note rates between 4.00% and 
4.99%; and (3) those with note rates above 5.00%. If the amortized book value of the MSRs exceeded its fair value, management recorded a valuation adjustment as a reduction to the mortgage servicing right asset. 
However, in the event that the fair value of the MSRs recovered, the valuation allowance was reversed.  
 

For additional information regarding our mortgage servicing rights, refer to Note 7, "Mortgage Servicing Rights," to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K.  
 
Derivative Financial Instruments  
 

We enter into derivative instruments to reduce our risk exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. For example, we enter into IRLCs with certain customers to originate residential mortgage loans at specified 
interest rates and within a specified period of time. IRLCs on mortgage loans that are intended to be sold are accounted for as derivatives, with changes in fair value recorded in the statement of operations as part of gain or 
loss on sale of mortgage loans. The fair value of an IRLC is based  
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upon changes in the fair value of the underlying mortgages estimated to be realizable upon sale into the secondary market. In estimating the fair value of an IRLC, we also adjust the fair value of the underlying mortgage 
loan to reflect the estimated percentage of commitments that will result in a closed mortgage loan; our estimate of this percentage will vary based on the age of the underlying commitment and changes in mortgage interest 
rates.  
 

The primary factor influencing the probability that a loan will fund within the terms of the IRLC is the change, if any, in mortgage rates subsequent to the commitment date. In general, the probability of funding 
increases if mortgage rates rise and decreases if mortgage rates fall. This is due primarily to the relative attractiveness of current mortgage rates compared to the applicant’s committed rate. The probability that a loan will 
fund within the terms of the IRLC also is influenced by the source of the application, age of the application, purpose of the loan (purchase or refinance) and the application approval rate.  

      
We manage the interest rate risk associated with our outstanding IRLCs and mortgage loans held for sale by entering into derivative instruments, such as forward loan sales commitments and mandatory delivery 

commitments. For exchange-traded contracts, fair value is based on quoted market prices. For non-exchange traded contracts, fair value is based on dealer quotes, pricing models, and discounted cash flow methodologies. 
Fair value estimates also take into account counterparty credit risk and our own credit standing.  
 

For additional information regarding our derivative financial instruments, refer to Note 5, "Derivative Financial Instruments," to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 
Mortgage Loans Held for Sale  
 

Loans that are intended to be sold in the foreseeable future, including residential mortgages, are reported as mortgage loans held for sale. We account for mortgage loans held for sale under the fair value option. 
Fair value of mortgage loans held for sale is typically calculated using observable market information, including pricing from actual market transactions or observable market prices from other loans that have similar 
collateral, credit, and interest rate characteristics. Gains or losses from the sale of mortgages are recognized based upon the difference between the selling price and fair value of the related loans upon the sale of such 
loans. Direct mortgage loan origination costs are recognized as noninterest expense at origination.  
 

In order to facilitate the origination and sale of mortgage loans held for sale, we have entered into various agreements with lenders. These agreements are in the form of loan participation agreements, repurchase 
agreements and warehouse lines of credit with banks and other financial institutions. Mortgage loans held for sale are considered sold when we surrender control over the financial assets and those financial assets are 
legally isolated from us in the event of our bankruptcy. For loan participations that meet the sale criteria, the transferred financial assets are derecognized from the balance sheet and a gain or loss is recognized upon sale. If 
the sale criteria are not met, the transfer is recorded as a secured borrowing in which the assets remain on the balance sheet and the proceeds from the transaction are recognized as a liability. We account for all 
participation and repurchase agreements as secured borrowings.  
 

For additional information regarding our mortgage loans held for sale, refer to Note 6, "Mortgage Loans Held for Sale," to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.  
 
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  
 

As part of the our growth strategy, we may acquire certain companies and assets in business combinations. We account for business combinations using the acquisition method, under which the total consideration 
transferred (including contingent consideration) is allocated to the fair value of the assets acquired (including identifiable intangible assets) and liabilities assumed. The excess of the consideration transferred over the fair 
value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed results in goodwill. In certain of our acquisitions, the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeded the consideration transferred, resulting in a 
bargain purchase gain.  
 

In determining the total consideration transferred in a business combination, contingent consideration is a significant factor. The fair value of the contingent consideration arrangements are determined by 
management, with assistance from a third party valuation provider, using either the income approach (Crossline contingent on-boarding payment and NattyMac contingent earnout) or a calibrated Monte-Carlo simulation 
(Crossline and Medallion contingent earnouts); these methods require management to estimate the amount and timing of future production levels, volatility factors and discount rates. The fair values of the trade names, 
customer relationship and non-compete intangible assets are determined using a discounted cash flow method. This method requires management to make estimates related to future revenues, expenses, income tax rates 
and discount rates. The fair values of the agent list and state license intangible assets were determined using a cost-to-recreate approach, which required management to estimate the costs and amounts of time it would take 
to replace those assets, as well as future income tax rates.  
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Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated lives using an amortization method that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the asset are consumed. We evaluate the 
estimated remaining useful lives of these intangible assets to determine whether events or changes in circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining periods of amortization. If an intangible asset’s estimated useful life 
is changed, the remaining net carrying amount of the intangible asset is amortized prospectively over that revised remaining useful life. Additionally, an intangible asset that initially is deemed to have a finite useful life 
would cease being amortized if it is subsequently determined to have an indefinite useful life. Such intangible assets are then tested for impairment. We review such intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate their carrying amounts may not be recoverable, in which case any impairment charge would be recorded to earnings. Given the formation of Stonegate Direct in October 2014, which was 
integrated through the call center operations of Crossline, we determined there was a significant change in the manner in which the Crossline trade name was used and as a result determined the change to be a triggering 
event for an impairment analysis to be performed in accordance with the guidance of long-lived assets. As of December 31, 2014, the Crossline trade name had no carrying value on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.  

 
Indefinite-lived purchased intangible assets consist of the NattyMac trade name. Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization but are reviewed for impairment 

annually or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an intangible asset may not be recoverable. For indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill, we first 
assess qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that is more likely than not the assets are impaired. If we determine that it is more likely than not that the 
intangible assets are impaired, a quantitative impairment test is performed. For the quantitative impairment test, we estimate and compare the fair value of indefinite-lived intangible asset with its carrying amount. If the 
carrying amount of the indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair value, the amount of the impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value. Impairment is 
permanently recognized by writing down the asset to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value.  

 
For goodwill, we first perform a quantitative impairment test. At the operating segment level, we estimate and compare the fair value to the book value. If the segment's book value exceeds its fair value, we then 

perform a hypothetical purchase price allocation for the segment. This is done by marking all assets and liabilities to fair value and calculating an implied goodwill value. If the implied goodwill value is less than the 
carrying value of the goodwill, the amount of impairment is measured as the difference and is permanently recognized by writing down the goodwill to the extent the carrying value exceeds the implied value.  
 

We performed our annual assessment of possible impairment of goodwill associated with both Crossline and Medallion as of November 30. This assessment will be performed more frequently if events and 
circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred. Our goodwill is attributable to the Originations segment of the business and our analysis was performed at this segment level, with no impairment noted during 
the year ended December 31, 2014 . No impairment was recorded in 2014 for other intangible assets.  
 

For additional information regarding our business combinations and goodwill and other intangible assets, refer to Note 4, "Business Combinations," and Note 10, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," to our 
audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 
Income Taxes  
 

We determine deferred income taxes using the balance sheet method. Under this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is based on future tax consequences attributable to the differences between the book 
and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as well as operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in 
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in earnings in the period that includes the enactment date. 
Deferred income tax expense results from changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities between periods.  
 

Deferred tax assets are recognized subject to management’s judgment that realization is more likely than not. We determine whether a deferred tax asset is realizable based on currently available facts and 
circumstances, including our current and projected future tax position, the historical level of our taxable income, and estimates of our future taxable income. In most cases, the realization of deferred tax assets is based on 
our future profitability. On a quarterly basis, we evaluate our deferred tax assets to assess whether they are more likely than not to be realized in the future. If we were to experience either reduced profitability or operating 
losses in a future period, the realization of our deferred tax assets may no longer be considered more  
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likely than not to be realized. In such an instance, we could be required to record a valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets by charging earnings.  
 

In both October 2013 (as a result of our initial public offering) and March 2012 (as a result of a significant investment in our preferred stock), we experienced changes in ownership as defined by Section 382 of 
the Internal Revenue Code (“Section 382 ownership change”). The Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") allows for the application of two approaches (the full value method and the hold constant principle) for valuing 
companies when identifying a Section 382 ownership change and requires that taxpayers apply a consistent method from year to year. Section 382 generally requires a corporation to limit the amount of its historic taxable 
losses (i.e., net operating loss carryovers and certain built-in losses) that can be applied to offset taxable income in future periods after a corporation has undergone an ownership change of more than 50%. In the event of 
an ownership change of more than 50%, an annual limitation on the amount of net operating losses available to offset future taxable income is determined by multiplying a federally stated interest rate times the value of 
the company on the ownership change date. As a result, utilization of certain tax attributes including net operating loss and other carry-forwards are subject to annual limitations. Management also analyzed the impact of 
its private equity offering that occurred in May 2013 using the full value method and determined that an ownership change under Section 382 did not occur.  
 

Our deferred tax assets at December 31, 2014 consisted primarily of net operating loss carryforwards, and no valuation allowance was deemed necessary, as we concluded that it is more likely than not that 
recorded amounts will be realized. For additional information regarding our income taxes, refer to Note 15, "Income Taxes," to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.  

Recent Accounting Developments  

ASU No. 2014-04, "Receivables--Troubled Debt Restructurings by Creditors (Subtopic 310-40): Reclassification of Residential Real Estate Collateralized Consumer Mortgage Loans Upon Foreclosure," was 
issued in January 2014. This update clarifies when a creditor is considered to have received physical possession of residential real estate property collateralized by a consumer mortgage loan in order to reduce diversity in 
practice for when a creditor derecognizes the loan receivable and recognizes the real estate property. The guidance in ASU No. 2014-04 also requires interim and annual disclosure of the amount of foreclosed residential 
real estate property held by the creditor and the recorded investment in consumer mortgage loans collateralized by residential real estate property that are in the process of foreclosure. The new guidance will be effective 
for us beginning on January 1, 2015. We do not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on our financial statements.  

ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)" was issued in May 2014. This update supersedes the revenue recognition criteria and amends existing requirements in other Topics to be 
consistent with the new recognition and measurement rules. This update is to ensure that an entity is recognizing revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new guidance will be effective for us beginning on January 1, 2017. We are currently evaluating the guidance under 
ASU 2014-09 and have not yet determined the impact, if any, on our consolidated financial statements.  

ASU No. 2014-11, "Transfers and Servicing (Topic 860): Repurchase-to-Maturity Transactions, Repurchase Financings, and Disclosures," was issued in June 2014. The pronouncement in this update changes 
the accounting for repurchase-to-maturity transactions and linked repurchase financings to secured borrowing accounting, which is consistent with the accounting for other repurchase agreements. The pronouncement also 
requires two new disclosures. The first disclosure requires an entity to disclose information on transfers accounted for as sales in transactions that are economically similar to repurchase agreements. The second disclosure 
provides increased transparency about the types of collateral pledged in repurchase agreements and similar transactions accounted for as secured borrowings. The new guidance will be effective for us beginning on 
January 1, 2015. We do not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on our financial statements.  

ASU No. 2014-12, "Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Accounting for Share-Based Payments when the Terms of an Award Provide that a Performance Target Could be Achieved after the 
Requisite Service Period" was issued in June 2014. This update addresses how entities commonly issue share-based payment awards that require a specific performance target to be achieved in order for employees to 
become eligible to vest in the awards. Current US GAAP does not contain explicit guidance on how to account for those share-based payments. This update is intended to resolve the diverse accounting treatment of those 
awards in practice. The new guidance will be effective for us beginning on January 1, 2015. We do not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on our financial statements.  

ASU No. 2014-14, "Receivables - Troubled Debt Restructurings by Creditors (Subtopic 310-40) -Classification of Certain Government-Guaranteed Mortgage Loans upon Foreclosure" was issued in August 
2014. This update requires certain  
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government-guaranteed mortgage loans to be reclassified to a separate other receivable at the time of foreclosure. The new guidance will be effective for us beginning on January 1, 2015. We do not expect the adoption of 
the new guidance to have a material impact on our financial statements.  

ASU No. 2014-15, "Presentation of Financial Statements - Going Concern (Topic 205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern" was issued in August 2014. This 
update is intended to define management's responsibility to evaluate whether there is a substantial doubt about an organization's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote disclosure. The new 
guidance will be effective for us beginning on January 1, 2016. We do not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on our financial statements.  

ASU No. 2014-17, "Business Combinations (Topic 805) - Pushdown Accounting" was issued in November 2014. This update provides an acquired entity with an option to apply pushdown accounting in its 
separate financial statements upon occurrence of an event in which an acquirer obtains control of the acquired entity. An acquired entity may elect the option to apply pushdown accounting in the reporting period in which 
the change-in-control events occurs. The new guidance will be effective for us on the date of our next business combination. We do not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on our financial 
statements.  

ASU No. 2015-02, "Consolidation (Topic 810) - Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis" was issued in February 2015. This update affects reporting entities that are required to evaluate whether they should 
consolidate certain legal entities. The amendments in this update affect the following areas: 1) limited partnerships and similar legal entities, 2) evaluating fees paid to a decision maker or a service provider as a variable 
interest, 3) the effect of fee arrangements on the primary beneficiary determination, 4) the effect of related parties on the primary beneficiary determination, and 5) certain investment funds. The new guidance will be 
effective for us beginning on January 1, 2016. We do not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on our financial statements.  

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Overview  

Liquidity measures our ability to meet potential cash requirements, including the funding of servicing advances, the payment of operating expenses, the funding of loan originations and the repayment of 
borrowings. Our unrestricted cash balance increased from $43,104 as of December 31, 2013 to $45,382 as of December 31, 2014 . We experienced cash outflows from operating activities, offset over the period by cash 
inflows from investing and financing activities. We continue to experience negative operating cash flows due to the cash investment in the creation of MSRs, the timing of loan originations versus loan sales and the related 
increases in our loan inventory and locked loan pipeline. This will continue in the future as we grow originations to increase the loan servicing portfolio. In addition, we expect such outflows to increase in the future as we 
prepare for compliance with pending changes from new regulations anticipated to become effective in the latter part of 2015. These negative operating cash flows will be offset by increases and improvements in the 
efficiency of borrowings against our assets and by the periodic sale of servicing. As servicing fees collected from borrowers increase as the servicing portfolio grows, the operating cash flows are expected to increase. 
Cash inflows from investing activities were due primarily to proceeds received from the sale of our MSRs, offset by the investment in the subordinated debt of Merchants Bancorp in order to facilitate the financing of 
WLOCs from us, and purchases of property and equipment. Cash inflows from our financing activities were due primarily to the net proceeds from borrowings under our mortgage participations, repurchase agreements, 
MSR financing agreements and warehouse and operating lines of credit.  

Our primary sources of funds for liquidity include: (i) secured borrowings in the form of repurchase facilities and participation agreements with major financial institutions, as well as our warehouse lines of 
credit and operating lines of credit, (ii) secured borrowings secured by MSRs, (iii) equity offerings, (iv) servicing fees and ancillary fees, (v) payments received from sales or securitizations of loans, (vi) payments received 
from mortgage loans held for sale, and (vii) sale of MSRs. Our primary uses of funds for liquidity include: (i) originations of loans, (ii) originations of warehouse lines of credit, (iii) funding of servicing advances, 
(iv) payment of interest expenses, (v) payment of operating expenses, (vi) repayment of borrowings, (vii) investment in subordinated debt, (viii) posting of margin for hedging activities, and (vix) payments for acquisitions 
of MSRs.  

Our financing strategy primarily consists of using repurchase facilities and participation agreements with major financial institutions, as well as regional banks. We believe this provides us with a stable, low-
cost, diversified source of funds to finance our business.  

In order to support the continued growth of our servicing portfolio, we continue to examine various financing alternatives that involve the encumbrance of some or our entire mortgage servicing rights. On May 
23, 2014, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Barclays Bank PLC ("Barclays") in which we established a $100,000 revolving credit facility  
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secured by our FNMA and FHLMC MSRs. The transaction was structured so that the $100,000 revolving credit facility with Barclays is a borrowing sub-limit within our existing $400,000 master repurchase agreements 
with Barclays.  
 

On August 29, 2014, we entered into a secured borrowing with a syndicate of banks led by Merchants Bank, secured by our GNMA mortgage servicing rights. The maximum borrowing capacity at the time of 
initiation was $22,000 , which could be expanded upon with the addition of additional banks to the syndicate. Through a series of further amendments in 2014, we amended the financing agreement to increase the amount 
of the borrowing to $30,000. As of December 31, 2014 , we had pledged $203,811 in fair value of mortgage servicing rights as collateral to secure debt under these two secured borrowing arrangements. We believe that 
future financing secured by our MSRs will be available on acceptable terms in the marketplace.  
 

We acquired our financing platform from NattyMac in the third quarter of 2012, fully integrated the platform into our mortgage banking operations in December of 2012 and launched NattyMac’s warehouse 
financing operations during July 2013. The financing platform features a centralized custodian and disbursement agent located in our Clearwater, Florida facility. Through March 31, 2014, we financed our NattyMac 
operations through the use of cash on hand. On April 15, 2014, we entered into an agreement with Merchants Bancorp (an Indiana-based bank holding company and the parent company of Merchants Bank of Indiana), 
whereby we agreed to invest up to $25,000 in the subordinated debt of Merchants Bancorp. This amount was expanded on September 25, 2014 to $30,000. Merchants Bancorp in turn, agreed to form and fund a wholly-
owned subsidiary named NattyMac Funding Inc. (“NMF”) which will invest in participation interests in warehouse lines of credit originated by NattyMac and in participation interests in residential mortgage loans 
originated by us. The Company must invest at least 10% of the maximum borrowing capacity in the subordinated debt of Merchants Bancorp. At December 31, 2014 , the Company had invested $30,000 in the 
subordinated debt of Merchants Bancorp. The subordinated debt provided to Merchants Bancorp will earn a return equal to one-month LIBOR, plus 350 basis points, plus additional interest that will be equal to 49% of the 
earnings of NMF. The subordinated debt investment in Merchants Bancorp, subsequent funding of NMF by Merchants Bank, and resulting purchase of WLOCs and residential mortgage participations by NMF is designed 
to provide liquidity to the Company for its WLOCs originated by NattyMac and additional liquidity for its residential mortgage originations.  

With a viable and growing market for the sale of servicing, we see no material negative trends that we believe would affect our access to long-term or short-term borrowings to maintain our current operations, 
or that would inhibit our ability to fund operations and capital commitments for the next 12 months.  

Our servicing agreements impose on us various rights and obligations that affect our liquidity. Among the most significant of these obligations is the requirement that we advance our own funds to meet 
contractual principal and interest payments for certain investors and to pay taxes, insurance, foreclosure costs and various other items that are required to preserve the assets being serviced. Delinquency rates and 
prepayment speed affect the size of servicing advance balances. These advances are typically recovered upon weekly or monthly reimbursements or from resolution of the underlying defaulted mortgage.  

We finance these advances using cash on hand. We are not currently anticipating that the servicing advance asset will grow in the near future beyond our capacity to finance the asset using available cash. As of 
December 31, 2014, the outstanding servicing advances were $11,193 . If the servicing advances become a sizable asset on our balance sheet, we will negotiate a servicing advance facility with one or more of our financial 
partners, which we believe to be readily available in the current marketplace.  

We continue to examine opportunities to acquire loan servicing portfolios and/or businesses that engage in loan servicing and/or loan originations. Future acquisitions could require substantial additional capital 
in excess of cash from operations. We would expect to finance the capital required for acquisitions through a combination of additional issuances of equity, corporate indebtedness, asset-backed acquisition financing 
and/or cash from operations.  
 
Capital Resources  
 

We are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”), which governs non-supervised, direct endorsement mortgagees, and 
GNMA, which governs issuers of GNMA securities. Additionally, we are required to maintain minimum net worth requirements for many of the states in which we sell and service loans. Each state has its own minimum 
net worth requirement, which range from $0 to $1 million, depending on the state. Also, the Federal Housing Finance Agency ("FHFA"), regulator of FNMA and FHLMC, recently proposed new minimum financial 
eligibility rules for non-bank mortgage sellers who originate and service mortgages for FNMA and FHLMC which would set additional standards for net worth, capital ratio and liquidity.  
 

Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can result in certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary remedial actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could (i) remove our ability to sell and 
service loans to or on behalf of the agencies and (ii) have a direct material effect on our financial statements. In accordance with the regulatory capital guidelines,  
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we must meet specific quantitative measures of assets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items calculated under regulatory accounting practices. Further, changes in regulatory and accounting standards, as well as the 
impact of future events on our results, may significantly affect our net worth adequacy. As of December 31, 2014 , we met all minimum net worth requirements to which we were subject.  
 
Financings  
 

Our financing strategy primarily consists of using repurchase facilities, participation agreements and warehouse lines of credit with major financial institutions, as well as regional and community banks. We 
believe this provides us with a stable, low cost, diversified source of funds to finance our business. We continually evaluate opportunities based upon market conditions to finance our operations by accessing the capital 
markets or other types of indebtedness with institutional lenders, as well as to refinance our outstanding indebtedness in order to reduce our borrowing costs, extend maturities and/or increase our operating flexibility. 
There can be no guarantee that any such financing or refinancing opportunities will be available on acceptable terms or at all.  
 

We acquired our financing platform from NattyMac in the third quarter of 2012, fully integrated the platform into our mortgage banking operations in December of 2012 and launched NattyMac’s warehouse 
financing operations during July 2013. We are currently financing NattyMac’s warehouse lending operations through the use of cash on hand and our existing financing facilities and continue to explore alternative 
financing opportunities. The financing platform features a centralized custodian and disbursement agent located in our Clearwater, Florida facilities to effectively manage collateral and funding of loans, and participation 
arrangements with smaller regional banks to provide revenue and a stable source of funding.  
 

At December 31, 2014 and 2013 , we had no long-term borrowings outstanding. Short-term borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:  

      
We maintain mortgage loan participation, repurchase and warehouse lines of credit arrangements (collectively referred to as “mortgage funding arrangements”) with various financial institutions, primarily to fund 

the origination of mortgage loans. As of December 31, 2014 , we held mortgage funding arrangements with three separate financial institutions and a total maximum borrowing capacity of $1,634,000 . Each mortgage 
funding arrangement is collateralized by the underlying mortgage loans. Separately, we had two mortgage funding arrangements for the funding of MSRs, each of which is collateralized by the particular MSRs being 
funded.  
 

The following table summarizes the amounts outstanding, interest rates and maturity dates under our various mortgage funding arrangements as of December 31, 2014 :  
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   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

   Amount Outstanding     
Weighted Average 

Interest Rate  

 
 
 

 
Amount  

Outstanding     
Weighted Average 

Interest Rate  

Secured borrowings - mortgage loans  $ 592,798     3.97 %    $ 342,393     4.27 % 

Mortgage repurchase borrowings  472,045     2.23 %    223,113     2.51 % 

Warehouse lines of credit  1,374     4.25 %    7,056     4.98 % 

Secured borrowings - mortgage servicing rights  75,970     5.49 %    —    —% 

Operating lines of credit  2,000     4.00 %    6,499     4.07 % 

Total short-term borrowings  $ 1,144,187           $ 579,061        

Mortgage Funding Arrangements 1     Amount Outstanding     
Maximum Borrowing 

Capacity     Interest Rate  

 
 
 Maturity Date     

Merchants Bank of Indiana - Participation Agreement     $ 273,341     $ 600,000  2    
Same as the underlying mortgage rates, 

less contractual service fee     July 2015     

Merchants Bank of Indiana - Warehouse Line of Credit     1,374     2,000     Prime plus 1.00%     July 2015     

Merchants Bank of Indiana - NattyMac Funding     319,457     — 3    LIBOR plus applicable margin     March 2015  7    

Barclays Bank PLC     224,444     400,000     LIBOR plus applicable margin     December 2015     



 

 
1 Does not include our operating lines of credit for which we have a maximum borrowing capacity of $2,000 .  
2 Merchants Bank of Indiana will periodically constrain the aggregate maximum borrowing capacity. At December 31, 2014 , the aggregate maximum borrowing capacity was $600,000 .  
3 The maximum borrowing capacity is a sublimit of the Merchants Participation Agreement maximum borrowing capacity of $600,000 referred to in Note 2 above.  
4 Governed by the Barclays Bank PLC maximum borrowing capacity of $400,000 , with a sub-limit of $100,000 .  
5 Based on GNMA MSRs pledged to Merchants Bank of Indiana. Subsequent to year end, such capacity was raised to $35,000.  
6 The Bank of America maximum borrowing includes $400,000 of mortgage repurchase and $200,000 of mortgage gestation repurchase facilities.  
7 Agreement automatically renews 90 days prior to maturity if no termination notice given by either party. No notice was received or given at the 90 day mark and this line was extended to a maturity date of March 2016.  
 

On August 29, 2014, we entered into a secured borrowing with a syndicate of banks led by Merchants Bank, secured by our GNMA mortgage servicing rights. The maximum borrowing capacity at the time of 
initiation was $22,000 , which could be expanded upon with the addition of additional banks to the syndicate. The borrowing matures on June 30, 2017 and carries an interest rate of one-month LIBOR plus 450 basis 
points. The amount of the borrowing is measured on a quarterly basis to ensure that it is less than 50% of the value of the GNMA mortgage servicing rights collateralizing the secured borrowing. For the purpose of this 
test, the value of the GNMA mortgage servicing rights is equal to the value of the related MSRs established by us on a quarterly basis. On October 23, 2014, we amended the financing agreement to increase the amount of 
the borrowing from $22,000 to $27,000, and on December 30, 2014, we amended the financing agreement to further increase the amount of the borrowing $30,000. Subsequent to year end, we amended the agreement to 
increase the maximum borrowing capacity to $35,000.  
 

On May 22, 2014, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Barclays Bank PLC ("Barclays") in which we established a $100,000 revolving credit facility secured by our FNMA and FHLMC MSRs. 
The transaction was structured so that the $100,000 revolving credit facility with Barclays is a borrowing sub-limit within our existing $300,000 master repurchase agreements with Barclays. As part of the transaction, we, 
together with Barclays, entered into separate acknowledgment agreements with FNMA and FHLMC in which, among other things, FNMA and FHLMC acknowledge the lien against our FNMA and FHLMC MSRs. On 
July 7, 2014, we amended our master repurchase agreement with Barclays to increase the aggregate maximum borrowing capacity from $300,000 to $400,000 , which was accounted for as a modification of a revolving 
debt arrangement. The master repurchase agreement, together with the loan and security agreement, was to mature on December 16, 2014. On December 16, 2014, we amended and renewed its master repurchase and 
mortgage loan participation purchase and sale, and the MSRs loan and security agreement. The agreements will mature on December 16, 2015. The maximum borrowing capacity and associated interest rate remain the 
same.  
 

On April 15, 2014, we entered into an agreement with Merchants Bancorp (an Indiana-based bank holding company and the parent company of Merchants Bank of Indiana), whereby we agreed to invest up to 
$25,000 in the subordinate debt of Merchants Bancorp. Merchants Bancorp in turn, agreed to form and fund a wholly-owned subsidiary named NattyMac Funding Inc. (“NMF”) that would invest in participation interests 
in warehouse lines of credit ("WLOCs") originated by our wholly-owned subsidiary, NattyMac, and in participation interests in residential mortgage loans originated by us. Additionally, Merchants Bancorp of Indiana 
("Merchants") pledged 1,000 shares of NMF's common capital stock to us, for which we have the right to claim if Merchants were to default on any parameters set forth by the agreement. The amount of the subordinate 
debt funded by us is designed to be greater than or equal to 10% of the assets of NMF, based on the average assets of NMF over the quarter period. The subordinate debt provided to Merchants Bancorp will earn a return 
equal to one-month LIBOR , plus 350 basis points, plus additional interest that will be equal to 49% of the earnings of NMF. On September 25, 2014, we expanded the maximum amount of our investment in the 
subordinate debt of Merchants Bancorp to $30,000 . At December 31, 2014 , we had invested $30,000 in the subordinate debt of Merchants Bancorp, which is presented in the "Subordinated loan receivable" on our 
consolidated balance sheets herein. During the year ended December 31, 2014 , we earned $2,631 as a result of this investment. In addition, the amount of residential and warehouse participations outstanding as of 
December 31, 2014 totaled $319,457 which was recorded for as secured borrowings and included in “Secured borrowings - mortgage loans” on our consolidated balance sheet herein.    
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Barclays MSRs Secured     45,970     — 4    LIBOR plus applicable margin     December 2015     

Merchants MSRs Secured     30,000     30,000  5    LIBOR plus applicable margin     June 2017    

Bank of America, N.A.     247,601     600,000  6    LIBOR plus applicable margin     May 2015     

Total     $ 1,142,187     $ 1,632,000                 



 
On March 31, 2014, we amended our master participation agreement with Merchants to increase the aggregate maximum borrowing capacity from $400,000 to $600,000 through May 31, 2014. Through a series 

of further amendments, our current master participation agreement with Merchants has an aggregate maximum borrowing capacity of $600,000 and a maturity date of July 31, 2015.  
      
In addition to the master participation agreement with Merchants, we also have an operating line of credit and a warehouse line of credit with Merchants. The operating line of credit is unsecured and the 

warehouse line of credit is secured by residential mortgages owned by us. The available borrowing amounts under both the operating line of credit and the warehouse line of credit went through a series of increases and 
reductions via amendments from March 31, 2014 to September 9, 2014, such that as of December 31, 2014 , the operating line of credit was a $2,000 borrowing facility and the warehouse line of credit was also a $2,000 
borrowing facility.  
 

On March 25, 2014, we amended our master repurchase agreement with Bank of America, N.A. ("Bank of America") to increase the aggregate outstanding purchase price under the agreement from $200,000 to 
$250,000 and extend the termination date to April 30, 2014. On April 30, 2014, the master repurchase agreement with Bank of America was amended further to extend the maturity date to May 31, 2014. On May 12, 
2014, the master repurchase agreement with Bank of America was increased to $300,000 and renewed until its maturity date of May 11, 2015 and the master participation agreement of $100,000 was renewed until its 
maturity date of May 11, 2015. On September 26, 2014, the master participation agreement of $100,000 was expanded to $200,000 . On November 4, 2014, we amended our mortgage repurchase financing with Bank of 
America to expand the amount available under the line from $300,000 to $400,000. In the amendment, we also revised the profitability covenant for the Bank of America financing, to be hereafter calculated as pre-tax 
income for the trailing six months, excluding the change in mortgage servicing rights valuation.  
 

The above mortgage funding and operating line of credit agreements contain covenants which include certain financial requirements, including maintenance of minimum tangible net worth, maximum debt to 
tangible net worth ratio, minimum liquidity, minimum HUD-published compare ratio, minimum profitability, minimum servicing portfolio, minimum over 180 day servicing delinquency and limitations on additional debt 
and transactions with affiliates, as defined in the agreement. We were in compliance with all covenants at December 31, 2014 .  
 

We intend to renew the mortgage funding arrangements and operating lines of credit when they mature. We expect to be able to renew such arrangements and do not foresee any challenges in doing so. All 
mortgage funding arrangement interest rates represent short-term rates consistent with prevailing market rates.  
 
Transfers of Financial Assets  
 

We sell residential mortgage loans to or pursuant to programs sponsored by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae. We have continuing involvement in mortgage loans sold through servicing arrangements and 
the liability for loan indemnifications and repurchases under the representations and warranties we make to the purchasers and insurers of the loans we sell. We are exposed to interest rate risk through our continuing 
involvement with mortgage loans sold, including the mortgage servicing right asset, as the value of the asset fluctuates as changes in interest rates impact borrower prepayment on the underlying mortgage loans.  
 

All mortgage loans we sell are sold on a non-recourse basis; however, representations and warranties are made that are customary for loan sale transactions, including eligibility characteristics of the mortgage 
loans and underwriting responsibilities, in connection with the sales of these assets.  
 

In order to facilitate the origination and sale of mortgage loans held for sale, we have entered into various agreements with lenders. These agreements are in the form of loan participation agreements, repurchase 
agreements and warehouse lines of credit with banks and other financial institutions. Mortgage loans held for sale are considered sold when we surrender control over the financial assets and those financial assets are 
legally isolated from us in the event of our bankruptcy. For loan participations and repurchase agreements that meet the definition of a participating interest, the transferred financial assets are derecognized from the 
balance sheet and a gain or loss is recognized upon sale. If the sale criteria are not met, the transfer is recorded as a secured borrowing in which the assets remain on the balance sheet and the proceeds from the transaction 
are recognized as a liability. We account for all loan participation and repurchase agreements as secured borrowings.  
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
 

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 , we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.  
 
Contractual Obligations and Commitments  
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Our estimated contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2014 are as follows:  
 

 
1 Includes estimated interest expense.  

2 Represents lease obligations for office space and equipment under non-cancelable operating lease agreements.  

3 Represents contingent consideration obligations related to our Crossline and NattyMac acquisitions. For additional information, see Note 4 “Business Combinations” to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

4 Includes purchase obligations for Workday, Xactly and Alight software.  

 
In addition to the above contractual obligations, we also had commitments to originate mortgage loans of $1,211,675 as of December 31, 2014 . Commitments to originate mortgage loans do not necessarily 

reflect future cash requirements as some commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon and, therefore, those commitments have been excluded from the table above.  
 

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk  

Market risk is defined as the sensitivity of income, fair value measurements and capital to changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and other relevant market rates or prices. 
The primary market risks that we are exposed to are interest rate risks and the price risk associated with changes in interest rates. Interest rate risk is defined as risk to current or anticipated earnings or capital arising from 
movements in interest rates. Price risk is defined as the risk to current or anticipated earnings or capital arising from changes in the value of either assets or liabilities that are entered into as part of distributing or managing 
risk.  

Our interest rate risk and price risk arise from the financial instruments and positions we hold. This includes mortgage loans held for sale, mortgage servicing rights, and derivative financial instruments. Due to 
the nature of our operations, we are not subject to foreign currency exchange or commodity price risk.  

These risks are managed as part of our overall monitoring of liquidity, which includes regular meetings of a group of executive managers that identify and manage the sensitivity of earnings or capital to 
changing interest rates to achieve our overall financial objectives. The members of this group include the Chief Financial Officer, acting as the chair, the EVP of Capital Markets, the SVP Treasurer and other members of 
management as deemed necessary. The group is responsible for:  
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      Payments Due by Period  

      Total     Less than 1 Year     1-3 Years     3-5 Years     More than 5 Years  

Secured borrowings-mortgage loans 1     $ 616,332     $ 616,332     $ —    $ —    $ — 
Secured borrowings - MSRs 1     80,141     80,141     —    —    — 
Mortgage repurchase borrowings 1     482,572     482,572     —    —    — 
Warehouse lines of credit 1     1,432     1,432     —    —    — 
Operating lines of credit 1     2,080     2,080     —    —    — 
Operating lease commitments 2     34,799     7,536     12,957     9,338     4,968  
Liability for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications     6,208     454     1,808     2,377     1,569  
Contingent earn-out liabilities 3     3,005     1,843     1,162     —    — 
Purchase obligation 4     2,001     798     1,203     —    — 

Total contractual obligations and commitments     $ 1,228,570     $ 1,193,188     $ 17,130     $ 11,715     $ 6,537  

•  meeting day-to-day cash outflows primarily in the settlement of margin requests from trading counterparties, operating expenses, planned capital expenditures and customer demand for loans; 
•  ensuring sufficient sources of liquidity exist to cover commitments to originate or purchase mortgage loans, warehouse lines of credit or other credit commitments; 
•  funding asset growth in a cost efficient manner; 
•  controlling concentration of exposure to any financing source; 
•  minimizing the impact of market disruptions should adverse events occur which erode Stonegate’s ability to fund itself; and 
•  surviving a major financial crisis which might result in a funding crisis. 



 

Credit Risk  

We have exposure to credit losses in the event of contractual non-performance by our trading counterparties and counterparties to the over-the-counter derivative financial instruments that we use in our interest 
rate risk management activities. We manage this credit risk by selecting only counterparties that we believe to be financially strong, spreading the credit risk among many such counterparties, by placing contractual limits 
on the amount of unsecured credit extended to any single counterparty and by entering into netting agreements with the counterparties, as appropriate. For additional information, refer to Note 5 “Derivative Financial 
Instruments” to the unaudited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.  

We have exposure to credit losses on residential mortgage loans that we hold for sale or investment as well as for losses incurred by investors in mortgage loans that we sell to them as a result of breaches of 
representations and warranties we make as part of the loan sales. The representations and warranties require adherence to investor or guarantor origination and underwriting guidelines, including but not limited to the 
validity of the lien securing the loan, property eligibility, borrower credit, income and asset requirements, and compliance with applicable federal, state and local law. The level of mortgage loan repurchase losses is 
dependent on economic factors, investor repurchase demand strategies, and other external conditions that may change over the lives of the underlying loans.  

We also have exposure to credit losses in the event of non-repayment of amounts funded to correspondent customers through our NattyMac financing facility, though this has been somewhat mitigated by our 
transfer of participation interests in certain warehouse lines of credit, and related risks, to NMF. We also bear the risk of loss on any loans funded in NMF, up to the amount of our investment in the subordinated debt of 
Merchants Bancorp. We manage this credit risk by performing due diligence and underwriting analysis on the correspondent customers prior to lending. Each counterparty is evaluated according to the underwriting 
guidelines as documented in the NattyMac Warehouse Underwriting Guidelines as required by the NattyMac Warehouse Credit Policy. In addition, the correspondent customers pledge, as security to the Company, the 
underlying mortgage loans. We periodically review the warehouse lending receivables for collectability based on historical collection trends and management judgment regarding the ability to collect specific accounts.  

Interest Rate Risk  

Our principal market exposure is to interest rate risk, specifically long-term Treasury, LIBOR, and mortgage interest rates due to their impact on mortgage-related assets and commitments. Additionally, our 
escrow earnings on our mortgage servicing rights are sensitive to changes in short-term interest rates such as LIBOR. We also are exposed to changes in short-term interest rates on certain variable rate borrowings, 
primarily our mortgage warehouse lines of credit and our MSRs borrowing facilities. We anticipate that such interest rates will remain our primary benchmark for market risk for the foreseeable future.  

Our business is subject to variability in results of operations in both the mortgage origination and mortgage servicing activities due to fluctuations in interest rates. In a declining interest rate environment, we 
would expect our mortgage production activities’ results of operations to be positively impacted by higher loan origination volumes and loan margins. In contrast, we would expect the results of operations of our mortgage 
servicing activities to decline due to higher actual and projected loan prepayments related to our loan servicing portfolio. In a rising interest rate environment, we would expect a negative impact on the results of operations 
of our mortgage production activities and our mortgage servicing activities’ results of operations to be positively impacted. The interaction between the results of operations of our mortgage activities is a core component 
of our overall interest rate risk strategy.  

Our mortgage funding arrangements (mortgage participation agreements and warehouse lines of credit) carry variable rates. As of December 31, 2014 , approximately $583,566 , or 55% , of our total $1,056,985 
in outstanding adjustable rate mortgage funding arrangements had interest rates that were equal to the underlying mortgage loans. The remaining 45% of the adjustable rate mortgage funding arrangements carried a 
weighted average interest rate of 2.23% , which was well below the weighted average interest rate on the related mortgage loans held for sale as of December 31, 2014 . In addition, mortgage loans held for sale are carried 
on our balance sheet on average for only 20 to 25 days after closing and prior to transfer to FNMA, FHLMC or into pools of GNMA MBS or to private investors. As a result, we believe that any negative impact related to 
our variable rate mortgage funding arrangements resulting from a shift in market interest rates would not be material to our consolidated financial statements as of or for the year ended December 31, 2014 .  

Interest rate lock commitments represent an agreement to extend credit to a mortgage loan applicant, or an agreement to purchase a loan from a third-party originator, whereby the interest rate on the loan is set 
prior to funding. Our mortgage loans held for sale, which are held in inventory awaiting sale into the secondary market, and our interest rate lock commitments, are subject to changes in mortgage interest rates from the 
date of the commitment through the sale of the loan into the secondary market. As such, we are exposed to interest rate risk and related price risk during the period from the date of the lock commitment through (i) the lock 
commitment cancellation or expiration date; or (ii) the date of sale into the secondary  
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mortgage market. Loan commitments generally range between 30 and 90 days; and our holding period of the mortgage loan from funding to sale is typically within 30 days.  

We manage the interest rate risk associated with its outstanding interest rate lock commitments and loans held for sale by entering into derivative loan instruments such as forward loan sales commitments of 
To-Be-Announced mortgage backed securities ("TBA Forward Commitments"). We expect these derivatives will experience changes in fair value opposite to changes in fair value of the derivative loan commitments and 
loans held for sale, thereby reducing earnings volatility. We take into account various factors and strategies in determining the portion of the mortgage pipeline (derivative loan commitments) and mortgage loans held for 
sale to economically hedge. Our expectation of how many of our interest rate lock commitments will ultimately close is a key factor in determining the notional amount of derivatives used in hedging the position.  

Sensitivity Analysis  

We have exposure to economic losses due to interest rate risk arising from changes in the level or volatility of market interest rates. We assess this risk based on changes in interest rates using a sensitivity 
analysis. The sensitivity analysis measures the potential impact on fair values based on hypothetical changes in interest rates.  

We use financial models in determining the impact of interest rate shifts on our mortgage loan portfolio, MSRs portfolio and pipeline derivatives (IRLC and forward MBS trades). A primary assumption used in 
these models is that an increase or decrease in the benchmark interest rate produces a parallel shift in the yield curve across all maturities.  

We utilize a discounted cash flow analysis to determine the fair value of MSRs and the impact of parallel interest rate shifts on MSRs. We obtain independent third party valuations on a quarterly basis, to 
support the reasonableness of the fair value estimate generated by our internal model. The primary assumptions in this model are prepayment speeds, discount rates, costs of servicing and default rates. However, this 
analysis ignores the impact of interest rate changes on certain material variables, such as the benefit or detriment on the value of future loan originations, non-parallel shifts in the spread relationships between MBS, swaps 
and U.S. Treasury rates and changes in primary and secondary mortgage market spreads. We also use a forward yield curve as an input which will impact pre-pay estimates and the value of escrows as compared to a static 
forward yield curve. We believe that the use of the forward yield curve better presents fair value of MSRs because the forward yield curve is the market’s expectation of future interest rates based on its expectation of 
inflation and other economic conditions.  

For mortgage loans held for sale, IRLCs and forward delivery commitments on MBS, we rely on a model in determining the impact of interest rate shifts. In addition, for IRLCs, the borrowers’ likelihood to 
close their mortgage loans under the commitment is used as a primary assumption.  

Our total market risk is influenced by a wide variety of factors including market volatility and the liquidity of the markets. There are certain limitations inherent in the sensitivity analysis presented, including the 
necessity to conduct the analysis based on a single point in time and the inability to include the complex market reactions that normally would arise from the market shifts modeled.  

We used December 31, 2014 market rates on our instruments to perform the sensitivity analysis. The estimates are based on the market risk sensitivity portfolios described in the preceding paragraphs and 
assume instantaneous, parallel shifts in interest rate yield curves. Management uses sensitivity analysis, such as those summarized below, based on a hypothetical 25 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates, on a 
daily basis to monitor the risks associated with changes in interest rates to our mortgage loans pipeline (the combination of mortgage loans held for sale, IRLCs and forward MBS trades). We believe the use of a 25 basis 
point shift (50 basis point range) is appropriate given the relatively short time period that the mortgage loans pipeline is held on our balance sheet and exposed to interest rate risk (during the processing, underwriting and 
closing stages of the mortgage loans which generally last approximately 60 days). We also actively manage our risk management strategy for our mortgage loans pipeline (through the use of economic hedges such as 
forward loan sale commitments and mandatory delivery commitments) and generally adjust our hedging position daily. In analyzing the interest rate risks associated with our MSRs, management also uses multiple 
sensitivity analyses (hypothetical 25, 50 and 100 basis point increases and decreases) to review the interest rate risk associated with its MSRs, as the MSRs asset is generally more sensitive to interest rate movements over 
a longer period of time.  

These sensitivities are hypothetical and presented for illustrative purposes only. Changes in fair value based on variations in assumptions generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change 
in fair value may not be linear.  
   

At a given point in time, the overall sensitivity of our mortgage loans pipeline is impacted by several factors beyond just the size of the pipeline. The composition of the pipeline, based on the percentage of 
IRLC's compared to mortgage loans held for sale, the age and status of the IRLC's, the interest rate movement since the IRLC's were entered into, the channels from  
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which the IRLC's originate, and other factors all impact the sensitivity. The following table summarizes the (unfavorable) favorable estimated change in our mortgage loans pipeline as of December 31, 2013 and 
December 31, 2014 , given hypothetical instantaneous parallel shifts in the yield curve:  
   

1 Represents unallocated mortgage loans held for sale, IRLCs and forward MBS trades that are considered “at risk” for purposes of illustrating interest rate sensitivity. Mortgage loans held for sale, IRLCs and forward MBS trades are considered to 
be unallocated when we have not committed the underlying mortgage loans for sale to the applicable GSEs.  

Mortgage Servicing Rights  

We use a discounted cash flow approach to estimate the fair value of MSRs. This approach consists of projecting  
servicing cash flows discounted at a rate that management believes market participants would use in the determination of value.  
The key assumptions used in the estimation of the fair value of MSRs include prepayment speeds, discount rates, default rates,  
cost to service, contractual servicing fees, escrow earnings and ancillary income. We also use a forward yield curve as an input which will impact pre-pay estimates and the value of escrows as compared to a static forward 
yield curve. We believe that the use of the forward yield curve better presents fair value of MSRs because the forward yield curve is the market’s expectation of future interest rates based on its expectation of inflation and 
other economic conditions. We obtain an independent third party valuation on a monthly basis, to support the reasonableness of the fair value estimate generated by our internal model. We also have an MSRs committee 
that meets on a monthly basis to review assumptions, challenge estimates and review valuation results. Our MSRs are subject to substantial interest rate risk as the mortgage loans underlying the MSRs permit the 
borrowers to prepay the loans. Therefore, the value of MSRs generally tends to vary with interest rate movements and the resulting changes in prepayment speeds. Although the level of interest rates is a key driver of 
prepayment activity, there are other factors that influence prepayments, including home prices, underwriting standards and product characteristics. Since our mortgage origination activities’ results of operations are also 
impacted by interest rate changes, our mortgage origination activities’ results of operations may fully or partially offset the change in fair value of MSRs over time and, therefore, we do not enter into derivative 
arrangements to hedge the risk of prepayments of the underlying servicing portfolio. We may, from time to time, review opportunities to sell pools of our MSRs portfolio under certain conditions that would be beneficial 
to us either due to market demand for servicing, changes in interest rates or our need for liquidity. For additional information about the assumptions used in determining the fair value of our MSRs and a quantitative 
sensitivity analysis on our MSRs as of December 31, 2014 , refer to Note 11, "Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets," to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.  
   

At a given point in time, the primary factors that contribute to the interest rate sensitivity of MSRs are the weighted average coupon of the loans underlying the MSRs compared to current mortgage rates and the 
size and composition of the MSR portfolio. The spread between the weighted average coupon and current market rates determines modeled prepayment speed. During 2014, the weighted average coupon of our MSR 
portfolio increased and at December 31, 2014, mortgage rates were lower than they were at December 31, 2013. The combination of these factors increased current prepayment estimates and prepayment estimates in the 
interest rate shifts. The size of our MSR portfolio also increased in 2014, which also increased the sensitivity to rate changes. The following table summarizes the (unfavorable) favorable estimated change in our MSRs as 
of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014 , given hypothetical instantaneous parallel shifts in the yield curve:  
   

Prepayment Risk  

To the extent that the actual prepayment rate on the mortgage loans underlying our MSRs differs from what we projected when we initially recognized the MSRs and when we measured fair value as of the end 
of each reporting period, the carrying value of our investment in MSRs will be affected. In general, an increase in prepayment expectations will accelerate the amortization of our MSRs accounted for using the 
amortization method and decrease our estimates of the fair value of both the MSRs accounted for using the amortization method and those accounted for using the fair value method, thereby reducing net servicing income. 
 

72  

Mortgage loans pipeline 1     
 

Down 25 bps     Up 25 bps  

2014  $ (2,341 )     $ 551  

2013  $ (1,473 )     $ (1,138 )  

MSRs  
Down 100 bps     Down 50 bps     Down 25 bps     Up 25 bps     Up 50 bps     Up 100 bps  

2014  $ (95,045 )     $ (48,810 )     $ (23,505 )     $ 20,225     $ 37,764     $ 67,609  

2013  $ (35,409 )     $ (15,168 )     $ (6,958 )     $ 6,218     $ 11,843     $ 21,727  



 

Inflation Risk  

Virtually all of our assets and liabilities are interest rate sensitive in nature. As a result, interest rates and other factors will influence our performance more than inflation. Changes in interest rates do not 
necessarily correlate with inflation rates or changes in inflation rates. Furthermore, our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP and our activities and balance sheet are measured with 
reference to historical cost and/or fair value without considering inflation.  

Market Value Risk  

Our mortgage loans held for sale and MSRs are reported at their estimated fair values. The fair value of these assets fluctuates primarily due to changes in interest rates but also due to the market demand for the 
particular asset.  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Stonegate Mortgage Corporation:  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of 
operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 
2013, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

/s/ KPMG LLP  

Indianapolis, Indiana  
March 6, 2015  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

 

To the Board of Directors  
Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  
Indianapolis, Indiana  

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows of Stonegate Mortgage for the year ended December 31, 2012. These financial statements 
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit 
included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.  
 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated results of operations and cash flows of Stonegate Mortgage Corporation for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
 
 
/s/ Richey, May & Co., LLP  
Englewood, Colorado  
March 30, 2013, except for the effects of the segment changes included in Notes 1 and 20 as to which the date is January 14, 2015  
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Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  
Consolidated Balance Sheets  

 
 

 
 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.  
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(In thousands, except share and per share data)  December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

        

Assets           

Cash and cash equivalents  $  45,382     $  43,104  
Restricted cash  4,482     730  
Mortgage loans held for sale, at fair value  1,048,347     683,080  
Servicing advances  11,193     4,177  
Derivative assets  12,560     19,673  
Mortgage servicing rights, at fair value  204,216     170,294  
Property and equipment, net  17,047     12,640  
Loans eligible for repurchase from GNMA  109,397     26,268  
Warehouse lending receivables  85,431     12,089  
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net  7,390     9,072  
Subordinated loan receivable  30,000     — 
Other assets  21,106     8,762  
Total assets  $  1,596,551     $  989,889  

        

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity           

Liabilities           

Secured borrowings - mortgage loans  592,798     342,393  
Mortgage repurchase borrowings  472,045     223,113  
Warehouse lines of credit  1,374     7,056  
Secured borrowings - mortgage servicing rights  75,970     — 
Operating lines of credit  2,000     6,499  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  28,350     25,097  
Derivative liabilities  9,044     3,520  
Reserve for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications  4,967     3,709  
Due to related parties  —    608  
Contingent earn-out liabilities  3,005     3,791  
Liability for loans eligible for repurchase from GNMA  109,397     26,268  
Deferred income tax liabilities, net  11,831     28,379  
Other liabilities  5,695     11,955  
Total liabilities  $  1,316,476     $  682,388  
        

Commitments and contingencies - Note 16       
        

Stockholders’ equity           
Common stock, par value $0.01, shares authorized – 100,000,000; shares issued and outstanding: 25,780,973 and 25,769,236 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 
2013  264     264  
Additional paid-in capital  267,083     263,830 

Retained earnings  12,728     43,407 

Total stockholders’ equity  280,075     307,501 

        

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $  1,596,551     $  989,889  



 

Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  
Consolidated Statements of Operations  

   

 
 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.  
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(In thousands, except per share data)  Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

Revenues                   

Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net  $  156,925     $  83,327     $  71,420  
Gains on sales of mortgage servicing rights  1,082     —    — 
Changes in mortgage servicing rights valuation  (56,924 )     22,967     — 
Payoffs and principal amortization of mortgage servicing rights  (23,735 )     (8,545 )     — 
Loan origination and other loan fees  26,817     21,227     9,871  
Loan servicing fees  44,407     22,204     5,908  
Interest income  37,045     16,767     5,257  
Other revenue  —    —    1,172  
Total revenues    185,617     157,947     93,628  
            

Expenses                   

Salaries, commissions and benefits  142,625     72,475     32,737  
General and administrative expense  36,663     23,085     7,706  
Interest expense  27,225     14,426     6,239  
Occupancy, equipment and communication  18,666     9,843     2,999  
Impairment of mortgage servicing rights  —    —    11,698  
Amortization of mortgage servicing rights  —    —    3,679  
Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications - change in estimate  822     (417 )     — 
Depreciation and amortization expense  5,201     2,209     750  
Loss on disposal and impairment of long lived assets  1,527     105     11  
Total expenses    232,729     121,726     65,819  
            

(Loss) income before income tax (benefit) expense  (47,112 )     36,221     27,809  
Income tax (benefit) expense  (16,433 )     13,623     10,724  
Net (loss) income  (30,679 )     22,598     $  17,085  
Less: Preferred stock dividends  —    (27 )     (119 )  

Net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders  $  (30,679 )     $  22,571     $  16,966  

            

(Loss) earnings per share                 

Basic  $  (1.19 )     $  1.61     $  5.31  

Diluted  $  (1.19 )     $  1.32     $  2.26  



 

Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity  

 
   

 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.  
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(In thousands)  Preferred Stock  Common Stock  

Treasury Stock  
Additional Paid-in 

Capital  Retained Earnings  
Total Stockholders' 

Equity     Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  

Balance at December 31, 2011  693  $  2,500  3,057  $  31  $  — $  4,015  $  3,870  $  10,416  
Net income  — — — — — — 17,085  17,085  
Stock-based compensation expense  — — — — — 13  — 13  
Preferred stock dividends  — — — — — — (119 )  (119 )  

Issuance of common stock  — — 408  4  — 996  — 1,000  
Issuance of Series D preferred stock, net of issuance costs  8,065  32,000  — — — (1,826 )  — 30,174  
Redemption of Series A preferred stock  (416 )  (1,500 )  — — — — — (1,500 )  

Purchases of treasury stock  — — (631 )  — (1,820 )  — — (1,820 )  

Balance at December 31, 2012  8,342  $  33,000  2,834  $  35  $  (1,820 )  $  3,198  $  20,836  $  55,249  
Net income  — — — — — — 22,598  22,598  
Stock-based compensation expense  — — — — — 2,452  — 2,452  
Issuance of stock warrants  — — — — — 1,522  — 1,522  
Issuance of common stock under discretionary incentive plan  — — 39  — 113  325  — 438  
Preferred stock dividends  — — — — — — (27 )  (27 )  

Conversion of preferred stock to common stock  (8,342 )  (33,000 )  8,342  84  — 32,916  — — 
Issuance of common stock under Rule 144A offering, net of 
initial purchaser's discount, placement fee and equity issuance 
costs  — — 6,389  64  — 104,536  — 104,600  
Issuance of common stock under initial public offering, net of 
underwriters' discount and issuance costs  — — 8,165  81  1,707  118,881  — 120,669  
Balance at December 31, 2013  — $  — 25,769  $  264  $  — $  263,830  $  43,407  $  307,501  
Net loss  — — — — — — (30,679 )  (30,679 )  

Stock-based compensation expense  — — — — — 3,253  — 3,253  
Issuance of common stock  — — 12  — — — — — 

Balance at December 31, 2014  — $  — 25,781  264  $  — 267,083  12,728  280,075  



 
Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  
 
 

 
(Continued on Next Page)  
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(In thousands)  Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

Operating activities                 
Net (loss) income  $  (30,679 )     $  22,598     $  17,085  
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash used in operating activities:                 

Depreciation and amortization expense  5,201     2,209     750  
Loss on disposal and impairment of long lived assets  1,527     105     11  
Bargain purchase gain  —    —    (1,172 )  

Amortization of debt discount  —    1,522     — 
Forgiveness of note receivable from stockholder  —    214     — 
Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net  (156,925 )     (83,327 )     (71,420 )  

Amortization of mortgage servicing rights  —    —    3,679  
Impairment of mortgage servicing rights  —    —    11,698  
Gain on sale of mortgage servicing rights  (1,082 )     —    — 
Changes in mortgage servicing rights valuation  56,924     (22,967 )     — 
Payoffs and principal amortization of mortgage servicing rights  23,735     8,545     — 
Provision for (release of) reserve for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications - change in estimate  822     (417 )     — 
Stock-based compensation expense  3,253     2,579     13  
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense  (16,433 )     13,623     10,724  
Changes in contingent earn-out liabilities  (28 )     (10 )     — 

Proceeds from sales and principal payments of mortgage loans held for sale  12,299,824     8,243,565     3,318,047  
Originations and purchases of mortgage loans held for sale  (12,635,574 )     (8,706,887 )     (3,449,407 )  

Repurchases and indemnifications of previously sold loans  (16,784 )     (4,070 )     — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                 

Restricted cash  (3,752 )     2,945     (3,445 )  

Servicing advances  (7,016 )     (3,239 )     (591 )  

Warehouse lending receivables  (73,342 )     (12,089 )     — 
Other assets  (6,482 )     (5,466 )     (866 )  

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  (3,730 )     16,721     13,668  
Due to related parties  (608 )     260     146  

Net cash used in operating activities  (561,149 )     (523,586 )     (151,080 )  

Investing activities                 
Net proceeds from sales of mortgage servicing rights  41,653     —    — 
Subordinated loan receivable  (30,000 )     —    — 
Purchases of property and equipment  (8,634 )     (9,939 )     (2,827 )  

Purchases in a business combination, net of cash acquired  (258 )     (5,919 )     (512 )  

Purchase of mortgage servicing rights  (2,009 )     (1,543 )     — 
Repayment of notes receivable from stockholder  —    8     68  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  752     (17,393 )     (3,271 )  
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(In thousands)  Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

Financing activities                 
Proceeds from borrowings under mortgage funding arrangements and operating lines of credit  40,006,303     18,516,065     145,083  
Repayments of borrowings under mortgage funding arrangements and operating lines of credit  (39,440,977 )     (18,172,266 )     (3,064 )  

Payments of contingent earnout liabilities  (1,361 )     —    — 
Payments of debt issuance costs  (1,290 )     —    — 
Proceeds from borrowing from stockholder  —    10,000     — 
Repayment of borrowing from stockholder  —    (4,345 )     — 
Repayment of borrowing of subordinated debt  —    —    (750 )  

Payments of capital lease obligations  —    (14 )     — 
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock  —    225,573     1,000  
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock  —    —    32,000  
Payment for redemption of preferred stock  —    —    (1,500 )  

Purchase of treasury stock  —    —    (1,820 )  

Payment of equity issuance costs  —    (5,959 )     (1,826 )  

Payment of preferred stock dividends  —    (27 )     (119 )  

Net cash provided by financing activities  562,675     569,027     169,004  
            

Change in cash and cash equivalents  2,278     28,048     14,653  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  43,104     15,056     403  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $  45,382     $  43,104     $  15,056  

            

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:                 
Cash paid for interest  $  26,142     $  12,233     $  6,203  
Cash paid for taxes  $  118     $  65     $  21  
Non-cash financing activities:                 
Settlement of employee's incentive compensation with shares of common stock  $  —    $  438     $  — 
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock  $  —    $  33,000     $  — 
Repayment of term loan with shares of common stock  $  —    $  5,655     $  — 
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1. Organization and Operations  

      
References to the terms “we”, “our”, “us”, “Stonegate” or the “Company” used throughout these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements refer to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and, unless the context 

otherwise requires, its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Company was initially incorporated in the State of Indiana in January 2005. As a result of an acquisition and subsequent merger with Swain Mortgage Company 
("Swain") in 2009, the Company is now an Ohio corporation. The Company’s headquarters is in Indianapolis, Indiana.  
 

The Company is a a specialty finance company that operates as an intermediary. It is focused on providing investment yield opportunities in the residential mortgage market to investors through originating, 
financing, and servicing U.S. residential mortgage loans. Since the date of the Company’s IPO, the Company has continued its development of internal management reporting. Such development has resulted in changes in 
the information that is provided to the Company’s chief operating decision maker. Accordingly, during the quarter ended September 30, 2014, management re-evaluated this information in relation to its definition of its 
operating segments. As a result of this new information provided to the chief operating decision maker, management has concluded that its Mortgage Banking operations should be disclosed as three segments: 
Originations, Servicing and Financing. Prior period segment disclosures have been restated to conform segment disclosures - see Note 20. This determination is based on the Company’s current organizational structure, 
which reflects the manner in which the chief operating decision maker evaluates the performance of the business.  
      

The Company’s integrated and scalable residential mortgage banking platform includes a diversified origination business which includes a retail branch network, a direct to consumer call center and a network of 
third party originators consisting of mortgage brokers, mortgage bankers and financial institutions (banks and credit unions). The Company predominantly sells mortgage loans to the Federal National Mortgage 
Association (“Fannie Mae” or “FNMA”), the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac” or “FHLMC”), financial institution secondary market investors and the Government National Mortgage 
Association (“Ginnie Mae” or “GNMA”) as pools of mortgage backed securities (“MBS”). Both FNMA and FHLMC are considered government-sponsored enterprises ("GSEs"). The Company also provides warehouse 
financing through its NattyMac, LLC subsidiary to third party correspondent lenders. The Company’s principal sources of revenue include (i) gains on sales of mortgage loans from loan securitizations and whole loan 
sales and fee income from originations, (ii) fee income from loan servicing, and (iii) fee and net interest income from its financing facilities and warehouse lending business.  
 
2. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies  
 

Basis of Presentation: The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Stonegate and its subsidiaries and have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”) and in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-K as promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly significant relate to the Company’s fair value measurements of mortgage loans held for sale, 
mortgage servicing rights (“MSRs”), derivative assets and liabilities, goodwill and other intangible assets, as well as its estimates for the reserve for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications and income tax estimates for 
deferred tax assets valuation allowance considerations.  

Risks and Uncertainties: In the normal course of business, companies in the mortgage banking industry encounter certain economic and regulatory risks. Economic risks include interest rate risk and credit risk. 
In a declining interest rate environment, the Company's mortgage origination activities’ results of operations could be positively impacted by higher loan origination volumes and loan margins. In contrast, the Company's 
results of operations of its mortgage servicing activities could decline due to higher actual and projected loan prepayments related to its loan servicing portfolio. In a rising interest rate environment, the Company's 
mortgage origination activities' results of operations could be negatively impacted and its mortgage servicing activities’ results of operations to be positively impacted. Credit risk is the risk of default that may result from 
the borrowers’ inability or unwillingness to make contractually required payments during the period in which loans are being held for sale. The Company manages these various risks through a variety of policies and 
procedures, such as the hedging of the loans held for sale and interest rate lock commitments using forward sales of MBS, such as To Be Announced (“TBA”)  
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securities, designed to quantify and mitigate the operational and financial risk to the Company to the extent possible. Specifically, the Company engages in hedging of interest rate risk of its mortgage loans held for sale 
and interest rate lock commitments with the use of TBA securities.  
   

The Company sells loans to investors without recourse. As such, the investors have assumed the risk of loss or default by the borrower. However, the Company is usually required by these investors to make 
certain standard representations and warranties relating to credit information, loan documentation and collateral. To the extent that the Company does not comply with such representations, the Company may be required 
to repurchase the loans or indemnify these investors for any losses from borrower defaults. The Company performs due diligence prior to funding mortgage loans as part of its loan underwriting process, whereby the 
Company analyzes credit, collateral and compliance risk of all loans in an effort to ensure the mortgage loans the investors’ standards. However, if a loan is repurchased, the Company could incur a loss as part of recording 
such loan at fair value, which may be less than the amount paid to purchase the loan. In addition, if loans pay off within a specified time frame, the Company may be required to refund a portion of the sales proceeds to the 
investors.  

The Company’s business requires substantial cash to support its operating activities. As a result, the Company is dependent on its lines of credit and other financing facilities in order to finance its continued 
operations. If the Company’s principal lenders decided to terminate or not to renew any of these credit facilities with the Company, the loss of borrowing capacity would have a material adverse impact on the Company’s 
financial statements unless the Company found a suitable alternative source of financing.  

Consolidation: The Company’s loans held for sale are sold predominantly to FNMA. The Company also sells loans in GNMA guaranteed mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”) by pooling eligible loans through 
a pool custodian and assigning rights to the loans to GNMA. FNMA and GNMA provide credit enhancement of the loans through certain guarantee provisions. These securitizations involve variable interest entities 
(“VIEs”) as the trusts or similar vehicles, by design, that either (1) lack sufficient equity to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties, or (2) have equity 
investors that do not have the ability to make significant decisions relating to the entity’s operations through voting rights, or do not have the obligation to absorb the expected losses, or do not have the right to receive the 
residual returns of the entity.  

The primary beneficiary of a VIE (i.e., the party that has a controlling financial interest) is required to consolidate the assets and liabilities of the VIE. The primary beneficiary is the party that has both (1) the 
power to direct the activities of an entity that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance; and (2) through its interests in the VIE, the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE 
that could potentially be significant to the VIE. The Company typically retains the right to service the loans. Because of the power of FNMA and GNMA over the VIEs that hold the assets from these residential mortgage 
loan securitizations, principally through its rights and responsibilities as master servicer for FNMA and as approver of issuers for GNMA and the guarantee provisions provided by FNMA and GNMA, the Company is not 
the primary beneficiary of the VIEs and therefore the VIEs are not consolidated by the Company.  

The Company has concluded that on a consolidated basis it has a variable interest in NattyMac Funding ("NMF") resulting from any potential interest it may earn from the 49% NMF earnings participation, as 
described in Note 12, "Debt".  The Company has further concluded that it is not considered the primary beneficiary of its variable interest in NMF based on the fact that  it does not have the power to direct the activities of 
NMF that most significantly impact NMF’s economic performance.  NMF has the final authority over its operating policies.  If at any time in the future the Company claims the right to the common capital stock of NMF 
in a default scenario as described, the primary beneficiary conclusion may change.  The Company believes that its maximum exposure to loss as a result of this arrangement is the $30,000 in subordinated loan receivable 
as of December 31, 2014 .   

The Company performs on-going reassessments of: (1) whether entities previously evaluated under the majority voting-interest framework have become VIEs, based on certain events, and therefore become 
subject to the VIE consolidation framework; and (2) whether changes in the facts and circumstances regarding the Company’s involvement with a VIE cause the Company’s consolidation determination to change.  

Revenue Recognition:  

Mortgage Loans Held for Sale: Loan originations that are intended to be sold in the foreseeable future, including residential mortgages, are reported as mortgage loans held for sale. Mortgage loans held for sale 
are carried at fair value under the fair value option with changes in fair value recognized in current period earnings. At the date of funding of the mortgage loan held for sale, the funded amount of the loan, the related 
derivative asset or liability of the associated interest rate lock commitment, less direct loan costs (including but not limited to correspondent fees, broker premiums and underwriting  
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expenses) becomes the initial recorded investment in the mortgage loan held for sale. Such amount approximates the fair value of the loan.  

Mortgage loans held for sale are considered de-recognized, or sold, when the Company surrenders control over the financial assets. Control is considered to have been surrendered when the transferred assets 
have been isolated from the Company, beyond the reach of the Company and its creditors; the purchaser obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the 
transferred assets; and the Company does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through an agreement that both entitles and obligates the Company to repurchase or redeem the transferred assets before 
their maturity or the ability to unilaterally cause the holder to return specific assets. Such transfers may involve securitizations, participation agreements or repurchase agreements. If the criteria above are not met, such 
transfers are accounted for as secured borrowings, in which the assets remain on the balance sheet, the proceeds from the transaction are recognized as a liability and no MSRs are recorded for those transferred loans.  

Gains and losses from the sale of mortgages are recognized based upon the difference between the sales proceeds and carrying value of the related loans upon sale and is recorded in gains on mortgage loans held 
for sale in the statement of operations. The sales proceeds reflect the cash received and the initial fair value of the separately recognized mortgage servicing rights less the fair value of the liability for mortgage repurchases 
and indemnifications. Gain on mortgage loans held for sale also includes the unrealized gains and losses associated with the mortgage loans held for sale and the realized and unrealized gains and losses from derivatives.  
 

Sale of Mortgage Servicing Rights: The Company occasionally sells a certain portion of its MSRs. At the time of the sale, based on the structure of the arrangement, the Company typically records a gain or loss 
on such sale based on the selling price of the MSRs less the carrying value and transaction costs. The MSRs are sold in separate transactions from the sale of the underlying loans. The MSRs sales are assessed to determine 
if they qualify as a sale transaction. A transfer of servicing rights related to loans previously sold qualifies as a sale at the date on which title passes, if substantially all risks and rewards of ownership have irrevocably 
passed to the transferee and any protection provisions retained by the transferor are minor and can be reasonably estimated. In addition, if a sale is recognized and only minor protection provisions exist, a liability should 
be accrued for the estimated obligation associated with those provisions. As MSRs are not considered financial assets for accounting purposes, the accounting model used to determine if the transfer of an MSRs asset 
qualifies as a sale is based on a risks and rewards approach. Upon completion of a sale, the Company would account for the transaction as a sale and derecognize the mortgage servicing rights from the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets.  

Mortgage Servicing Rights and Change in Mortgage Servicing Rights Valuation: The Company capitalizes MSRs at fair value when purchased or at the time the underlying loans are de-recognized, or sold, and 
when the Company retains the right to service such loans. To determine the fair value of the MSRs, the Company uses a valuation model that calculates the present value of future cash flows from servicing. The valuation 
model incorporates assumptions that market participants would use in estimating future net servicing income, including estimates of the cost of servicing, the discount rate, float value, the inflation rate, estimated 
prepayment speeds, and default rates. MSRs currently are not actively traded in the markets, accordingly, considerable judgment is required to estimate their fair value and the exercise of that judgment can materially 
impact current period earnings.  

For periods prior to January 1, 2013, the Company accounted for the subsequent measurement of its MSRs at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. Effective January 1, 2013, the Company elected to 
irrevocably account for the subsequent measurement of its existing MSRs using the fair value method, whereby the subsequent changes in the fair value of the MSRs are recorded in earnings during the period in which the 
changes occur. Under the fair value method, the fair value of the Company's originated mortgage loans class of MSRs is assessed at each reporting date using the methods described above. In accordance with the 
applicable GAAP guidance, this change in accounting principle was accounted for on a prospective basis (financial statement periods prior to 2013 were not restated). The Company did not record a cumulative-effect 
adjustment to retained earnings as of January 1, 2013, as the net amortized carrying value of the MSRs as of January 1, 2013 equaled the fair value at such date due to MSRs impairment charges recorded during 2012.  

Loan Origination and Other Loan Fees: Loan origination and other loan fee income represents revenue earned from originating mortgage loans. Loan origination and other loan fees generally represent flat, per-
loan fee amounts and are recognized as revenue, net of loan origination costs (excluding those direct loan origination costs that are recorded as a component of the recorded investment in mortgage loans held for sale), at 
the time the loans are funded.  
   

Loan Servicing Fees: Loan servicing fee income represents revenue earned for servicing mortgage loans. The servicing fees are based on a contractual percentage of the outstanding principal balance and 
recognized as revenue as the related mortgage payments are collected. Corresponding loan servicing costs are charged to expense as incurred.  
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Interest Income: Interest income on mortgage loans is accrued to income based upon the principal amount outstanding and contractual interest rates. Income recognition is discontinued when loans become 90 
days delinquent or when in management’s opinion, the collectability of principal and income becomes doubtful.  

Warehouse Lending Receivables: During the year ended December 31, 2013 , the Company introduced its warehouse lending products to its correspondent customers through warehouse line of credit 
agreements. Under the warehouse line of credit agreements, the Company lends funds to its correspondent customers to finance those correspondents' mortgage loan originations. The correspondent customers pledge, as 
security to the Company, the underlying mortgage loans, and pay interest on the related outstanding borrowings at a specified interest rate plus a margin, as defined in the underlying line of credit agreements with each 
correspondent customer. As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had outstanding warehouse lending receivables from its correspondent customers of $85,431 and recognized interest income from its warehouse lending 
activities of $2,812 during the year ended December 31, 2014 . As of December 31, 2013 , the Company had outstanding warehouse lending receivables from its correspondent customers of $12,089 and recognized 
interest income from its warehouse lending activities of $92 during the year ended December 31, 2013 . The Company periodically reviews the counterparties and warehouse lending receivables for collectability based on 
historical collection trends and management judgment regarding the ability to collect specific accounts and has determined that no allowance for doubtful accounts was necessary as of December 31, 2014 or December 31, 
2013 .  

Derivative Financial Instruments: All derivative financial instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities and measured at fair value. The Company accounts for all of its derivatives as free-standing 
derivatives and does not designate any for hedge accounting. Therefore, the gain or loss resulting from the change in the fair value of the derivative is recognized in the Company’s results of operations during the period of 
change.  

The Company enters into commitments to originate residential mortgage loans held for sale, at specified interest rates and within a specified period of time, with customers who have applied for a loan and meet 
certain credit and underwriting criteria (interest rate lock commitments). These interest rate lock commitments (“IRLCs”) meet the definition of a derivative financial instrument and are reflected in the balance sheet at fair 
value with changes in fair value recognized in current period earnings. Unrealized gains and losses on the IRLCs are recorded as derivative assets and derivative liabilities, respectively, and are measured based on the 
value of the underlying mortgage loan, quoted MBS prices, estimates of the fair value of the mortgage servicing rights and the probability that the mortgage loan will fund within the terms of the interest rate lock 
commitment, net of estimated commission expenses.  

The Company manages the interest rate and price risk associated with its outstanding IRLCs and loans held for sale by entering into derivative instruments such as forward loan sales commitments and 
mandatory delivery commitments. Management expects these derivatives will experience changes in fair value opposite to changes in fair value of the IRLCs and loans held for sale, thereby reducing earnings volatility. 
The Company takes into account various factors and strategies in determining the portion of the mortgage pipeline (IRLCs) and loans held for sale it wants to economically hedge.  

Reserve for Loan Repurchases and Indemnifications: Loans sold to investors by the Company and which met investor and agency underwriting guidelines at the time of sale may be subject to repurchase or 
indemnification in the event of specific default by the borrower or subsequent discovery that underwriting standards were not met. The Company may, upon mutual agreement, agree to repurchase the loans or indemnify 
the investor against future losses on such loans. In such cases, the Company bears any subsequent credit loss on the loans. The Company has established an initial reserve liability for expected losses related to these 
representations and warranties at the date the loans are de-recognized from the balance sheet based on the fair value of such reserve liability. Subsequently, based on changing facts and circumstances or changes in certain 
estimates and assumptions, the reserve liability is adjusted with a corresponding amount recorded to provision for reserve for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications. In assessing the adequacy of the reserve, 
management evaluates various factors including actual losses on repurchases and indemnifications during the period, historical loss experience, known delinquent and other problem loans, delinquency trends in the 
portfolio of sold loans and economic trends and conditions in the industry. Actual losses incurred are reflected as charge-offs against the reserve liability.  

Loans Eligible for Repurchase from GNMA: When the Company has the unilateral right to repurchase GNMA pool loans it has previously sold (generally loans that are more than 90 days past due), the 
Company then records the loan on its balance sheet. The recognition of previously sold loans does not impact the accounting for the previously recognized mortgage servicing rights.  

Servicing Advances: Servicing advances represent escrows and advances paid by the Company on behalf of customers and investors to cover delinquent balances for property taxes, insurance premiums and 
other out-of-pocket costs. Advances are made in accordance with the servicing agreements and are recoverable upon collection of future borrower payments or foreclosure of the underlying loans. The Company 
periodically reviews these receivables for collectability and  
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amounts are written off when they are deemed uncollectible. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the Company had recognized an asset for servicing advances on its consolidated balance sheet of $11,193 and $4,177 , 
respectively.  

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment is recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of one to three years 
for internally developed computer software, three to ten years for furniture and equipment and three to five years for purchased computer software and equipment. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-
line method over the shorter of the related lease term or their estimated economic useful lives.  

The Company periodically assesses property and equipment for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If management identifies 
an impairment indicator, it assesses recoverability by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. An impairment loss is 
recognized in earnings whenever the carrying amount is not recoverable. No such impairments were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .  

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Acquired intangible assets are recognized and reported separately from goodwill. 
Goodwill represents the excess cost of acquisition over the fair value of net assets acquired. Finite-lived purchased intangible assets consist of the Crossline trade name, customer relationships, non-compete agreement, an 
active agent list and state licenses, which have useful lives of four years, eight years, three years, five years and one year, respectively. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated lives using an 
amortization method that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the asset are consumed. The Company evaluates the estimated remaining useful lives on intangible assets to determine whether events or 
changes in circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining periods of amortization. If an intangible asset’s estimated useful life is changed, the remaining net carrying amount of the intangible asset is amortized 
prospectively over that revised remaining useful life. Additionally, an intangible asset that initially is deemed to have a finite useful life would cease being amortized if it is subsequently determined to have an indefinite 
useful life. Such intangible assets are then tested for impairment. The Company reviews such intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate their carrying amounts may not be 
recoverable, in which case any impairment charge would be recorded to earnings. Given the formation of Stonegate Direct in October 2014, which was integrated through the call center operations of Crossline, the 
Company determined there was a significant change in the manner in which the Crossline trade name was used and as a result determined the change to be a triggering event for an impairment analysis to be performed in 
accordance with the guidance of long-lived assets. As of December 31, 2014, the Crossline trade name had no carrying value on its Consolidated Balance Sheet.  

Indefinite-lived purchased intangible assets consist of the NattyMac trade name. Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization but are reviewed for impairment 
annually or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an intangible asset may not be recoverable. For indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill, the 
Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that is more likely than not the assets are impaired. If the Company determines that it is 
more likely than not that the intangible assets are impaired, a quantitative impairment test is performed. For the quantitative impairment test, the Company estimates and compares the fair value of indefinite-lived 
intangible asset with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair value, the amount of the impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the 
asset and its fair value. Impairment is permanently recognized by writing down the asset to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value.  

For goodwill, the Company first performs a quantitative impairment test. At the operating segment level, which is the reporting unit, the Company estimates and compares the fair value to the book value. If the 
segment's book value exceeds its fair value, the Company then performs a hypothetical purchase price allocation for the segment. This is done by marking all assets and liabilities to fair value and calculating an implied 
goodwill value. If the implied goodwill value is less than the carrying value of the goodwill, the amount of impairment is measured as the difference and is permanently recognized by writing down the goodwill to the 
extent the carrying value exceeds the implied value. No impairment has been recognized on our goodwill and other intangible assets during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .  
 

Stock Split: On May 14, 2013, the Company granted a stock dividend of 12.861519 shares of common stock for each share of common stock held as of that date, which was determined to be in substance a stock 
split for accounting and financial reporting purposes. All actual share, weighted-average share and per share amounts and all references to stock compensation data and prices of the Company’s common stock have been 
adjusted to reflect this stock split for all periods presented.  
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Stock-Based Compensation: The Company grants stock options and restricted stock units to certain executive officers, key employees and independent directors. Stock options have been granted for a fixed 
number of shares with an exercise price at least equal to the fair value of the shares at the date of grant. Restricted stock units have been granted for a fixed number of shares with a fair value equal to the fair value of the 
Company's common stock on the grant date. The stock options and restricted stock units granted are recognized as compensation expense in the statement of operations based on their grant-date fair values.  

Advertising and Marketing: The Company uses primarily print, broadcast and web-based advertising and marketing to promote its products. Advertising and marketing is expensed as incurred and totaled 
$3,216 , $2,317 and $1,059 for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .  

Income Taxes: Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the 
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates 
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income 
in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. There was no such need for a valuation 
allowance as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 . The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured 
at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.  

The Company’s income tax expense includes assessments related to uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken by the Company. Management has concluded that it currently does not have any 
significant uncertain tax positions. If applicable, the Company will recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. The open tax years subject to examination by 
taxing authorities include the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 . The Company had no federal or state tax examinations in process as of December 31, 2014 .  

Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Company classifies cash and temporary investments with original maturities of three months or less as cash and cash equivalents, which totaled $45,382 and $43,104 at 
December 31, 2014 and 2013 , respectively. The Company typically maintains cash in financial institutions in excess of FDIC limits. The Company evaluates the creditworthiness of these financial institutions in 
determining the risk associated with these cash balances.  

Restricted Cash: The Company maintains certain cash balances that are restricted under broker margin account agreements associated with its derivative activities.  
 

Recent Accounting Developments: ASU No. 2014-04, "Receivables--Troubled Debt Restructurings by Creditors (Subtopic 310-40): Reclassification of Residential Real Estate Collateralized Consumer Mortgage 
Loans Upon Foreclosure," was issued in January 2014. This update clarifies when a creditor is considered to have received physical possession of residential real estate property collateralized by a consumer mortgage loan 
in order to reduce diversity in practice for when a creditor derecognizes the loan receivable and recognizes the real estate property. The guidance in ASU No. 2014-04 also requires interim and annual disclosure of the 
amount of foreclosed residential real estate property held by the creditor and the recorded investment in consumer mortgage loans collateralized by residential real estate property that are in the process of foreclosure. The 
new guidance will be effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2015. The Company does not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on its financial statements.  

ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)" was issued in May 2014. This update supersedes the revenue recognition criteria and amends existing requirements in other Topics to be 
consistent with the new recognition and measurement rules. This update is to ensure that an entity is recognizing revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new guidance will be effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating the 
guidance under ASU 2014-09 and has not yet determined the impact, if any, on its consolidated financial statements.  

ASU No. 2014-11, "Transfers and Servicing (Topic 860): Repurchase-to-Maturity Transactions, Repurchase Financings, and Disclosures," was issued in June 2014. The pronouncement in this update changes 
the accounting for repurchase-to-maturity transactions and linked repurchase financings to secured borrowing accounting, which is consistent with the accounting for other repurchase agreements. The pronouncement also 
requires two new disclosures. The first disclosure requires an entity to disclose information on transfers accounted for as sales in transactions that are economically similar to  
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repurchase agreements. The second disclosure provides increased transparency about the types of collateral pledged in repurchase agreements and similar transactions accounted for as secured borrowings. The new 
guidance will be effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2015. The Company does not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on its financial statements.  

ASU No. 2014-12, "Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Accounting for Share-Based Payments when the Terms of an Award Provide that a Performance Target Could be Achieved after the 
Requisite Service Period" was issued in June 2014. This update addresses how entities commonly issue share-based payment awards that require a specific performance target to be achieved in order for employees to 
become eligible to vest in the awards. Current US GAAP does not contain explicit guidance on how to account for those share-based payments. This update is intended to resolve the diverse accounting treatment of those 
awards in practice. The new guidance will be effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2015. The Company does not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on its financial statements. 

ASU No. 2014-14, "Receivables - Troubled Debt Restructurings by Creditors (Subtopic 310-40) -Classification of Certain Government-Guaranteed Mortgage Loans upon Foreclosure" was issued in August 
2014. This update requires certain government-guaranteed mortgage loans to be reclassified to a separate other receivable at the time of foreclosure. The new guidance will be effective for the Company beginning on 
January 1, 2015. The Company does not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on its financial statements.  

ASU No. 2014-15, "Presentation of Financial Statements - Going Concern (Topic 205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern" was issued in August 2014. This 
update is intended to define management's responsibility to evaluate whether there is a substantial doubt about an organization's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote disclosure. The new 
guidance will be effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2016. The Company does not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on its financial statements.  

ASU No. 2014-17, "Business Combinations (Topic 805) - Pushdown Accounting" was issued in November 2014. This update provides an acquired entity with an option to apply pushdown accounting in its 
separate financial statements upon occurrence of an event in which an acquirer obtains control of the acquired entity. An acquired entity may elect the option to apply pushdown accounting in the reporting period in which 
the change-in-control events occurs. The new guidance will be effective for the Company on the date of its next business combination. The Company does not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material 
impact on its financial statements.  

ASU No. 2015-02, "Consolidation (Topic 810) - Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis" was issued in February 2015. This update affects reporting entities that are required to evaluate whether they should 
consolidate certain legal entities. The amendments in this update affect the following areas: 1) limited partnerships and similar legal entities, 2) evaluating fees paid to a decision maker or a service provider as a variable 
interest, 3) the effect of fee arrangements on the primary beneficiary determination, 4) the effect of related parties on the primary beneficiary determination, and 5) certain investment funds. The new guidance will be 
effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2016. The Company does not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on its financial statements.  

Prior Period Reclassifications: Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.  
 
3. (Loss) Earnings Per Share  
 

The following is a reconciliation of net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders and a table summarizing the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share calculations for the years ended December 31, 
2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  
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   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

Net (loss) income:                 

Net (loss) income  $ (30,679 )     $ 22,598     $ 17,085  
Less: Preferred stock dividends  —    (27 )     (119 )  

Net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders  $ (30,679 )     $ 22,571     $ 16,966  

            

Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousands) :                 
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During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 weighted average shares of 1,818,049 , 1,812,354 and 65,107 , respectively, were excluded from the denominator for diluted (loss) earnings per share 

because the shares (which related to stock options, restricted stock units and stock warrants) were anti-dilutive.  
   
4. Business Combinations  
 
Acquisition of Medallion Mortgage Company  
 

On February 4, 2014, in the continuing effort to expand retail originations, the Company completed its acquisition of Medallion Mortgage Company ("Medallion"), a residential mortgage originator based in 
southern California. Medallion services customers with an extensive portfolio of residential real estate loan programs and has 10 offices along the southern and central coast of California, Utah and a new operations center 
in Ventura, California. In the acquisition of Medallion, the Company agreed to purchase certain assets, assume certain liabilities and offer employment to certain employees.  
 

The acquisition of Medallion was accounted for as a business combination. The following table summarizes the total consideration transferred to acquire Medallion and the fair values of the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed on the acquisition date:  

 
1 Legal and miscellaneous expenses classified as general and administrative expenses.  
 

The excess of the aggregate consideration transferred over the fair value of the identified net assets acquired resulted in tax-deductible goodwill of $627 as of December 31, 2014 . Goodwill recognized from the 
acquisition of Medallion primarily relates to the expected future growth of Medallion's business.  
 

As part of the acquisition of Medallion, the Company agreed to pay Medallion's seller a deferred purchase price, which payment is contingent upon Medallion achieving certain predetermined minimum mortgage 
loan origination goals during the two year period following the acquisition date (the "earnout"). If such goals are met by Medallion, the Company will pay the seller annual payments equal to a multiple of the actual total 
mortgage loan volume of Medallion. The earnout is uncapped in amount. The fair value of the earnout was estimated to be approximately $603 as of the acquisition date and was estimated using a calibrated Monte-Carlo 
simulation. The fair value was primarily based on (i) the Company’s estimate of the mortgage loan origination volume of Medallion over the two year earnout period, (ii) an asset volatility factor of 16.90% and (iii) a 
discount rate of 6.05% . The Company estimated the fair value of the earnout as of December 31, 2014 using the calibrated Monte-Carlo simulation and determined to decrease the estimate by $153 , which is recorded 
within "General and administrative expense" on the Company's consolidated statement of operations, for the year ended December 31, 2014 .  
 
Acquisition of Crossline Capital, Inc.  
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Denominator for basic (loss) earnings per share – weighted average common shares outstanding  25,770     14,062     3,193  
Effect of dilutive shares—employee and director stock options, restricted stock units, warrants and convertible preferred stock  —    3,051     4,324  

Denominator for diluted (loss) earnings per share  25,770     17,113     7,517  

            

(Loss) earnings per share:                 

Basic  $ (1.19 )     $ 1.61     $ 5.31  

Diluted  $ (1.19 )     $ 1.32     $ 2.26  

Consideration:     

Cash consideration  $ 258  
Fair value of contingent consideration  603  
Total consideration  861  
Fair value of net assets acquired:     

Property and equipment  190  
Other assets  94  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  (50 )  

Total fair value of net assets acquired  234  

Goodwill  $ 627  

Acquisition-related expenses  1  $ 49  
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On December 19, 2013, the Company completed its acquisition of Crossline Capital, Inc. ("Crossline"), a California-based mortgage lender that originates, funds, and services residential mortgages. The 
acquisition of Crossline allowed the Company to increase its origination volume through geographic expansion. At the time of the acquisition, Crossline was licensed to originate mortgages in 20 states including Arizona, 
California, Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, Georgia, Idaho, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Mexico, North Carolina, Ohio, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Texas, Utah, Virginia and Washington, 
and is an approved FNMA Seller Servicer. In addition, it operated two national mortgage origination call centers in Lake Forest, CA and Scottsdale, AZ and also operated retail mortgage origination branches in seven 
other locations in Southern California.  
 

The following table summarizes the total consideration transferred to acquire Crossline and the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date:  

The excess of the aggregate consideration transferred over the fair value of the identified net assets acquired resulted in tax-deductible goodwill of $3,593 as of December 31, 2014 . Goodwill recognized from the 
acquisition of Crossline primarily relates to the expected future growth of Crossline's business and future economic benefits arising from expected synergies.       
 

As part of the acquisition of Crossline, the Company agreed to pay Crossline's seller a deferred purchase price, which payment is contingent upon the seller meeting certain conditions. The first contingent 
payment is conditional upon the following: during the six month period following the acquisition, the seller must sign letters of intent with at least two mortgage loan origination businesses who employ at least five 
licensed mortgage loan originators and whose total mortgage loan origination volume during the prior twelve month period was at least $50,000 in aggregate unpaid principal balance. If such conditions are met, the seller 
will be due a payment equal to a multiple of the actual total mortgage loan volume of Crossline during such six month period, not to exceed $500 (the "on-boarding payment"). The potential undiscounted amount of the 
on-boarding payment that the Company could be required to make under this contingent consideration arrangement is between $0 and $500 . The fair value of the on-boarding payment was estimated to be approximately 
$307 as of December 31, 2013 and was estimated by applying the income approach. The fair value was primarily based on (i) the Company’s estimate of the number of mortgage loan originators that will become 
employed by Stonegate and the expected mortgage loan origination volume over the six month on-boarding period and (ii) a discount rate of 6.50% .  
 

In addition, the Company agreed to pay Crossline's seller a second contingent payment that is conditional upon Crossline achieving certain predetermined minimum mortgage loan origination goals during the two 
year period following the acquisition date (the "earnout"). If such goals are met by Crossline, the Company will pay the seller quarterly payments equal to a multiple of the actual total mortgage loan volume of Crossline. 
The earnout is uncapped in amount. The fair value of the earnout was estimated to be approximately $1,399 as of December 31, 2013 and was estimated using a calibrated Monte-Carlo  
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Consideration:     

Cash consideration  $ 9,765  
Fair value of contingent consideration  1,706  

Total consideration  11,471  
Fair value of assets acquired:     

Cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash)  3,688  
Mortgage loans held for sale  28,394  
Identified intangible assets  2,204  
MSRs  344  
Other assets  2,378  

Total fair value of assets acquired  37,008  
Fair value of liabilities assumed:     

Warehouse lines of credit  27,454  
Other liabilities  1,676  

Total fair value of liabilities assumed  29,130  
Fair value of net assets acquired  7,878  

Goodwill  $ 3,593  

Acquisition-related expenses  $ 122  
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simulation. The fair value was primarily based on (i) the Company’s estimate of the mortgage loan origination volume of Crossline over the two year earnout period, (ii) an asset volatility factor of 18.70% and (iii) a 
discount rate of 6.50% .  
 

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Company adjusted its earn-out liability for Crossline by an increase of $110 . Effective September 30, 2014, the Company amended the agreement governing the 
earnout provisions related to the acquisition of Crossline. As a result of the amendment, the remaining earnout amount to be paid to the original seller was fixed and is no longer contingent.  
 

Of the $2,204 of total acquired intangible assets, $380 was assigned to a non-compete agreement with the seller of Crossline, which has an estimated life of three years, and $104 was assigned to state licenses, 
which have an estimated life of one year. The trade name was assigned $1,720 , which was assigned an estimated life of four years. Given the formation of Stonegate Direct in October 2014, which was integrated through 
the call center operations of Crossline, the Company determined there was a significant change in the manner in which the Crossline trade name was used and as a result determined the change to be a triggering event for 
an impairment analysis to be performed in accordance with the guidance of long-lived assets. As of December 31, 2014, the Crossline trade name had no carrying value on its Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company 
did not recognize any amortization expense related to the definite-lived intangible assets acquired from Crossline during the year ended December 31, 2013 due to the short period of time the assets were held between the 
acquisition date (December 19, 2013) and December 31, 2013.  

      
Acquisition of Wholesale Channel and Retail Assets from Nationstar Mortgage Holdings, Inc.  
 

On November 29, 2013, the Company completed its acquisition of the wholesale lending channel and certain distributed retail assets of Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc. ("Nationstar"). The acquisition of 
Nationstar's wholesale lending channel and retail assets will complement the Company's existing wholesale and retail channels and accelerate its geographic expansion. Pursuant to the terms of the letter of intent, the 
Company agreed to purchase the assets and offer employment to certain employees associated with these businesses.  
 

The acquisition of Nationstar's assets was accounted for as a business combination. The Company paid $484 , for the assets acquired, which consisted primarily of property and equipment that had a total 
estimated fair value of $484 at the acquisition date, resulting in no goodwill or bargain purchase gain during the year ended December 31, 2013. Acquisition costs related to the assets acquired from Nationstar totaled $24 
during the year ended December 31, 2013.  
 
Acquisition of Assets from NattyMac, LLC  
 

On August 30, 2012, the Company acquired all rights, title and interest in the assets of the NattyMac, LLC ("NattyMac") single-family mortgage loan warehousing business. Founded in 1994 in St. Petersburg, 
FL, NattyMac operated as an independent mortgage warehouse lender focused on financing prime mortgage loans that were committed for purchase by GSEs. NattyMac’s strong reputation in the mortgage banking 
industry, along with its warehouse financing platform and experienced staff, complements the Company’s existing business and allows the Company to provide an additional source of funding to its customers.  
 

The following table summarizes the total consideration transferred for NattyMac and the fair value of assets acquired on the acquisition date:  
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Consideration:     

Cash consideration  $ 512  
Fair value of contingent consideration  2,095  

Total consideration  2,607  
Fair value of assets acquired:     

Identified intangible assets  3,710  
Property and equipment  57  
Other assets  12  

Total fair value of assets acquired  3,779  

Bargain purchase gain  $ 1,172  

Acquisition-related expenses  $ 406  
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The acquisition of NattyMac’s assets was determined to be a bargain purchase, as the fair value of the identified assets acquired exceeded the aggregate consideration transferred. Accordingly, the Company 

recognized a bargain purchase gain which is classified as “Other revenue” in its consolidated results of operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012.  
 

As part of the acquisition of the assets of NattyMac, the Company agreed to pay NattyMac’s sellers a deferred purchase price of $75 (whole dollars) for each mortgage loan funded through the mortgage loan 
warehousing business acquired from NattyMac. The potential undiscounted amount of all future payments that the Company could be required to make under the contingent consideration arrangement is between $0 and 
$2,250 . There is no expiration date for the fulfillment of the contingent consideration arrangement. The fair value of the contingent consideration arrangement was estimated to be approximately $1,832 and $2,085 as of 
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, and was estimated by applying the income approach. The fair value of the contingent consideration as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 was based 
on key assumptions including (i) the Company’s estimate of the number and timing of mortgage loans to be funded and (ii) discount rates of 6.50% and 5.37% , respectively. The Company’s revised estimated fair value of 
the contingent earn-out liability of $1,832 as of December 31, 2014 decreased from its original acquisition-date estimated fair value of $2,095 primarily due to the estimated timing of mortgage loan fundings from the 
NattyMac warehousing business as well as cash payments. At December 31, 2014 , 5,622 mortgage loans had been funded through NattyMac’s single-family warehousing business and the Company expects that the full 
amount of contingent consideration will be paid over a three -year period.  
 
5. Derivative Financial Instruments  

 
The Company does not designate any of its derivative instruments as hedges for accounting purposes. The following summarizes the Company’s outstanding derivative instruments as of December 31, 2014 and 

2013 :  

 
1 Amounts include both our long and short positions.  

 
The following summarizes the effect of the Company’s derivative financial instruments and related changes in estimated fair value of mortgage loans held for sale on its consolidated statements of operations for 

the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  

 
1 Mortgage loans held for sale are carried at estimated fair value pursuant to the fair value option. Gains (losses) from changes in estimated fair values are included within “gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net” on the Company’s 
consolidated statements of operations.  
 

The Company has exposure to credit loss in the event of contractual non-performance by its trading counterparties and counterparties to the over-the-counter derivative financial instruments that the Company 
uses in its interest rate risk management activities. The Company manages this credit risk by selecting only counterparties that the Company believes to be  
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December 31, 2014:              Fair Value  

   Notional 1     Balance Sheet Location     Asset     (Liability)  

Interest rate lock commitments  $ 1,211,675     Derivative assets/liabilities     $ 12,300     $ (96 )  

MBS forward trades  2,318,249     Derivative assets/liabilities     260     (8,948 )  

Total derivative financial instruments  $ 3,529,924           $ 12,560     $ (9,044 )  

December 31, 2013:              Fair Value  

   Notional 1     Balance Sheet Location     Asset     (Liability)  

Interest rate lock commitments  $ 1,190,119     Derivative assets/liabilities     $ 4,553     $ (3,293 )  

MBS forward trades  2,074,560     Derivative assets/liabilities     15,120     (227 )  

Total derivative financial instruments  $ 3,264,679           $ 19,673     $ (3,520 )  

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

Interest rate lock commitments  $ 10,945     $ (10,729 )     $ 8,642  
MBS forward trades  (23,581 )     16,680     (742 )  

Net derivative gains (losses)  (12,636 )     5,951     7,900  
            

Gains (losses) from changes in estimated fair value of mortgage loans held for sale 1  21,454     (6,625 )     3,528  
            

   $ 8,818     $ (674 )     $ 11,428  
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financially strong, spreading the credit risk among many such counterparties, by placing contractual limits on the amount of unsecured credit extended to any single counterparty and by entering into netting agreements 
with the counterparties, as appropriate.  

 
The Company has entered into agreements with derivative counterparties, which include netting arrangements whereby the counterparties are entitled to settle their positions on a net basis. In certain 

circumstances, the Company is required to provide certain derivative counterparties collateral against derivative financial instruments. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , counterparties held $4,482 and $730 , 
respectively, of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents in margin accounts as collateral (which is classified as "Restricted cash" on the Company's consolidated balance sheets), after which the Company was in a net 
credit loss position of $4,562 and $2,790 at December 31, 2014 and 2013 , respectively, to those counterparties. For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the Company incurred no credit losses due to non-
performance of any of its counterparties.  
 
6. Mortgage Loans Held for Sale, at Fair Value  
 

The following summarizes mortgage loans held for sale at fair value as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 :  

 
1 Conventional includes FNMA and FHLMC mortgage loans.  
2 Government insured includes GNMA mortgage loans (including Federal Housing Administration, Department of Veterans Affairs and United States Department of Agricultural mortgage loans).  

          
Under certain of the Company’s mortgage funding arrangements (including secured borrowings and warehouse lines of credit), the Company is required to pledge mortgage loans as collateral to secure 

borrowings. The mortgage loans pledged as collateral must equal at least 100% of the related outstanding borrowings under the mortgage funding arrangements. The outstanding borrowings are monitored and the 
Company is required to deliver additional collateral if the amount of the outstanding borrowings exceeds the fair value of the pledged mortgage loans. As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had pledged $981,015 in fair 
value of mortgage loans held for sale as collateral to secure debt under its mortgage funding arrangements, with the remaining $49,701 of mortgage loans held for sale funded with the Company’s excess cash. As of 
December 31, 2013 , the Company had pledged $598,980 in fair value of mortgage loans held for sale as collateral to secure debt under its mortgage funding arrangements, with the remaining $84,100 of mortgage loans 
held for sale funded with the Company's excess cash. The mortgage loans held as collateral by the respective lenders are restricted solely to satisfy the Company’s borrowings under those mortgage funding arrangements. 
Refer to Note 12 “Debt” for additional information related to the Company’s outstanding borrowings as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 .  

 
7. Mortgage Servicing Rights  
 

The Company sells residential mortgage loans in the secondary market and typically retains the right to service the loans sold. Upon sale, an MSRs asset is capitalized, which represents the current fair value of the 
future net cash flows that are expected to be realized for performing servicing activities. The Company also purchases MSRs directly from third parties.  
 

Effective January 1, 2013, the Company elected to irrevocably account for the subsequent measurement of its existing  
originated mortgage loans class of MSRs using the fair value method, whereby the MSRs are initially recorded on our balance sheet at fair value with subsequent changes in fair value recorded in earnings during the 
period in which the changes in fair value occur. We believe that accounting for the MSRs at fair value best reflects the impact of current market conditions on our MSRs, and our investors and other users of our financial 
statements will have greater insight into management’s views as to the value of our MSRs at each reporting date. The fair value of the MSRs is assessed at each reporting date using the methods described above. In 
accordance with the applicable GAAP guidance, this change in accounting principle was accounted for on a prospective basis (financial statement periods prior to 2013 have not been restated). We did not record a 
cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of January 1, 2013, as the net amortized carrying value of the MSRs as of January 1, 2013 equaled the fair value due to MSR impairment charges recorded during 2012. 
 

Prior to January 1, 2013, the subsequent measurement of the Company’s MSRs was recorded using the amortization  
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   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

Conventional 1  $ 507,297     $ 409,863  
Government insured 2  444,955     267,497  
Non-agency/Other  96,095     5,720  

Total mortgage loans held for sale, at fair value  $ 1,048,347     $ 683,080  
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method. Under the amortization method, capitalized MSRs were initially recorded at fair value and amortized over the  
estimated economic life of the related loans in proportion to the estimated future net servicing revenue. The net capitalized cost  
of MSRs was periodically evaluated to determine whether capitalized amounts were in excess of their estimated fair value. For  
this fair value assessment, the Company stratified its MSRs based on interest rates: (1) those with note rates below 4.00% ; (2)  
those with note rates between 4.00% and 4.99% ; and (3) those with note rates above 5.00% . If the amortized book value of the  
MSRs exceeded its fair value, management recorded a valuation adjustment as a reduction to the mortgage servicing right asset.  
However, in the event that the fair value of the MSRs recovered, the valuation allowance was reversed.  
 

The Company’s total mortgage servicing portfolio as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 is summarized as follows (based on the unpaid principal balance ("UPB") of the underlying mortgage loans):  

 
1 GNMA portfolio balance is made up of Federal Housing Administration ("FHA"), Veterans Affairs ("VA"), and United States Department of Agriculture ("USDA") home loans.  

      
At December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the Company held $380,576 and $155,562 of escrow funds for its customers for  

which it services mortgage loans.  
 

A summary of the changes in the balance of MSRs for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 is as follows:  

 
During 2014, the Company completed two sales of loan pools, in the amount of $3,840 of UPB in FNMA MSRs to an unrelated third party. These pools of FNMA MSRs were somewhat geographically focused, 

had average mortgage interest rates that were less than current mortgage interest rates, and did not include any GNMA or FHLMC MSRs, which have a different valuation than FNMA MSRs. Thus, the characteristics of 
the pools did not represent the characteristics of the Company’s MSRs portfolio as a whole. The Company performed temporary sub-servicing activities with respect to the underlying loans through the established transfer 
date in the fourth quarter of 2014, for a fee, during which time the Company was also entitled to certain other ancillary income amounts. The Company used the proceeds to reinvest back into newly originated MSRs 
through its origination platform. There were various minor protection provisions for which an estimated $500 liability was accrued at the time of the first transaction. These MSRs sale transactions met the criteria for 
derecognition, allowing for the MSRs asset to be derecognized and gains to be recorded at the time of transfer. The total gains of $1,082 were net of direct transaction expenses and estimated protection provisions.  
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   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

FNMA  $ 5,797,883     $ 7,254,178  
GNMA: 1           

    FHA  5,365,627     3,333,593  
    VA  2,652,678     796,708  
    USDA  974,501     377,142  
FHLMC  3,500,321     161,889  
Other Investors  45,735     — 

Total mortgage servicing portfolio  $ 18,336,745     $ 11,923,510  

        

MSRs balance  $ 204,216     $ 170,294  

        

MSRs balance as a percentage of total mortgage servicing portfolio  1.11 %    1.43 % 

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

Balance at beginning of period  $ 170,294     $ 42,202     $ 17,679  
MSRs originated in connection with loan sales  157,264     111,783     39,900  
MSRs sold and derecognized  (44,692 )     —    — 
Purchased MSRs  2,009     1,543     — 
MSRs acquired in a business combination  —    344     — 
Changes in valuation inputs and assumptions  (56,924 )     22,967     — 
Actual portfolio runoff (payoffs and principal amortization)  (23,735 )     (8,545 )     — 
Amortization of MSRs  —    —    (3,679 )  

Impairment of MSRs  —    —    (11,698 )  

Balance at end of period  $ 204,216     $ 170,294     $ 42,202  
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Under certain of the Company's secured borrowing arrangements, the Company is required to pledge mortgage servicing rights as collateral to the secured borrowings. As of December 31, 2014 , the Company 

had pledged $203,811 in fair value of mortgage servicing rights as collateral to secure debt under certain of its secured borrowing arrangements. As of December 31, 2013 , no mortgage servicing rights were pledged as 
collateral to the Company's secured borrowing arrangements. Refer to Note 12 “Debt” for additional information related to the Company’s outstanding borrowings as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 .  
 

The following is a summary of the components of loan servicing fees as reported in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  

 
8. Fair Value Measurements  
 

The Company uses fair value measurements in fair value disclosures and to record certain assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, such as MSRs, derivatives and loans held for sale, or on a 
nonrecurring basis, such as when measuring intangible assets and long-lived assets. The Company has elected fair value accounting for loans held for sale to more closely align the Company’s accounting with its interest 
rate risk strategies without having to apply the operational complexities of hedge accounting.  
 

The Company groups its assets and liabilities at fair value in three levels, based on the markets in which the assets and liabilities are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value. These 
levels are:  

 
An asset or liability’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  

 
While the Company believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with those used by other market participants, the use of different methods or assumptions to estimate the fair value of certain 

financial statement items could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date. Those estimated values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a readily available market for 
such items existed, or had such items been liquidated, and those differences could be material to the consolidated financial statements.  
 

Management incorporates lack of liquidity into its fair value estimates based on the type of asset or liability measured and the valuation method used. The Company uses discounted cash flow techniques to 
estimate fair value. These techniques incorporate forecasting of expected cash flows discounted at appropriate market discount rates that are intended to reflect the lack of liquidity in the market.  
 
 

95  

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

Contractual servicing fees  $ 42,429     $ 21,656     $ 5,676  
Late fees  1,978     548     232  

Loan servicing fees  $ 44,407     $ 22,204     $ 5,908  

            

Servicing fees as a percentage of average portfolio  0.28 %    0.27 %    0.25 % 

Level Input:  Input Definition:  

Level 1  Unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

Level 2  Prices determined using other significant observable inputs. Observable inputs are inputs that other market participants would use in pricing an 
asset or liability and are developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. These may include quoted prices 
for similar assets and liabilities, interest rates, prepayment speeds, credit risk and others.  

Level 3  Prices determined using significant unobservable inputs. In situations where quoted prices or observable inputs are unavailable (for example, 
when there is little or no market activity), unobservable inputs may be used. Unobservable inputs reflect the Company's own assumptions about 
the factors that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, and are based on the best information available in the 
circumstances.  
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The following describes the methods used in estimating the fair values of certain financial statement items:  

 
Mortgage Loans Held for Sale: The Company's mortgage loans held for sale at fair value are saleable into the secondary mortgage markets and their fair values are estimated using observable quoted market or 

contracted prices or market price equivalents, which would be used by other market participants.  
 

Derivative Financial Instruments: The Company estimates the fair value of interest rate lock commitments based on the value of the underlying mortgage loan, quoted MBS prices and estimates of the fair value 
of the MSRs and the probability that the mortgage loan will fund within the terms of the interest rate lock commitment. The Company estimates the fair value of forward sales commitments based on quoted MBS prices.  
 

Mortgage Servicing Rights: The Company uses a discounted cash flow approach to estimate the fair value of MSRs. This approach consists of projecting servicing cash flows discounted at a rate that management 
believes market participants would use in their determinations of value. The Company obtains valuations from an independent third party on a monthly basis, to support the reasonableness of the fair value estimate 
generated by the internal model. The key assumptions used in the estimation of the fair value of MSRs include prepayment speeds, discount rates, default rates, cost to service, contractual servicing fees and escrow 
earnings. In valuing the fair value of MSRs, the Company uses a forward yield curve as an input which will impact pre-pay estimates and the value of escrows as compared to a static forward yield curve. The Company 
believes that the use of the forward yield curve better represents fair value of MSRs because the forward yield curve is the market’s expectation of future interest rates based on its expectation of inflation and other 
economic conditions.  
 

The following are the major categories of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2014 :  

 
The following are the major categories of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2013 :  

 
Mortgage Loans Held for Sale  

          
 

96  

   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  

Assets:                       

Mortgage loans held for sale  —    1,048,347     —    1,048,347  
Derivative assets (IRLCs)  —    12,300     —    12,300  
Derivative assets (MBS forward trades)  —    260     —    260  
MSRs  —    —    204,216     204,216  

Total assets  $ —    $ 1,060,907     $ 204,216     $ 1,265,123  

                

 
Liabilities:                       

Derivative liabilities (IRLCs)  $ —    $ 96     $ —    $ 96  
Derivative liabilities (MBS forward trades)  —    8,948     —    8,948  
Contingent earn-out liabilities  722     —    2,283     3,005  

Total liabilities  $ 722     $ 9,044     $ 2,283     $ 12,049  

   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  

Assets:                       

Mortgage loans held for sale  —    683,080     —    683,080  
Derivative assets (IRLCs)  —    4,553     —    4,553  

Derivative assets (MBS forward trades)  —    15,120     —    15,120  
MSRs  —    —    170,294     170,294  

Total assets  $ —    $ 702,753     $ 170,294     $ 873,047  

                

 
Liabilities:                       

Derivative liabilities (IRLCs)  $ —    $ 3,293     $ —    $ 3,293  
Derivative liabilities (MBS forward trades)  —    227     —    227  
Contingent earn-out liabilities  —    —    3,791     3,791  

Total liabilities  $ —    $ 3,520     $ 3,791     $ 7,311  
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Mortgage loans held for sale are carried at estimated fair value pursuant to the fair value option. Gains from changes in estimated fair values are included "Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net" on the 

Company's consolidated statements of operation and amounted to $21,454 , $(6,625) and $3,528 , respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .  
                      
The following are the fair values and related UPB due upon maturity for loans held for sale accounted under the fair value method as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 :  

MSRs  
      
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the Company’s MSRs measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:  

 
The Company did not measure its MSRs or any other assets at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs during the year ended December 31, 2012 .  

 
Contingent Earn-out Liability  

      
Contingent earn-out liabilities resulted from the Company’s acquisitions of NattyMac in August 2012, Crossline in December 2013 and Medallion in February 2014. See Note 4, “Business Combinations,” within 

this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information related to these contingent earn-out liabilities.  
 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the Company’s contingent earn-out liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 
2013 and 2012 is as follows:  
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   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

   Fair Value     UPB     Fair Value     UPB  

Current through 89 days delinquent  $ 1,044,005     $ 1,025,374     $ 676,906     $ 653,938  
90 or more days delinquent  4,342     5,342     6,174     7,630  

Total  $ 1,048,347     $ 1,030,716     $ 683,080     $ 661,568  

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013  

Balance at beginning of period  $ 170,294     $ 42,202  
Changes in valuation  (56,924 )     22,967  
Payoffs and principal amortization  (23,735 )     (8,545 )  

Purchases  2,009     1,887  
Sales  (44,692 )     — 
MSRs originated in connection with loan sales  157,264     111,783  
Settlements  —    — 
Transfers into Level 3  —    — 
Transfers out of Level 3  —    — 

Balance at end of period  $ 204,216     $ 170,294  

        

Changes in fair value recognized in net income during the  
    period related to assets still held  $ (56,924 )     $ 22,967  

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

            

Balance at beginning of period  $ 3,791     $ 2,095     $ — 
Changes in fair value recognized in earnings 1  (28 )     (7 )     — 
Purchases 2  603     1,706     2,095  
Sales  —    —    — 
Issuances  —    —    — 
Settlements  (1,361 )     (3 )     — 
Transfers into Level 3  —    —    — 
Transfers out of Level 3  (722 )     —    — 

Balance at end of period  $ 2,283     $ 3,791     $ 2,095  
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1 Recognized in the consolidated statements of operations within “General and administrative expense”.  
2 Represents the Company’s acquisition of Medallion during February 2014.  

 
The Company estimated the fair value of its earn-outs as of December 31, 2014 using the same method as at acquisition date for each of its earn-out liabilities, except for the Crossline earnout as discussed below. 

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Company adjusted its earn-out liability for NattyMac by an increase of $14 . For the year ended December 31, 2013 , the Company revised its estimated fair value of the 
contingent earn-out liability related to the acquisition of NattyMac by increasing it $57 from its original acquisition-date fair value primarily due to the estimated timing of mortgage loan fundings from the NattyMac 
warehousing business. For the year ended December 31, 2014 , as discussed in Note 4, “Business Combinations,” the Company decreased its estimate related to Medallion $153 .  

      
For the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Company adjusted its earn-out liability for Crossline by an increase of $110 . Transfers out of Level 3 relate to the Crossline earnout. Effective September 30, 2014, the 

Company amended the agreement governing the earnout provisions related to the acquisition of Crossline. As a result of the amendment, the remaining earnout amount to be paid to the original seller was fixed and is no 
longer contingent. Given the earnout amount is fixed, quoted and considered representative of the fair value of the liability, the Crossline earnout was transferred into Level 1. Transfers between levels, if any, are recorded 
as of the beginning of the reporting period. During the year ended December 31, 2013 , there were no other transfers between levels.  

      
Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is, the instruments are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments only in certain 

circumstances. As disclosed in Note 4, "Business Combinations," we completed our acquisition of Medallion on February 4, 2014. The values of the net assets acquired in the acquisition of Medallion and resulting 
goodwill were recorded at fair value using Level 3 inputs. Refer to Note 4, "Business Combinations," for further information regarding the methodology and key assumptions used in the acquisition date fair value 
estimates.  
 
Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments  
 

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 , all financial instruments were either recorded at fair value or the carrying value approximated fair value. For financial instruments that were not recorded at fair 
value, such as cash, restricted cash, servicing advances, secured borrowings, warehouse and operating lines of credit, accounts payable and accrued expenses, their carrying values approximated fair value due to the short-
term nature of such instruments.  
 
9. Property and Equipment  
 

The following summarizes property and equipment as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 :  
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Total depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment for years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 was $4,180 , $1,849 and $630 , respectively, which includes amortization 

expense related to internally developed software of $1,668 , $449 and $226 , respectively.  
 
10. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  
 

A summary of the change in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 is as follows:  

 
The Company performed its annual assessment of possible impairment of goodwill associated with both Crossline and Medallion as of November 30. This assessment will be performed more frequently if events 

and circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred. The Company's goodwill is attributable to the Originations segment of the business and its analysis was performed at this segment level, with no impairment 
noted during the year ended December 31, 2014 .  

      
The Company's other intangible assets relate to its asset acquisition of NattyMac, LLC. in 2012 and acquisition of Crossline Capital, Inc. in 2013 , as described in Note 4, "Business Combinations." The 

components of the Company's other intangible assets as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 are as follows:  

 
Given the formation of Stonegate Direct in October 2014, which was integrated through the call center operations of Crossline, the Company determined there was a significant change in the manner in which the 

Crossline trade name was used and as a result determined the change to be a triggering event for an impairment analysis to be performed in accordance with the guidance of long-lived assets. The amount of impairment 
represents the remaining net carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations within "Loss on disposal and impairment of long lived assets." The Crossline trade name and 
associated impairment charge relate to our Originations segment.  
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   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

Internally developed computer software  $ 9,042     $ 2,666  
Purchased computer software and equipment  7,511     6,943  
Furniture and office equipment  5,994     5,176  
Leasehold improvements  1,596     878  
Property and equipment, gross  24,143     15,663  
Accumulated depreciation and amortization  (7,096 )     (3,023 )  

Property and equipment, net  $ 17,047     $ 12,640  

      Goodwill  

Balance at December 31, 2012     $ — 
Crossline business combination     3,638  
Balance at December 31, 2013     $ 3,638  
Medallion business combination     627  

Balance at December 31, 2014     $ 4,265  

   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

   
Gross Carrying 

Amount     
Accumulated 
Amortization     Impairment Charges     

Net Carrying 
Amount     

Gross Carrying 
Amount     

Accumulated 
Amortization     

Net Carrying 
Amount  

Finite-lived intangible assets:                                         

Trade name  $  1,720     $  (430 )     $  (1,290 )     $  —    $  1,720     $  —    $  1,720  
Customer relationships  2,350     (685 )     —    1,665     2,350     (392 )     1,958  
Non-compete agreement  380     (127 )     —    253     380     —    380  
Active agent list  330     (153 )     —    177     330     (88 )     242  
State licenses  104     (104 )     —    —    104     —    104  

Total finite-lived intangible assets  $  4,884     $  (1,499 )     $  (1,290 )     $  2,095     $  4,884     $  (480 )     $  4,404  
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:                                         

Trade name  $  1,030     $  —    $  —    $  1,030     $  1,030     $  —    $  1,030  
Total indefinite-lived intangible assets  1,030     —    —    1,030     1,030     —    1,030  

Total other intangible assets  $  5,914     $  (1,499 )     $  (1,290 )     $  3,125     $  5,914     $  (480 )     $  5,434  
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The Company recorded amortization expense related to its definite-lived intangible assets of $1,019 , $360 and $120 during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively. Estimated future 

amortization expense for each of the years ended December 31, is as follows: 2015 , $486 ; 2016 , $486 ; 2017 , $338 ; 2018 , $294 ; 2019 , $294 ; thereafter, $196 . Estimated amortization expense was based on existing 
intangible asset balances as of December 31, 2014 . Actual amortization expense may vary from these estimates.  
 

The Company performed its annual impairment test of existing other intangible assets with indefinite lives (trade name) as of October 1, 2014, with no impairment noted as of October 1, 2014.  
 
11. Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets  
 

Residential mortgage loans are primarily sold to FNMA or FHLMC or transferred into pools of GNMA MBS. The Company has continuing involvement in mortgage loans sold through servicing arrangements 
and the liability for loan indemnifications and repurchases under the representation and warranties it makes to the investors and insurers of the loans it sells. The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through its 
continuing involvement with mortgage loans sold, including the MSRs, as the value of the asset fluctuates as changes in interest rates impact borrower prepayment.  
 

The Company also sells non-agency residential mortgage loans to non-GSE third parties without retaining the servicing rights to such loans.  
 

All loans are sold on a non-recourse basis; however, certain representations and warranties have been made that are customary for loan sale transactions, including eligibility characteristics of the mortgage loans 
and underwriting responsibilities, in connection with the sales of these assets.  
 

In order to facilitate the origination and sale of mortgage loans held for sale, the Company entered into various agreements with warehouse lenders. Such agreements are in the form of loan participations and 
repurchase agreements with banks and other financial institutions. Mortgage loans held for sale are considered sold when the Company surrenders control over the financial assets and such financial assets are legally 
isolated from the Company in the event of bankruptcy. For loan participations and repurchase agreements that meet the sale criteria, the transferred financial assets are derecognized from the balance sheet and a gain or 
loss is recognized upon sale. If the sale criteria are not met, the transfer is recorded as a secured borrowing in which the assets remain on the balance sheet and the proceeds from the transaction are recognized as a liability. 
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , all repurchase agreements are accounted for by the Company as secured borrowings.  

 
From time to time, the Company may sell loans whereby the underlying risks and cash flows of the mortgage loan have been transferred to a third party through the issuance of participating interests. The terms 

and conditions of these interests are governed by the participation agreements. The Company will receive a marketing fee paid by the participating entity upon completion of the sale. In addition, the Company will also 
subservice the underlying mortgage loans to the participation agreement for the period that the participating interests are outstanding. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , all participation arrangements were accounted for 
by the Company as secured borrowings.  

 
The following table sets forth information regarding cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 relating to loan sales in which the Company has continuing involvement:  

 
1 Represents the proceeds from mortgage loans or pools of mortgage loans sold, net of the related repayments of borrowings under the Company's mortgage funding arrangements used to fund the related mortgage loans prior to sale as well as the 
cost to retain the servicing rights.  
 

The following table sets forth information related to outstanding loans sold as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 for which the Company has continuing involvement:  
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   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

Proceeds from new loan sales 1  $ 15,917     $ (6,167 )     $ 28,392  
Proceeds from loan servicing fees  $ 45,248     $ 21,077     $ 6,229  
Cash outflows from servicing advances  $ 7,015     $ 3,232     $ 591  
Cash outflows from repurchases and indemnifications of previously sold loans  $ 16,784     $ 4,070     $ — 
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1 Includes GNMA mortgage loans eligible for repurchase and recorded on the consolidated balance sheet, which are government-insured, of $109,397 and $26,268 , respectively, as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 .  
 
    The key weighted average assumptions (or range of assumptions) used in determining the fair value of the Company’s MSRs as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 are as follows:  

 
The key assumptions (or range of assumptions) used in determining the fair value of the Company’s MSRs at initial recognition during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 are as follows:  

 
MSRs are generally subject to loss in value when mortgage rates decrease. Decreasing mortgage rates normally encourage increased mortgage refinancing activity. Increased refinancing activity reduces the life of 

the loans underlying the MSRs, thereby reducing MSRs value. Reductions in the value of MSRs affect income through changes in fair value. These factors have been considered in the estimated prepayment speed 
assumptions used to determine the fair value of the Company’s MSRs.  
 

In addition to the assumptions provided above, the Company uses assumptions for default rates in determining the fair value of MSRs. These assumptions are based primarily on internal estimates, and the 
Company also obtains third party data, where applicable, to assess the reasonableness of its internal assumptions.  The Company's assumptions for default rates for FNMA, GNMA, FHLMC and Other Investors mortgage 
loans as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 are as follows:  
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   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

Total unpaid principal balance  $ 18,336,745     $ 11,923,510  
Loans 30-89 days delinquent  $ 379,881     $ 167,293  
Loans delinquent 90 or more days or in foreclosure 1  $ 127,751     $ 32,269  

   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

Discount rates  9.25% - 11.00%    9.25% - 11.00% 

Annual prepayment speeds (by investor type):           

FNMA  13.9%     7.8%  

GNMA:           

    FHA  11.2%     7.7%  

    VA  10.1%     7.5%  

    USDA  11.8%     7.5%  

FHLMC  13.1%     7.7%  

  Other Investors  12.4%     N/A  

Cost of servicing (per loan)  $83     $74  

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

Discount rates  9.25% - 11.00%     9.25% - 11.00%     8.00% - 11.00%  

Annual prepayment speeds (by investor type):                 

FNMA  7.90% - 13.92%     7.79% - 10.38%     6.00% - 14.26%  

GNMA:                 

    FHA  7.91% - 11.21%     7.51% - 10.04%     4.32% - 8.10%  

    VA  7.64% - 10.09%     7.31% - 8.44%     4.67% - 8.77%  

    USDA  7.78% - 11.80%     7.48% - 10.81%     3.85% - 7.23%  

FHLMC  8.28% - 13.10%     7.68% - 8.74%     N/A  

  Other Investors  6.70% - 12.44%     N/A     N/A  

Cost of servicing (per loan)  $74 - $83     $73 - $74     $70 - $90  
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The default rates represent the Company’s estimate of the loans that will eventually enter foreclosure proceedings over the entire term of the portfolio’s life.  These assumptions affect the future cost to service 

loans, future revenue earned from the portfolio, and future assumed foreclosure losses.  Because the Company’s portfolio is generally comprised of recent vintages, actual future defaults may differ from the Company’s 
assumptions.  
 

The hypothetical effect of an adverse change in these key assumptions would result in a decrease in the fair values of MSRs as follows as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 :  

 
As the table demonstrates, the Company’s methodology for estimating the fair value of MSRs is highly sensitive to changes in assumptions. For example, actual prepayment experience may differ and any 

difference may have a material effect on MSRs fair value. Changes in fair value resulting from changes in assumptions generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in assumption to the change 
in fair value may not be linear. Also, in this table, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value of the MSRs is calculated without changing any other assumption; in reality, changes in one factor may 
be associated with changes in another (for example, decreases in market interest rates may indicate higher prepayments; however, this may be partially offset by lower prepayments due to other factors such as a borrower’s 
diminished opportunity to refinance), which may magnify or counteract the sensitivities. Thus, any measurement of MSRs fair value is limited by the conditions existing and assumptions made as of a particular point in 
time. Those assumptions may not be appropriate if they are applied to a different point in time.  
 
12. Debt  

 
Short-term borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:  
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   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

FNMA  3.93%     3.97%  

GNMA:           

    FHA  6.42%     6.45%  

    VA  6.31%     6.37%  

    USDA  6.29%     6.41%  

FHLMC  3.80%     3.82%  

Other Investors  6.14%     N/A  

   December 31, 2014     % of Average Portfolio     December 31, 2013     % of Average Portfolio  

Discount rates:                       

Impact of discount rate + 1%  $ (8,345 )     4 %    $ (8,706 )     5 % 

Impact of discount rate + 2%  $ (16,063 )     8 %    $ (16,638 )     10 % 

Impact of discount rate + 3%  $ (23,222 )     11 %    $ (23,889 )     14 % 

                

Prepayment speeds:                       

Impact of prepayment speed * 105%  $ (5,445 )     3 %    $ (3,558 )     2 % 

Impact of prepayment speed * 110%  $ (10,668 )     5 %    $ (7,003 )     4 % 

Impact of prepayment speed * 120%  $ (20,508 )     10 %    $ (13,570 )     8 % 

                

Cost of servicing:                       

Impact of cost of servicing * 105%  $ (1,529 )     1 %    $ (1,157 )     1 % 

Impact of cost of servicing * 110%  $ (3,058 )     1 %    $ (2,314 )     1 % 

Impact of cost of servicing * 120%  $ (6,116 )     3 %    $ (4,629 )     3 % 
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The Company maintains mortgage loan participation, repurchase and warehouse lines of credit arrangements (collectively referred to as “mortgage funding arrangements”) with various financial institutions, 

primarily to fund the origination of mortgage loans. As of December 31, 2014 , the Company held mortgage funding arrangements with three separate financial institutions and a total maximum borrowing capacity of 
$1,634,000 . Each mortgage funding arrangement is collateralized by the underlying mortgage loans. Separately, the Company had two mortgage funding arrangements for the funding of MSRs, each of which is 
collateralized by the particular MSRs being funded.  
 

The following table summarizes the amounts outstanding, interest rates and maturity dates under the Company’s various mortgage funding arrangements as of December 31, 2014 :  

 
1 Does not include our operating lines of credit for which we have a maximum borrowing capacity of $2,000 .  
2 Merchants Bank of Indiana will periodically constrain the aggregate maximum borrowing capacity. During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the most the aggregate maximum borrowing capacity was constrained approximated $500,000 . At 
December 31, 2014 , the aggregate maximum borrowing capacity was $600,000 .  
3 The maximum borrowing capacity is a sublimit of the Merchants Participation Agreement maximum borrowing capacity of $600,000 referred to in Note 2 above.  
4 Governed by the Barclays Bank PLC maximum borrowing capacity of $400,000 , with a sub-limit of $100,000 .  
5 Based on GNMA MSRs pledged to Merchants Bank of Indiana. Subsequent to year end, such capacity was raised to $35,000 .  
6 The Bank of America maximum borrowing includes $400,000 of mortgage repurchase and $200,000 of mortgage gestation repurchase facilities.  
7 Agreement automatically renews 90 days prior to maturity if no termination notice given by either party. No notice was received or given at the 90 day mark and this line was extended to a maturity date of March 2016.  
 

On August 29, 2014, the Company entered into a secured borrowing with a syndicate of banks led by Merchants Bank, secured by the Company’s GNMA mortgage servicing rights. The maximum borrowing 
capacity at the time of initiation was $22,000 , which could be expanded upon with the addition of additional banks to the syndicate. The borrowing matures on June 30, 2017 and carries an interest rate of one-month 
LIBOR plus 450 basis points. The amount of the borrowing is measured on a  
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   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

   Amount Outstanding     
Weighted Average 

Interest Rate  

 
 
 

 
Amount  

Outstanding     
Weighted Average 

Interest Rate  

Secured borrowings - mortgage loans  $ 592,798     3.97 %    $ 342,393     4.27 % 

Mortgage repurchase borrowings  472,045     2.23 %    223,113     2.51 % 

Warehouse lines of credit  1,374     4.25 %    7,056     4.98 % 

Secured borrowings - mortgage servicing rights  75,970     5.49 %    —    —% 

Operating lines of credit  2,000     4.00 %    6,499     4.07 % 

Total short-term borrowings  $ 1,144,187           $ 579,061        

Mortgage Funding Arrangements 1     Amount Outstanding     
Maximum Borrowing 

Capacity     Interest Rate  

 
 
 Maturity Date     

Merchants Bank of Indiana - Participation Agreement     $ 273,341     $ 600,000  2    
Same as the underlying mortgage rates, 

less contractual service fee     July 2015     

Merchants Bank of Indiana - Warehouse Line of Credit     1,374     2,000     Prime plus 1.00%     July 2015     

Merchants Bank of Indiana - NattyMac Funding     319,457     — 3    LIBOR plus applicable margin     March 2015  7    

Barclays Bank PLC     224,444     400,000     LIBOR plus applicable margin     December 2015     

Barclays MSRs Secured     45,970     — 4    LIBOR plus applicable margin     December 2015     

Merchants MSRs Secured     30,000     30,000  5    LIBOR plus applicable margin     June 2017    

Bank of America, N.A.     247,601     600,000  6    LIBOR plus applicable margin     May 2015     

Total     $ 1,142,187     $ 1,632,000                 
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quarterly basis to ensure that it is less than 50% of the value of the GNMA mortgage servicing rights collateralizing the secured borrowing. For the purpose of this test, the value of the GNMA mortgage servicing rights is 
equal to the value of the related MSRs established by the Company on a quarterly basis. On October 23, 2014, the Company amended the financing agreement to increase the amount of the borrowing from $22,000 to 
$27,000 , and on December 30, 2014, the Company amended the financing agreement to further increase the amount of the borrowing to $30,000 . On February 9, 2015, the Company amended the agreement to increase 
the maximum borrowing capacity to $35,000 .  
 

On May 22, 2014, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement with Barclays Bank PLC ("Barclays") in which the Company established a $100,000 revolving credit facility secured by the Company's 
FNMA and FHLMC MSRs. The transaction was structured so that the $100,000 revolving credit facility with Barclays is a borrowing sub-limit within the Company's existing $300,000 master repurchase agreements with 
Barclays. As part of the transaction, the Company, together with Barclays, entered into separate acknowledgment agreements with FNMA and FHLMC in which, among other things, FNMA and FHLMC acknowledge the 
lien against the Company’s FNMA and FHLMC MSRs. On July 7, 2014, the Company amended its master repurchase agreement with Barclays to increase the aggregate maximum borrowing capacity from $300,000 to 
$400,000 , which was accounted for as a modification of a revolving debt arrangement. The master repurchase agreement, together with the loan and security agreement, was to mature on December 16, 2014. On 
December 16, 2014, the Company amended and renewed its master repurchase and mortgage loan participation purchase and sale, and the MSRs loan and security agreement. The agreements will mature on December 16, 
2015. The maximum borrowing capacity and associated interest rate remain the same.  
 

On April 15, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with Merchants Bancorp (an Indiana-based bank holding company and the parent company of Merchants Bank of Indiana), whereby the Company 
agreed to invest up to $25,000 in the subordinate debt of Merchants Bancorp. Merchants Bancorp in turn, agreed to form and fund a wholly-owned subsidiary named NattyMac Funding Inc. (“NMF”) that would invest in 
participation interests in warehouse lines of credit ("WLOCs") originated by the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, NattyMac, and in participation interests in residential mortgage loans originated by Stonegate. 
Additionally, Merchants Bancorp of Indiana ("Merchants") pledged 1,000 shares of NMF's common capital stock to the Company, for which the Company has the right to claim if Merchants were to default on any 
parameters set forth by the agreement. The amount of the subordinate debt funded by the Company is designed to be greater than or equal to 10% of the assets of NMF, based on the average assets of NMF over the quarter 
period. The subordinate debt provided to Merchants Bancorp will earn a return equal to one-month LIBOR , plus 350 basis points, plus additional interest that will be equal to 49% of the earnings of NMF. On September 
25, 2014, the Company expanded the maximum amount of its investment in the subordinate debt of Merchants Bancorp to $30,000 . At December 31, 2014 , the Company had invested $30,000 in the subordinate debt of 
Merchants Bancorp and is presented in the "Subordinated loan receivable" on the Company's consolidated balance sheets herein. In addition, the amount of residential and warehouse participations outstanding as of 
December 31, 2014 totaled $319,457 which was recorded for as secured borrowings and included in “Secured borrowings - mortgage loans” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet herein.    

          
On March 31, 2014, the Company amended its master participation agreement with Merchants to increase the aggregate maximum borrowing capacity from $400,000 to $600,000 through May 31, 2014. Through 

a series of further amendments, the Company's current master participation agreement with Merchants has an aggregate maximum borrowing capacity of $600,000 and a maturity date of July 31, 2015.  
      
In addition to the master participation agreement with Merchants, the Company also has an operating line of credit and a warehouse line of credit with Merchants. The operating line of credit is unsecured and the 

warehouse line of credit is secured by residential mortgages owned by the Company. The available borrowing amounts under both the operating line of credit and the warehouse line of credit went through a series of 
increases and reductions via amendments from March 31, 2014 to September 9, 2014, such that as of December 31, 2014 , the operating line of credit was a $2,000 borrowing facility and the warehouse line of credit was 
also a $2,000 borrowing facility.  
 

On March 25, 2014, the Company amended its master repurchase agreement with Bank of America, N.A. ("Bank of America") to increase the aggregate outstanding purchase price under the agreement from 
$200,000 to $250,000 and extend the termination date to April 30, 2014. On April 30, 2014, the master repurchase agreement with Bank of America was amended further to extend the maturity date to May 31, 2014. On 
May 12, 2014, the master repurchase agreement with Bank of America was increased to $300,000 and renewed until its maturity date of May 11, 2015 and the master participation agreement of $100,000 was renewed 
until its maturity date of May 11, 2015. On September 26, 2014, the master participation agreement of $100,000 was expanded to $200,000 . On November 4, 2014, the Company amended its mortgage repurchase 
financing with Bank of America to expand the amount available under the line from $300,000 to $400,000 . In the amendment, the Company  
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also revised the profitability covenant for the Bank of America financing, to be hereafter calculated as pre-tax income for the trailing six months, excluding the change in mortgage servicing rights valuation.  
 

The above mortgage funding and operating lines of credit agreements contain covenants which include certain financial requirements, including maintenance of minimum tangible net worth, maximum debt to 
tangible net worth ratio, minimum liquidity, minimum current ratio, minimum profitability and limitations on additional debt and transactions with affiliates, as defined in the respective agreement. As of December 31, 
2014, the Company was in compliance with the covenants contained in its borrowings. The Company intends to renew the mortgage funding arrangements when they mature and has no reason to believe the Company will 
be unable to do so.  
 
13. Reserve for Mortgage Repurchases and Indemnifications  

 
Representations and warranties are provided to investors and insurers on loans sold and are also assumed on purchased mortgage loans. In the event of a breach of these representations and warranties, the 

Company may be required to repurchase the mortgage loan or indemnify the investor against loss. In limited circumstances, the full risk of loss on loans sold is retained to the extent the liquidation of the underlying 
collateral is insufficient. In some instances where the Company has purchased loans from third parties, it may have the ability to recover the loss from the third party originator. Repurchase and foreclosure-related reserves 
are maintained for probable losses related to repurchase and indemnification obligations and for on-balance sheet loans in foreclosure and real estate owned.      
 

The following is a summary of changes in the reserve for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  

 
1 Recognized as a reduction to "Gain on mortgage loans held for sale, net" in the consolidated statements of operations.  
2 Accounts for change in estimate made subsequent to the initial reserve for new loan sales being made.  
 

Because of the inherent uncertainties involved in the various estimates and assumptions used by the Company in determining the mortgage repurchase and indemnifications liability, there is a reasonable 
possibility that future losses may be in excess of the recorded liability. In assessing the adequacy of the reserve, management evaluates various factors including actual losses on repurchases and indemnifications during 
the period, historical loss experience, known delinquent and other problem loans, delinquency trends in the portfolio of sold loans and economic trends and conditions in the industry. The Company considers the liability 
to be appropriate at each balance sheet date.  

 
14. Related Party Transactions  
 

Through May 15, 2013, the Company had an agreement with a stockholder to pay an annual management fee for consulting and advisory services and strategic planning. The agreement was terminated on May 
15, 2013 in conjunction with the Company’s private offering of common stock. The total management fees amounted to $820 and $238 , respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , and are included in 
"General and administrative expense" on the Company's consolidated statements of operations.  
 

Through June 30, 2013, the Company had an agreement with a stockholder to manage and grow the Company’s Home Improvement Program division, which primarily focuses on the origination of the Federal 
Housing Administration ("FHA") 203k loans and Fannie Mae Home Style renovation loans. In accordance with the terms of the agreement the stockholder was to receive an annual management fee of $108 payable 
quarterly through January 15, 2014, 10% of all revenue generated by the division payable quarterly through January 15, 2014, and 33.33% of the annual net income of the division for the calendar year ended December 
31, 2013. This agreement terminated on June 30, 2013. The total related fees amounted to $ 159 and $339 ,  
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   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

            

Balance at beginning of period  $ 3,709     $ 1,917     $ — 
Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications - new loan sales 1  2,415     2,899     1,917  
Crossline business combination  —    498     — 
Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications - change in estimate 2  822     (417 )     — 
Losses on repurchases and indemnifications  (1,979 )     (1,188 )     — 
Balance at end of period  $ 4,967     $ 3,709     $ 1,917  
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respectively for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , and are included in "General and administrative expense" on the Company's consolidated statements of operations.  
 

During the year ended December 31, 2013 , the Company forgave a note receivable from its Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") in the amount of $214 , which was considered taxable income to the CEO and 
compensation expense to the Company.  
 

As of December 31, 2013 , the Company had $608 of amounts due to related parties, which primarily consisted of the previously described management fees as well as fees payable to members of the Company's 
Board of Directors.  
 
15. Income Taxes  

 
The components of income tax expense are as follows for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  

 

 
The following is a reconciliation of income tax expense recorded on the Company's consolidated statements of income to the expected statutory federal corporate income tax rates for the years ended 

December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  
 

 
The tax effects of significant temporary differences which gave rise to the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 :  
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   Years ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

Current federal income tax expense  $ —    $ —    $ — 
Current state income tax expense  115     —    — 
Deferred federal income tax (benefit) expense  (15,853 )     12,887     9,761  
Deferred state income tax (benefit) expense  (695 )     736     963  

Total income tax (benefit) expense  $ (16,433 )     $ 13,623     $ 10,724  

   Years ended December 31,  

   2014     2013     2012  

   $     %     $     %     $     %  

Statutory federal income tax (benefit) expense  $ (16,490 )     35.0  %    $ 12,677     35.0 %    $ 9,733     35.0 % 

State income tax (benefit) expense, net of federal tax expense (benefit)  (2,015 )     4.3  %    662     1.8 %    961     3.5 % 

Non-deductible expenses  232     (0.5 )%    230     0.6 %    30     0.1 % 

State tax rate adjustment to state deferred  1,801     (3.8 )%    $ —    —%    $ —    —% 

Other  39     (0.1 )%    54     0.2 %    —    —% 

Total income tax (benefit) expense  $ (16,433 )     34.9  %    $ 13,623     37.6 %    $ 10,724     38.6 % 

   December 31,  

   2014     2013  

Deferred tax assets relating to:           

Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 57,987     $ 36,369  
Goodwill  —    406  
Intangible assets  475     — 
Reserve for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications  1,953     1,783  
Stock-based compensation  2,087     987  
Stock warrants issued  —    594  
Deferred rent and leasehold improvements  762     572  
Vacation accrual and contributions  470     231  

   Loans held for sale and related derivatives  14,715     — 
   Bad debts  235     — 
   Tax credits  5     — 
Total deferred tax assets  $ 78,689     $ 40,942  
Deferred tax liabilities relating to:           

Mortgage servicing rights  $ 89,658     $ 64,161  
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As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $148,580 and $125,957 , respectively, available to offset future taxable income and expiring from 2027 to 2034 . 

As of December 31, 2013 , the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $94,973 and $64,241 , respectively. The increase in both the federal and state net operating loss carryforwards during the 
year ended December 31, 2014 was due primarily to increases in timing differences related to originated MSRs and derivative assets and liabilities (IRLCs and related forward MBS trades). Because the Company’s 
primary business activity consists of the origination and sale of mortgage loans with the retention of servicing rights, these sales typically result in the recognition of gains for book purposes. However, because the 
servicing retained by the Company constitutes normal servicing, as that term is defined in applicable income tax guidance of the Internal Revenue Code, these sales do not result in the recognition of a corresponding 
amount of taxable gain. Similarly, the Company’s IRLCs and related forward MBS trades are recorded as derivative financial instruments and changes in fair value are recorded for book purposes under GAAP. However, 
the IRLCs and forward MBS trades with respect to the IRLCs are not subject to mark-to-market adjustments for tax purposes.  

 
The Company analyzed the impact of its October 10, 2013 initial public offering (as further described in Note 17, "Capital Stock") and determined that an ownership change under Section 382 of the Internal 

Revenue Code ("Section 382 ownership change") occurred. The Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") allows for the application of two approaches (the full value method and the hold constant principle) for valuing companies 
when identifying a Section 382 ownership change and requires that the taxpayers apply a consistent method from year to year.      As a result of the ownership change, the Company evaluated the impact to the net 
operating loss carryforward. Management calculated the resulting annual limitation on the utilization of the Company's net operating loss carryforwards and determined that it was more likely than not that the net 
operating loss carryforwards will be utilized prior to their expiration. Accordingly, no valuation allowance has been established at December 31, 2014 and 2013.  
 

The Company also analyzed the impact of its private equity offering that occurred on May 15, 2013 (as further described in Note 17, “Capital Stock”) and determined whether a Section 382 ownership change had 
occurred. The Company applied the full value method in its valuation and analysis of the Section 382 ownership change and, as a result, determined that a Section 382 ownership change did not occur.  

 
As a result of a significant investment made by holders of Series D convertible preferred stock (as further described in Note 17, “Capital Stock”) on March 9, 2012, the Company experienced a Section 382 

ownership change. Management performed an analysis of the resulting annual limitation on the utilization of the Company's net operating loss carryforwards and, based on that analysis, determined that it was more likely 
than not that these net operating loss carryforwards will be utilized prior to their expiration.  Accordingly, no valuation allowance has been established at December 31, 2014 and 2013.          

 
16. Commitments and Contingencies  

 
Commitments to Extend Credit  

 
The Company enters into IRLCs with customers who have applied for residential mortgage loans and meet certain credit and underwriting criteria. These commitments expose the Company to market risk if 

interest rates change and the loan is not economically hedged or committed to an investor. The Company is also exposed to credit loss if the loan is originated and not sold to an investor and the customer does not perform. 
The collateral upon extension of credit typically consists of a first deed of trust in the mortgagor’s residential property. Commitments to originate loans do not necessarily reflect future cash requirements as some 
commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon. Total commitments to originate loans as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 approximated $1,211,675 and $1,190,119 , respectively. The 
commitments are recognized in the balance sheet within “Derivatives".  
 
Leases  
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Property and equipment  825     2,270  
Loans held for sale and related derivatives  —    2,004  
Goodwill  37     — 
Other intangible assets  —    886  

Total deferred tax liabilities  $ 90,520     $ 69,321  

Net deferred tax liabilities  $ 11,831     $ 28,379  
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The Company leases office space and equipment under non-cancelable operating agreements expiring through October 2022. Rent expense amounted to $9,237 , $3,458 and $1,259 for the years ended 
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively. Future minimum rental payments under the leases having an initial or remaining non-cancelable term in excess of one year are as follows at December 31, 2014 :  

 
Regulatory Net Worth Requirements  

The Company is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD"), which governs non-supervised, direct endorsement mortgagees, 
and GNMA, FNMA and FHLMC, which governs issuers of GNMA, FNMA and FHLMC securities. Additionally, the Company is required to maintain minimum net worth requirements for many of the states in which it 
sells and services loans. Each state has its own minimum net worth requirement; these range from $0 to $1,000 , depending on the state.  

Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can result in certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary remedial actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could (i) remove the Company’s ability to 
sell and service loans to or on behalf of the agencies and (ii) have a direct material effect on the Company’s financial statements. In accordance with the regulatory capital guidelines, the Company must meet specific 
quantitative measures of assets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items calculated under regulatory accounting practices. Further, changes in regulatory and accounting standards, as well as the impact of future 
events on the Company’s results, may significantly affect the Company’s net worth adequacy.  

 
The Company met all minimum net worth requirements to which it was subject as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 . The Company’s required and actual net worth amounts are presented in the following table:  

 

 
1 Calculated in compliance with the respective agencies' or states' requirements.  
 
Litigation  

 
The Company is subject to various legal proceedings arising out of the ordinary course of business. As of December 31, 2014 , there were no current or pending claims against the Company, which could have a 

material impact on the Company's statement of financial position, net income or cash flows.  
 
Regulatory Contingencies  
 

The Company is subject to periodic audits and examinations, both formal and informal in nature, from various federal and state agencies, including those made as part of regulatory oversight of our mortgage 
origination, servicing and financing activities. Such audits and examinations could result in additional actions, penalties or fines by state or federal governmental bodies, regulators or the courts with respect to our 
mortgage origination, servicing and financing activities, which may be applicable generally to the mortgage industry or to us in particular.  During 2014, we received a report of examination from a state regulatory agency 
that certain fees that were charged to borrowers in connection with the origination of loans through our wholesale and retail channels were impermissible and must be refunded to such borrowers.  The total amount of these 
fees is $417 . The Company disagrees with the findings in the report of examination and has communicated its reasoning as to why the  
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2015  $ 7,536  
2016  6,632  
2017  6,325  
2018  5,511  
2019  3,827  
Thereafter  4,968  

Total minimum rental payments  $ 34,799  

   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

   Net Worth 1     Net Worth Required     Net Worth 1     Net Worth Required  

HUD  $ 272,686     $ 2,500     $ 298,429     $ 2,500  
GNMA  $ 272,686     $ 22,982     $ 298,429     $ 12,667  
FNMA  $ 272,686     $ 16,995     $ 298,429     $ 20,635  
FHLMC  $ 272,686     $ 11,251     $ 298,429     $ 2,905  
Various States  $ 272,686     $ 0-1,000     $ 298,429     $ 0-1,000  
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related fees are permissible to the state regulatory agency.  However, there can be no assurance that the state regulatory agency will agree with our position and that we will not be ultimately required to refund the fees to 
the related borrowers.  
 
Other Contingencies  

 
During 2013 , the Company became aware that it had purchased certain refinancing loans, with a total principal amount of $5,163 , from a correspondent lender where the prior mortgage loan on the property 

securing the mortgage loan that was purchased from the correspondent lender was not satisfied and released by the correspondent’s title company at the time the loan from the correspondent was made. As part of the 
Company’s process in purchasing a mortgage loan from a correspondent lender, it generally requires that a closing protection letter be issued by the title insurer in favor of the borrower. A closing protection letter was 
obtained with respect to each of these purchased loans. As a result, the Company believes the borrower is insured against any liens prior to ours that were not identified in connection with the issuance of that closing 
protection letter. The Company believes that its procedures, including conducting a post-purchase audit, were effective in identifying the failure by the correspondent lender to obtain a release of the prior mortgage loan 
and that the Company’s practice of obtaining closing protection letters is appropriate to protect it in these situations. The Company has notified the affected borrowers and the relevant insurance carriers, and it expects that 
the title insurance obtained in connection with the refinancings will result in the loan having a first priority status. However, there can be no assurances that the prior mortgages will be fully satisfied from the title insurance 
claims.  
 
17. Capital Stock  
 
Initial Public Offering  

 
On October 16, 2013, the Company completed its initial public offering of 8,165,000 shares of common stock (including 1,065,000 shares exercised pursuant to an overallotment option granted to the 

underwriters) at a price to the public of $16.00 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $130,640 . The underwriting discounts and commissions related to this offering totaled $6,712 and the Company 
incurred additional equity issuance costs totaling $3,259 related to the initial public offering.  
 
Equity Restructuring  

 
On May 14, 2013, all outstanding shares of the Company’s convertible preferred stock (Series B, C and D) were converted into shares of the Company’s common stock on a one -for-one basis. On May 14, 2013, 

immediately following the conversion of preferred stock to common stock, each share of common stock held was split into 13.861519 shares of common stock.  

On May 15, 2013, the Company sold 6,388,889 shares of its common stock at a per share price of $18.00 , for total gross proceeds of $115,000 , under a private offering under the exemptions of the Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). The initial purchaser’s discount and placement fee related to the May 2013 offering totaled $7,700 and the Company incurred additional equity issuance costs totaling $2,700 
related to the May 2013 offering.  

Issuance of Warrants  
 

On March 29, 2013 , in conjunction with a $10,000 term loan the Company entered into with a stockholder, the Company issued warrants to the stockholder for the right to purchase 277,777 shares of its common 
stock at a price of $18.00 per share. The warrants are exercisable at any time through May 15, 2018 . Because the warrants met the criteria of a derivative financial instrument that is indexed to the Company's own stock, 
the warrants' allocable fair value of $1,522 was recorded as a component of "Additional paid in capital" and resulted in a debt discount in the same amount. The debt discount was fully amortized into interest expense upon 
the repayment of the term loan in full, resulting in $1,522 of interest expense during the year ended December 31, 2013 .  
 
Use of Capital and Common Stock Repurchases  
 

The Company paid total cash dividends of $27 and $119 to its convertible preferred stockholders during the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 , respectively. The Company had no preferred 
stockholders during the year ended December 31, 2014 . The Company does not expect to pay dividends on its common stock for the foreseeable future. The declaration of future dividends and the establishment of the per 
share amount, record dates and payment dates for any such  
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future dividends are subject to the final determination of the Company’s Board of Directors and will be dependent upon future earnings, cash flows, financial requirements and other factors.       

 
Common stock repurchases are discretionary as the Company is under no obligation to repurchases shares. The Company may repurchase shares when it believes it is a prudent use of capital. There were no 

repurchases of common stock during the years ended December 31, 2014 or 2013 .  
 
18. Stock-Based Compensation  

 
During 2011, the Company adopted the 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”) for employees, consultants and non-employee directors. The Plan provided for the grant of stock options (both incentive 

stock options and nonqualified stock options), stock appreciation rights ("SARs"), restricted stock, performance units, phantom stock, restricted stock units and stock awards.  
 

On August 29, 2013, the Company adopted the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2013 Plan") for employees and consultants. The 2013 Plan provides for the grant of stock options (both incentive stock options 
and non-qualified stock options), SARs, restricted stock, restricted stock units, dividend equivalent rights, other stock-based or cash-based awards (collectively, “awards”), with each grant evidenced by an award 
agreement providing the terms of the award. Incentive stock options may be granted only to employees; all other awards may be granted to employees and consultants. Non-employee directors are not permitted to 
participate in the 2013 Plan. The 2013 Plan is applicable to all awards granted on or after August 29, 2013 and replaces the 2011 Plan. No new stock-based compensation grants were made under the 2011 Plan after the 
adoption of the 2013 Plan. The terms and conditions of awards granted under the 2011 Plan prior to the adoption of the 2013 will not be affected by the adoption of the 2013 Plan, and the 2011 Plan will remain effective 
with respect to such awards. Upon adoption on August 29, 2013, a total of 419,250 shares of the Company's common stock were reserved and available for issuance under the 2013 Plan, which included the 315,925 
remaining number of shares available for grant under the 2011 Plan. As of December 31, 2014 , there were a total of 327,856 shares of common stock available for future grants under the 2013 Plan.  

The Company’s current policy for issuing shares of its common stock upon exercise of stock options or vesting of restricted stock units is to either issue new shares or repurchase outstanding shares of its common 
stock to settle stock option exercises. The Company currently has no plans to repurchase shares of its common stock.  
 
Stock Options  

 
Nonqualified stock options are granted for a fixed number of shares with an exercise price at least equal to the fair value of the shares at the grant date. Nonqualified stock options granted during 2014 and 2013 

generally vest over four years in equal annual installments and have a term of ten years from the grant date. Nonqualified stock options granted during 2012 vest over three years in equal quarterly installments and have a 
term of ten years from the grant date. Stock options granted do not contain any voting or dividend rights prior to exercise. The Company recognizes compensation expense associated with the stock option grants using the 
straight-line method over the requisite service period.  
 

A summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2014 is as follows:  

 
During the year ended December 31, 2014 , 33,831 stock options with a per-share exercise price of $3.97 , an aggregate intrinsic value of $270 and remaining contractual term of 7.2 years, vested.  
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Number of Shares     

 
 

Weighted Average  
Exercise Price Per Share     

 
Weighted Average  

Remaining Contractual 
Life (Years)     

 
 
 

Aggregate Intrinsic 
Value  

Outstanding at December 31, 2013  1,539,880     $ 17.08          
Granted  31,312     $ 14.04          
Exercised  —    N/A          
Forfeited or expired  (165,986 )     $ 18.00          
Outstanding at December 31, 2014  1,405,206     $ 16.90     8.3     $ 811  

Exercisable at December 31, 2014  412,772     $ 15.13     8.1     $ 676  
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The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options granted. The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of options granted during the years 

ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  

 
The weighted average grant-date fair values per share of the stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 were $6.07 , $7.25 and $0.78 , respectively.  

 
Volatility was estimated based on the historical volatility of comparable publicly traded companies. The dividend yield was based on an estimate of future dividend yields. The risk-free interest rate was based on 

the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon yield curve in effect at the time of the grants. The expected term was calculated for each grant using the simplified method, as the Company’s outstanding stock option grant met certain SEC 
criteria for the use of the simplified method.  

 
During the year ended December 31, 2013 , as a result of the May 14, 2013 stock-split, the Company modified a stock option award made to one non-employee director. The terms of the award were modified to 

increase the number of stock options from 7,322 shares to 101,494 shares and to decrease the exercise price of the stock options from $55.00 per share to $3.97 per share. The total incremental compensation costs resulting 
from this modification was $1,449 , of which $682 was recorded as stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2013.  
 
Restricted Stock Units  

Restricted stock units are granted for a fixed number of shares with a fair value equal to the fair value of the Company's common stock at the grant date. Restricted stock units granted during 2014 and 2013 vest 
over three years in equal annual installments. Restricted stock units granted do not contain any voting or dividend rights prior to vesting. The Company recognizes compensation expense associated with the restricted stock 
units using the straight-line method over the requisite service period.  

          
A summary of the nonvested restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2014 is as follows:  

 

 
The total fair value of restricted stock units converted into common stock was $200 during the year ended December 31, 2014 .  
      
During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , the Company recognized total stock-based compensation expense related to stock options and restricted stock units of $ 3,253 , $2,452 and $ 13 , 

respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , the Company recognized related tax benefits of $2,087 , $987 and $5 , respectively. Total unrecognized stock-based compensation costs related 
to nonvested stock options and restricted stock units as of December 31, 2014 was $5,593 and $520 , respectively, and will be recognized using the straight-line method over the weighted average remaining requisite 
service periods of 2.1 and 2.2 years, respectively.  
 
Other Stock Awards  
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   Years Ended December 31,  

   2014    2013    2012  

Fair value of underlying common stock  $ 14.04    $ 18.00    $ 3.97  
Volatility  41.30 %   40.00 %   18.00 % 

Dividend yield  —%   —%   —% 

Risk-free interest rate  2.01 %   1.08 %   1.01 % 

Expected term (years)  6.25    6.22    5.75  

   Restricted Stock Units     
Weighted Average Grant Date 

Fair Value Per Share  

Nonvested at December 31, 2013  49,634     $ 17.04  
Granted  10,448     $ 13.65  
Vested  (11,737 )     $ (17.04 )  

Forfeited  (14,423 )     $ (17.04 )  

Nonvested at December 31, 2014  33,922     $ 16.00  
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On May 10, 2013, the Company issued 39,145 shares of common stock (from its available treasury shares) to an employee who elected to receive his 2012 incentive compensation in the form of shares of the 
Company's common stock, as allowed under his employment agreement. The election under the employment agreement that allowed the employee to receive incentive compensation in either cash or the Company's 
common stock was accounted for as a tandem award compensation agreement. The fair value of the tandem award was determined to be $602 on the date the employee made the election to receive his incentive 
compensation in stock. Stock-based compensation expense recognized for this tandem award was $127 and $475 , respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. The number of shares of common stock 
issued to this employee upon settlement reflected a net settlement for payroll tax withholding. No such election was made during the year ended December 31, 2014 .  
 

The Company has not granted any stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, performance units, phantom stock or other stock-based compensation awards.  
 

19. Retirement Benefit Plans  
 

The Company maintains 401(k) profit sharing plans covering substantially all employees. Employees may contribute amounts subject to certain IRS and plan limitations. The Company may make discretionary 
matching and non-elective contributions, subject to certain limitations. During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , the Company contributed $2,275 , $1,077 and $384 , respectively, to the 401(k) profit 
sharing plans.  
 
20. Segment Information  
 

Since the date of the Company’s IPO, the Company has continued its development of internal management reporting. Such development has resulted in changes in the information that is provided to the 
Company’s chief operating decision maker. Accordingly, during the year ended December 31, 2014 , management re-evaluated this information in relation to its definition of its operating segments.  

 
As a result of this new information provided to the chief operating decision maker, management has concluded that its Mortgage Banking operations should be disclosed as three segments: Originations, Servicing 

and Financing. Prior period segment disclosures have been restated to conform segment disclosures for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 to those for the year ended December 31, 2014 .  
 
The Originations segment primarily originates and sells residential mortgage loans, which conform to the underwriting guidelines of the GSEs and government agencies and non-agency whole loan investors. The 

Servicing segment includes loan administration, collection and default activities, including the collection and remittance of loan payments, responding to customer inquiries, collection of principal and interest payments, 
holding custodial funds for the payment of property taxes and insurance premiums, counseling delinquent mortgagors, modifying loans and supervising foreclosures on the Company’s property dispositions. The Financing 
segment includes warehouse-lending activities to correspondent customers by the Company’s NattyMac subsidiary, which commenced operations in July 2013.  

 
The Company's segments are based upon its organizational structure, which focuses primarily on the services performed. The accounting policies of each reportable segment are the same as those of the Company. 

Certain consolidated back-office operations, such as risk and compliance, human resources, information technology, business processes and marketing, are allocated to each individual segment. Expenses are allocated to 
individual segments based on the estimated value of services performed, including estimated utilization of square footage and corporate personnel.  
 

Financial highlights by segment are as follows:  
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   Total Assets  

   December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013  

Originations  $ 1,199,727     $ 743,365  
Servicing  223,058     176,023  
Financing  118,593     17,749  
Other 1  55,173     52,752  

    Total  $ 1,596,551     $ 989,889  



Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

December 31, 2014  
 

 
1 Includes intersegment eliminations and assets not allocated to the three reportable segments.  
 

 
1 Includes intersegment eliminations and certain corporate income and expenses not allocated to the three reportable segments, such as those related to our accounting, executive administration, finance, internal audit, investor relations and legal 
departments.  
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   Year Ended December 31, 2014  

   Originations     Servicing     Financing     Other/Eliminations 1     Consolidated  

Revenues                             

Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net  $ 156,940     $ —    $ —    $ (15 )     $ 156,925  
Gains on sale of mortgage servicing rights  —    1,082     —    —    1,082  
Changes in mortgage servicing rights valuation  —    (56,924 )     —    —    (56,924 )  

Payoffs and principal amortization of mortgage servicing rights  —    (23,735 )     —    —    (23,735 )  

Loan origination and other loan fees  26,429     —    455     (67 )     26,817  
Loan servicing fees  —    44,407     —    —    44,407  
Interest income  34,080     —    3,280     (315 )     37,045  
Total revenues  217,449     (35,170 )     3,735     (397 )     185,617  
                    

Expenses                             

Salaries, commissions and benefits  111,147     5,972     1,726     23,780     142,625  
General and administrative expense  14,238     1,378     596     20,451     36,663  
Interest expense  23,122     1,227     1,050     1,826     27,225  
Occupancy, equipment and communication  10,858     1,794     231     5,783     18,666  
Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications  822     —    —    —    822  
Depreciation and amortization  1,607     84     119     3,391     5,201  
Loss on disposal and impairment of long lived assets  1,290     —    —    237     1,527  
Corporate allocations  26,619     3,279     160     (30,058 )     — 
Total expenses  189,703     13,734     3,882     25,410     232,729  
Income (loss) before taxes  $ 27,746     $ (48,904 )     $ (147 )     $ (25,807 )     $ (47,112 )  

   Year Ended December 31, 2013  

   Originations     Servicing     Financing     Other/Eliminations 1     Consolidated  

Revenues                             

Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net  $ 83,312     $ —    $ —    $ 15     $ 83,327  
Changes in mortgage servicing rights valuation  —    22,967     —    —    22,967  
Payoffs and principal amortization of mortgage servicing rights  —    (8,545 )     —    —    (8,545 )  

Loan origination and other loan fees  21,196     —    31     —    21,227  
Loan servicing fees  —    22,204     —    —    22,204  
Interest income  16,612     —    125     30     16,767  
Total revenues  121,120     36,626     156     45     157,947  
                    

Expenses                             

Salaries, commissions and benefits  50,242     2,562     —    19,671     72,475  
General and administrative expense  8,749     942     19     13,375     23,085  
Interest expense  12,449     260     —    1,717     14,426  
Occupancy, equipment and communication  3,999     723     —    5,121     9,843  
Provision for mortgage repurchases and indemnifications  (417 )     —    —    —    (417 )  

Depreciation and amortization  360     —    —    1,849     2,209  



Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

December 31, 2014  
 

 

 
1 Includes intersegment eliminations and certain corporate income and expenses not allocated to the three reportable segments, such as those related to our accounting, executive administration, finance, internal audit, investor relations and legal 
departments.  
 

 
1 Includes intersegment eliminations and certain corporate income and expenses not allocated to the three reportable segments, such as those related to our accounting, executive administration, finance, internal audit, investor relations and legal 
departments.  
 
 
 
21. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)  
 

Selected quarterly financial data is as follows:  
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Loss on disposal and impairment of long lived assets  12     —    —    93     105  
Corporate allocations  14,401     1,689     —    (16,090 )     — 
Total expenses  89,795     6,176     19     25,736     121,726  
Income (loss) before taxes  $ 31,325     $ 30,450     $ 137     $ (25,691 )     $ 36,221  

   Year Ended December 31, 2012  

   Originations     Servicing     Financing     Other/Eliminations 1     Consolidated  

Revenues                             

Gains on mortgage loans held for sale, net  $ 71,420     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 71,420  
Changes in mortgage servicing rights valuation  —    —    —    —    — 
Payoffs and principal amortization of mortgage servicing rights  —    —    —    —    — 
Loan origination and other loan fees  9,871     —    —    —    9,871  
Loan servicing fees  —    5,908     —    —    5,908  
Interest income  5,199     —    —    58     5,257  
Other revenue  1,172     —    —    —    1,172  
Total revenues  87,662     5,908     —    58     93,628  
                    

Expenses                             

Salaries, commissions and benefits  22,851     985     —    8,901     32,737  
General and administrative expense  3,065     334     —    4,307     7,706  
Interest expense  5,667     361     —    211     6,239  
Occupancy, equipment and communication  1,635     240     —    1,124     2,999  
Impairment of mortgage service rights  —    11,698     —    —    11,698  
Amortization of mortgage service rights  —    3,679     —    —    3,679  
Depreciation and amortization  —    —    —    750     750  
Loss on disposal and impairment of long lived assets  —    —    —    11     11  
Corporate allocations  2,559     284     —    (2,843 )     — 
Total expenses  35,777     17,581     —    12,461     65,819  
Income (loss) before taxes  $ 51,885     $ (11,673 )     $ —    $ (12,403 )     $ 27,809  

      For the Three Months Ended  

      March 31     June 30     September 30     December 31  

2014                          

Total revenues     $ 38,480     $ 57,538     $ 63,054     $ 26,545  
Total expenses     $ 51,331     $ 57,132     $ 61,408     $ 62,858  
(Loss) income before income tax expenses     $ (12,851 )     $ 406     $ 1,646     $ (36,313 )  

Net (loss) income     $ (7,884 )     $ 268     $ (1,679 )     $ (21,384 )  

Basic (loss) earnings per share     $ (0.31 )     $ 0.01     $ (0.07 )     $ (0.83 )  

Diluted (loss) earnings per share     $ (0.31 )     $ 0.01     $ (0.07 )     $ (0.83 )  

2013                          



Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

December 31, 2014  
 

 

 
22. Subsequent Events  
 

On January 7, 2015, the Company amended and revised its acknowledgment agreement from Fannie Mae regarding the MSRs borrowing with Barclays. As of this date, the Company can borrow up to 60% of the 
MSRs value for both Fannie Mae and Freddie MSRs and also, the spread over LIBOR is reduced to 525 basis points for both.  

On January 14, 2015, the Company filed a preliminary prospectus with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") under the shelf registration rules that allows the Company to sell from time to time, in 
one or more offerings, on a continuous or delayed basis, certain securities, such as common stock, debt securities, preferred stock, depository shares, and/or warrants, for an aggregate initial offering price of up to 
$200,000 . In addition, the prospectus registered shares of certain existing shareholders to provide them the opportunity to sell the shares to the public.  
 

On January 14, 2015, the Company set up a new captive insurance subsidiary, licensed in Michigan, for the purpose of insuring certain employment practices, cyber risk and professional services liability risks of 
the Company that are currently self-insured or uninsured. By establishing the captive insurance company, the Company, via the new insurance subsidiary, intends to apply for membership to the Federal Home Loan Bank 
of Indianapolis. Activity in the subsidiary will start in 2015.  
 

On January 29, 2015, the Company signed a Mortgage Repurchase Agreement with Wells Fargo for $200,000 . The borrowing facility is comparable to the repurchase facilities that the Company has in place with 
other financial institutions, and is designed to finance newly originated conventional, government and jumbo residential mortgages originated or purchased by the Company.  The facility is uncommitted, and the maturity 
for the facility is January 30, 2016.  
 

On February 9, 2015, the Company amended and revised its MSRs facility agreement with Merchants to increase the aggregate maximum borrowing capacity from $30,000 to $35,000 .  

On February 20, 2015, the Company entered into a letter of intent to sell approximately $3 billion in FNMA and FHLMC MSRs to an unrelated third party.  The anticipated closing date of the transaction is March 
31, 2015.  
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Total revenues     $ 38,882     $ 43,354     $ 31,866     $ 43,845  
Total expenses     $ 23,037     $ 28,669     $ 29,376     $ 40,644  
Income before income tax expenses     $ 15,845     $ 14,685     $ 2,490     $ 3,201  
Net income     $ 9,715     $ 9,135     $ 1,683     $ 2,065  
Basic earnings per share     $ 3.42     $ 0.86     $ 0.10     $ 0.08  
Diluted earnings per share     $ 0.86     $ 0.63     $ 0.10     $ 0.08  



 
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.  
 

There have been no changes in or disagreements with our independent registered public accounting firm on accounting or financial disclosures.  
 

 
ITEM  9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
 

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as of December 31, 2014 . Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2014 , 
our disclosure controls and procedures are effective. Disclosure controls and procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to 
disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms, and that 
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  
 
Management’s Report on Internal control over Financial Reporting  

      
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined by Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control 

over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Because of its 
inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  
 

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 . In making this assessment, we used the criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated 
Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission ("COSO") . A control system, no matter how well conceived, implemented and operated, can provide only 
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the internal control system are met. Because of such inherent limitations, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, if any, 
within a company have been detected. Based on our assessment and those criteria, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2014 .  
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during year ended December 31, 2014 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  
 
Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures  
 

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, 
assurance that they will detect or uncover control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company to disclose material information otherwise required to be set forth in our periodic reports.  

 
ITEM  9B. OTHER INFORMATION  
 

None.  
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PART III  

 
ITEM  10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE  
 

The information required by this Item concerning our Executive Officers, Directors and nominees for Director, Audit Committee members and financial expert(s) and concerning disclosure of delinquent filers 
under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and our Standards of Business Conduct is incorporated herein by reference from our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") pursuant to Regulation 14A on or prior to April 30, 2015.  
 
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  
 

The information required by this Item concerning remuneration of our Executive Officers and Directors, material transactions involving such Executive Officers and Directors and Compensation Committee 
interlocks, as well as Compensation Committee Report, are incorporated herein by reference from our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the SEC pursuant 
to Regulation 14A on or prior to April 30, 2015.  
 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTER S  
      

The information required by this Item concerning the stock ownership of management and five percent beneficial owners and securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is incorporated 
herein by reference from our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A on or prior to April 30, 2015.  

 

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE  
      
The information required by this Item concerning certain relationships and related person transactions and director independence, is incorporated herein by reference from our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 

2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A on or prior to April 30, 2015.  

 
ITEM  14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES  
 

The information required by this Item concerning principal accounting fees and services is incorporated herein by reference from our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, 
which will be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A on or prior to April 30, 2015.  

 
PART IV  
 
ITEM  15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE S  

      
Documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:  

 

 
Our consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014 and the notes thereto, together with the reports of the independent 
registered public accounting firms on those consolidated financial statements are filed within Item 8 in Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 

 
No financial statement schedules are presented since the required information is not present or not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is 
included in the financial statements and accompanying notes.  
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1.  Financial Statements: 

2.  Financial Statement Schedules: 



 
 

3. Exhibits:  
 

The documents listed in the Exhibit Index of this report are incorporated by reference or are filed with this report, in each case as indicated therein (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).  
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.  
   

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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   Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  
   Registrant  

      

Date: March 6, 2015  
By:  

/ S /  James J. Cutillo  

      James J. Cutillo  

      Chief Executive Officer and Director  

        

Signature     Title     Date  

          

/ S /  James J. Cutillo     Chief Executive Officer and Director     March 6, 2015  

James J. Cutillo     (Principal Executive Officer)        

          

/ S /  Robert B. Eastep     Chief Financial Officer     March 6, 2015  

Robert B. Eastep     (Principal Financial Officer)        

          

/ S /  Carrie P. Preston     Chief Accounting Officer     March 6, 2015  

Carrie P. Preston     (Principal Accounting Officer)        

          

/ S /  Kevin B. Bhatt     Director     March 6, 2015  

Kevin B. Bhatt              

          

/ S /  James G. Brown     Director     March 6, 2015  

James G. Brown              

          

/ S /  Richard A. Kraemer     Director     March 6, 2015  

Richard A. Kraemer              

          

/ S /  Sam Levinson     Director     March 6, 2015  

Sam Levinson              

          

/ S /  Richard A. Mirro     Director     March 6, 2015  

Richard A. Mirro              

          

/ S /  Joseph Scott Mumphrey     Director     March 6, 2015  

Joseph Scott Mumphrey              

          



 

INDEX TO EXHIBITS  
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Exhibit  
Number  Description  

    

2.1  Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2013, by and among Stonegate Mortgage Corporation, Crossline Capital, Inc. and Timothy R. Elkins (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 
of the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 19, 2013 (File No. 001-36116))  

    

3.1  Third Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation Amendment No. 1 to S-1 filed September 30, 
2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

3.2  Third Amended and Restated Code of Regulations of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047)  

    

4.1  Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation Amendment No. 1 to S-1 filed September 30, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

4.2  Form of Indenture (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of Stonegate Mortgage Corporation S-3 filed January 14, 2015 (File No. 001-201507))  

    

10.1  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2013, between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and FBR Capital Markets & Co. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Stonegate 
Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.2†  Stonegate Mortgage Corporation Amended and Restated 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 
(File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.3†  Option Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2013, between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and James J. Cutillo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed 
September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.4†  Form of Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.5†  First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of May 14, 2013, between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and James J. Cutillo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Stonegate 
Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.6†  Stonegate Mortgage Corporation 2013 Non-Employee Director Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation Amendment No. 1 to S-1 filed September 30, 
2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.7†  Stonegate Mortgage Corporation 2013 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation Amendment No. 1 to S-1 filed 
September 30, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.8†  Stonegate Mortgage Corporation Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed December 6, 2013 (File No. 333-192715))  

    

10.9†  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on November 26, 2013 (File No. 333-192557))  

    

10.10†  Form of Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on November 26, 2013 (File No. 333-192557))  

    

10.11†*  Letter Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2014, between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and Robert Eastep  

    

10.12  Purchase/Placement Agreement, dated as of May 8, 2013, between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and FBR Capital Markets & Co. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Stonegate 
Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.13  Amendment No. 1 to Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2013, between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and Stonegate Investors Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.12 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.14  Amendment No. 2 to Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2013, between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and Stonegate Investors Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.23 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation Amendment No. 1 to S-1 filed September 30, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  
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Exhibit  
Number  Description  

10.15  Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Shareholders’ Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2013, among Stonegate Mortgage Corporation, Stonegate Investors Holdings LLC, and certain Other 
Stockholders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.16  Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Shareholders’ Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2013, among Stonegate Mortgage Corporation, Stonegate Investors Holdings LLC, and certain 
Other Stockholders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation Amendment No. 1 to S-1 filed September 30, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.17  Voting Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2013, among Stonegate Mortgage Corporation, Stonegate Investors Holdings LLC, and FBR Capital Markets & Co. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.15 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.18  Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2013, by and between Bank of America, N.A. and Stonegate Mortgage Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Stonegate 
Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.19*  Amendment No. 1 to Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2014, by and between Bank of America, N.A. and Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  

    

10.20  Mortgage Loan Participation Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated June 24, 2013, by and between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.17 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.21*  Amendment No. 4 to Master Loan Participation Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2014, by and between Bank of America, N.A. and Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  

    

10.22*  Amendment No. 5 to Master Loan Participation Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2014, by and between Bank of America, N.A. and Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  

    

10.23  Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of December 24, 2012, between Barclays Bank PLC and Stonegate Mortgage Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Stonegate Mortgage 
Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.24*  Amendment No. 2 to Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2014, between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and Barclays Bank PLC  

    

10.25  Mortgage Loan Participation Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of December 24, 2012, between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and Barclays Bank PLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.20 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation S-1 filed September 6, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.26  Amended and Restated Master Participation Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2013, between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and Merchants Bank of Indiana (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.22 to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation Amendment No. 1 to S-1 filed September 30, 2013 (File No. 333-191047))  

    

10.27*  Revolving Subordinated Loan Agreement, dated April 15, 2014, between Merchants Bancorp and Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  

    

10.28*  Line of Credit Promissory Note, dated August 29, 2014, by Stonegate Mortgage Corporation for the benefit of Merchants Bank of Indiana  

    

21.1*  Subsidiaries of the Registrant  

    

23.1*  Consent of Richey, May & Co. LLP  

    

23.2*  Consent of KPMG LLP  

    

31.1*  Certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

    

31.2*  Certification of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  
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32.1*  Certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

    

32.2*  Certification of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

    

101.INS*  XBRL Instance Document  

    

101.SCH*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document  

    

101.CAL*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document  

    

101.DEF*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document  

    

101.LAB*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document  

    

101.PRE*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document  

    

    

* Filed herewith  

† Indicates management contract or compensation plan  



 
 

EXHIBIT 10.11 

 

August 7, 2014  

   
 
Robert Eastep  
9190 Priority Way West Drive, Suite 300  
Indianapolis, IN 46240  

Re:     Letter Agreement  

Dear Mr. Eastep:  

This Letter Agreement (“ Agreement ”) is made and entered into as of August 7, 2014 (the “ Effective Date ”) by and between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation, an Ohio corporation (the “ Company ”), and Robert 
Eastep (“ You ”). The Agreement sets forth the terms of your employment with the Company as follows:  

1.         Employment . The Company hereby agrees to employ you, and you hereby accept such employment with the Company, in each case, on the following terms and conditions. Your employment will be “at-will”, 
meaning that either you or the Company may terminate your employment at any time for any or no reason, subject to the terms of this Agreement. Any contrary representations that may have been made to you will be 
superseded by this Agreement.  

2.         Position and Responsibilities . As of the date hereof, you will serve as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer (or such other position as may be assigned by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (“ CEO ”) 
or the Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Board ”)). You will have the duties and authority as determined from time to time by the CEO or the Board. While employed by the Company, you will devote your full 
business time and best efforts to the performance of your duties hereunder and the business and affairs of the Company and will not engage in any other business, profession or occupation for compensation or otherwise 
which would conflict or interfere with the rendition of such services to the Company, without the Board’s prior written consent. While employed by the Company, you will be expected to primarily work from the 
Company’s office in Indianapolis, Indiana.  

3.         Compensation .  

(a) Base Salary . Your base salary will be paid, in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices in effect from time to time, at an annual rate of $325,000, subject to annual redetermination by the 
Board (the rate in effect at any given time, the “Base Salary”).  

(b) Annual Bonus . During each calendar year, you will eligible to participate in the Company’s Discretionary Incentive Compensation Plan or similar annual bonus program whereby you will have the 
opportunity to earn compensation (the “ Annual Bonus ”) of up to 200% of Base Salary as determined by the Board in its sole discretion. The Annual Bonus may be payable in cash or grants of stock, as determined by the 
Board, and will be paid at the time or times provided by the applicable bonus program.  

(c) Discretionary Bonus. During the 2014 calendar year, you will be eligible to earn a discretionary bonus equal to $25,000, less applicable taxes and withholding (the “ Discretionary Bonus ”), based on 
performance metrics as determined by the Board in its sole discretion. If earned, the Discretionary Bonus will be paid in two equal installments, the first of which will be on (or within ten (10 days following) September 
30, 2014, and the second of which will be on (or within 10 days following) December 31, 2014.  

(d) Stock Options . You will receive as a one-time grant a number of stock options under the Company’s 2013 Omnibus Plan with a grant date fair value equal to $175,000 as determined by the Company in its 
sole discretion. When granted, such stock options shall be subject in all respects to the terms and conditions (including, without limitation, vesting and forfeiture conditions, exercise rights and conditions, etc.) set forth in 
the 2013 Omnibus Plan and the underlying award agreement that will accompany such grant.  

(e) Relocation Expenses . You will be entitled to be reimbursed for up to $25,000 in expenses related to your relocation to Indianapolis, IN provided documented receipts are submitted to the Company in 
accordance with IRS rules. In addition, in lieu of the Company paying car rental expenses for you prior to your relocation, you will be provided up to $1,000 per month for a car allowance paid by the Company for each of 
the 12 months from the date hereof.  
 
 



 
 
 

(f) Benefits and Expenses . While employed by the Company, you will be eligible to participate in the Company’s employee benefit plans (including vacation policy) as in effect from time to time, on the same 
basis as those benefits are generally made available to other peer executives of the Company. You will be entitled to reimbursement, by the Company in accordance with then current Company policies applicable to other 
executives of the Company, of reasonable business expenses that you incur in the performance of your duties hereunder.  

4.         Termination . Your employment may be terminated by you or the Company at any time and for any or no reason, subject to the following terms.  

(a) Termination for Cause . Your employment may be terminated by the Company for Cause at any time upon delivery of written notice to you, in which case you will be entitled to receive only: (i) accrued 
but unpaid Base Salary; (ii) accrued but unreimbursed business expenses that were properly incurred in accordance with Company policy before your termination date; and (iii) any employee benefits which you may be 
entitled to under the employee benefit plans or policies of the Company according to their terms, all reduced by any amounts that you then owe the Company ((i), (ii) and (iii) above are collectively “ Accrued Rights ”). 
Following termination of your employment for Cause, you will have no further rights to any compensation or any other benefits under this Agreement or otherwise. “ Cause ” means the Company’s termination of your 
employment, as determined in the sole judgment of the Board, due to your: (i) continued failure to perform your material duties with respect to the Company or its affiliates for a period of more than 30 days after receipt of 
written notice of such failure; (ii) fraud, misappropriation, embezzlement or acts of similar dishonesty; (iii) conviction of a felony or any other crime involving moral turpitude; (iv) illegal use of drugs or excessive use of 
alcohol in the workplace; (v) misconduct that may subject the Company or its affiliates to criminal or civil liability; (vi) breach of your duty of loyalty, including the diversion or usurpation of corporate opportunities 
properly belonging to the Company; (vii) intentional disregard of the Company’s policies and procedures; (viii) breach of any of the terms of this Agreement or any other agreement between you and the Company; 
(ix) adjudication as guilty in a court of competent jurisdiction for, or a settlement is reached with respect to claims of, discrimination or harassment of any employee; or (x) insubordination or deliberate refusal to follow 
the reasonable instructions of the CEO and/or the Board.  

(b) Resignation . Your employment shall terminate automatically upon your resignation. If you provide written notice to the Company at least thirty (30) days before your resignation date, you will be entitled 
to receive only the Accrued Rights. However, if you resign for Good Reason (as defined below), provided you give notice of your resignation within 90 days of the condition for Good Reason first occurring, the Company 
does not cure the condition within 30 days of such notice and you resign within 30 days after the Company’s failure to cure, then no later than five days after your resignation for Good Reason the Company will deliver to 
you a general release of employment related claims in favor of the Company and its affiliates (the “ Release ”) and if you execute and deliver to the Company the Release within 21 days (or such other time as is required 
by law to make the Release effective and irrevocable) of delivery to you and do not revoke the Release during the seven day revocation period (or such other time as is required by law to make the Release effective and 
irrevocable), then you will receive a lump sum payment within ten (10) days following the Release effective date in an amount equal to the Severance Payment (as defined below). “ Good Reason ” shall mean, in each 
case without your consent: (i) a material diminution in your Base Salary (other than a   similar diminution that impacts other similarly situated executives of the Company), (ii) any requirement that you report directly to 
any person other than the CEO in place as of immediately prior to a Change in Control (as defined below) and (iii) any other action or inaction by the Company constituting a material breach of this Agreement. Following 
a resignation for Good Reason, you shall have no further rights to any compensation or any other benefits.  

(c) Death or Disability . Your employment will terminate upon your death, and may be terminated by the Company as a result of your Disability, in which case you (or your estate) will be entitled to receive 
only the Accrued Rights. Following your termination of employment due to death or Disability, you will have no further rights to any compensation or any other benefits. “ Disability ” means the Board’s good faith 
determination that you are (i) unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last 
for a continuous period of not less than 12 months; or (ii) by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period 
of not less than 12 months, you receive income replacement benefits for a period of not less than three months under an accident or health plan covering employees of the Company.  

(d) Termination Without Cause . Your employment may be terminated by the Company at any time without Cause (other than by reason of death or Disability), in which case you will be entitled to receive 
the Accrued Rights and any accrued but unpaid annual bonus for the year preceding the year in which the termination occurs. In addition, no later than five days after the date of termination without Cause, the Company 
shall deliver to you the Release and if you execute, deliver to the Company and do not revoke the Release within the timeframe described in Section 4(b) above then you will receive a lump sum payment within ten (10) 
days following the Release effective date in an amount equal to twelve (12) months of your then  

 
 



 
 

current Base Salary (the “ Severance Payment ”). Following your termination without Cause, you will have no further rights to any compensation or any other benefits under this Agreement.  

(e) Termination on Account of Change in Control. If your employment with the Company is terminated, within five months after a Change in Control (as defined in the Company’s 2013 Omnibus Incentive 
Compensation Plan) either by the Company for any reason other than Cause or by you for Good Reason, you will be entitled to receive (1) the payments and benefits under Subsection (b) or (d) above, (2) any accrued but 
unpaid annual bonus for the year in which the termination occurs and the year preceding the year in which the termination occurs and (3) accelerated vesting of any then-outstanding, unvested Company equity incentive 
awards, which will become payable or exercisable in accordance with the terms of the applicable incentive plan and award agreement under which the awards were granted. In order to receive such payments and benefits, 
you will be required to sign, deliver to the Company and not revoke the Release, as set forth in Section 4(b) above, within the timeframe described therein. Such payments will be made within ten (10) days after the 
following the effective date of the Release (and such vesting will occur on the effective date of the Release).  

(f) Board and Other Resignation . You agree that, upon termination of your employment with the Company for any reason, you will automatically be deemed to have resigned, as of the termination date, 
from any other employment, including service on the board of directors, with the Company or any of its affiliates, including any entity in which the Company or its affiliates have rights and any position in which you act 
as a representative of the Company.  

(g) Return of Materials . Upon any termination of your employment, you will (i) cease use of any Confidential Information (as defined below) or intellectual property owned or used by the Company or any of 
its affiliates; (ii) immediately destroy or return to the Company, at its option, all originals and copies of such Confidential Information, intellectual property, or other information related to the business of the Company or 
its affiliates in your possession or control; and (iii) notify and fully cooperate with the Company regarding the delivery or destruction of any other Confidential Information of which you become aware.  

5.         Confidentiality . You acknowledge that in the course of your employment you will acquire knowledge of the Company’s and its affiliates Confidential Information (as defined below). You also acknowledge that 
such Confidential Information is not known outside the business of the Company and its affiliates, is known only to a limited group of their top employees and directors, is protected by strict measures to preserve secrecy, 
is of great value to the Company and its affiliates, is the result of the expenditure of large sums of money, is difficult for an outsider to duplicate, and disclosure of which would be extremely detrimental to the Company 
and its affiliates. You acknowledge that all Confidential Information shall at all times remain the property of the Company, and the Company shall have free and unlimited access at all times to all materials containing 
Confidential Information and shall have the right to claim and take possession of such materials on demand. Except as required by your duties to the Company, you will not, at any time during or after your employment, 
directly or indirectly use, divulge or disseminate any Confidential Information without having first obtained written permission from the CEO. You will safeguard and maintain secret all Confidential Information and all 
materials that include or embody Confidential Information. You also acknowledge that the Company may receive confidential or proprietary information belonging to customers, or other third parties subject to the 
Company’s duty to not disclose said information. Accordingly, you agree to not disclose (except as authorized by the Company), publish, or use in competition with the Company, any such third party confidential and 
proprietary information. “ Confidential Information ” means any oral or written information disclosed to you or known by you as a consequence of your employment by the Company relating to the Company’s or any of 
its affiliate’s business, products, processes, or services, including, but not limited to, information relating to research, development, discoveries, concepts, and ideas, whether patentable or not including, but not limited to, 
apparatus, processes, methods, compositions of matter, techniques, and formulas, as well as related improvements or know-how, works of authorship fixed in a tangible medium of expression, products under development, 
manufacturing processes, formulas, strategic plans, purchasing, finance, accounting, revenues, costs or expenses, engineering, marketing, selling, suppliers, customer lists, customer requirements, trade secrets and the 
documentation thereof; provided, however, that Confidential Information shall not include information that was: (i) publicly known prior to the date of disclosure or is published or otherwise becomes publicly known after 
the date of disclosure through no fault of your own; or (ii) was rightfully in the possession of or independently derived by a party to whom such information was disclosed whether before or after your disclosure. If you are 
requested or are legally compelled to make any disclosure that is prohibited or constrained by this Agreement, you will provide the Company with prompt notice of the request so that it may seek an appropriate protective 
order or other remedy and you will only disclose so much of that Confidential Information as you are required to disclose by law.  

6.         Limited Restricted Covenants . During and after your employment it is important for the Company to protect its legitimate business interests. Therefore, the following non-competition and non-solicitation 
provisions are drafted narrowly to safeguard the Company’s legitimate business interests while not unreasonably interfering with your ability to obtain other employment. As a condition of your employment with the 
Company, you agree as follows:  
 
 



 
 

(a)         During Employment by the Company . During your employment with the Company, you will not, directly or indirectly, have any ownership interest in, work for, advise, consult with, or have any business 
connection with any person or entity that competes with the Company or that is planning to compete with the Company. Furthermore, you shall not take any actions with respect to competitors that could be detrimental to 
the Company.  
   

(b)         During Post-Employment Period . For twenty-four (24) months following any termination of your employment with the Company, you will not (i) solicit or sell to any Customer (as defined below) any 
product or service that competes with the Company’s products or services; (ii) request or advise any Customer to curtail or cease business with the Company or its affiliates; (iii) disclose to any person or entity the 
identities of any Customers; or (iv) influence or attempt to influence any employee or contractor of the Company or any of its affiliates to separate from the Company. “ Customer ” means any person or entity who is a 
customer or prospective customer of the Company or any of its affiliates and that (i) you or any other officer of the Company solicited, serviced, or sold to within two (2) years of the termination of your employment with 
the Company or (ii) you learned of within two (2) years of the termination of your employment with the Company.  

7.         Additional Restricted Matters . The provisions of Sections 4 through 9 shall survive any termination of your employment. The restricted period of time in Sections 5 and 6 will be tolled during any periods of your 
non-compliance. If a final judicial determination is made by a court of competent jurisdiction that the time or territory or any other restriction contained in this Agreement is unenforceable, such provisions shall not be 
rendered void but shall be deemed amended to apply as to such maximum time and territory and to such maximum extent as such court may determine to be enforceable.  

8.         Injunctive Relief . You acknowledge that any restricted activity referred to in this Agreement may cause irreparable injury to the Company, and that the remedies at law for any breach by you may be inadequate, 
and that the Company may be entitled to institute and prosecute legal proceedings to obtain injunctive relief to enforce any provision without proof of actual injury or damage and without posting security. If the Company 
prevails in any litigation to enforce this Agreement, the Company is entitled to recover from you the Company’s costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in such enforcement.  

9.         Miscellaneous .  

(a) Governing Law; Venue . This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Indiana, without regard to conflicts of laws principles thereof. You and the 
Company agree that any claim of any type brought by you against the Company or any of its employees or agents must be maintained only in a court sitting in Marion County, Indiana or, if a federal court, the Southern 
District of Indiana. You specifically consent to personal jurisdiction in the State of Indiana. You waive any right to a jury trial, and agree that any claim hereunder will be tried without a jury. At the Company’s sole 
election, the Company may refer any litigation to arbitration through a mutually agreeable qualified arbitrator in Indiana  

(b) Compliance with Code Section 409A . This Agreement is intended to be exempt from the requirements of Internal Revenue Code Section 409A (“ Code Section 409A ”) and shall be interpreted and 
administered accordingly, provided that if any part of this Agreement is determined to be subject to Code Section 409A, then it is intended to comply with such requirements, and it shall be interpreted and administered to 
effect compliance. To effect such compliance, references to “termination of employment” and similar terms shall be deemed to mean “separation from service” within the meaning of Code Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i). 
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, to the extent that any payments of “nonqualified deferred compensation” that become payable pursuant to this Agreement as a result of a “separation from service” are 
required to be delayed because you are a “specified employee” within the meaning of Code Section 409A, such payments will be made at the earliest time permitted by Code Section 409A.  
   

(c) Entire Agreement; Amendment . This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties with respect to your employment by the Company and supersedes all prior written and oral statements or 
agreements. There are no restrictions, agreements, promises, warranties, covenants or undertakings between the parties with respect to the subject matter herein other than those expressly set forth herein. This Agreement 
may not be altered, modified, or amended except by written instrument signed by the parties hereto.  

(d) Successors; Assignment . This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees 
of the parties hereto. This Agreement and all of your rights and duties hereunder, shall not be assignable by you. Any purported assignment or delegation in violation of the foregoing shall be null and void ab initio and of 
no force or effect.  

(e) Set Off; No Mitigation . The Company’s obligation to pay you the amounts and to make the arrangements provided hereunder shall be subject to set-off, counterclaim or recoupment of amounts owed by 
you to the Company or its affiliates (subject to Section 9(b)); provided, however, that in no event shall you be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to 
you under Section 5 of this Agreement.  
 
 



 
 

(f) Notice . Notices and other communications provided for in the Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when delivered by hand, U.S. Mail or overnight courier, 
addressed, if to the Company, to Stonegate Mortgage Corporation, 9190 Priority Way West Drive, Suite 300, Indianapolis, IN 46240 Attn: CEO, and if to you, to the most recent address in the Company’s personnel 
records (or to such other address as either party may have furnished to the other in writing) which notice will be effective only upon receipt.  

(g) Withholding Taxes . The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement such Federal, state and local taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or 
regulation.  

(h) Pre Suit Mediation . Prior to initiating litigation, you must first serve written notice to the Company within 90 days of the alleged loss setting forth in detail the nature of the alleged claim and an itemization 
of remedies sought. You must then submit to mediation in good faith, bearing 50% of the mediation expense. Failure to serve proper notice or to mediate in good faith shall serve as a waiver of any rights to pursue 
litigation.  

(i) Executive Acknowledgements . You acknowledge and agree that you have carefully read this entire Agreement and have been given sufficient opportunity to discuss this Agreement with the Company 
before signing and an adequate opportunity to consult with your lawyer, accountant, tax advisor, spouse and other persons you deem appropriate concerning this Agreement.  

(j) Subsequent Employers . After any termination of your employment with the Company, you agree not to enter into any agreement that conflicts with your obligations under this Agreement, and you will (and 
the Company may) inform any subsequent employers of your obligations under this Agreement.  
   

(k) Other . A party’s failure to insist upon strict adherence to any term of this Agreement on any occasion shall not be considered a waiver of such party’s rights or deprive such party of the right thereafter to 
insist upon strict adherence to that term or any other term of this Agreement. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be unenforceable, the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect, and if any 
provision is susceptible to two or more constructions, one of which would render the provision unenforceable, then the provision shall be construed to have the meaning that renders it enforceable. This Agreement may be 
signed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures were on the same instrument.  
   

If you agree with the preceding please sign and return this Agreement, which will become a binding agreement on our receipt.  
   

Accepted and agreed:  

   /s/ Robert Eastep                                  
Robert Eastep  
   

 

 
 
 

      

Very truly yours,  
   
S TONEGATE  M ORTGAGE  C ORPORATION  

    

By:       /s/ James J. Cutillo          

  

James J. Cutillo, CEO  
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AMENDMENT NO. 1  
TO MASTER REPURCHASE AGREEMENT  

Amendment No. 1 to Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2014 (this “ Amendment ”), by and between Bank of America, N.A. (“ Buyer ”) and Stonegate 
Mortgage Corporation (“ Seller ”).  

RECITALS  

Buyer and Seller are parties to that certain Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2013 (as amended from time to time, the “ Existing Master 
Repurchase Agreement ”; and as amended by this Amendment, the “ Master Repurchase Agreement ”).  

Buyer and Seller have agreed, subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment, that the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement be amended to reflect certain 
agreed upon revisions to the terms of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement.  

Accordingly, Buyer and Seller hereby agree, in consideration of the mutual promises and mutual obligations set forth herein, that the Existing Master Repurchase 
Agreement is hereby amended as follows:  

Section 1. Delivery of Mortgage Loan Documents . Section 3.3 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting clause 
(c) in its entirety and replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

Section 2. Repurchase Acceleration Events . Section 4.2 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by (a) deleting “or” at the 
end of clause (i), (b) deleting the “.” at the end of clause (j) and replacing it with “; or” and (c) adding the following clause (k) at the end thereof:  

Section 3. Servicing . Section 6.2 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting clause (n) in its entirety and 
replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

 
 

(c)  Pooled Mortgage Loans . With respect to a Transaction the subject of which is a Pooled Mortgage Loan, Seller shall deliver to Buyer or its Custodian, as 
applicable, the related Agency Documents in accordance with and pursuant to the terms of Section 7.2(d) hereof and the Custodial Agreement and Seller shall 
cause the Custodian to deliver a trust receipt to Buyer with respect to such Mortgage Loans in accordance with the terms of the Custodial Agreement. In addition, 
Seller shall deliver to Buyer a duly executed Trade Assignment together with a true and complete copy of the Purchase Commitment with respect to the related 
Mortgage-Backed Security in accordance with and pursuant to the terms of Section 7.2(d) and Section 7.2(q) .  

(k)  with respect to any Pooled Mortgage Loan or Mortgage-Backed Security, if the Seller has failed to deliver the related Trade Assignment to Buyer in accordance 
with the requirements set forth in Section 7.2(q).  

(n)  Termination . Buyer shall have the right at any time to immediately terminate the Seller’s or any Servicer’s (as applicable) right to service the Purchased 
Mortgage  



 
 

Loans due to a Servicer Termination Event or for any other reason without payment of any penalty or termination fee. Seller shall cooperate, or cause the 
Servicer to cooperate, in transferring the servicing of the Purchased Mortgage Loans to a successor servicer appointed by Buyer. For the avoidance of doubt any 
termination of the Servicer’s rights to service by the Buyer as a result of a Servicer Termination Event or an Event of Default shall be deemed part of an exercise 
of the Buyer’s rights to cause the liquidation, termination or acceleration of this Agreement .  
Section 4. Conditions Precedent . Section 7.2 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by:  

1. deleting clause (a)(iii) in its entirety and replacing it with the following:  

(iii)      [reserved];  
2. (a) deleting “and” at the end of clause (a)(iv), (b) deleting the remainder of such Section 7.2(a) following clause (iv) and (c) adding the following at the 

end thereof:  

3. deleting clause (d) in its entirety and replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

4. (a) deleting “and” at the end of clause (o), (b) deleting the “.” at the end of clause (p) and replacing it with “; and” and (c) adding the following clause 
(q) immediately after clause (p) thereof:  

 
 

(v)  a schedule identifying each Asset subject to the proposed Transaction as either a Safe Harbor Qualified Mortgage, a Rebuttable Presumption Qualified Mortgage 
or a Bond Loan - 1 st Lien, as applicable; and  

(vi)  such other documents pertaining to the Transaction as Buyer may reasonably request, from time to time; 

(d)  on or prior to the Pooling Date for any Pooled Mortgage Loan, Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered (A) to Buyer, an executed trust receipt from the 
Custodian relating to such Mortgage Loan in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer, (B) to the Custodian (or otherwise made available to the Custodian), all 
documents, schedules and forms required by and in accordance with Section 3 of the Custodial Agreement, (C) to Buyer, a copy of each of the applicable Agency 
Documents, and (D) to Buyer, a Trade Assignment executed by such Seller that satisfies the requirements set forth in Section 7.2(q) ;  

(a)  Seller hereby acknowledges that, in order for Buyer to satisfy the “good delivery standards” of the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (“
SIFMA ”) as set forth in the SIFMA Uniform Practices Manual and SIFMA’s Uniform Practices for the Clearance and Settlement of Mortgage Backed Securities 
and other Related Securities, in each case, as amended from time to time, Buyer must deliver each Trade Assignment in respect of Pooled Mortgage Loans or 
Mortgage-Backed Securities to the related Approved Investor no later than seventy-two (72) hours prior to settlement of the related Mortgage-Backed Security. 
Seller hereby acknowledges and agrees to deliver to Buyer, in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer and not later than 1:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the 
date on which such seventy-two (72) hour period commences, each related Trade Assignment (solely to the extent such Pooled Mortgage Loan is not pooled with 
Mortgage Loans financed by a third party pursuant to a joint pooling arrangement) executed by Seller, together with a true and complete copy of the related 
Purchase Commitment for any Assets subject to the proposed Transaction that are subject to a Purchase Commitment.  



 
 

Section 5. Financial Statements and Other Reports . Section 9.1 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting clauses (d) 
and (g) in their entirety and replacing them with the following, respectively (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

Section 6. Notice . Section 9.3 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting clause (b) in its entirety and replacing 
it with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

Section 7. Fidelity Bonds and Insurance . Section 9.9 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such section in 
its entirety and replacing it with the following:  

Section 8. Additional Repurchase or Warehouse Facility . Section 9.13 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by 
deleting such section in its entirety and replacing it with the following:  

 
 

(d)  Investor Report Cards . Seller shall deliver to Buyer within five (5) Business Days of a request from Buyer, the most recent report cards from all investors who 
purchase 10% or more of Seller’s production.  

(g)  Reports and Information Regarding Purchased Assets . Seller shall deliver to Buyer, with reasonable promptness upon Buyer’s request: (i) copies of any reports 
related to the Purchased Assets , (ii) copies of all documentation in connection with the underwriting and origination of any Purchased Asset that evidences 
compliance with the Ability to Repay Rule and the QM Rule, as applicable, and (iii) any other information in Seller’s possession related to the Purchased Assets.  

(b)  any action, suit or proceeding instituted by or against Seller in any federal or state court or before any commission or other regulatory body (federal, state or 
local, foreign or domestic), or any such action, suit or proceeding threatened against Seller, in any case, if such action, suit or proceeding, or any such action, suit 
or proceeding threatened against Seller, (i) involves a potential liability, on an individual or aggregate basis, equal to or greater than ten percent (10%) of Seller’s 
Tangible Net Worth, (ii) is reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect if determined adversely, (iii) questions or challenges the validity or 
enforceability of any of the Principal Agreements or (iv) questions or challenges compliance of any Purchased Asset with the Ability to Repay Rule or the QM 
Rule;  

9.9  Fidelity Bonds and Insurance . Seller shall maintain an insurance policy, in a form and substance satisfactory to Buyer, covering against loss or damage relating 
to or resulting from any breach of fidelity by Seller, or any officer, director, employee or agent of Seller, any loss or destruction of documents (whether written or 
electronic), fraud, theft, misappropriation and errors and omissions, such that Buyer shall have the right to pursue any claim for coverage available to any named 
insured to the full extent allowed by law. This policy shall name Buyer as a loss payee with an unlimited right of action and shall provide coverage in an amount 
as required by the Fannie Mae Guide. Following approval by Buyer of a specific insurance policy, Seller shall not amend, cancel, suspend or otherwise change 
such policy without the prior written consent of Buyer.  

9.13  Additional Repurchase or Warehouse Facility . Subject to Section 10.12 , Seller shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement, with nationally recognized 
and established counterparties (other than Buyer) loan repurchase or warehouse facilities  



 
 

that provide funding on an aggregate basis in an amount equal to at least the Aggregate Transaction Limit and accommodates wet mortgage loans in an amount 
not less than the amount provided hereunder.  
Section 9. Most Favored Status . Section 9.16 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting it in its entirety and 

replacing it with the following:  

Section 10. Events of Default . Section 11.1 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting clauses (h) and (s) in their 
entirety and replacing them with the following, respectively:  

(s)      [reserved];  
Section 11. Remedies . Section 11.2 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting clause (e) in its entirety and 

replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

Section 12. Indemnification . Section 12.1 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting it in its entirety and 
replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

 
 

9.16  Reserved . 

(h)  (i) the failure of Seller to perform, comply with or observe any term, covenant or agreement applicable to Seller as contained in Sections 9.4 , 9.12 , 9.13 , 9.17 , 
10.1 , 10.3 , 10.5 , 10.6 , 10.7 , 10.8 , 10.9 , 10.10 or 10.12 of this Agreement, irrespective of any cure period, or (ii) the failure of Seller to perform, comply with 
or observe any other term, covenant or agreement applicable to Seller as contained in this Agreement and such occurrence shall not have been remedied within 
three (3) Business Days;  

(e)  either (x) sell, without notice or demand of any kind, at a public or private sale and at such price or prices as Buyer may deem to be commercially reasonable for 
cash or for future delivery without assumption of any credit risk, any or all or portions of the Purchased Assets on a servicing-retained or servicing-released basis; 
provided that Buyer may purchase any or all of the Purchased Assets at any public or private sale; provided further that Seller shall remain liable to Buyer for any 
amounts that remain owing to Buyer following any such sale and/or credit; or (y) in its sole discretion elect, in lieu of selling all or a portion of such Purchased 
Assets, to give Seller credit for such Purchased Assets (including credit for the Servicing Rights in respect of sales on a servicing-retained basis) in an amount 
equal to the Market Value of the Purchased Assets against the aggregate unpaid Repurchase Price and any other amounts owing by Seller hereunder. Seller shall 
remain liable to Buyer for any amounts that remain owing to Buyer following a sale and/or credit under the preceding sentence ;  

12.1  Indemnification . Seller shall indemnify and hold harmless each of the Bank of America Related Entities and any of their respective officers, directors, 
employees, agents and advisors (each, an “ Indemnified Party ”) from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, judgments, suits, 
costs, expenses and disbursements of any kind whatsoever (including reasonable fees and disbursements of its counsel) that may be imposed upon, incurred by or 
asserted against such Indemnified Party in any way relating to or arising out of the Principal Agreements, any other document referred to therein or any of the 
transactions contemplated thereby, or any Purchased Assets or Seller’s obligations thereunder, except to the extent any such liability, obligation, loss, damage, 
penalty, judgment, suit, cost, expense or  



 
 

disbursement resulted directly from such Indemnified Party’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. Seller also agrees to reimburse an Indemnified Party as and 
when billed by such Indemnified Party for all such Indemnified Party’s reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with the enforcement or the 
preservation of such Indemnified Party’s rights under this Agreement, any other Principal Agreement (provided that if the terms of any Principal Agreement 
conflict with the foregoing, the terms of the Principal Agreement shall control) or any transaction contemplated hereby or thereby, including without limitation 
the reasonable fees and disbursements of its counsel.  
Section 13. Integration; Servicing Provisions Integral and Non-Severable . Section 14.1 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby 

amended by deleting it in its entirety and replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

Section 14. Notice Information . Section 14.11 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by:  
1. deleting the address for notices to Buyer in clause (a) in its entirety and replacing it with the following:  
 

4500 Park Granada  
 
 

14.1  Integration; Servicing Provisions Integral and Non-Severable . This Agreement, together with the other Principal Agreements, and all other documents executed 
pursuant to the terms hereof and thereof, constitute the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any and all 
prior or contemporaneous oral or written communications with respect to the subject matter hereof, all of which such communications are merged herein. All 
Transactions hereunder constitute a single business and contractual relationship and each Transaction has been entered into in consideration of the other 
Transactions. Accordingly, each of Buyer and the Seller agrees that payments, deliveries, and other transfers made by either of them in respect of any Transaction 
shall be deemed to have been made in consideration of payments, deliveries, and other transfers in respect of any other Transactions hereunder, and the 
obligations to make any such payments, deliveries, and other transfers may be applied against each other and netted. Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, the provisions of this Agreement related to the servicing and Servicing Rights of the Purchased Mortgage Loans are integral, interrelated, and are non-
severable from the purchase and sale provisions of the Agreement. Buyer has relied upon such provisions as being integral and non-severable in determining 
whether to enter into this Agreement and in determining the Purchase Price methodology for such Mortgage Loans. The integration of these servicing provisions 
is necessary to enable Buyer to obtain the maximum value from the sale of the Purchased Mortgage Loans by having the ability to sell the Servicing Rights 
related to such Purchased Mortgage Loans free from any claims or encumbrances. Further, the fact that Seller or the Servicer may be entitled to a servicing fee 
for interim servicing of the Purchased Mortgage Loans or that Buyer may provide a separate notice of default to Seller or the Servicer regarding the servicing of 
the Purchased Mortgage Loans shall not affect or otherwise change the intent of Seller and Buyer regarding the integral and non- severable nature of the 
provisions in the Agreement related to servicing and Servicing Rights nor will such facts affect or otherwise change Buyer’s ownership of the Servicing Rights 
related to the Purchased Mortgage Loans.  

If to Buyer:  Bank of America, N.A. 



 
 

Mail Code: CA7-910-02-38  
Calabasas, California 91302  
Attention: Adam Gadsby, Managing Director  
Telephone: (818) 225-6541  
Facsimile: (213) 457-8707  
Email: Adam.Gadsby@baml.com  

With copies to:  
 
Bank of America, N.A.  
One Bryant Park, 11th Floor  
Mail Code: NY1-100-11-01  
New York, New York 10036  
Attention: Eileen Albus, Director, Mortgage Finance  
Telephone:  (646) 855-0946  
Facsimile:  (646) 855-5050  
Email: Eileen.Albus@baml.com  

and  
 

Bank of America, N.A.  
One Bryant Park  
New York, New York 10036  
Mail Code: NY1-100-17-01  

Attention: Michael J. Berg, Assistant General Counsel  
Telephone: (646) 855-0706  
Facsimile: (212) 378-3460  
Email: Michael.J.Berg@bankofamerica.com  

2. deleting the address for emails to Buyer in clause (b) in its entirety and replacing it with the following:  

If to Buyer:      Adam.Gadsby@baml.com,  
Adam.Robitshek@baml.com,  
Eileen.Albus@baml.com and  
Michael.J.Berg@bankofamerica.com.  

Section 15. Examination and Oversight . Section 14.24 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such section in 
its entirety and replacing it with the following:  

Section 16. Definitions . Exhibit A to the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by:  
1. deleting the definitions of “ Aggregate Rate Lock ” and “ Recourse Debt ” in their entirety and all references thereto;  
2. deleting the definitions of “ Bond Loan - 1 st Lien ”, “ FICO Score ”, “ Liquidity ”, “ One-Month LIBOR ”, “ Other Mortgage Loan Documents ”, “ Strict 

Compliance ” and “ Transaction ” in their entirety and replacing them with the following, respectively (modified text underlined for review purposes):  
 
 

14.24  Examination and Oversight by Regulators . Seller agrees that the transactions with Buyer under this Agreement may be subject to regulatory examination and 
oversight by one or more Governmental Authorities . Seller shall comply with all requests made by Buyer to assist Buyer in complying with regulatory 
requirements imposed on Buyer.  



 
 

Bond Loan - 1st Lien : Unless defined otherwise in the Transactions Terms Letter, a first lien mortgage loan (i) that was originated and underwritten in accordance with 
a qualifying local or state governmental homeownership program administered by a Housing Finance Agency (as defined under 24 CFR 266.5) and (ii) with respect to 
which Seller has obtained a Purchase Commitment on or prior to the related Purchase Date.  

FICO Score : The credit score of the Mortgagor provided by Fair, Isaac & Company, Inc. or such other organization providing credit scores on the origination date of a 
Mortgage Loan; provided, that if (a) two separate credit scores are obtained on such origination date, the FICO Score shall be the lower credit score; and (b) three 
separate credit scores are obtained on such origination date, the FICO Score shall be middle credit score .  

Liquidity : As of any date of determination, the sum of (a) Seller’s unrestricted and unencumbered cash and Cash Equivalents, (b) the balance in the Over/Under 
Account exclusive of funds held due to a Margin Deficit or Margin Call and (c) that portion of the Aggregate Transaction Limit that is not currently used for outstanding 
transactions and for which the Seller has unencumbered Mortgage Loans that are otherwise eligible . By way of example but not limitation, cash in escrow and/or 
impound accounts shall not be included in this calculation.  

One-Month LIBOR : The daily rate per annum (rounded to three (3) decimal places) for one-month U.S. dollar denominated deposits as offered to prime banks in the 
London interbank market, as published on the Official ICE LIBOR Fixings page by Bloomberg or in the Wall Street Journal as of the date of determination; provided, 
that if Buyer determines that any law, regulation, treaty or directive or any change therein or in the interpretation or application thereof, or any circumstance materially 
and adversely affecting the London interbank market, shall make it unlawful, impractical or commercially unreasonable for Buyer to enter into or maintain Transactions 
as contemplated by this Agreement using One-Month LIBOR, then Buyer may, in addition to its rights under Section 4.5 herein, select an alternative rate of interest or 
index in its discretion .  

Other Mortgage Loan Documents : In addition to the Mortgage Loan Documents, with respect to any Mortgage Loan, the following: (i) the original recorded 
Mortgage, if not included in the Mortgage Loan Documents; (ii) a copy of the preliminary title commitment showing the policy number or preliminary attorney’s 
opinion of title and the original policy of mortgagee’s title insurance or unexpired commitment for a policy of mortgagee’s title insurance, if not included in the 
Mortgage Loan Documents; (iii) the original Closing Protection Letter and a copy of the Irrevocable Closing Instructions; (iv) the original Purchase Commitment, if any; 
(v) the original FHA certificate of insurance or commitment to insure, the VA certificate of guaranty or commitment to guaranty and the Insurer’s certificate or 
commitment to insure, as applicable; (vi) the survey, flood certificate, hazard insurance policy and flood insurance policy, as applicable; (vii) the original of any 
assumption, modification, consolidation or extension agreements, with evidence of recording thereon or copies stamp certified by an authorized officer of Seller to have 
been sent for recording, if any; (viii) copies of each instrument necessary to complete identification of any exception set forth in the exception schedule in the title 
policy; (ix) the loan application; (x) verification of the Mortgagor’s employment and income, if applicable; (xi) verification of the source and amount of the 
downpayment; (xii) credit report on Mortgagor; (xiii) appraisal of the Mortgaged Property (or in the case of any HARP Mortgage Loan, an appraisal or a waiver thereof, 
and/or a point value estimate, as permitted by the applicable Agency Guides); (xiv) the original  

 
 



 
 

executed disclosure statement; (xv) Tax receipts, insurance premium receipts, ledger sheets, payment records, insurance claim files and correspondence, current and 
historical computerized data files, underwriting standards used for origination and all other related papers and records; (xvi) the original of any guarantee executed in 
connection with the Mortgage Note (if any); (xvii) the original of any security agreement, chattel mortgage or equivalent document executed in connection with the 
Mortgage; (xviii) all copies of powers of attorney or similar instruments, if applicable; (xix) copies of all documentation in connection with the underwriting and 
origination of any Purchased Mortgage Loan that evidences compliance with the Ability to Repay Rule and the QM Rule; and (xx) all other documents relating to the 
Purchased Mortgage Loan.  

Strict Compliance : The compliance of Seller and Mortgage Loans that are intended to be Agency Eligible Mortgage Loans with the requirements of the applicable 
Agency Guide, as applicable and as amended by any agreements between Seller and the applicable Agency, sufficient to enable Seller to issue and Ginnie Mae to 
guarantee or Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac to issue and guarantee a Mortgage-Backed Security; provided, that until copies of any such agreements between Seller and 
Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae , as applicable, have been provided to Buyer by Seller and agreed to by Buyer, such agreements shall be deemed, as between 
Seller and Buyer, not to amend the requirements of the applicable Agency Guide.  

Transaction : As set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.  
3. deleting clause (d) of the definition of “Insolvency Event” in its entirety and replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review 

purposes):  

4. deleting clause (h) of the definition of “ Purchased Items ” in its entirety and replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review 
purposes):  

5. adding the following definitions in their proper alphabetical order:  

Ability to Repay Rule : 12 CFR 1026.43(c), including all applicable official staff commentary.  

Merchants Bank Agreement : That certain Amended and Restated Master Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2013, between Seller and Merchants Bank of 
Indiana.  

 
 

(d)  involuntary proceedings or an involuntary petition shall be commenced or filed against such Person under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law or seeking 
the dissolution, liquidation or reorganization of such Person or the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, conservator or liquidator for such Person or of a 
substantial part of the property, assets or business of such Person, or any writ, order, judgment, warrant of attachment, execution or similar process shall be issued 
or levied against a substantial part of the property, assets or business of such Person, and such proceeding or petition shall not be dismissed, or such execution or 
similar process shall not be released, vacated or fully bonded, within sixty (60) days after commencement, filing or levy, as the case may be.  

(h)  all Servicing Rights related to the Purchased Mortgage Loans, all related Servicing Records, and all rights of Seller to receive from any third party or to take 
delivery of any Servicing Records or other documents which constitute a part of the Mortgage Loan Files, all rights of Seller to receive from any third party or to 
take delivery of any records or other documents which constitute a part of the Mortgage Loan Files, including, without limitation, the Other Mortgage Loan 
Documents ;  



 
 

QM Rule : 12 CFR 1026.43(e), including all applicable official staff commentary.  

Qualified Mortgage : A Mortgage Loan that satisfies the criteria for a “qualified mortgage” as set forth in the QM Rule.  

Rebuttable Presumption Qualified Mortgage : A Qualified Mortgage with an annual percentage rate that exceeds the average prime offer rate for a comparable 
mortgage loan as of the date the interest rate is set by 1.5 or more percentage points for a first-lien Mortgage Loan or by 3.5 or more percentage points for a subordinate-
lien Mortgage Loan.  

Safe Harbor Qualified Mortgage : A Qualified Mortgage with an annual percentage rate that does not exceed the average prime offer rate for a comparable mortgage 
loan as of the date the interest rate is set by 1.5 or more percentage points for a first-lien Mortgage Loan or by 3.5 or more percentage points for a subordinate-lien 
Mortgage Loan.  

Texas Cash-Out Refinance Mortgage Loan : A Mortgage Loan originated in the state of Texas pursuant to Article XVI, Section 50(a)(6) of the Texas Constitution.  

Total Marginable Assets : As of any date of determination, in accordance with GAAP, the sum of all assets of Seller subject to “margin”, including but not limited to 
(i) mortgage loans held for sale, (ii) derivative assets less derivative liabilities and (iii) mortgage servicing rights, and (iv) loans held for investment, real estate owned 
property, and servicing advances if financed.  

Section 17. Representations and Warranties . Exhibit L to the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by:  
1. deleting clauses (b) and (xx) in their entirety and replacing them with the following, respectively (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

 
 

(b)  Purchase Commitment; Trade Assignment . Unless otherwise stated in the Transactions Terms Letter, the Asset is covered by a Purchase Commitment that 
permits assignment thereof to Buyer, (i) does not exceed the availability under such Purchase Commitment (taking into consideration mortgage loans or 
securities, as applicable, which have been purchased by the respective Approved Investor under the Purchase Commitment), ( ii ) conforms to the requirements 
and the specifications set forth in such Purchase Commitment and the related regulations, rules, requirements and/or handbooks of the applicable Approved 
Investor, and ( iii ) is eligible for sale to and insurance or guaranty by, respectively, the applicable Approved Investor and any applicable insurer. Each such 
Purchase Commitment is enforceable, in full force and effect, and if such Asset is a Pooled Mortgage Loan, such Purchase Commitment is validly and effectively 
assigned to Buyer or a third party appointed by Buyer, as applicable, pursuant to a Trade Assignment. Each such Trade Assignment is enforceable and in full 
force and effect, and was delivered by Seller to Buyer in accordance with the requirements set forth in Section 7.2(q) . Each Purchase Commitment and Trade 
Assignment is a legal, valid and binding obligation of Seller enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and 
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject, as to enforceability, to general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a 
proceeding in equity or at law).  



 
 

2. adding the following clauses (fff) and (ggg) at the end thereof:  

(i)      Such Mortgage Loan is a Qualified Mortgage;  

Section 18. Fees and Expenses . Seller hereby agrees to pay to Buyer, on demand, any and all reasonable fees, costs and expenses (including 
reasonable fees and expenses of counsel) incurred by Buyer in connection with the development, preparation and execution of this Amendment, irrespective of whether any 
transactions hereunder are executed.  

Section 19. Conditions Precedent . This Amendment shall become effective as of the date hereof upon Buyer’s receipt of this Amendment, executed and 
delivered by a duly authorized officer of Buyer and Seller.  

Section 20. Limited Effect . Except as expressly amended and modified by this Amendment, the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement shall continue to 
be, and shall remain, in full force and effect in accordance with its terms.  

Section 21. Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed by each of the parties hereto on any number of separate counterparts, each of which shall be 
an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  

Section 22. Severability . Each provision and agreement herein shall be treated as separate and independent from any other provision or agreement herein 
and shall be enforceable notwithstanding the unenforceability of any such other provision or agreement.  

Section 23. GOVERNING LAW . This AMENDMENT and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be construed in accordance with and 
governed by the laws of the State of New York, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws (other than Section 5-1401 of the New York General Obligations Law) .  
 
 

(xx)  Points and Fees . All points and fees related to the Mortgage Loan were disclosed in writing to the Mortgagor in accordance with applicable state and federal law 
and regulation. The points and fees related to such Mortgage Loan (other than a Bond Loan - 1 st Lien) did not exceed 3% of the total loan amount (or such other 
applicable limits for lower balance Mortgages) as specified under 12 CFR 1026.43(e)(3), and the points and fees were calculated using the calculation required 
for qualified mortgages under 12 CFR 1026.32(b) to determine compliance with applicable requirements .  

(fff)  Qualified Mortgage . Each Mortgage Loan other than a Bond Loan - 1 st Lien satisfies the following criteria: 

(ii)  Such Mortgage Loan is accurately identified in writing to Buyer as either a Safe Harbor Qualified Mortgage or a Rebuttable Presumption Qualified 
Mortgage;  

(iii)  Prior to the origination of such Mortgage Loan, the related originator made a reasonable and good faith determination that the related Mortgagor would 
have a reasonable ability to repay such Mortgage Loan according to its terms, in accordance with, at a minimum, the eight underwriting factors set 
forth in 12 CFR 1026.43(c)(2); and  

(iv)  Such Mortgage Loan is supported by documentation that evidences compliance with the Ability to Repay Rule and the QM Rule. 

(ggg)  Ability to Repay Determination . There is no action, suit or proceeding instituted by or against or threatened against Seller in any federal or state court or before 
any commission or other regulatory body (federal, state or local, foreign or domestic) that questions or challenges the compliance of any Mortgage Loan (or the 
related underwriting) with the Ability to Repay Rule or the QM Rule.  



 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  
Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Master Repurchase Agreement  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their names to be signed hereto by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the day and year first 
above written.  

Bank of America, N.A., as Buyer  

By: _/s/ Adam Robitshek __________________  

Name: Adam Robitshek  

Title: Vice President  

 

STONEGATE MORTGAGE CORPORATION, as Seller  

By: _/s/ John Macke ______________________  

Name: John Macke  

Title: EVP - Capital Markets  

 

 
 
 
 



 
 

Exhibit 10.21 
 

AMENDMENT NO. 4 TO  
MORTGAGE LOAN PARTICIPATION PURCHASE AND SALE AGREE MENT  

Amendment No. 4 to Mortgage Loan Participation Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2014 (this “ Amendment ”), by and between Bank of America, 
N.A. (“ Purchaser ”) and Stonegate Mortgage Corporation (“ Seller ”).  

RECITALS  

Purchaser and Seller are parties to that certain Mortgage Loan Participation Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2013 (as amended from time to time, the 
“ Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement ”; and as amended by this Amendment, the “ Purchase and Sale Agreement ”).  

Purchaser and Seller have agreed, subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment, that the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement be amended to reflect certain 
agreed upon revisions to the terms of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement.  

Accordingly, Purchaser and Seller hereby agree, in consideration of the mutual promises and mutual obligations set forth herein, that the Existing Purchase and Sale 
Agreement is hereby amended as follows:  

Section 1. Definitions . Section 1 of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by:  
1. deleting the definitions of “ Effective Date ”, “ Expiration Date ”, “ Liquidity ”, “ Material Adverse Effect ”, “ Participation Certificate ”, “ Strict Compliance ” , 

“ Takeout Commitment ” and “ Takeout Investor ” in their entirety and replacing them with the following, respectively (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

“ Effective Date ”: May 12, 2014 .  

“ Expiration Date ”: The earlier of (i) May 11, 2015 , (ii) at Purchaser’s option, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, and (iii) the date on which this Agreement 
shall terminate in accordance with the provisions hereof or by operation of law.  

“ Liquidity ”: As of any date of determination, the sum of (a) Seller’s unrestricted and unencumbered cash and Cash Equivalents, (b) the balance in the Over/Under 
Account exclusive of funds held due to a Margin Deficit or Margin Call (each as defined in the Master Repurchase Agreement) and (c) that portion of the Aggregate 
Transaction Limit (as defined in the Master Repurchase Agreement) that is not currently used for outstanding transactions thereunder and for which the Seller has 
unencumbered Mortgage Loans that are otherwise eligible thereunder . By way of example but not limitation, cash in escrow and/or impound accounts shall not be 
included in this calculation.  

“ Material Adverse Effect ”: Any of the following: (i) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect upon, the operations, business, properties, condition 
(financial or otherwise) or prospects of Seller or any Affiliate that is a party to any Program Document taken as a whole, (ii) a material impairment of the ability of Seller 
or any Affiliate that is a party to any Program Document to perform under any Program Document and to avoid any Event of Default, (iii) a material adverse effect upon 
the legality, validity, binding effect or  

 
 



 
 

enforceability of any Program Document against Seller or any Affiliate that is a party to any Program Document, (iv) a material adverse effect on the rights and remedies 
of Purchaser under any of the Program Documents, (v) a material adverse effect on the marketability, collectability, value or enforceability of a material portion of the 
Related Mortgage Loans or Securities purchased by Purchaser hereunder , or (vi) a material adverse effect on the Approvals of Seller, in each case as determined by 
Purchaser in its sole good faith discretion .  

“ Participation Certificate ”: A GNMA Participation Certificate, a FNMA Participation Certificate or a FHLMC Participation Certificate, as applicable , that is purchased 
by Purchaser under the Purchase and Sale Agreement .  

“ Strict Compliance ”: Compliance of Seller and the Related Mortgage Loans with the requirements of the GNMA Guide, FNMA Guide, or FHLMC Guide, as 
applicable and as amended by any agreements between Seller and the Applicable Agency, sufficient to enable Seller to issue and GNMA to guarantee or FNMA or 
FHLMC to issue and guarantee a Security; provided, that until copies of any such agreements between Seller and GNMA , FNMA or FHLMC, as applicable, have been 
provided to Purchaser by Seller and agreed to by Purchaser, such agreements shall be deemed, as between Seller and Purchaser, not to amend the requirements of the 
GNMA Guide, FNMA Guide, or FHLMC Guide, as applicable.  

“ Takeout Commitment ”: A fully executed trade confirmation from the Takeout Investor to Seller confirming the details of a forward trade between the Takeout 
Investor and Seller with respect to one or more Securities relating to a Participation Certificate, which trade confirmation shall be enforceable and in full force and effect, 
and shall be validly and effectively assigned to Purchaser pursuant to a Trade Assignment, and relate to pools of Related Mortgage Loans that satisfy the “good delivery 
standards” as more particularly set forth in Section 3 hereof .  

“ Takeout Investor ”: Any of (i) Bank of America, N.A., (ii) Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated or (iii) any other Approved Investor with which there is 
a duly executed and enforceable Trade Assignment in favor of Purchaser.  

2. adding the following definitions of “ Ability to Repay Rule ”, “ Merchants Bank Agreement ”, “ One-Month LIBOR ”, “ QM Rule ”, “ Qualified 
Mortgage ”, “ Rebuttable Presumption Qualified Mortgage ”, “ Safe Harbor Qualified Mortgage ” and “ Total Marginable Assets ” in their proper alphabetical order:  

“ Ability to Repay Rule ”: 12 CFR 1026.43(c), including all applicable official staff commentary.  

“ Merchants Bank Agreement ”: That certain Amended and Restated Master Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2013, between Seller and Merchants Bank of 
Indiana.  

“ One-Month LIBOR ”: The daily rate per annum (rounded to four (4) decimal places) for one-month U.S. dollar denominated deposits as offered to prime banks in the 
London interbank market, as published on the Official ICE LIBOR Fixings page by Bloomberg or in the Wall Street Journal as of the date of determination; provided, 
that if Purchaser determines that any law, regulation, treaty or directive or any change therein or in the interpretation or application thereof, or any circumstance 
materially and adversely affecting the London interbank market, shall make it unlawful, impractical or commercially unreasonable for Purchaser to purchase  

 
 



 
 

Participation Certificates as contemplated by this Agreement using One-Month LIBOR, then Purchaser may select an alternative rate of interest or index in its discretion. 

“ QM Rule ”: 12 CFR 1026.43(e), including all applicable official staff commentary.  

“ Qualified Mortgage ”: A Related Mortgage Loan that satisfies the criteria for a “qualified mortgage” as set forth in the QM Rule.  

“ Rebuttable Presumption Qualified Mortgage ”: A Qualified Mortgage with an annual percentage rate that exceeds the average prime offer rate for a comparable 
mortgage loan as of the date the interest rate is set by 1.5 or more percentage points for a first-lien Related Mortgage Loan or by 3.5 or more percentage points for a 
subordinate-lien Related Mortgage Loan.  

“ Safe Harbor Qualified Mortgage ”: A Qualified Mortgage with an annual percentage rate that does not exceed the average prime offer rate for a comparable mortgage 
loan as of the date the interest rate is set by 1.5 or more percentage points for a first-lien Related Mortgage Loan or by 3.5 or more percentage points for a subordinate-
lien Related Mortgage Loan.  

“ Total Marginable Assets ”: As of any date of determination, in accordance with GAAP, the sum of all assets of Seller subject to “margin”, including but not limited to 
(i) mortgage loans held for sale, (ii) derivative assets less derivative liabilities and (iii) mortgage servicing rights, and (iv) loans held for investment, real estate owned 
property, and servicing advances if financed.  

3. deleting the definitions of “ Aggregate Rate Lock ”, “ LIBOR ”, “ Recourse Debt ” and “ Wiring Instructions ” in their entirety.  
4. All references to “ LIBOR ” shall refer to “ One-Month LIBOR ”.  
Section 2. Procedures for Purchases of Participation Certificates; Facility Fee . Section 2 of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended 

by deleting clause (a) in its entirety and replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

(a)      Purchaser may, in its sole discretion from time to time until the Expiration Date, but shall have no obligation to, purchase one or more Participation Certificates 
from Seller; provided , that the conditions set forth in Sections 10(a)(viii) and (ix) shall have been satisfied and the Aggregate Purchase Price of such Participation 
Certificates owned by Purchaser at any given time shall not exceed the Aggregate Transaction Limit; provided further , that no Potential Default or Event of Default 
exists. In connection with Purchaser’s purchase of any such Participation Certificate, Seller, on behalf of Purchaser, shall arrange for the Delivery to Purchaser of a 
Security backed by the Related Mortgage Loans, which Security shall be subject to a Takeout Commitment. The purchase of any Participation Certificate shall be 
subject to (i) the receipt by Purchaser of the documents listed in Exhibit C from Seller, in form and substance satisfactory to Purchaser, together with such other 
information as Purchaser may reasonably request, (ii) the execution of the Custodial Agreement relating to the Participation Certificate by Seller and Custodian and the 
Electronic Tracking Agreement relating to the Related Mortgage Loans by Seller, MERS and Electronic Agent, and delivery thereof to Purchaser , (iii) Purchaser’s 
determination that it has satisfactorily completed its due diligence review of Seller’s operations, business, financial condition and underwriting and origination of the 
Related Mortgage Loans, which review may be conducted by Purchaser from time to time, and (iv) the receipt by Purchaser of Seller’s wire instructions, in form and 
substance satisfactory to Purchaser . In accordance with the provisions of the Electronic  

 
 



 
 

Tracking Agreement, the Seller shall, at its sole cost and expense, (1) cause each Related Mortgage Loan with respect to which a Participation Certificate is to be sold to 
the Purchaser on a Purchase Date, the Mortgage for which is recorded in the name of MERS, to be designated a MERS Mortgage Loan and (2) cause the Purchaser to be 
designated an Associated Member (as defined in the MERS Procedure Manual attached as Exhibit B to the Electronic Tracking Agreement) with respect to each such 
MERS Mortgage Loan. Notwithstanding the satisfaction of the conditions specified in this Section 2(a) or anything else herein or in any other Program Document to the 
contrary, Purchaser is not obligated to purchase any Participation Certificate offered to it hereunder.  

Section 3. Takeout Commitments . Section 3 of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such section in its entirety 
and replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

Seller hereby assigns to Purchaser, free of any security interest, lien, claim or encumbrance of any kind, Seller’s rights under each Takeout Commitment to 
deliver the Security specified therein to the related Takeout Investor and to receive the purchase price therefor from such Takeout Investor. Subject to Purchaser’s rights 
hereunder, Purchaser agrees that it will satisfy the obligation under the Takeout Commitment to deliver the Security to the Takeout Investor on the Settlement Date 
specified therein. Seller understands that, as a result of this Section 3 and each Trade Assignment, Purchaser will succeed to the rights and obligations of Seller with 
respect to each Takeout Commitment subject to a Trade Assignment, and that in satisfying each such Takeout Commitment, Purchaser, will stand in the shoes of Seller 
and, consequently, will be acting as a non-dealer in exercising its rights and fulfilling its obligations assigned pursuant to this Section 3 and each Trade Assignment.  

Seller hereby acknowledges that, in order for Purchaser to satisfy the “good delivery standards”  of the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association 
(“SIFMA”) as set forth in the SIFMA Uniform Practices Manual and SIFMA’s Uniform Practices for the Clearance and Settlement of Mortgage Backed Securities and 
other Related Securities, in each case, as amended from time to time, Purchaser must deliver each Trade Assignment to the related Takeout Investor no later than 
seventy-two (72) hours prior to settlement of the related Security. Seller hereby acknowledges and agrees to deliver each Trade Assignment to Purchaser no later than 
1:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) on the date on which such seventy-two (72) hour period commences .  

Section 4. Servicing of the Mortgage Loans; Events of Default . Section 6 of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by 
deleting the first paragraph of clause (e) and clause (f) in their entirety and replacing them with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

(e)      Purchaser (or any other registered holder of the Related Participation Certificate) shall be entitled to (i) retain all Holdback Amounts in accordance with Section 4 , 
and all amounts on deposit in the Over/Under Account in accordance with Section 11 , (ii) declare all amounts payable by Seller to Purchaser hereunder to be 
immediately due and payable, (iii) effect termination of Seller’s subservicing rights and obligations respecting the affected Related Mortgage Loans as provided in 
Section 6(f) , (iv) take possession of the Related Mortgage Loans, including any records that pertain thereto, (v) proceed against Seller for any deficiencies, (vi) 
liquidate, terminate and accelerate this Agreement and all transactions hereunder, and (vii) pursue any other rights and/or remedies available at law or in equity  

 
 



 
 

against Seller, upon the occurrence of any of the following circumstances or events (“ Events of Default ”):  

(f)      Purchaser, in its sole discretion, may terminate Seller’s rights and obligations as subservicer of the affected Related Mortgage Loans and require Seller to deliver 
the related Servicing Records to Purchaser or its designee upon the occurrence of (i) an Event of Default, (ii) Seller’s failure to comply with any of its obligations set 
forth in Section 5(c) , or (iii) Seller’s breach of Sections 9(a)(viii) or 9(b)(ix) , by delivering written notice to Seller requiring such termination. For the avoidance of 
doubt, any termination of the Seller’s rights as subservicer of the affected Related Mortgage Loans by the Purchaser as a result of clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) of the foregoing 
sentence shall be deemed part of an exercise of the Purchaser’s rights to cause the liquidation, termination or acceleration of this Agreement . Such termination shall be 
effective upon Seller’s receipt of such written notice; provided , that Seller’s subservicing rights shall be terminated immediately upon the occurrence of any event 
described in Section 6(e)(iv) , regardless of whether notice of such event shall have been given to or by Purchaser or Seller. Upon any such termination, all authority and 
power of Seller respecting its rights to subservice and duties under this Agreement relating thereto, shall pass to and be vested in the Successor Servicer appointed by 
Purchaser and Purchaser is hereby authorized and empowered to transfer such rights to subservice the Related Mortgage Loans for such price and on such terms and 
conditions as Purchaser shall reasonably determine; provided , that to the extent the Applicable Agency proceeds to issue a Security with respect to the Related Mortgage 
Loans, Purchaser shall convey the servicing rights and the rights to subservice such Mortgage Loans in accordance with such Applicable Agency’s instructions. Seller 
shall promptly take such actions and furnish to Purchaser such documents that Purchaser deems necessary or appropriate to enable Purchaser to obtain a Security backed 
by such Mortgage Loans or to enforce such Mortgage Loans, as appropriate, and shall perform all acts and take all actions so that the Related Mortgage Loans and all 
files and documents relating to such Mortgage Loans held by Seller, together with all escrow amounts relating to such Mortgage Loans, are delivered to Successor 
Servicer, including but not limited to preparing, executing and delivering to the Successor Servicer any and all documents and other instruments, placing in the 
Successor Servicer’s possession all Servicing Records pertaining to such Mortgage Loans and doing or causing to be done, all at Seller’s sole expense. To the extent that 
the approval of the Applicable Agency is required for any such sale or transfer, Seller shall fully cooperate with Purchaser to obtain such approval. All amounts paid by 
any purchaser of such rights to service or subservice the Related Mortgage Loans shall be the property of Purchaser. The subservicing rights required to be delivered to 
Successor Servicer in accordance with this Section 6(f) shall be delivered free of any servicing rights in favor of Seller or any third party (other than Purchaser) and free 
of any title, interest, lien, encumbrance or claim of any kind of Seller other than bare legal title to the Mortgage Loans. No exercise by Purchaser of its rights under this 
Section 6(f) shall relieve Seller of responsibility or liability for any breach of this Agreement.  

Section 5. Record Title to Mortgage Loans; Intent of Parties; Security Interest . Section 8 of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby 
amended by deleting clause (c) in its entirety and replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

(c)      Purchaser and Seller confirm that the transactions contemplated herein are intended to be sales of the Participation Certificates by Seller to Purchaser rather than 
borrowings secured by the Participation Certificates. In the event, for any reason, any transaction is construed by any court or regulatory authority as a borrowing rather 
than as a sale, Seller and  

 
 



 
 

Purchaser intend that Purchaser or its Assignee, as the case may be, shall have a perfected first priority security interest in Seller’s interest in the Participation 
Certificates, all of the servicing rights with respect to the Related Mortgage Loans, the Custodial Account and all amounts on deposit therein, the Related Mortgage 
Loans subject to each Participation Certificate, all documents, records (including, without limitation , Servicing Records and copies of all documentation in connection 
with the underwriting and origination of any Related Mortgage Loan that evidences compliance with the Ability to Repay Rule and the QM Rule ), instruments and data 
evidencing the Related Mortgage Loans and the servicing thereof, the Securities to be issued as contemplated hereunder and all proceeds thereof, the Takeout 
Commitments, any funds of the Seller at any time deposited or held in the Over/Under Account and the proceeds of any and all of the foregoing (collectively, the “
Collateral ”), free and clear of adverse claims. In any case, Seller hereby grants to Purchaser or its Assignee, as the case may be, a first priority security interest in and 
lien upon the Collateral, free and clear of adverse claims. This Agreement shall constitute a security agreement, the Custodian shall be deemed to be an independent 
custodian for purposes of perfection of the security interest herein granted to Purchaser, and Purchaser or each such Assignee shall have all of the rights of a secured 
party under applicable law. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and for the avoidance of doubt, if any determination is made that the servicing rights with 
respect to the Related Mortgage Loans were not sold by Seller to Purchaser or that that such servicing rights are not an interest in the Related Mortgage Loans and are 
severable from the Related Mortgage Loans despite Purchaser’s and Seller’s express intent herein to treat them as included in the purchase and sale transaction, Seller 
hereby expressly pledges, assigns and grants to Purchaser a continuing first priority security interest in and lien upon the servicing rights and all documentation and 
rights to receive documentation related to such servicing rights and the servicing of each of the Related Mortgage Loans (the “ Related Credit Enhancement ”). The 
Collateral and Related Credit Enhancement is hereby pledged as further security for Seller’s obligations to Purchaser hereunder.  

Section 6. Representations and Warranties . Section 9(b) of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by (a) deleting “and” at 
the end of clause (xi), (b) deleting the “.” at the end of clause (xii) and replacing it with “;” and (c) adding the following clauses (xiii) and (xiv) at the end thereof:  

(xiii)      Each Mortgage Loan satisfies the following criteria:  

(1)      Such Mortgage Loan is a Qualified Mortgage;  

(2)      Such Mortgage Loan is accurately identified in writing to Purchaser as either a Safe Harbor Qualified Mortgage or a Rebuttable Presumption Qualified 
Mortgage;  

(3)      Prior to the origination of such Mortgage Loan, the related originator made a reasonable and good faith determination that the related Mortgagor would 
have a reasonable ability to repay such Mortgage Loan according to its terms, in accordance with, at a minimum, the eight underwriting factors set forth in 12 CFR 
1026.43(c)(2); and  

(4)      Such Mortgage Loan is supported by documentation that evidences compliance with the Ability to Repay Rule and the QM Rule; and  

(xiv)      There is no action, suit or proceeding instituted by or against or threatened against Seller in any federal or state court or before any commission or other 
regulatory body (federal,  

 
 



 
 

state or local, foreign or domestic) that questions or challenges the compliance of any Mortgage Loan (or the related underwriting) with the Ability to Repay Rule or the 
QM Rule.  

Section 7. Covenants of Seller . Section 10 of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by:  
1. deleting clauses (a)(iv)(1), (a)(x), (b), (j) and (k) in their entirety and replacing them with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

(1)      any action, suit or proceeding instituted by or against Seller in any federal or state court or before any commission or other regulatory body (federal, state or local, 
foreign or domestic), or any such action, suit or proceeding threatened against Seller, in any case, if such action, suit or proceeding, or any such action, suit or proceeding 
threatened against Seller, (i) involves a potential liability, on an individual or aggregate basis, equal to or greater than ten percent (10%) of Seller’s Tangible Net Worth, 
(ii) is reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect if determined adversely, (iii) questions or challenges the validity or enforceability of any of the Program 
Documents or (iv) questions or challenges compliance of any Related Mortgage Loan with the Ability to Repay Rule or the QM Rule ;  

(x)      Together with the financial statements required to be delivered pursuant to Section 10(a)(i) and Section 10(a)(ii) , Seller shall deliver to Purchaser an Officer’s 
Certificate in a form acceptable to Purchaser. Seller’s obligation to provide such Officer’s Certificate shall be waived for such periods during which Seller shall be a 
party to a Master Repurchase Agreement with Purchaser and shall be in compliance with Seller’s obligations under Section 9.1(c) of such Master Repurchase 
Agreement .  

(b)      Neither Seller nor any A ffiliate thereof will acquire at any time any Participation Certificate or any other economic interest in or obligation with respect to any 
Related Mortgage Loan except for the subservicing rights relating thereto and bare legal title to the Related Mortgage Loans.  

(j)      Seller shall comply with the following financial covenants  

(i)      Seller shall maintain a Tangible Net Worth of not less than the sum of (x) $100,000,000 plus (y) 50% of all positive Net Income plus (z) 50% of equity 
capital raises ;  

(ii)      Seller’s Stockholder’s Equity shall not decline by more than (a) 10% in any rolling three (3) month period or (b) 15% in any rolling twelve (12) month 
period .       

(iii)      Seller shall at all times maintain (i) unrestricted and unencumbered cash and Cash Equivalents in an amount not less than $20,000,000 and (ii) Liquidity in 
an amount not less than the sum of the (x) the product of (A) Total Marginable Assets minus mortgage loans held for sale that are financed under the Merchants Bank 
Agreement and (B) 3% plus (y) the product of (A) mortgage loans held for sale under the Merchants Bank Agreement and (B) 1%; provided, however, to the extent the 
Seller becomes subject to a margin call under the terms of the Merchants Bank Agreement, mortgage loans financed under such agreement will not be deducted from 
Total Marginable Assets per clause (x)(i) above ;  

(iv)      the maximum ratio of Seller’s Total Liabilities to Tangible Net Worth shall not at any time be greater than 10 :1;  
 
 



 
 

(v)      Seller shall show positive pre-tax Net Income, on a rolling six (6) month basis , as determined in accordance with GAAP.  

(vi)      at no time shall Seller’s Compare Ratio with respect to its DE Compare Report and Institution Compare Report exceed 175%, which will cause Seller to 
be on HUD’s watch list for approved lenders.  

(k)      Reserved .  
2. adding the following clause (xi) immediately following clause (a)(x):  

(xi)      On each Purchase Date hereunder, Seller shall provide to Purchaser a schedule identifying each Related Mortgage Loan as either a Safe Harbor Qualified 
Mortgage or a Rebuttable Presumption Qualified Mortgage, as applicable.  

3. adding the following clause (n) immediately following clause (m):  

(n)      Seller shall deliver to Purchaser, with reasonable promptness upon Purchaser’s request: (i) copies of any reports related to the Participation Certificates and the 
Related Mortgage Loans, (ii) copies of all documentation in connection with the underwriting and origination of any Related Mortgage Loan that evidences compliance 
with the Ability to Repay Rule and the QM Rule, as applicable, and (iii) any other information in Seller’s possession related to the Participation Certificates and the 
Related Mortgage Loans.  

Section 8. Notices . Section 20 of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such section in its entirety and replacing 
it with the following:  

Section 20. Notices . Any notices, consents, elections, directions and other communications given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have 
been duly given when telecopied or delivered by overnight courier to, personally delivered to, or on the third day following the placing thereof in the mail, first class 
postage prepaid to, the parties hereto at the related address provided pursuant to Section 20 or to such other address as either party shall give notice to the other party 
pursuant to this Section. Notices to any Assignee shall be given to such address as the Assignee shall provide to Seller in writing.  

Section 9. Entire Agreement . Section 21 of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such section in its entirety 
and replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

Section 21. Entire Agreement . This Agreement and the other Program Documents contain the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject 
matter hereof, and supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements between them, oral or written, of any nature whatsoever with respect to the subject matter 
hereof.  

Section 10. Examination and Oversight . Section 25 of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such section in its 
entirety and replacing it with the following (modified text underlined for review purposes):  

Section 25.      Examination and Oversight by Regulators . Seller agrees that the transactions with Purchaser under this Agreement may be subject to regulatory 
examination and oversight by one or more Governmental Authorities. Seller shall comply with all requests made by Purchaser to assist Purchaser in complying with 
regulatory requirements imposed on Purchaser.  

Section 11. Trade Assignment . The Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by deleting Exhibit B in its entirety and replacing it 
with Schedule 1 hereto.  

 
 



 
 

Section 12. Warehouse Lender’s Release . The Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by deleting Exhibit D in its entirety and replacing 
it with Schedule 2 hereto.  

Section 13. Form of Confirmation . The Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by deleting Exhibit F in its entirety and replacing it with 
Schedule 3 hereto.  

Section 14. Purchaser Notices . Annex A of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the “ Purchaser Notices ” in their 
entirety and replacing them with the following:  

 

 
Section 15. Fees and Expenses . Seller hereby agrees to pay to Purchaser, on demand, any and all reasonable fees, costs and expenses (including 

reasonable fees and expenses of counsel) incurred by Purchaser in connection with the development, preparation and execution of this Amendment, irrespective of whether any 
transactions hereunder are executed.  

Section 16. Conditions Precedent . This Amendment shall become effective as of the date hereof upon Purchaser’s receipt of this Amendment, executed and 
delivered by a duly authorized officer of Purchaser and Seller.  

Section 17. Limited Effect . Except as expressly amended and modified by this Amendment, the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement shall continue to be, 
and shall remain, in full force and effect in accordance with its terms.  
 
 

Name:  Bank of America, N.A.  

Address:  

4500 Park Granada  
Mail Code: CA7-910-02-38  
Calabasas, California 91302  
Attention: Adam Gadsby, Managing Director  

Telephone:  (818) 225-6541  

Telecopy:  (213) 457-8707  

Email:  Adam.Gadsby@baml.com  

    

with copies to:     

    

Name:  Bank of America, N.A.  

Address:  

One Bryant Park, 11th Floor  
Mail Code: NY1-100-11-01  
New York, New York 10036  
Attention: Eileen Albus, Director, Mortgage Finance  

Telephone:  (646) 855-0946  

Telecopy:  (646) 855-5050  

Email:  Eileen.Albus@baml.com  

    

Name:  Bank of America, N.A.  

Address:  

One Bryant Park  
New York, New York 10036  
Mail Code: NY1-100-17-01  
Attention: Michael J. Berg, Assistant General Counsel  

Telephone:  (646) 855-0706  

Email:  Michael.J.Berg@bankofamerica.com  



 
 

Section 18. Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed by each of the parties hereto on any number of separate counterparts, each of which shall be 
an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  

Section 19. Severability . Each provision and agreement herein shall be treated as separate and independent from any other provision or agreement herein 
and shall be enforceable notwithstanding the unenforceability of any such other provision or agreement.  

Section 20. GOVERNING LAW . THE AMENDMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WI TH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF 
NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO ANY CONFLICTS OF LAW PRO VISIONS (EXCEPT FOR SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS 
LAW) AND THE OBLIGATIONS, RIGHTS AND REMEDIES OF TH E PARTIES HEREUNDER SHALL BE DETERMINED IN ACCORDAN CE WITH THE LAWS 
OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT PREE MPTED BY FEDERAL LAW.  

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  
Signature Page to Amendment No. 4 to Mortgage Loan Participation Purchase and Sale Agreement  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their names to be signed hereto by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the day and year first 
above written.  

Bank of America, N.A., as Buyer  

By: _/s/ Adam Robitshek __________________  

Name: Adam Robitshek  

Title: Vice President  

 

STONEGATE MORTGAGE CORPORATION, as Seller  

By: _/s/ John Macke ______________________  

Name: John Macke  

Title: EVP - Capital Markets  
B-2  
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Exhibit B 

TRADE ASSIGNMENT  

__________ (“ Takeout Investor ”)  

(Address)  

 

Attention :  

Fax No.:  

Dear Sirs:  

Attached hereto is a correct and complete copy of your confirmation of commitment (the “ Commitment ”), trade-dated _________ __, ____, to purchase $______ of __% ___ year,  

(Check Box)  

 

mortgage-backed pass-through securities (“ Securities ”) at a purchase price of ___________ from _________ on (insert Settlement Date). Our intention is to assign $_____ of this Commitment’s full 
amount, which assignment shall be effective and shall be fully enforceable by the assignee on the Settlement Date. This is to confirm that (i) the form of this assignment conforms to the SIFMA 
guidelines, (ii) the Commitment is in full force and effect, (iii) effective as of the Settlement Date, the Commitment is hereby assigned to Bank of America, N.A. (“ BANA ”), whose acceptance of such 
assignment is indicated below, (iv) you will accept delivery of such Securities directly from BANA, (v) you will pay BANA for such Securities, (vi) effective as of the Settlement Date and provided the 
Securities have been issued, BANA is obligated to make delivery of such Securities to you in accordance with the attached Commitment and (vii) effective as of the Settlement Date and provided the 
Securities have been issued, you have released Seller from its obligation to deliver the Securities to you under the Commitment. Payment will be made “delivery versus payment (DVP)” to BANA in 
immediately available funds.  

If you have any questions, please call _______________ at (___) ___-____ immediately or contact him by fax at (___) ___-____.  

Very truly yours,  
 
STONEGATE MORTGAGE CORPORATION  
 

 
 

   Government National Mortgage Association;  
    

   Federal National Mortgage Association; or  
    

   Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation.  



 
 

 
By:       
Title:  
Date:  

Agreed to :  

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.  

 

By:________________________  

Title:______________________  

Date:______________________  

Provided the Securities have been issued, notice of delivery and confirmation of receipt will be the obligations of BANA. Prompt notification of incorrect information or rejection of the trade 
assignment should be made to [_____].  

D-1  

SCHEDULE 2 TO AMENDMENT NO. 4 

Exhibit D 

WAREHOUSE LENDER’S RELEASE  

Bank of America, N.A.  

One Bryant Park - 11th floor  

NY1-100-11-01  

New York, New York 10036  

Attention: Eileen Albus, Director - Mortgage Finance  

Gentlemen:  

Capitalized terms used herein but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Custodial Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2013, among Bank of America, N.A., 
Deutsche Bank National Trust Company and Stonegate Mortgage Corporation.  

We hereby release all right, interest or claim of any kind, including any security interest or lien, with respect to the mortgage loans referenced in the attached schedule (GNMA/FNMA/FHLMC 
Pool/Contract #__________), such release to be effective automatically without any further action by any party, upon payment, in one or more installments, from Bank of America, N.A., in accordance 
with the wire instructions in effect on the date of such payment, in immediately available funds, of an aggregate amount equal to or greater than [$$ amount].  

Very truly yours,  

 

 
 



 
 

 

[WAREHOUSE LENDER]  

SCHEDULE 3 TO AMENDMENT NO. 4 

Exhibit F 

FORM OF CONFIRMATION  

 
TO:      Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  

9190 Priority Way West Drive, Ste 300  
Indianapolis, IN 46240  

 
DATE:  

 

Bank of America, N.A. (“ Purchaser ”) is pleased to confirm its agreement to purchase and your agreement to sell a 100% undivided, beneficial interest in the Mortgage Loans relating to a 
Participation Certificate relating to the contact/pool number (or GN/FN/FH Contract/Pool Number) referred to herein (the “ Pool ”), pursuant to the Mortgage Loan Participation Purchase and Sale 
Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2013 (the “ Agreement ”), between Purchaser and Stonegate Mortgage Corporation (“ Seller ”), under the following terms and conditions.  

 
Solely for purposes of the purchase of this Pool, the Purchaser and Seller agree that the definition of “Holdback Amount” shall be modified to read as follows: “An amount equal to 
3.00% of the Trade Principal, subject to reduction as provided in Section 4(b) and Section 5(b) of the Agreement.”  
   
Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed in the Agreement.  

Very truly yours,  

 
 

RE:  Confirmation of Purchase of a beneficial interest in Mortgage Loans relating to a Participation Certificate 

Pool No. (or FHLMC Contract No.)  

Applicable Agency  

Purchase Date  

Anticipated Delivery Date  

Settlement Date  

Applicable Agency TBA trade price  

Trade Price  

Purchase Price:  

Holdback Amount  

Face Amount of the Security_________________________  



 
 

 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.  

 

 

By:       

Name:  

Title:  

Agreed and Consented by:  
 
Stonegate Mortgage Corporation  
 
 
By:      ____________________________  
Name:  
Title:  

 

 

 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 10.22 
 

AMENDMENT NO. 5 TO  
MORTGAGE LOAN PARTICIPATION PURCHASE AND SALE AGREE MENT  

Amendment No. 5 to Mortgage Loan Participation Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2014 (this “ Amendment ”), by and between Bank of 
America, N.A. (“ Purchaser ”) and Stonegate Mortgage Corporation (“ Seller ”).  

RECITALS  

Purchaser and Seller are parties to that certain Mortgage Loan Participation Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2013 (as amended from time to time, the 
“ Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement ”; and as amended by this Amendment, the “ Purchase and Sale Agreement ”).  

Purchaser and Seller have agreed, subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment, that the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement be amended to reflect certain 
agreed upon revisions to the terms of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement.  

Accordingly, Purchaser and Seller hereby agree, in consideration of the mutual promises and mutual obligations set forth herein, that the Existing Purchase and Sale 
Agreement is hereby amended as follows:  

Section 1. Financial Covenants of Seller . Section 10(j) of the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by deleting clause (v) in its 
entirety and replacing it with the following:  

(v)      Seller shall show positive pre-tax Net Income, on a rolling six (6) month basis, as determined in accordance with GAAP before non-cash gains or losses 
related to mortgage servicing rights.  

 
Section 2. Fees and Expenses . Seller hereby agrees to pay to Purchaser, on demand, any and all reasonable fees, costs and expenses (including 

reasonable fees and expenses of counsel) incurred by Purchaser in connection with the development, preparation and execution of this Amendment, irrespective of whether any 
transactions hereunder are executed.  

Section 3. Conditions Precedent . This Amendment shall become effective as of the date hereof upon Purchaser’s receipt of this Amendment, executed and 
delivered by a duly authorized officer of Purchaser and Seller.  

Section 4. Limited Effect . Except as expressly amended and modified by this Amendment, the Existing Purchase and Sale Agreement shall continue to be, 
and shall remain, in full force and effect in accordance with its terms.  

Section 5. Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed by each of the parties hereto on any number of separate counterparts, each of which shall be an 
original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  

Section 6. Severability . Each provision and agreement herein shall be treated as separate and independent from any other provision or agreement herein 
and shall be enforceable notwithstanding the unenforceability of any such other provision or agreement.  

Section 7. GOVERNING LAW . THE AMENDMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WI TH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW 
YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO  
 
 



 
 
ANY CONFLICTS OF LAW PROVISIONS (EXCEPT FOR SECTION  5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW) AND T HE OBLIGATIONS, 
RIGHTS AND REMEDIES OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER SHALL BE DETERMINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE ST ATE OF NEW YORK, 
EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT PREEMPTED BY FEDERAL LAW.  

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their names to be signed hereto by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the day and year first 
above written.  

Bank of America, N.A., as Buyer  

By: _/s/ Adam Robitshek __________________  

Name: Adam Robitshek  

Title: Vice President  

 

STONEGATE MORTGAGE CORPORATION, as Seller  

By: _/s/ John Macke ______________________  

Name: John Macke  

Title: EVP - Capital Markets  
 
 
 



 
 

 
EXHIBIT 10.24 

 
Amendment No. 2 TO  

mASTER rEPURCHASE Agreement  
 

This Amendment No. 2 (this “Amendment”), dated as of December 16, 2014, amends that certain Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of December 24, 2012, as amended 
by that certain Amendment No. 1, dated as of December 20, 2013 (as amended, the “Repurchase Agreement”), between Stonegate Mortgage Corporation, as seller (the “Seller”), and 
Barclays Bank PLC, as purchaser and agent (the “Purchaser”). Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Repurchase 
Agreement.  
 

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend the Repurchase Agreement as described below.  

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the provisions of the Repurchase Agreement concerning modification and amendment thereof, and in consideration of the amendments, 
agreements and other provisions herein contained and of certain other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged by the parties 
hereto, it is hereby agreed between the Seller and the Purchaser as follows:  

Section 1. Amendment . The Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended as follows:  
(a)      Section 2 of the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following defined term in its proper alphabetical sequence:  

“ Approved Investor ” means any of the entities identified on Schedule 1 hereto.  

(b)      Section 2 of the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the defined term “Maturity Date” in its entirety and replacing it with the following:  

“ Maturity Date ” means December 15, 2015.  

(c)      Section 2 of the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the defined term “Eligible Mortgage Loan” in its entirety and replacing it with the 
following:  

“ Eligible Mortgage Loan ” means a Mortgage Loan that (i) satisfies each of the representations and warranties in Exhibit B to the Agreement in all material respects, (ii) if such 
Mortgage Loan is (a) a Ginnie Mae Mortgage Loan, Fannie Mae Mortgage Loan or Freddie Mac Mortgage Loan, is in Strict Compliance with the eligibility requirements of the Ginnie 
Mae Program, Fannie Mae Program, or Freddie Mac Program, respectively, or (b) a Jumbo Mortgage Loan, was (x) underwritten and originated in accordance with Purchaser’s 
underwriting guidelines attached hereto as Exhibit J or (y) underwritten and originated in accordance with Seller’s underwriting guidelines, but only if Seller has provided Purchaser 
written notice of any deviation from Purchaser’s underwriting guidelines, (iii) contains all required documents in the Mortgage File without exceptions unless otherwise waived by 
Purchaser or permitted below, (iv) satisfies such other customary criteria for eligibility determined by the Purchaser and (v) satisfies the Additional Eligible Loan Criteria.  

(d)      Section 2 of the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the defined term “Takeout Investor” in its entirety and replacing it with the following:  

 
 



 
 

“ Takeout Investor ” means (x) for non-Jumbo Mortgage Loans, either (i) Barclays Capital, Inc., or any successor thereto, (ii) any member of the Mortgage Backed Securities 
Division of the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation listed in Exhibit F or (iii) any other Person approved by Agent in its sole discretion and (y) for Jumbo Mortgage Loans, either (i) 
Barclays Bank PLC, or any successor thereto, or (ii) any Approved Investor.  

(e)      Section 14(g)(i) of the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting paragraph (B) in its entirety and replacing it with the following:  

(B)      [Reserved].  

(f)      Section 17 of the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting clause (l) in its entirety and replacing it with the following:  

(l)      [Reserved;]  

(g)      Exhibit A to the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following clause (vi) in its proper numerical sequence:  

(vi)      Attached hereto as Schedule Three is a report detailing the Seller’s total warehouse capacity and utilization for the prior calendar month.  

(h)      The Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by adding Schedule 1, attached hereto as Exhibit A .  

Section 2. Fees and Expenses . Seller agrees to pay to Purchaser all fees and out of pocket expenses incurred by Purchaser and Agent in connection 
with this Amendment, including all reasonable fees and out of pocket costs and expenses of the legal counsel to Purchaser and Agent incurred in connection with this 
Amendment, in accordance with Section 23(a) of the Repurchase Agreement. In addition, as a condition precedent to the effectiveness of this Amendment, Seller shall have paid 
to Purchaser the fee set forth in Section 2 of Amendment No. 4 to Pricing Side Letter to Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2014, by and between Seller 
and Purchaser.  

Section 3. Effectiveness of Amendment . The parties hereto agree that this Amendment shall not be effective until the later of (i) the execution and delivery 
of this Amendment by the parties hereto and (ii) the satisfaction of the condition precedent specified in Section 2 above.  

Section 4. Effect of Amendment . Except as expressly amended and modified by this Amendment, all provisions of the Repurchase Agreement shall remain 
in full force and effect and all such provisions shall apply equally to the terms and conditions set forth herein. After this Amendment becomes effective, all references in the Repurchase 
Agreement (or in any other document relating to the Mortgage Loans) to “this Agreement,” “hereof,” “herein” or words of similar effect referring to such Repurchase Agreement shall 
be deemed to be references to such Repurchase Agreement as amended by this Amendment. This Amendment shall not be deemed to expressly or impliedly waive, amend or 
supplement any provision of the Repurchase Agreement other than as set forth herein.  

Section 5. Successors and Assigns . This Amendment shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.  
Section 6. Section Headings . The various headings and sub-headings of this Amendment are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning 

or interpretation of this Amendment or the Repurchase Agreement or any provision hereof or thereof.  
Section 7. Representations . In order to induce the Purchaser to execute and deliver this Amendment, the Seller hereby represents to Purchaser that as of the 

date hereof (i) it is in full compliance  
 
 



 
 
with all of the terms and conditions of the Program Documents and remains bound by the terms thereof and (ii) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under the 
Program Documents.  

Section 8. GOVERNING LAW . THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW 
YORK, WITHOUT REFERENCE TO ITS CONFLICT OF LAW PROVISIONS EXCEPT SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW, 
AND THE OBLIGATIONS, RIGHTS AND REMEDIES OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER SHALL BE DETERMINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SUCH LAWS.  

Section 9. Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts and by the different parties hereto on separate counterparts, 
including without limitation counterparts transmitted by facsimile, each of which, when so executed, shall be deemed to be an original and such counterparts, together, shall constitute 
one and the same agreement.  
 

 
 
Amendment No. 2 to Stonegate/Barclays MRA  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each undersigned party has caused this Amendment No. 2 to the Master Repurchase Agreement to be duly executed by one of its officers thereunto 
duly authorized as of the date and year first above written.  

STONEGATE MORTGAGE CORPORATION, as Seller  
 
 
By:                               

Name:  
Title:  

 
 
BARCLAYS BANK PLC, as Purchaser and Agent  
 
 
By:                               

Name:  
Title:  

 
 

EXHIBIT A  
 

SCHEDULE 1  
Approved Investors  

 
Barclays Bank PLC  

 
 
 



 
 
 

EXHIBIT 10.27 
 

 
 

REVOLVING SUBORDINATED  
LOAN AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN  

MERCHANTS BANCORP,  

an Indiana corporation  

AND  

STONEGATE MORTGAGE CORPORATION,  

an Ohio corporation  

April 15, 2014 
2  

REVOLVING SUBORDINATED LOAN AGREEMENT  

This Revolving Subordinated Loan Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into at Indianapolis, Indiana, effective the 15 th day of April, 2014 by and between Stonegate 
Mortgage Corporation, an Ohio corporation (“Lender”), with a mailing address of 9190 Priority Way West Drive, Suite 300, Indianapolis, Indiana 46240, and Merchants 
Bancorp , an Indiana corporation (“Borrower”), with a principal mailing address of 11555 North Meridian Street, Suite 400, Carmel, Indiana 46032.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in order to induce Lender to make the loan hereunder, as well as for other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged by the parties hereto, Lender and Borrower hereby agree to the following.  

Section 1. AMOUNT OF LOAN.  
1. Principal Amount  
. Borrower hereby promises to pay when due to the order of Lender, in lawful money of the United States of America, the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all advances of 

funds, up to Twenty-Five Million Dollars ($25,000,000) (the “Maximum Amount”), made by Lender to Borrower hereunder. Borrower shall also pay interest on the unpaid principal 
amount outstanding at rates in accordance with the terms hereof. Funds may be disbursed by Lender in multiple Advances and repaid by Borrower as follows:  

(a) Lender shall advance funds to Borrower, subject to the Maximum Amount, as requested in writing by Borrower (a “Draw Notice”) at least 30 days in advance 
of the proposed date of disbursement, provided , however , that Lender will be obligated to advance funds to Borrower only to the extent that the unpaid principal balance of the 
Note (as defined below), after taking into account the advance requested in the Draw Notice, does not exceed an amount equal to the sum of (i) ten percent (10%) of the 
aggregate funded balances of the outstanding warehouse loans extended to  

 
 



 
 

borrowers by NattyMac Funding, Inc., an Indiana corporation (“Funding”), (ii) the aggregate equitable interests of Funding in warehouse loans originated by NattyMac, LLC, 
an Indiana limited liability company (“NattyMac”), in which Funding owns a participation interest (the “Aggregate Warehouse Participation Amount”), and (iii) the aggregate 
equitable interests of Funding in residential mortgage loans originated by Lender in which Funding owns a participation interest pursuant to the Participation Agreement 
between Lender and Funding of even date (the “Aggregate Mortgage Loan Participation Amount”).  

(b) Borrower shall repay Lender an amount set forth in a written notice (a “Repayment Notice”) from Lender, to the extent the unpaid principal amount of the 
Note exceeds the sum of (i) ten percent (10%) of the aggregate outstanding warehouse loan commitments extended to borrowers by Funding, including amounts advanced 
thereunder, (ii) the Aggregate Warehouse Participation Amount, and (iii) the Aggregate Mortgage Loan Participation Amount. Borrower may limit or restrict payment if the 
aforementioned criterion is not met. Repayment shall occur at least 30 days from the repayment date (the “Repayment Date”) set forth in such Repayment Notice.  

(c) The principal balance of the Note shall automatically be reduced on a dollar for dollar basis in the amount of any loss recognized by Funding in the ordinary 
course of conducting its business as a warehouse lender to mortgage loan originators.  

(d) Borrower may prepay amounts owed on the Note in full or in part at any time without penalty.  
2. Use of Proceeds  
. Borrower shall invest the funds advanced by Lender hereunder in its wholly-owned subsidiary, Merchants Bank of Indiana (“Merchants”), and shall cause Merchants to invest 

such funds in ownership units of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Funding.  

Section 2. INTEREST.  
1. Interest  
.  

(a) Interest will accrue under the Subordinated Promissory Note of even date herewith executed by and between Borrower and Lender (the “Note”) as described 
in the Note.  

(b) Basic Interest (as defined in the Note) shall be payable by Borrower in arrears on the fifteenth (15th) day of each calendar quarter, and at the maturity of the 
Note, whether by acceleration or otherwise.  

(c) Additional Interest (as defined in the Note) shall be payable by Borrower to Lender within 30 days of the end of each calendar quarter based upon the net 
income or loss of Funding during the quarter then ended, and, to the extent applicable, upon the Maturity Date based upon the net income or loss of Funding during the period 
beginning upon the end of the preceding calendar quarter through the Maturity Date.  
2. Usury Laws  

1. . It is the intention of the parties hereto to comply strictly with all applicable usury laws. All agreements between Borrower and Lender, whether now existing 
or hereafter arising and whether written or oral, are hereby expressly limited so that in no contingency or event whatsoever, whether by reason of acceleration of the maturity 
hereof, or otherwise, shall the amount paid, or agreed to be paid to Lender for the use, forbearance, or detention of the money to be loaned hereunder or otherwise or for the 
payment or performance of any covenant or obligation contained herein or in any other document evidencing, securing, or pertaining to the indebtedness evidenced hereby, 
exceed the maximum amount permissible under applicable law. If from any circumstance whatsoever fulfillment of any provision hereof or of such other documents, at the time 
performance of such provision shall be due, shall involve transcending the limit of validity prescribed by law, then ipso  

 
 



 
 

facto, the obligation to be fulfilled shall be reduced to the limit of such validity, and if from any such circumstance Lender shall ever receive as interest or otherwise an amount 
which would exceed the highest lawful rate, such amount which would be excessive interest shall be applied to the reduction of the principal indebtedness of Borrower to 
Lender, and not to the payment of interest, or if such excessive interest exceeds the unpaid balance of principal hereof, such excess shall be refunded to Borrower. All sums paid 
or agreed to be paid by Borrower for the use, forbearance or detention of the indebtedness of Borrower to Lender hereunder shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, be 
amortized, prorated, allocated and spread throughout the full term of such indebtedness until payment in full in such manner that there will be no violation of applicable laws 
pertaining to the maximum rate or amount of interest which may be contracted for, charged or received with respect to such indebtedness. Borrower shall not institute any action 
or file any defense based upon the charging or collecting of usurious interest hereunder unless (i) Borrower shall give Lender written notice of an intent to do so and (ii) Lender 
shall fail to comply with the terms hereof by making necessary adjustments as required by this Section, and notify Borrower of such compliance within fifteen (15) days after 
receipt by Lender of such written notice from Borrower. The provisions of this Section shall be given precedence over any other provision contained herein or in any other 
agreement between the parties hereto that is in conflict with the provisions of this Section.  

Section 3. Maturity  
. If not sooner paid by Borrower or accelerated by Lender upon the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder, the principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest thereon, 

together with all other costs and expenses for which Borrower is responsible under the Note (collectively, the “Indebtedness”) shall be due on the Maturity Date, as defined in the Note.  

Section 4. collateral  
. As collateral and security for the obligations of Borrower hereunder, Borrower shall cause Merchants to grant to Lender a pledge and first-lien security interest in and to all of 

the issued and outstanding stock of Funding. The pledge and security interest granted hereunder shall be evidenced by, and Borrower shall cause Merchants to execute and deliver, a 
Stock Pledge Agreement (the “Pledge Agreement”) in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto. Borrower will deliver to Lender prior to the initial advance of funds hereunder the 
unanimous consent of Merchants’ board of directors in a form satisfactory to Lender authorizing and approving the execution of the Pledge Agreement by Merchants and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby.  

Section 5. SUBORDINATION  
. This Agreement and the Note shall be subject to the terms of a Subordination Agreement of even date executed among Borrower, Lender and The Huntington National Bank 

(the “Subordination Agreement”).  

Section 6. WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS  
. Borrower represents and warrants to Lender as of the date hereof and as of each date on which Lender advances to Borrower hereunder that, as of such date:  

1. Corporate Organization and Authority  
. Borrower:  

(a) is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Indiana;  
(b) has and possesses all requisite corporate right, power and authority and all necessary licenses and permits to own and operate its properties, to carry on its 

business as now conducted and as presently proposed to be conducted, and to enter into the Loan Documents and to perform its obligations thereunder;  
 
 



 
 

(c) has taken the necessary action to authorize the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and the borrowings thereunder;  
(d) The Board of Directors of Borrower has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Note, the Subordination Agreement and documents 

contemplated herein and executed in connection with this Agreement will constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of Borrower enforceable in accordance with their terms, 
except as enforcement is subject to equitable and other limitations applied by courts, and debtor’s rights generally.  

(e) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, the Note and the Subordination Agreement and the compliance by Borrower with all the 
provisions of this Agreement, the Note and the Subordination Agreement applicable to Borrower:  

(i) are within the corporate powers of Borrower;  
(ii) are legal and will not conflict with, result in any breach in any of the provisions of, constitute a default under, or result in the creation of any lien or 

encumbrance other than as created by this Agreement and any other documents executed in connection with the Loan upon any property of Borrower under the 
provisions of, any agreement, charter instrument, articles of incorporation, bylaw or other instrument to which Borrower or Merchants is a party or by which Borrower or 
Merchants may be bound; and  

(iii) do not violate, contravene, or cause a breach or a default under any applicable laws, rules or regulations, or any agreement, contract or instrument to 
which Borrower or Merchants is a party.  
(f) There are no limitations in any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust or other agreement or instrument to which Borrower is now a party or by which Borrower 

may be bound with respect to the payment of principal or interest on any indebtedness of Borrower, including the Note to be executed in connection with this Agreement.  
Section 7. covenants.  
1. Covenants of Borrower  
. Borrower hereby covenants and agrees with Lender as of the date hereof and for so long as any amounts remain payable by Borrower hereunder:  

(a) Borrower shall maintain its corporate existence and good standing in the jurisdiction of its organization.  
(b) Borrower shall keep or cause to be kept in reasonable detail books and records setting forth an account of the assets and business of Borrower and Funding 

and, as applicable, shall clearly reflect therein the warehouse loans extended to borrowers by Funding, the repayment of such warehouse loans, and the disposition of the 
mortgage loans and related collateral securing such loans.  

(c) Borrower shall deliver to Lender:  
(i) Within 30 days of the end of each month, unaudited financial statements of Funding for the month and year-to-date periods then ended;  
(ii) Within 30 days of the end of each calendar quarter, unaudited financial statements of Borrower for the quarter and year-to-date periods then ended;  
(iii) Within 90 days of the end of each fiscal year, audited financial statements of Borrower; and  
(iv) Promptly upon becoming aware thereof, notice of any potential or existing Event of Default or material event, including the commencement of, or any 

determination in, any legal, judicial or regulatory proceedings which, if adversely determined, would be reasonably likely to result in a material adverse effect to the 
business of Borrower or Funding.  

Section 8. Advances of Funds to borrower.  
1. Obligation to make Advances  
. The obligation of Lender to make any advance of funds to Borrower hereunder shall be subject to  

 
 



 
 
the following conditions precedent:  

(a) Borrower shall provide Lender on the date of any such advance of funds a certificate, signed by an officer of Borrower with knowledge of the matters set forth 
therein, certifying that, as of such date, (i) all of the representations and warranties of Borrower contained in Section 6 hereof are true and correct, except to the extent that such 
representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in which event, such representations and warranties remain true and correct as of such earlier date, and (ii) 
Borrower has performed and complied with all agreements, covenants and conditions contained herein and contemplated hereby which are required to be performed or complied 
with by Borrower.  

(b) Prior to the initial advance of funds hereunder, Borrower shall have delivered to Lender: (i) a resolution of Borrower authorizing the execution and delivery of 
this Agreement, the Note, the Subordination Agreement and any other instrument or document executed and delivered by Borrower to Lender in connection with the Loan and 
all acts required to be performed by Borrower hereunder and thereunder; and (ii) a certificate of existence for Borrower issued by the Secretary of State of the state of its 
formation dated not more than thirty (30) days prior to the date of such initial advance.  
Section 9. EVENTS OF DEFAULT.  
1. Nature of Events  
. An “Event of Default” shall exist if any of the following occurs and is continuing:  

(a) Borrower fails to make any payment of interest or principal on the Note within thirty (30) days after the date when due pursuant to the terms of the Note and 
the continuation of such failure for a period of ten (10) days after written notice of such failure has been sent to Borrower;  

(b) Borrower, Merchants or Lender, as applicable, fails or neglects to perform, keep, or observe, or is otherwise in breach of, any other material term, provision, 
condition, covenant, representation, warranty, or agreement contained in this Agreement, the Note, the Subordination Agreement or Pledge Agreement (each, a “Loan 
Document” and collectively, the “Loan Documents”), or in any other present or future agreement between, on the first part, Borrower, Merchants or Funding, and, on the second 
part, Lender or NattyMac, and as to any default or breach under such other term, provision, condition, covenant, representation, warranty, or agreement that can be cured, has 
failed to cure such default or breach within ten (10) days after delivery by the non-defaulting party of written notice thereof, provided , however , that Lender will not be 
obligated to advance any funds to Borrower hereunder during a cure period following a default by Borrower.  

(c) An event of default has occurred under the Services Agreement of even date herewith between Funding and NattyMac as the result of a material breach 
thereof which breach has not been cured or remedied within the 30-day period following receipt of notice of such breach.  

(d) Any material misrepresentation or material misstatement exists now or hereafter in any warranty or representation set forth herein or in any certificate or 
writing delivered to a party hereto by the other party hereto or any person acting on behalf of a party hereto pursuant to this Agreement or to induce a party hereto to enter into 
this Agreement or any other Loan Document.  

(e) Borrower or Lender becomes insolvent or bankrupt, or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or consents to the appointment of a trustee, receiver or 
liquidator; and  

(f) Bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, insolvency or liquidation proceedings are instituted by or against Borrower or Lender and are not dismissed or 
discharged within sixty (60) days of the filing thereof.  
Section 10. lender’s rights and remedies.  
1. Default Remedies  
. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default by Borrower, Lender may,  

 
 



 
 
subject to the terms and conditions of the Subordination Agreement, at its election and without notice of its election and without demand, do any one or more of the following, all of 
which are authorized by Borrower:  

(a) At the option of Lender, declare all of the indebtedness evidenced by the Note and remaining unpaid, including without limitation the entire unpaid principal 
balance, and any accrued and unpaid interest, without demand or notice, to become immediately due and payable, anything contained in the Note to the contrary 
notwithstanding. Notwithstanding anything herein or elsewhere to the contrary, Borrower’s liability and Lender’s recourse against Borrower pursuant to this Agreement or 
under the Note and any other document shall at all times be limited to exercising its rights under the Pledge Agreement.  

(b) Cease advancing money or extending credit to or for the benefit of Borrower under this Agreement or under any other agreement between Borrower and 
Lender.  
2. Waiver and Amendment  
. Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, to the extent permitted by law, Borrower hereby waives demand, notice, protest, notice of acceptance of this Agreement, notice 

of loans made, credit extended, or other action taken in reliance hereon and all other demands and notices of any description. With respect to any amounts payable to Lender hereunder, 
Borrower assents to any extension or postponement of the time of payment or any other indulgence, to the addition or release of any party or person primarily or secondarily liable, to 
the acceptance of partial payments thereon and the settlement, compromise or adjustment of any thereof, all in such manner and at such time or times as Lender may deem advisable. 
No delay or omission on the part of Lender in exercising any right shall operate as a waiver of such right or any other right. A waiver on any one occasion shall not be construed as a 
bar to the exercise of any right on any future occasion. All rights and remedies of Lender as to any amount payable to Lender hereunder whether evidenced hereby or by any other 
instrument or papers shall be cumulative and may be exercised singly, successively or together.  

3. Demand; Protest  
. Borrower waives demand, protest, notice of protest, notice of default or dishonor, notice of payment and nonpayment, notice of any default, nonpayment at maturity, release, 

compromise, settlement, extension, or renewal of accounts, documents, instruments, chattel paper and guarantees at any time held by Lender on which Borrower may in any way be 
liable.  

Section 11. Borrower’s RIGHTS AND REMEDIES.  
A default by Lender or any Affiliate of Lender under any agreement with Funding, Merchants, or Borrower shall excuse Borrower’s performance under this Agreement, the 

Note, the Pledge Agreement and the Services Agreement for as long as the default exists. For the purpose of this Section, an “Affiliate” shall mean any entity that controls, is controlled 
by, or is under common control with Lender.  

Section 12. MISCELLANEOUS  
1. Notices  
. All communications under this Agreement or under the Note executed pursuant hereto shall be in writing and shall be mailed by first class mail, postage prepaid to the 

addresses of the parties set forth on page one (1) of this Agreement or such address which the parties may give notice of in writing.  

2. Successors and Assigns  
. Except as herein provided, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Borrower and Lender and any other party thereto and Borrower’s respective 

successors and assigns. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lender, without the prior written consent of Borrower, which consent may be withheld in Borrower’s sole discretion, may not 
assign, transfer or set over to another party the Note or this Agreement, in whole or in part.  

 
 



 
 

3. Amendment and Waiver  
. This Agreement may be amended, and the observance of any term of this Agreement may be waived, with (and only with) the written consent of Borrower and Lender.  

4. Counterparts  
. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, and delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by electronic means shall be effective 

as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.  

5. Governing Law and Venue  
. This Loan Agreement is delivered to Lender in the State of Indiana and is executed under and shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Indiana, notwithstanding that Indiana conflicts of law rules might otherwise require the substantive rules of law of another jurisdiction to apply. Borrower and Lender each hereby 
submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and Federal courts located in the State of Indiana.  

6. Waiver of Trial by Jury  
. Any suit, action or proceeding, whether a claim or counterclaim, brought or instituted by any party on or with respect to this Loan Agreement or any other document executed 

in connection herewith or which in any way relates, directly or indirectly to the Loan Agreement or any event, transaction or occurrence arising out of or in any way connected with the 
Note or the dealings of the parties with respect thereto, shall be tried only by a court and not by a jury. BORROWER AND LENDER EACH EXPRESSLY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO 
A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING. Borrower acknowledges that Borrower may have a right to a trial by jury in any such suit, action or 
proceeding and that Borrower hereby is knowingly, intentionally and voluntarily waiving any such right. Borrower further acknowledges and agrees that this Section is material to this 
Loan Agreement and that adequate consideration has been given by Lender and received by Borrower in exchange for the waiver made by Borrower pursuant to this Section.  

7. Severability  
. Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 

unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or thereof or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.  

8. Headings  
. Any Article and Section headings in the Note are included herein and therein for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement and shall not 

affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in the interpretation of this Agreement.  

9. Gender  
. Whenever the context so requires, reference herein or in this Agreement to the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender or in either case the neuter and vice versa; 

and the singular shall include the plural and vice versa.  

10. No Partnership or Joint Venture  
. Borrower and Lender expressly agree that the only relationship intended to be created between them in connection with the Loan is that of lender and borrower and that the 

relationship in no way is intended to create a partnership, joint venture, tenancy in common, or joint tenancy between them.  

11. Waiver of Damages  
 
 



 
 

. To the extent permitted by applicable law, Borrower and Lender shall not assert, and each hereby waives, any claim against the other, on any theory of liability, for special, 
indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of, this Agreement or any agreement or instrument 
contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, the Loan or the use of the proceeds thereof.  

[ Remainder of page intentionally blank; signatures on following page(s) ]  

2  
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Borrower and Lender have caused this Agreement to be executed and delivered as of the date first above stated.  

Lender:  
 
STONEGATE MORTGAGE CORPORATION,  
an Ohio corporation  

By:      /s/ John Macke       
Name:      John Macke           
Title:      Chief Financial Officer           
 
 
Borrower:  
 
MERCHANTS BANCORP,  
an Indiana corporation  

By:      /s/ Randall D. Rogers Jr.       
Name:      Randall D. Rogers Jr.  
Title:      Assistant Secretary  
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EXHIBIT 10.28 

LINE OF CREDIT PROMISSORY NOTE  
 

$22,000,000.00                                  Indianapolis, Indiana  
 

August 29, 2014 

For value received, STONEGATE MORTGAGE CORPORATION, an Ohio corporation, having offices at 9190 Priority Way West Drive, Suite 300, Indianapolis, Indiana 

46240 (hereinafter referred to as “Maker”), unconditionally promises to pay to the order of MERCHANTS BANK OF INDIANA having its principal banking office at 11555 N. 

Meridian Street, Suite 400, Carmel, Indiana 46032 (hereinafter referred to as “Lender”), at Lender's principal banking office or at such other place or to such other party as the holder 

hereof may from time to time designate, the principal sum of Twenty Two Million and 00/100 Dollars ($22,000,000.00), or so much thereof as shall from time to time be advanced by 

Lender to or for the benefit of Maker hereunder, with interest on the principal balance advanced from time to time remaining unpaid from the date hereof at a rate per annum (based 

upon a year of 360 days and actual days elapsed) equal to the rate from time to time announced by the Wall Street Journal as the “One Month LIBOR”, plus four hundred fifty (450) 

basis points with changes in the interest rate hereunder to take effect on the same day as each change in such One Month LIBOR takes effect.  

TERMS, PROVISIONS AND CONDITIONS  

1.      Advances .      Upon Maker’s submission to Lender of Maker’s quarterly financial reports, including without limitation a detailed valuation of the mortgage servicing rights 

of Maker (the “Pledged Mortgage Servicing Rights”) with respect to the pooled Ginnie Mae mortgage loans identified on Exhibit A hereto (the “Ginnie Mae Pooled Loans”), as such 

exhibit may be amended from time to time by Maker with the consent of Lender, Lender shall make an advance to Maker of funds available under this line of credit up to the lesser of 

(i) Twenty Two Million and 00/100 Dollars ($22,000,000.00), or (ii) fifty percent (50%)  

 
 



 
 

of the reported valuation of the Pledged Mortgage Servicing Rights as set forth in the quarterly reports of Maker issued immediately preceding the date that Lender makes any such 

advance of funds to Maker.  

2.      Payments .      Principal and interest shall be payable as follows:  

              

 

 

3.      Costs of Collection and Default Rate of Interest . In addition, Maker shall pay to the holder hereof (a) reasonable attorneys' fees incurred by the holder in the protection of 

any security for this Note or the collection of any indebtedness evidenced hereby, (b) costs of collection and (c) during any period in which a default exists hereunder and/or any period 

of delinquency on any amounts not paid when due, interest at a rate per annum equal to four percent (4%) above the rate otherwise in effect.  

4.      Late Charge . Maker shall pay a “late charge” for the purpose of defraying expense incident to handling any monthly installment of interest and/or principal, or portion 

thereof, referred to above not paid within ten (10) days after the date when first due at the rate of five cents (5¢) for each dollar ($1.00) so overdue with a minimum charge of Twenty-

Five and no/100 Dollars ($25.00) and an additional “late charge” for purposes of defraying expense incident to handling on the first day of each successive calendar month thereafter at 

the rate of five cents (5¢) for each dollar ($1.00) so overdue with a minimum of Twenty-Five and no/100 Dollars ($25.00) per month until any such installment, or portion thereof, has 

been paid in full. Nothing herein contained shall be construed as a waiver by the holder of this Note of its option to declare a default if any payment of any installment of interest and/or 

principal, or portion thereof, is not made when due, and the assessment of a late charge shall not affect the right of the holder of this Note to increase the rate of interest as herein 

provided on all amounts not paid when due.  

5.      Valuation and Appraisement Laws . All principal, interest and other amounts payable under or with respect to this Note shall be payable without relief from valuation and 

appraisement laws.  

 
 

(i)  Commencing on the first day of the first calendar month following the calendar month in which the first advancement is made hereunder and continuing on the 
first day of each succeeding calendar month thereafter, accrued and unpaid interest shall be due and payable;  

(ii)  On or before June 30, 2017, the entire unpaid principal balance and all accrued and unpaid interest shall be due and payable. 



 
 

6.      Application of Payments . Each payment hereunder shall be applied to the payment of accrued and unpaid interest and to the reduction of the principal balance in such 

order and in such amounts as the holder of this Note shall determine, in its sole discretion. Interest shall be computed on the basis of a three hundred sixty (360)-day year applied to the 

actual number of days in each interest-payment period.  

7.      Security .  

(a)      This Note shall be entitled to the benefits of, and is secured by a security interest in, Maker’s rights to servicing income with respect to the Ginnie Mae Pooled Loans and 

the Pledged Mortgage Servicing Rights, which is hereby granted by Maker in favor of Lender and which shall be evidenced by the Uniform Commercial Code financing statement filed 

on November 20, 2009 by Lender with the office of the Secretary of State of Ohio as File No. OH00138577672, as amended by File No. #20123470016 filed December 11, 2012 and 

File No. 20141150052 filed April 24, 2014, and as hereinafter, amended or renewed, and other security agreements or documents, as from time to time amended or modified, executed 

in favor Lender in connection with this Note (the “Financing Statement”). The Financing Statement shall be amended to incorporate the following language:  

“Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein:  

 

 

 

 
 

(1)  The property subject to the security interest reflected in this instrument includes all of the right, title and interest of the Debtor in certain mortgages and/or participation 
interests related to such mortgages (“Pooled Mortgages”) and pooled under the mortgage-backed securities program of the Government National Mortgage Association 
(“Ginnie Mae”), pursuant to section 306(g) of the National Housing Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1721(g);  

(2)  To the extent that the security interest reflected in this instrument relates in any way to the Pooled Mortgages, such security interest is subject and subordinate to all 
rights, powers and prerogatives of Ginnie Mae, whether now existing or hereafter arising, under and in connection with: (i) 12 U.S.C. § 1721(g) and any implementing 
regulations; (ii) the terms and conditions of that certain Acknowledgment Agreement, with respect to the Security Interest, by and between Ginnie Mae, [_____] (the 
“Debtor”), and [_____]; (iii) applicable Guaranty Agreements and contractual agreements between Ginnie Mae and the Debtor; and (iv) the Ginnie Mae Mortgage-
Backed Securities Guide, Handbook 5500.3 Rev. 1, and other applicable guides; and  

(3)  Such rights, powers and prerogatives of Ginnie Mae include, but are not limited to, Ginnie Mae’s right, by issuing a letter of extinguishment to Debtor, to effect and 
complete the extinguishment of all redemption, equitable, legal or other right, title or interest of the Debtor  



 
 

in the Pooled Mortgages, in which event the security interest as it relates in any way to the Pooled Mortgages shall instantly and automatically be extinguished as well.”  
 

(b)      Lender acknowledges and agrees that the foregoing pledge by Maker of its rights to servicing income with respect to the Ginnie Mae Pooled Loans and the Pledged 

Mortgage Servicing Rights is subject to (a) the implementing regulations governing the applicable Ginnie Mae MBS Program, (b) the applicable Guaranty Agreement between Maker 

and Ginnie Mae, (c) the Acknowledgment Agreement (Standard Agrmt Feb 6) among Maker, as “Issuer”, Lender, as “Secured Party” and Ginnie Mae, and (d) the Ginnie Mae 

Mortgage-Backed Securities Guide, Handbook 5500.3, Rev. 1, as amended (the “Ginnie Mae Agency Guide”). Lender further acknowledges and agrees that:  

      

 

 

8.      Financial Covenants .  
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

(i)  Maker is entitled to servicing income with respect to a given pool or loan package only so long as it maintains Issuer (as such term is defined in the Ginnie Mae 
Agency Guide) status;  

(ii)  upon Maker’s loss of Issuer status, Lender’s rights to any servicing income related to a given Ginnie Mae pool (as defined in the Ginnie Mae Agency Guide) also 
terminate; and  

(iii)  the foregoing pledge of rights to servicing income conveys no right (such as a right to become a substitute servicer or Issuer) that is not specifically provided for 
in the Ginnie Mae Agency Guide.  

(a)  The following terms as used in this Section shall have the following definitions: 

(i)  “DE Compare Ratio” has the meaning set forth in the DE Compare Report. 

(ii)  “DE Compare Report” means with respect to the Seller, the top of the three rows of the report entitled “Neighborhood Watch Early Warning System - Single 
Lender - Originator by Institution” and found at https://entp.hud.gov/sfnw/public/. Such report shall be generated using the following criteria: Mortgagee 
Selections: “Direct Endorsement Lender;” Delinquent Choices: “Seriously Delinquent;” and 2 Year Performance Period: “Data as of [END OF MOST RECENT 
PRIOR QUARTER].”  

(iii)  “Institution Compare Ratio” has the meaning set forth in the Institution Compare Report. 

(iv)  “Institution Compare Report” means with respect to the Seller, the report entitled “Neighborhood Watch Early Warning System - Single Lender - Originator by 
Institution” and found at https://entp.hud.gov/sfnw/public/. Such report shall be generated using the following criteria: Mortgagee Selections: “Originator by  



 
 

Institution;” Delinquent Choices: “Seriously Delinquent;” and 2 Year Performance Period: “Data as of [END OF MOST RECENT PRIOR QUARTER].”  
 

 

 

 

9.      Events of Default . All of the indebtedness evidenced by this Note and remaining unpaid shall, at the option of the holder and without demand or notice, become 

immediately due and payable upon the occurrence of any of the following (each of which shall constitute an event of default hereunder):  

          

 

 

 
 
 

(v)  “Servicing Portfolio Delinquency Rate” means the percentage of Mortgage Loans within the Borrower’s entire portfolio of serviced loans that have payments that 
are more than 180 days delinquent.  

(vi)  “Tangible Net Worth” shall mean, with respect to any Person as of any date of determination, the consolidated Net Worth of such Person and its Subsidiaries, 
less the consolidated net book value of all assets of such Person and its subsidiaries (to the extent reflected as an asset in the balance sheet of such Person or any 
Subsidiary at such date) which will be treated as intangibles under GAAP, including, without limitation, such items as deferred financing expenses, deferred 
taxes, net leasehold improvements, good will, trademarks, trade names, service marks, copyrights, patents, licenses and unamortized debt discount and expense; 
provided, that residual securities issued by such Person or its Subsidiaries and such Person’s or its Subsidiaries’ servicing rights to service mortgage loans shall 
not be treated as intangibles for purposes of this definition; provided further that Tangible Net Worth shall not include any restricted cash of such Person which 
represents cash collateral in respect of letter of credit obligations of such Person, and to the extent the letter of credit obligation of such Person is only partially 
cash collateralized, only that portion of the letter of credit that represents cash collateral shall be excluded from the definition of Tangible Net Worth hereunder.  

(b)  Maker shall, within thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar quarter, deliver to Lender a copy of its quarterly borrower certification made in accordance with the Loan 
and Security Agreement between Maker and Barclays Bank PLC dated May 22, 2014 (the “Barclays Loan Agreement”).  

(i)  a failure by Maker to make the payments required by this Note when due; 

(ii)  a default under or a failure to comply with any of the terms, provisions, conditions, agreements or covenants of this Note which remains uncured for five (5) 
business days after written notice from Lender to Maker; provided that there shall be no cure period for monetary defaults;  

(iii)  a default or failure to comply with any of the terms, provisions, conditions, agreements or covenants of any other agreement between Lender and Maker or by 
Maker in favor of Lender which remains uncured beyond any applicable notice requirements and cure periods, if any, contained in such agreement;  



 
 

 

10.      Waiver and Consent . Presentment, notice of dishonor and demand, protest and diligence in collection and bringing suit are hereby severally waived by Maker and each 

endorser or guarantor, each of whom consents that the time for the payment of this Note, or of any installment hereunder, may be extended from time to time without notice by the 

holder.  

11.      No Waiver . No waiver of any default or failure or delay to exercise any right or remedy by the holder of this Note shall operate as a waiver of any other default or of the 

same default in the future or as a waiver of any right or remedy with respect to the same or any other occurrence.  

12.      Prepayment . Maker may prepay all or any portion of the principal amount outstanding under this Note at any time and from time to time without penalty.  

13.      Usury Laws . It is the intention of the parties hereto to comply strictly with all applicable usury laws. Accordingly, in no event and upon no contingency shall the holder 

be entitled to receive, collect or apply as interest any interest, fees, charges or other payments equivalent to interest in excess of the amount which may be charged from time to time 

under applicable law. In the event that the holder of this Note ever receives, collects or applies as interest any such excess, then immediately upon becoming aware of such receipt, 

collection or application, the holder shall notify Maker of the usurious overcharge and refund to Maker the amount of any overcharge taken, plus interest on the overcharge taken at the 

rate in effect under this Note or at the maximum lawful rate, whichever is less, at the time the usurious interest rate was taken, and make whatever adjustments in this Note as are 

necessary to insure that Maker will not be required to pay any further interest in excess of the amount permitted under applicable law. Maker shall not institute any action or file any 

defense based upon the charging or collecting of usurious interest hereunder unless (i) Maker shall give the holder written notice of an intent to do so and (ii) the holder shall fail to 

comply with  

 
 

(iv)  Maker receives a negative designation or loss of good standing from Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or any other governing agency, including without 
limitation, anything which could result in Borrower being debarred or placed on a watch-list; or  

(v)  a default by Maker under the Barclays Loan Agreement that remains unremedied or that is not waived by Barclays Bank PLC for a period of five (5) Business 
Days following Maker obtaining knowledge thereof.  



 
 

the terms hereof, by notification and refund to Maker and making necessary adjustments as aforesaid, within fifteen (15) days after receipt by the holder of such written notice from 

Maker. The provisions of this Section shall be given precedence over any other provision contained herein or in any other agreement between the parties hereto that is in conflict with 

the provisions of this Section.  

14.      Loan Fees . In addition to all of the terms and conditions to be performed by Maker under this Note, Maker shall reimburse Lender upon demand for all costs and 

expenses, including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by it in connection with the loan evidenced by this Note.  

15.      Waiver of Trial by Jury . Maker hereby agrees that any suit, action or proceeding, whether a claim or counterclaim, brought or instituted by any party on or with respect to 

this Note or any other document executed in connection herewith or which in any way relates, directly or indirectly to any event, transaction or occurrence arising out of or in any way 

connected with this Note or the dealings of the parties with respect thereto, shall be tried only by a court and not by a jury. MAKER, AND LENDER BY ACCEPTANCE HEREOF, 

HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING. Maker acknowledges that Maker may have a right to a 

trial by jury in any such suit, action or proceeding and that Maker hereby is knowingly, intentionally and voluntarily waiving any such right. Maker further acknowledges and agrees 

that this Section is material to this Note and that adequate consideration has been given by Lender and received by Maker in exchange for the waiver made by Maker pursuant to this 

Section.  

16.      Notices . Any written notice permitted or required hereunder shall be effective when received, certified or registered United States mail, postage prepaid, return receipt 

requested, at the applicable address specified above or at such other addresses within the United States of America, as Maker or Lender may from time to time specify for itself by 

notice hereunder.  

17.      Legal Tender . This Note is negotiable and is payable in lawful money of the United States of America which shall be legal tender in payment of all debts and dues, public 

and private, at the time of payment.  

 
 



 
 

18.      Successors and Assigns . The obligations of Maker hereunder shall be binding upon Maker and its successors, assigns and legal representatives and shall inure to the 

benefit of Lender and Lender's participants respective successors, assigns, and legal representatives.  

19.      Governing Law . This Note is delivered to Lender in the State of Indiana and is executed under and shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 

State of Indiana.  

20.      Invalidity of any Provision . If any provision (or portion thereof) of this Note or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall to any extent be invalid or 

unenforceable, then the remainder of this Note or the application of such provision (or portion thereof) to any other person or circumstance shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest 

extent permitted by law.  

21.      Captions . The captions or headings herein have been inserted solely for the convenience of reference and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or substance of any 

provision of this Note.  

 

[ Remainder of page intentionally blank; signature on following page ]  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Maker has caused this Note to be executed by its duly authorized officers effective as of the day and the year first above written.  

 
 

                                                                              
STONEGATE MORTGAGE CORPORATION,  
an Ohio corporation  
                      

                          
By:      /s/ John Macke                   
Name:      John Macke  
Title:      EVP - Capital Markets  
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  Exhibit 21.1 

STONEGATE MORTGAGE CORPORATION  
 

List of Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014  
 

 
 
 

Name     Jurisdiction of Organization  

NattyMac, LLC     Indiana  

Crossline Capital, Inc.     California  

Stonegate Mortgage Acceptance, LLC     Delaware  

Stonegate Insurance Company, LLC     Michigan  

      

      

      

      

      



 
 

  Exhibit 23.1 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  
 
 
The Board of Directors  
Stonegate Mortgage Corporation:  
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (Nos. 333-192715) on Form S-1, the registration statements (Nos. 333-192557, 333-192556, and 333-192554) on Form S-8 the registration 
statement (Nos. 333-201507) on Form S-8 of Stonegate Mortgage Corporation of our report dated March 30, 2013, except as it relates to the effects of the reportable business segment changes as described in Notes 1 and 
20, as to which the date is January 14, 2015, relating to the financial statements of Stonegate Mortgage Corporation as of December 31, 2012 and for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 included in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.  
 
 
/s/ Richey, May & Co., LLP  
Englewood, Colorado  
March 6, 2015  
 
 
 



 
 

  Exhibit 23.2 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  
 
 
The Board of Directors  
Stonegate Mortgage Corporation:  
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-201507) on Form S-3 and the registration statements (Nos. 333-192554, 333-192556, and 333-192557) on Form S-8 of Stonegate 
Mortgage Corporation of our report dated March 6, 2015, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Stonegate Mortgage Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, which report appears in the December 31, 2014 annual report on Form 10-K of Stonegate Mortgage 
Corporation.  

/s/ KPMG LLP  

Indianapolis, Indiana  
March 6, 2015  

   

 
 



 
 

Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
RULE 13a-14(a) AND RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT RULES,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, James J. Cutillo, certify that:  

   

   

 
 
 

1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Stonegate Mortgage Corporation; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and 
have:  

a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including 
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b)  intentionally omitted pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-15(a); 

c)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of 
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

d)  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an 
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board 
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):  

a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and  

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: March 6, 2015  /s/ James J. Cutillo  

      Chief Executive Officer  



 
 

  Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
RULE 13a-14(a) AND RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT RULES,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, Robert B. Eastep, certify that:  

   

 
 
 

1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Stonegate Mortgage Corporation; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and 
have:  

a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including 
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of 
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

c)  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an 
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board 
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):  

a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and  

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

      

Date: March 6, 2015  /s/ Robert B. Eastep  

      Chief Financial Officer  



 
 

  Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report of Stonegate Mortgage Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date 
hereof (the “Report”), I, James J. Cutillo, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

   

 
 
 

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

    

   /s/ James J. Cutillo  

   James J. Cutillo  

   Chief Executive Officer  

   March 6, 2015  



 
 

  Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report of Stonegate Mortgage Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date 
hereof (the “Report”), I, Robert B. Eastep, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

   

 
 
 
 

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

    

   /s/ Robert B. Eastep  

   Robert B. Eastep  

   Chief Financial Officer  

   March 6, 2015  


